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Message from the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer  
 
 

 

 

 
  

Pierre GADONNEIX, Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Frédéric MICHELLAND, Chief Executive Officer 
 

 

Dear Shareholder, 
 

The highlight of the year 2015 is undoubtedly the successful financial restructuring of the Group. Indeed, after many 
months of negotiations, the Group's Management with the backing of its Supervisory Board has managed to find the basis 
for an agreement with its main creditors led by the Apollo fund.  
 

The latter accepted both a partial conversion of the debt into shares but also to bring their guarantee to an increase in 
capital open to all those who allowed the company to reduce by nearly two-thirds the amount of its debt and to benefit 
from the contribution of new money in an amount of € 100 million. 
 

At the end of those two transactions, the gross debt of the Group was reduced to less than a hundred million euros while 
the Group's equities amount to approximately four hundred million euros. 
 

Because a majority of the historical shareholders of the Group participated in the recapitalization transaction, the 
guarantee furnished by the creditors did not have to be called. Thus the creditors' participation in the capital remained 
very similar to that observed after the first capital increase which had been reserved to them: 15% and 11%, respectively, 
for the Apollo fund and Monarch, and slightly more than 11% for the other creditors. Participation in the capital by the 
employees was greatly reduced from more than 7% to 2%. 
 

In parallel, the Group has continued the deployment of the Performance part of the Boost Plan in a market marked by a 
slowdown of the increase in production rates and downward price pressure.  
 

This situation has led the Group to intensify its sales efforts including with the continuation of the diversification of the 
customer portfolio (helicopter manufacturers, etc.). Indeed, in the absence of new programs, tenders for aircraft 
manufacturers fit within a logic of profit optimization of their flagship programs and of a reopening of competition on 
existing contracts in the objective of lowering costs.  
 

Nonetheless, the continuation of the implementation of the performance part of the Boost plan again allowed the recording 
of gains estimated at €6 million at the end of 2015 compared to the previous year.  
 

The strengthening of the dollar since the second half of 2014 only very partially benefitted the Group's operating result in 
2015, given the time horizons over which the company covers itself. On the other hand, this has had a non-negligible 
impact on the value of the Group's inventory, as well as on the other balance sheet items, especially trade receivables, 
which as a result increased working capital needs. 
 

These various elements, which reflect a more mature market environment, argue in favor of an in-depth transformation 
that the Group should initiate in 2016. This evolution should involve a re-found competitiveness and capacity to innovate.  
 

In the past, we were able to measure that if improving operational management of our contracts, stabilizing our financial 
position and strengthening our processes were essential, all this was not sufficient to create the conditions for sustainable 
development.  
 

The Group will thus have to make choices, including:  

 Give priority to the strengthening of its businesses in the markets where it already has established a strong 

position; 

 Seek to capture more added value produced upstream or downstream in the value chain in order not to be 

limited to the role of "pure assembler" at the end of the chain; 

 Continue the adapting of its industrial organization so as to increase the performance of its sites and to have a 

critical mass. 

At the same time, the internal organization of the Group will continue its transformation in order to adapt to the strategic 
developments of the Group.  
 

All of these strategic ambitions will allow the Group to begin a new chapter in its history. 
 



 
                                 PRESENTATION OF THE GROUP AND ITS ENVIRONMENT 

                                  December 31, 2015 
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1 PRESENTATION OF THE GROUP AND ITS ENVIRONMENT 

 
1.1 Key figures 
 

 
In order better to allow the monitoring and comparability of its operational and financial performance, the Group decided to 
submit, in parallel with the consolidated financial statements, an adjusted income statement. 

Thus, the Group uses "Adjusted EBIT" (a non-accounting measure) as its main indicator, which corresponds to the 
earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation, established for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements in 
the IFRS system of reference, adjusted: 

- for the variation in non-recurring work-in-progress (net of provisions) resulting from the accounting of contracts in 
accordance with IAS11 (construction contracts); and 

- of the impact of exchange rate gains and losses on €/$ hedging instruments recorded in financial result but 
relating to operational flows. 

The table allowing comparison between the consolidated income statement and the adjusted income statement is 
presented in note 4 to chapter 3 – Consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2015 of this document. 

 
Summary Income Statement 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Revenue 712,4 664,1

Adjusted current operating result (COR) 23,9 4,7

Net adjusted financial result -16,5 -26,6

Adjusted net income (Group share) 2,4 -13,4

Consolidated net debt 64,0 310,2

Shareholders' Equity (Group share) 386,1 110,6

In € million
2015 2014
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(65%) 
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1.2 Presentation of the LATECOERE Group 
 

 
1.2.1 History of the Group 

 

 

 
Founded in 1917 by 
Pierre Georges 
Latécoère, the 
LATECOERE Company 
is at the origin of the 
establishment of the 
aeronautical industry in 
the Toulouse, France 
region. Manufacturer of 
its own aircraft until the 
1950s, LATECOERE 
offered France 31 world 
records and one of the 

greatest human adventures of the century with the 
creation of the Latécoère lines where prestigious pilots 
like Mermoz, Saint-Exupéry or Guillaumet illustrated 
themselves.  
 
Rich in experience as an aircraft manufacturer, the 

LATECOERE Group has made itself present today in all 
aeronautical segments by pursuing a strategy of growth 
based on partnership in the areas of aerostructures, 
onboard wiring and systems. 

 
A major supplier of Airbus, the Brazilian company 
Embraer, Dassault Aviation and Boeing, the Group, with 
its international network of subsidiaries, partners and 
sub-contractors, forms a competitive and flexible 
industrial unit, able to adapt itself to the cycles of the 
aeronautical industry in a globalized world and to offer 
its customers a comprehensive solution. 

 
 

KEY DATES FOR THE GROUP 
 
 

1917 Creation of the Company by Pierre-Georges 

Latécoère 
 

1918  The Montaudran plant on the outskirts of 

Toulouse and its 800 workers build six aircraft 
per day. 

 

1920 Regular mail service is established between 

Toulouse and Casablanca. 
 

1930 Mermoz crosses the South Atlantic on board a 

Laté 28 hydro. LATECOERE realized its 
project, the link between France and South 
America where it arrived the first. LATECOERE 
sells its lines to Bouilloux Lafond. Aéropostale 
is born, and will later be succeeded by Air 
France. 

 

1939 LATECOERE moves to rue de Périole in 

Toulouse. Inspired by this challenge, Pierre-

Georges Latécoère gave wings to his pilots by 
building aircraft made to fly higher and further. 
He also contributed with Didier Daurat and 
Marcel Moine to the creation of a state of mind 
-- that so particular state of mind that makes 
men surpass themselves in the name of a 
common ideal. 
 

1930-1970 The years of diversification. By the 

end of the LATE 631 program, the French 
aeronautical industry begins its restructuring 
around the Dassault Company (military and 
business aircraft). Civil activities nationalized 
around the SNCASE, which will later become 
Sud-Aviation then Aérospatiale 
 

1989 Launching of the employee buyout: 91% of the 

employees become shareholders of the 
Company. LATECOERE opens itself up 
internationally and becomes the recognized 
Partner of the major manufacturers. 

 
 

1997 BEAT, a design office specialized in 

aeronautical structure and the design and 
manufacturing of tooling, becomes a 56% 
owned subsidiary of the LATECOERE Group. 

 
 

1998 Creation of LATelec (wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the Group), following the takeover of the 
wiring activity of Fournié Grospaud. LATelec 
quickly becomes the center of excellence in the 
field of the electric racks and in onboard wiring. 
Creation of SEA-LATelec in Tunisia, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of LATelec. Successful exit 
of the employee buyout: The outcome of this 
operation, which was a success for all the 
participants, did not bring about any 
modification in the management and control 
bodies of the LATECOERE Company. 

 
 

2000 The Group takes control of 100% of Letov 

located in Prague, Czech Republic. Creation of 
BEAT Andalucia in Seville (Spain). 

 

2002 Inauguration of the new Pierre-Jean Latécoère 

assembly site in Gimont, in the department of 
the Gers, France dedicated to large fuselage 
sections for Airbus and Embraer. 

 

2003 LATECOERE acquires 25% of the capital of 

Corse Composites Aéronautique (CCA). 
LATECOERE joins the original three 
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shareholders of CCA - Airbus France, Dassault 
Aviation and Snecma - with the same level of 
rights. 

 

2004 Creation of LATECOERE do Brasil. This 

wholly-owned subsidiary is located in Sao José 
dos Campos near Sao Paulo, Brazil. The 
creation of LATECOERE do Brasil aims to 
strengthen the Group's presence close to its 
customer Embraer, in order to assemble and 
customize aircraft fuselages. LATelec acquires 
the French assets of Gespac Maroc Novatech, 
consisting of its Montpellier (le Crès) and 
Toulouse (Cugnaux) establishments.  

 

2005 Separation of the two businesses of 
SIDMI (which were held 30% by LATECOERE 
and 70% by the Latécoère family): 
aerostructures assembly and aircraft 
maintenance. The aerostructures business was 
integrated into LATECOERE. Creation of 
LATelec GmbH in Hamburg, after 
Airbus Germany had chosen LATelec (a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the LATECOERE 
Group) in order to realize electrical harnesses 
for the interior layout of the Airbus A380. 
LATECOERE acquires the remaining capital of 
BEAT, which becomes LATecis, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. This operation 
strengthens the presence of LATECOERE's 
services and engineering businesses close to 
its customers in France, as well as abroad 
(Germany, Spain, etc.), by benefitting from the 
dynamics of the Group. 
LATelec acquires S.L.E. (Société Landaise 
d'Electronique), located in Liposthey, in the 
Landes, France, as part of the reorganization 
of its production. 
 

2006 Construction at Letov of a building for the 

production of aircraft doors made with 
composites. Inauguration of the LATECOERE 
do Brasil factory. SEA LATelec Tunisie 
inaugurates a second factory (5,000 m²), 
thereby doubling LATelec's production capacity 
in Tunisia. 

 

2007 LATecis opens a subsidiary in Bucharest, 

Romania. LATecis also acquired 51% of the 
capital of the G²METRIC Company 
(measurement engineering business)  

 
 

2008  Inauguration of LATelec Services 

Colomiers. LATECOERE do Brasil: opening of 
a second building. LATelec opens its tenth site 
in Marignane, near Eurocopter. 

 

2009 LATecis opens a subsidiary in England 

 

2010 Pierre Gadonneix elected Chairman of 
LATECOERE's Supervisory Board. Issue of 
convertible bonds in an amount of €71.5 million 

and bonus issue to all existing LATECOERE 
Company shareholders of Share Warrants 
(BSA).  
The LATECOERE Group is honored with two 
2010 Best Supplier awards from Embraer in the 
"Aerostructures" and "Technical Support to 
Operators" categories.  
LATecis opens a subsidiary in Canada. 
G²METRIC opens a subsidiary in Germany.  

 

2011 The LATECOERE Group refinances and 
syndicates debt over seven years. The 100th 
A380 lower fuselage and the first A350 nose 
fairing come off the assembly lines.  
LATECOERE won the Innovation Award 
awarded by the JEC in the Aeronautics 
category for its research work on composites, 
in particular on future doors. 

 

2012 Start of direct deliveries of A320 doors to 
Airbus from Letov's Czech site. Latécoère 
delivers the 1,000th B787 door to Boeing. 
Latécoère launches LATvision, a range of 
external and internal onboard 360° video 
cameras (www.latvision.com). 
LATelec delivers its first elements of electrical 
wing harnesses, avionics bays and cockpit 
panels for the A350 and begins its production 
activity in Mexico. 

 

2013 Delivery of doors and fuselage sections of the 
1000th E-Jet, on April 5 at the Latécoère 
Czech Republic plant in Prague and on April 19 
at the Latécoère Do Brasil plant in Jacarei. 
Signature of a contract with Airbus who 
confirms the Latécoère Group over the 
program life of the A320 NEO for the 
production of 4 passenger doors per aircraft. 
Latécoère was selected by Embraer for the 
development and production of all its E-Jet E2 
program doors. 
 

2014 Inauguration of the new production facility with 
an area of 8,000 m² in Mexico, common 
industrial platform for Interconnection Systems 
and Aerostructures. 
Delivery of the first Boeing 787 passenger door 
produced in Mexico. 
 

2015 The Group successfully recapitalized for a 
global amount of €280 million through two 
capital increases following which the Group is 
owned 37.4% by its creditors including Apollo 
and Monarch acting together and representing, 
respectively, 15% and 11.4% of capital. The 
realization of these transactions helped to 
improve the financial position of the Group. It 
now has the means to implement the strategic 
component of the Boost Plan. 
The Latécoère Group through its LATelec 
subsidiary, implants a subsidiary in Morocco. 
 

 

http://www.latvision.com/
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1.2.2 Group Consolidated Structure Chart as of December 31, 2015 
 

 
Percentages correspond to Group companies control percentages. Interest percentages are mentioned in Note 3 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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1 

1.2.3 Simplified Group Organizational Chart at December 31, 2015 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
1.3 The Group's Businesses  

 

 
A major player in the aviation industry, Latécoère Group 
is present in the areas of aerostructures and 
interconnection systems through the development, 
manufacturing and product support activities (repair, 
spare parts ...). It also has a strong presence in the 
engineering, tooling and metrology through its 
"Aerostructure Services" division. 
 
The LATECOERE Group combines a multi-customer 
platform, a multi-segment product range, industrial 

activities and skills ranging from design to industrial 
realization, giving it a unique positioning in the market. 
The main financial data by business are presented in 
paragraph 3 of this document in note 4 "Operational 
Segments" for the year 2014, and are incorporated by 
reference as indicated in paragraph 10 of this document 
for the years 2012 and 2013. Data on the LATECOERE 
Group's revenue are disclosed in note 16 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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1.3.1 Aerostructures 
 
 
« Aerostructure Industrial » Division 

 
Aerostructure Industrial activities are carried out 
principally by the LATECOERE Company and its 
subsidiaries LATECOERE do Brasil (Brazil) and 
Latécoère Czech Republic s.r.o. (Czech Republic). 
 
The offer relates to the design, the industrialization and 
the manufacture of aircraft structural elements:  
 Fuselage elements: sub-assemblies of the nose 

(A330, A350, and A380), forward section (Embraer 
E-Jets), central section (A330) or rear section 
(Embraer E-Jets, Dassault Falcon 7X and 8X) 

 Doors: passenger (A320, A380, B787, and 

Embraer E-Jets 170/190) and cargo (A380, B777, 
Bombardier CRJ 700/900/1000, Embraer E-Jets, 
Dassault Falcon 7X and 8X) 

 
The LATECOERE Company is among the first six 
European producers of fuselage elements and is the 
world's second manufacturer of aircraft doors (source: 
"Usine Nouvelle", June 2011). 
 
The LATECOERE Company has positioned itself on 
most of the major aeronautical programs, with the major 
actors of the sector. For more than 90% of its order 
book, LATECOERE is a Tier 1 supplier, which consists 
in being a direct supplier of the manufacturer, 
associated with development and production of sub-
assemblies of an aircraft program as part of a risk 
sharing. The diversification of the customer portfolio was 
doubled by a diversification of the various segments of 
the aeronautical market: 
 Commercial Aircraft (more than 100 seats): 

AIRBUS A318/319/320/321; A330/340; A380; A350 
and BOEING 777; and B787. 

 Regional Aircraft: EMBRAER ERJ 

170/175/190/195; BOMBARDIER CRJ 700, 900 
and 1000 

 Business Aircraft: DASSAULT Falcon 7X and 

Falcon 8X. 
 Military Aircraft: DASSAULT Rafale and AIRBUS 

A400M. 
 

 
 
 

The Aerostructures market in the United States is 
dominated by Triumph and Spirit (resulting from the 
outsourcing of Boeing's aerostructures activities) and in 
Japan by dedicated subsidiaries of the Kawasaki 

Mitsubishi, and Fuji Groups, five major players of the 
industrial consolidation carried out during the last 
decade. In Europe approximately fifteen players are 
present in this market, whose prospects of consolidation 
are very open; in particular, there are the Premium 
Aerotec subsidiary of Airbus Group in Germany, GKN in 
England and three companies in France: one subsidiary 
of Airbus Group (Stelia), Daher Aerospace and the 
LATECOERE Group. 
This market was marked in 2015 by a very high level of 
aircraft sales and orders (cumulated customer deliveries 
of Airbus and Boeing aircraft are near 1,400 units and 
2015 orders from Airbus and Boeing have exceeded 
1,800 units). 
 
The Aerostructures Industry activity is divided between 
specialized work sites: 

 LATECOERE Toulouse: The Company's 
registered office: In addition to the Group's 

management, Toulouse hosts the management and 
design office team for the aerostructures business. 
On this site the running of the industrial process, 
the assembly of fuselage sections, doors and the 
manufacture of metallic parts are carried out. 

 LATECOERE Gimont (Gers): A secondary 

establishment, located 40 km. from Toulouse, 
especially dedicated to large-dimensioned 
structures (fuselage sections). 

 Latécoère Czech Republic s.r.o. - République 
Tchèque : Wholly-owned subsidiary of 

LATECOERE, Latécoère Czech Republic s.r.o. 
located in Prague, Czech Republic. It is the Group's 
center of excellence for the production of door 
mechanisms, the assembly of aircraft door sub-
assemblies and composite elements. 

 

 

 

 LATECOERE do Brasil: LATECOERE do Brasil is 

located in Sao José dos Campos near Sao Paulo, 
Brazil. This entity assembles and equips all 
fuselage sections delivered to our customer 
Embraer. 

 LATECOERE Mexico: This site is located in 

Hermosillo (Sonora State). It assembles part of the 
production of the B787 passenger doors Boeing 
delivered to our customer Boeing. 
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« Aerostructure Services » Division 

 
The main business lines of the Aerostructure Services 
are:  
 the design, the calculation and the definition of 

products in the manufacturing sector (aircraft 
structure, systems installation and fitting-outs, etc.), 

 the design, the manufacturing and the maintenance 
of mechanical assemblies and sub-assemblies 
(assembly lines, tooling and special machines, 
etc.), 

 the furnishing of services in the area of metrology. 
 

The main players in the engineering market are the 
major general engineering companies such as Alten, 
Altran, Akka and more players more specialized in 
aeronautics, such as Assystem. 
 
The originality of the positioning of LATECOERE 
Services and its subsidiaries lies on the one hand in the 
combination of engineering, design and development of 
equipment know-how, and on the other hand in its 
integration into the LATECOERE Group, industrial 
player mastering the value chain from design to 
realization, with which it works jointly. 
 
The LATECOERE Services Company and its 
subsidiaries representing the engineering and services 
business intervene in industrial firms in the areas of 
aeronautics, space, defense and energy. 
In order to optimize the quality of its services, 
LATECOERE Services developed in parallel to its 
engineering business a services and proximity strategy. 
Its Bordeaux, Nantes, Paris and Pertuis, France offices 
allow it to be closer to its customers, thus guaranteeing 
the offer of adapted solutions with a maximum of 
reactivity.  
 
In the aeronautical field, LATECOERE Services is very 
present at AIRBUS, and to a lesser extent at 
DASSAULT, BOMBARDIER and EMBRAER. Its main 
realizations are: 
 The design of structural elements: A380 nose 

section systems installation, work package ("WP") 
on the forward section of the BOMBARDIER C-
Series, as well as various WPs on the A350 for 
AIRBUS  

 Design and realization of assembly jigs (assembly 
line for A350 engine pylons, assembly line for the 
A350 center wing box, and the setting in reference 
of the A350 final assembly, integration (A400M 
avionics bays, etc.) 

, 
 

 
In the space field, LATECOERE Services designed and 
realized calibration, integration or transportation jigs as 
well as tooling (satellite motorized support bracket, 
taxiing platform, ground equipment, etc.). 
In the defense field, LATECOERE Services designed 
and realized radar antennae on behalf of Thales and 
also works on various military nuclear-related projects 
with CEA Cesta. 
In the energy field, LATECOERE Services designed and 
realized test mechanisms for CEA in connection with the 
dismantling of the Phénix power plant. 
 
G² Metric, a 51%-held subsidiary of LATECOERE 
Services, has developed acknowledged expertise in the 
field of metrology (measurement by laser), which is used 
notably in the fine-tuning of tools, assembly lines and 
mountings in the aeronautics industry. G²Metric 
intervenes in other fields such as Space (Thales Alenia 
Space, Astrium and CNES), Energy (CEA) and 
Automotive. 
 
The core of the engineering and services business is 
located in the Midi-Pyrenees region; to offer its 
customers greater proximity of services, LATECOERE 
Services also has a network of branch offices in France 
and abroad. The main entities attached to the business 
are the following: 
 
 LATECOERE Services in Ste Foy 

d'Aigrefeuille (in the French department of the 

Haute-Garonne): the site hosts the management 
team, the main design office as well as the 
assembly workshop for mechanical facilities.  

 LATECOERE Services Purpan: design office 
 LATECOERE Services Iberia in Seville and 

Madrid: provides local services. 
 LATECOERE Services UK in Broughton: 

provides design and integration services for Airbus 
UK. 

 LATECOERE Services Canada in Montreal, 
Canada: provides design services for Bombardier 

and Aérolia. 
 LATECOERE Services Gmbh (Germany) : 

provides local services 
 G²METRIC in Toulouse-Launaguet: Management 

and main design office team; furnishing of services 
in the Toulouse, France region. 

 G²METRIC GmbH in Büren, Germany: provides 

local services. 
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 G²METRIC Limited in Gerrards Cross, England: 

provides local services. 
 

1.3.2 Interconnection Systems 
 
The Group's Interconnection Systems activities are 
concentrated in the LATelec Company and its 
subsidiaries LATelec GmbH in Germany, SEA-LATelec 
in Tunisia and LATelec Mexico in Mexico. 
 
The offer relates to the design, the industrialization and 
the manufacture, in all the onboard areas and under 
severe environmental constraints, of wiring, of electrical 
racks and bays, as well as of test benches. 
 
LATelec is today number two worldwide in its area of 
business. It benefits from its recognized experience for 
all types of electrical harnesses and for all of an aircraft. 
It is the leader for electrical equipment boxes (internal 
source, May 2010). 
 
 

 
 
Apart from the aircraft manufacturers themselves, key 
market players are Labinal Power Systems (Safran 
Group) and Fokker Elmo. This market enjoys a high 
outlook for growth linked to the increase in production 
rates requested by aircraft manufacturers and a trend to 
greater outsourcing of this activity by aircraft 
manufacturers. 
 
LATelec is present on the main aeronautical programs: 
 Commercial Aircraft (more than 100 seats): 

AIRBUS A318/319/320/321; A330/340; A380; A350  
 Regional Aircraft: ATR 
 Business Aircraft: DASSAULT Falcon 900, 2000 

and Falcon 7X. 
 Military Aircraft: AIRBUS A400M 
 Engines: SAM 146 and ETRAS A380 
 Helicopters: Lynx, Puma, and SuperPuma 

 
LATelec is equally present in the areas of space wiring 
mainly on satellites: 
 for communications: (ArabSat, Globalstar, Astra, 

etc.),  
 for scientific use (Sentinel, Myriad, etc.),  
 for military use (Skynet, Syracuse) and orbital 

station use (ATV): 
 

LATelec has attained a high level of competitiveness by 
integrating the needs of its customers upstream, by 

constantly improving its design (CAD) and production 
(computer-assisted production control and test benches) 
tools, and by constantly optimizing its manufacturing 
organization. The location it opened 10 years ago in 
Tunisia now contributes to most programs, and by 
lowering the Group’s cost structure has contributed 
greatly to the overall performance of the Interconnection 
Systems division. 
 
The Interconnection Systems business is based more 
than 50% today on the international establishments. The 
main sites are the following: 
 LATelec in Toulouse-Labège: Toulouse-Labège 

hosts the management and design office team for 
the onboard wiring business. On this site are 
carried out: the running of the industrial processes 
of the Interconnection Systems business, the 
integration, the testing of electrical harnesses and 
complex wiring. 

 LATelec in the Greater Southwest of France 
(Tarbes, Montpellier, Liposthey, etc.): 

Development and production of special wiring 
(more severe environments, space wiring, etc.).  

 SEA-LATelec in Tunis: The SEA-LATelec 

subsidiary is intended to receive an increasing 
share of the Interconnection Systems business with 
an objective of reducing production costs. In 2006, 
a second production site was inaugurated. In 2008 
the engineering activity began. 

 LATelec GmbH in Hamburg: Nearby the site of 

Airbus Germany, this subsidiary designs 
customized harnesses for the Airbus A380 and 
provides assistance for the integration of these 
harnesses on the aircraft. Since 2011, it has also 
diversified its customer list, which now includes 
Ruag, List, Bucher, etc. 

 LATelec Mexico: This subsidiary based in the 

dollar zone is primarily dedicated to the production 
for wiring (main harness for the Airbus A320). 

 
1.3.3 Risk Sharing Business Model (Risk 
Sharing Partner, or "RSP")  
 
General Principles 

 
The aeronautical sector has the specificity of a risk-
sharing model between the aircraft manufacturers and 
the manufacturers of components on major programs. 
Thus, part of the risk is externalized by the aircraft 
manufacturer to the manufacturer of components, 
including the ramp-up risk. The consideration for this 
risk is the duration of this partnership, which is aligned 
with the useful life of the aircraft (approximately 30 
years) giving the Group visibility over the long term. 
 
The main challenges for subcontractors are:  

 the financing of development costs at the start of the 
program, so-called Non Recurring Costs or "NRC", 

 the ability to standardize the production cycle in 
order to reach the breakeven point of the program 
and realize productivity gains on the unitary costs 
(called Recurring Costs or "RC") sufficient to absorb 
Non Recurring Costs amortized on the number of 
aircraft. 
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The standardization of the product cycle may be subject 
to the following unforeseen events: 

 rates too low preventing the decreases related to the 
effects of experience, 

 technical problems, 

 supplies of suppliers, 

 ramp-up requested by the aircraft manufacturers, 

 configuration changes during the course of the 
program, 

 price increases requested by suppliers. 
 
In the event of major commercial success of an aircraft, 
the manufacturer of components directly benefits from 
the rate effect, the stability of the industrialization and 
the amortization of non-recurring costs. 
 
Risk-sharing contracts are followed in accounting 
according to IAS 11 (see Note 2.15 to the consolidated 
financial statements). Invoicing is done on delivery of 
the products. 
 
Risk Sharing Partner ("RSP") in the LATECOERE 
Group 

 
More than half of 2015 revenue realized by the 
LATECOERE Group in Aerostructures as well as a 
significant share of the Interconnection Systems branch 
comes from risk sharing partnership contracts. 
 
Depth of the order book 
 
For the RSP contracts, the company is the exclusive 
supplier of the manufactured products. So every order 
booked by the aircraft manufacturer is directly reflected 
in the order book of the LATECOERE company (4 years 
of revenue at year-end 2015), giving it an excellent view 
of the level of activity over coming years. The duration of 
partnership contracts -- more than fifteen years -- also 
allows the installation of suitable industrial means 
 
 
Visibility 
 
The Group has strong visibility on its business due to 
the depth of its order book and the fixing of selling prices 
as soon as the contracts are signed. 
 

Sales prices and currencies 
 
Element sales prices are generally fixed from the 
beginning of the contract and for the most part are 
expressed in dollars. The Group is implementing an 
industrial policy to reduce its natural exposure to the 
resulting currency risk, by increasing the share of its 
purchasing in dollars from its Euro bases and by 
development of a globalized network of industrial 
organizations. The policy is to systematically hedge 
residual exposure through financial instruments 
deployed over a sliding period of 12 to 36 months. 
 
Main challenges 
 
The main challenges for the Group are holding to the 
originally costed development budget in the contract and 
the decrease of production costs. 
 
Financing 
 
The Group finances the development phases and 
shares the "program" risk with the customer. This 
means that if the contractually specified number of 
aircraft is not reached, the development costs 
committed by the Group will not be fully recovered. 
Moreover, this means that if the contractually specified 
number of aircraft is reached, but with a time lag relative 
to the initially provided deadlines, it will take the Group 
more time to reap a return on investment.  
 
This risk is partially reduced to the extent that:  

 it is shared because of the diversity of 
programs in which the Group is committed 

 it uses second-level* partners subject to 
symmetrical constraints, 

 financing of these programs is partly provided 
by refundable advances that will not be in the 
case of failure. 

 
 

 
**A second-tier partner is a supplier not dealing directly 
with the manufacturer but with a Tier 1 supplier whose 
contract covers a long period with participation in 
development work. 
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The graphs below illustrate the business model of RSP contracts and free cash flow generation patterns of associated 
operations (cash flow from operations after taking into account the amount disbursed on investment):  
 
  

 
              Elements given for illustrative purposes but not related to current programs. 
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1.4 Property, plant and equipment 

 
The registered office of the LATECOERE Group is located in Toulouse, France. In order to exercise its design and 
production activities, the Group has various establishments shared out over several sites in ten countries. The table below 
presents the Group's main sites. 

 

 
 

Furthermore, no major encumbrance exists on the sites presented above. 
 

1.5 Research & Development 

 

 
Research and Technology cover the whole of the 
technological research activities, which ensure the 
Group the control of know-how enabling it to develop its 
products with reduced risk and cost. 
 
Further downstream, Research & Development 
corresponds to the expenditures of research and 
development on the programs. These expenses are 
then re-invoiced to customers according to the 
contractual terms as deliveries are made.  
 
Research and Technology 

 
Following the PAMELAT (fuselage elements in 
combined technology), MAAXIMUS (stitched composite 

door) and IDEES 5 (avionics cabinets integrating the 
IMA2 generation) projects completed in 2013, 
LATECOERE acquired know-how and technological 
maturity on these product lines that have enabled it to 
now attain a strong position of originator of research on 
CORAC projects. 
 
A Sustained Research Effort 

 
LATECOERE continues its research effort on its 
fundamentals: 

 on the one hand, on the OFFSET program 
(fuselages of a diameter less than 4 m.) and the 
NEXGED program (next generation integrated door) 
which will be the first electric door demonstrator 

Company Site Activity Occupancy*
Headcount as of 

Dec. 31, 2015

LATECOERE Toulouse (Périole), France Head office

Design and production site

O 914

LATECOERE Gimont, France Production site FL 111

LATelec Labège, France Head office

Design and production site O et T 326

LATelec Liposthey, France Production site FL 109

LATelec Le Crès, France Production site O 90

LATelec Colomiers, France Production site T 104

LATelec Marignane, France Design site T 0

LATelec Louey, France Production site T 40

LATECOERE Services Saint Foy d’Aigrefeuille, France Head office and design site O

LATECOERE Services Saint Foy d’Aigrefeuille, France Production site FL

LATECOERE Services Purpan, France Head office T 190

LATECOERE Czech Republic s.r.o. Prague, Czech Republic Head office / Production site O 735

LATECOERE do BRASIL Jacarei, Brazil Head office / Production site O 409

LATECOERE Inc Miami, USA Head office O 5

LATECOERE Mexico Hermosillo, Mexique Production site FL 91

LATelec Mexico Hermosillo, Mexique Production site FL 297

LATelec GmbH Hamburg, Germany Head office / Design site T 106

SEA LATelec Tunis, Tunisia Head office / Production site O 820

LATECOERE Services IBERIA Getafe, Spain Office T 42

G²METRIC Launaguet, France Office T 74

*O : Ow ner, T : Tenant, FL : Finance lease

389
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entirely designed by a manufacturer of components, 
the demonstrator of which will be visible at 
LATECOERE in 2015; 

 

 and on the other hand, consistent with the CORAC 
(French Strategic Council for Civil Aeronautics 
Research) roadmap, LATECOERE is preparing for 
the renewal of the New Short Range families 
(replacement of A320 and Boeing 737). Partner 
associated with the aircraft manufacturers, 
LATECOERE has launched its projects for the 
DEPACE (Composite demonstrator) and AME 
(Extended modular avionics) programs to propose 
the innovations of the future. 

 
Major ongoing programs include: 

 

 The OFFSET Project (Optimized Front Fuselage 

Structure Enhanced Technologies) relating to aircraft 
nose sections of a 
diameter less than 4 
m. in metallic 
technology (€16 million 
project in cooperation 
with AEROLIA and 
with DGAC).  

 

 The NEXGED (Next Generation Door) Project for 

the design of a door of the future system 
demonstrator meeting the 
requirements of regulations in 
force, run by LATECOERE in 
collaboration with five 
manufacturers of components, 
which are members of GIFAS. 
Launched in 2011 and having a 
budget of €30 million of which 
€15 million for the LATECOERE 
Company. This project will 
continue into 2016. 
 

 The “Composite Technology Demonstrator” 
("Démonstrateur composite") Project (Aerostructures 
elements in composite materials) on which 
LATECOERE will work on a new concept of landing-
gear bay and a door/door surrounding and 
passenger door enabling production at high 
production rates. This project has a budget of € 15 

million distributed from 2014 to 2018. 

 AME (Extended modular avionics) (new-

generation avionics bays for aircraft and helicopters) 

with a goal of developing under the auspices of the 
aircraft manufacturers the future cabinet 
incorporating second-generation integrated avionics 
in a version with real time critical and open world 
functions, an evolution of avionics cabinet that now 
combines a set of blades instead of computers. It is 
a strategic achievement entirely developed in-house 
at the LATECOERE Group, combining the 
Aerostructures and Interconnection Systems 
divisions under the project management of 
LATELEC. This concept will enable aircraft 
manufacturers to install autonomous cabinets closer 
to needs by limiting the number and the lengths of 
cable on aircraft. It will offer a reduction in weight 
and operators' overall acquisition cost of collective 
interest to manufacturers of components, aircraft 
manufacturers and operators. The budget is €4 
million shared out from 2014 to 2017. 

These programs are financed in part (in general, from 
30% to 50%) by grants from the French State (operating 
grants and the research-based tax credit), and the 
remainder by self-financing. 

  

Research & Development  

 
Due to its position as a partner of aircraft manufacturers, 
the Group first incurs development expenses on the 
programs. These expenses are then re-invoiced to 
customers according to the contractual terms as 
deliveries are made. Negotiations may lead the Group to 
receive advance repayments on an ad hoc basis. 
 

These research and development expenses are 
recorded in connection with partnership contracts and 
do not give rise, except in very special cases and in a 
marginal way, to the filing of patents in order to obtain 
patent right protection.  
 
 

These expenses were very high during the last fiscal 
years as a result of the simultaneousness of several 
major programs (Embraer ERJ 170 and 190, Airbus 
A380 and A400M, Dassault Falcon 7X and Boeing 787). 
Today, research & development efforts are mainly 
concentrated on the Boeing 787 doors and on the A350 
programs, as well as on the new Embraer E-Jet E2 
regional aircraft program. 
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1.6 Degree of dependence on patents or contracts 
 
 
The Group files industrial patents in very special cases, 
most developments being performed on behalf of the 
Group's customers. However, either as part of its R&T, 
or in connection with the improvement of its 
manufacturing base, the Group regularly files patents in 
order to prepare its positioning on future programs. 
Although the development of its know-how in future 
technologies or processes, through a participation in 
R&T programs, remains a goal for the Group, the latter 
considers itself relatively only slightly dependent on the 
stakes related to this type of industrial property. 
 

The aeronautical market is dominated by five major 
manufacturers (AIRBUS, BOEING, EMBRAER, 
DASSAULT, BOMBARDIER). The LATECOERE Group 
took great pains to build a multi-customer and multi-
segment industrial platform (commercial aircraft, 
regional and business aircraft) from a base historically 
centered in Europe. Today, the diversification of its 
contractors (the LATECOERE Group works with the five 
abovementioned major players with which it has 
developed strong and recognized positions) combined 
with the multiplicity of aeronautical programs on which 
the Group has positioned itself in each of its business 
lines, contributes to appreciably reduce its risks of 
dependence on one manufacturer or one contract. 
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2       BUSINESSES AND RESULTS 
 
 

2.1 The Group's Business in 2015 
 
 

2.1.1 The Basic Essentials 
 
 

Summary of the key consolidated aggregate figures 
 

 

 

 
 Revenue bolstered by the stronger US dollar  

At December 31, 2015, the Group had €712.4 million in consolidated revenue, up 7.3% from one year earlier (+1.1% at 
constant exchange rates).  

Low organic growth reflects mainly slower sales from the Aerostructures - Industrial business unit after benefiting 
previously from the significant B787 program ramp up. In addition, the Group was also significantly impacted by slower 
sales for the A330 in a maturing market. Finally, in the absence of new programs, aircraft manufacturers are focusing on 
optimizing the profitability of their flagship programs and reopening existing contracts to competitive bids in an effort to 
lower their costs.  

 

Interconnection Systems was positively impacted by production ramp-up of the A350 which offsets the adverse effect from 
the end of this program's development phase.  

 

Aerostructure Services showed good commercial momentum, particularly for Design services with 11% growth in order 
intake from one year earlier.  

 
The order book (including only firm aircraft manufacturer orders) remained stable with €2.6 billion at December 31, 2015 
based on a €/US$ exchange rate of 1.35. This represents an equivalent of 4 years in revenue. 
 

Adjusted EBIT: a better performance metric  

To make it easier to monitor and compare operating and financial performances, the Group has decided to present, in 
conjunction with its IFRS consolidated financial statements, an adjusted income statement.  

Revenue 712,4 664,1

Adjusted current operating result (COR) 23,9 4,7

Net adjusted financial result -16,5 -26,6

Adjusted net income (Group share) 2,4 -13,4

Consolidated net debt 64,0 310,2

Shareholders' Equity (Group share) 386,1 110,6

In € million
2015 2014
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For this purpose, the Group has adopted as its main performance indicator "adjusted EBIT" (technically, a non-Gaap 
aggregate) representing operating profit, established for the needs of the IFRS consolidated financial statements, which is 
then restated from:  

- - changes in Non-Recurring Work in progress (nets of reserves) pursuant to the application of IAS11 
(construction contracts); and  

- - the impact of gains and losses on €/$ hedging instruments recognized under financial expenses in accordance 
with IFRS even though related to operations.  

The FY 2015 reconciliation between the consolidated income statement and the adjusted income statement is presented 
in note 4 of chapter 3 – Consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2015 of the present document. 

 

A sharp improvement in operating results  

Adjusted EBIT for 2015 rose to €23.9 million, up from €4.7 million in 2014.  

 
This improvement reflects mainly the performance of the Aerostructures-Industrial business unit, and in particular the 
impact of:  

- - lower unit costs from programs on which some redesign-to-cost is implemented;  
- - ongoing measures to reduce non-quality cost which has been reduced by nearly 50% in France over the last 

two years;  
- - using available flexibility to adapt to workloads and thus limit the impact of reduced production rates on selected 

programs.  

 
Furthermore, steady performances for customer support services and lower-than-expected development costs for the 
period contributed significantly to the increase in the adjusted EBIT for the Aerostructure-Industrial business unit.  

Against the backdrop of significant production ramp up for the A350, Interconnection Systems' revenue was adversely 
affected by the delay, subsequently recovered, in transferring industrial operations to best cost countries in the 2015 first 
half (see press release September 25, 2015). Despite an improved performance by mature programs and continuing 
reductions in unit costs for the A350, production ramp up for this program (which has not yet reached breakeven) and 
lower Design services revenue continued to adversely impact the performance of the Interconnection Systems division. 

In terms of performance, the Aérostructure Services division was impacted by lower profitability from studies in a highly 
competitive market whereas at the same time, the tooling activity registered robust gains.  

The continuing implementation of the Boost plan generated further gains estimated at €6 million at the end of 2015 in 
relation to the prior year.  

 

Adjusted net financial expense improved and amounts to -€16.5 million for fiscal 2015 (vs. an expense of -€26.6 million in 
2014). This includes mainly the cost of debt of -€12.6 million, marginally down from 2014 (-€14.7 million), though not yet 
fully reflecting the effects of the Group's recapitalization in September 2015. In addition to the cost of debt, adjusted net 
financial expense for 2014 included in particular the amortization of costs associated with the financial restructuring in 
2011 (-€8.2 million) and non-recurring in 2015.  

 

Adjusted net income (Group share) represented a profit of €2.4 million (compared to a loss of -€13.4 million in 2014). 
Consolidated non-adjusted net income (Group share) amounted to €0.3 million (compared to €0.1 million in 2014).  

 

The Group has maintained its €/$ hedging policy. The US dollar's rise since the 2014 second half enabled the Group to 
complete its hedging portfolio. On that basis, the Group is now 95% hedged in 2016 for a worst-case scenario exchange 
rate of 1.20 and 85% hedged in 2017 at a worst-case scenario exchange rate of 1.16. Taking advantage of this expanded 
hedging portfolio, the Group also started to hedge 20% of its net exposure for 2018. 

 

Reinforced financials  

Net debt amounted to €64 million, down from €310.2 million at December 31, 2014. At the same time, equity (Group 
share) increased to €386.1 million, up from €110.6 million, reflecting the effects of the Group's financial restructuring and 
recapitalization.  
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In line with its commitments, the Group has continued to focus on containing inventory levels despite production ramp up 
at its Mexican plant and the accelerating pace of production for A350s. This improvement made it possible to limit the 
impact of the stronger dollar and the reversal of non-recurring items that had positively impacted working capital at the 
end of 2014. 
 
Net investments amounted to €14.9 million and covered in particular manufacturing equipments and IT projects. 

 

Target for Free Cash Flow from operations in 2016 confirmed  

The Group's performance over 2015 made it possible to meet its 7% target for free cash flow from operations as a ratio of 
sales in 2016 (approx. €50 million).  
 
The 4% target for average annual organic growth over the 2014-2015 period has been met (3.7%). However, 2016 will 
suffer from lower production rates and delays by aircraft manufacturers in ramping up programs. 

 
Continuing transformation of the Group and focus on strategic objectives  

Against the backdrop of a more mature market, the Group has confirmed its priorities in terms of both proactive and 
defensive measures: strengthening its position in key markets and substantially improving its cost competitiveness.  

Improvements in competitiveness will be achieved largely by:  

- - streamlining the industrial organization (thus limiting flows between sites) and strengthening its “best cost” 
industrial footprint. The site established in Morocco in December 2015 integrating operations for aeronautical 
wiring and avionics racks illustrates this strategy.  

- - re-insourcing production in particular for Aerostructures-Industrial operations for critical machined parts based 
on a more adapted manufacturing base.  

- - expanding lean initiatives and more rigorous project management.  

 

The Group's redeployment will be based both on strengthening the offering's differentiation and continuing to diversify its 
customer base and markets. Refocusing R&T efforts on providing key technology building blocks necessary to develop 
more integrated products/solutions is a priority.  

Maintaining commercial momentum, mainly in the pre-sales phase and promoting combined and differentiated offerings 
based on an enhanced portfolio of technologies and products, should strengthen the Group's key positions already 
underway. 

"The improvement in results in 2015 reflects the sustained efforts by Latécoère over the last two years. 

Putting operating performance back on track and reducing debt have set the stage for the Group's necessary 

transformation to return to a level of profitability required to finance its future development and investments. 

Operating in what is today a mature market, we must substantially improve our competitiveness while 

enhancing our offering with more integrated products and solutions. This is the twofold objective of the 

transformation plan that the Executive Committee, reinforced by additional R&T and commercial expertise, 

is executing with determination" commented Frédéric Michelland, Latécoère’s Chief Executive Officer. 

2.1.2 Additional Information  
 
Revenue of the Group 
 

The analysis of revenue by branch of business is as follows: 
 

 Aerostructures (72.1%):  
 Aerostructure Industrial (58.5%): Revenue in 2015 was €417 million, up 9.4%. At a constant €/US$ 

exchange rate, organic growth stood at +1.5%. The smaller increase in revenues resulted mainly from 
lower rates on the A330. Moreover, the B787 program has now reached cruising speed. 

 Engineering and Services (13.5%): Revenue was €96.4 million, up +0.9%.In a context of highly 

competitive Engineering market due to the absence of new programs, the branch registered a growth of 
its activity. It has a good commercial momentum with new contracts including the design, 
implementation and installation of the final assembly line of the H160, the latest new-born of Airbus 
Helicopters and the gain of a contract of a structure for the reactor Jules Horovitch (CEA).  
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 Interconnection Systems (27.9%): Revenue was €199.1 million, up +6.3%. The organic change was +0.4%. The 

increase in rates of the A350 compensates a first quarter marked by an unfavorable base effect due to the end of the 
development work on the same program. 

 
 
Income Taxes 

 
The Group posted income tax expense of - €2.3 million including current income tax due of €5.6 million and deferred tax 
income of €3.3 million. 
 
Inventories 

 
Inventories and net work-in-progress increased in 2015 by €6.5 million, primarily through the combined effect: 
 of an increase in industrial stocks (raw materials, metallic parts and production work-in-progress) of €3 million 

resulting of a defavorable exchange rate effect compensated by a decrease in stocks a constant exchange rate 
despite the ramp-up of A350 program mainly; relationship with the goals of the Boost plan (reduction of production 
cycles, strengthened running of materials supply); 

 an increase of €3.5 million in Non Recurring work-in-progress (the development costs for programs and the curve), 
essentially for programs followed in construction contracts (IAS 11). Additional information on inventories and work-
in-progress is furnished in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Shareholders’ Equity 

 
The shareholders' equity Group share at December 31, 2015 was €386.1 million. It may be broken down as follows: 
 
Capital and initial reserves €393.1 million 
Impact of hedging instruments                       -€7.3 million 
Fiscal year net result, Group share                        €0.3 million 
Total                                          €386.1 million  
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2.2 Business of the Parent company in 2015 

 

 
The financial statements of the company at December 
31, 2015 have been prepared in accordance with 
regulations in force, in compliance with regulation CRC 
14-03. Moreover, the Company applies the 
recommendations of the accounting plan of the 
aeronautical and space industry for the accounting 
treatment of some specific operations. 
 
Business 
 

The LATECOERE Company, the parent company, 
realized revenue of €506 million in 2015, which 
represents 55% of the consolidated revenue of the 
Group after elimination of intercompany invoicing. 
Operations in US dollars are valued at the spot 
exchange rate of this currency, whereas the exchange 
gains or losses from the exchange rate hedging 
instruments (forward sales or collars) are noted in the 
financial result. 2015 operating result was +€34.9 million 
compared to +€1.9 million in 2014. 
 

Financial result was -€47.4 million through the combined 
effect of the cost of debt (-€18.4 million),foreign 

exchange income (-€33.7 million) and dividend 
distribution (+€1.3 million). 
 
Non-recurring result is -€0.7 million. 
 
At December 31, 2015, the workforce consisted of 1,025 
employees. 
 
Net Result, Appropriation and Dividends  

 
Net result was negative at -€8,624,942. It was proposed 
to allocate the full amount to the "retained profit or loss 
brought forward" account. 

 

It will be proposed to the general meeting of 
shareholders not to distribute any dividend with respect 
to 2015. The number of shares was 93,347,165 at 
December 31, 2015, up 81,801,666 shares compared to 
December 31, 2014. This increase is due to two capital 
increases totaling 81,422,672 shares and the exercise 
of 378,994 warrants (warrants of shares). Dividends 
paid out over the last three fiscal years were: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The total of expenses and charges related to Articles 
39-4 of the French General Tax Code, amounted to 
€36,114. 
 
Inventories of Raw Materials and Works-in-Progress 
 

The balance sheet at the closing of the year shows net 
inventories of raw materials of €23 million (compared to 
€24.9 million in 2014). Work-in-progress amounts to 
€265,3 million, compared to €283 million at December 
31, 2014. 
 
Research & Development Costs 

 
Research & development expenses are recorded in 
connection with partnership contracts and do not give 
rise to the filing of patents in order to obtain patent right 
protection. They reached €27 million and correspond to 
non-recurring expenses on the programs that are re-
invoiced to customers. These expenses, financed by the 
Company, are included in the works-in-progress. They 
will be reincorporated in Profit and Loss depending on 
the stage of completion of the related contracts 
according to the contractual agreements defining, for 
each program, the number of aircraft retained by the 
aircraft manufacturers. The margin on the partnership 
contracts is recognized based on the stage of 

completion by consolidating together the costs of these 
contracts, including the development costs. 
 
The main development programs are committed with 
respect to customer contracts The related risks are 
those described in the program risks Furthermore, 
LATECOERE does not receive any research grants for 
research and development programs. 
 
In a few special cases and in a marginal way, the 
Company may be led to file patents. 
 
Investments 
 

The acquisitions of new assets amounted to €7.4 
million. It principally concerns machine tools for 
production and the development of computer tools 
under the information systems master plan. 
 
 
Net Financial Debt 
 

At December 31, 2015, net debt was €20.8 million 
diminishing by €234.8 million. The decrease in net debt 
was allowed by the revenue of the capital increase. 
 
 
 

Dividends
Other distributed 

revenue

Fiscal year 2013 0 € 11 508 593

Fiscal year 2014 0 € 11 545 499

Fiscal year 2015 0 € 93 347 165

Revenue 

not eligible 

for tax 

deduction

Number of 

shares

Revenue eligible for tax 

deduction
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Refundable Advances 

 
The company obtained refundable advances from 
DGAC (Direction Générale de l’Aviation Civile) as 
additional financing of new programs (A380 and A350); 
during the fiscal year, repayments were made, as a 
function of contractual conditions and deliveries of 
relevant products. At the end of 2015, the amount 
registered in the balance sheet item "conditional 
advances" is €32 million. 
 

Information on the time of payment of suppliers 

 
In application of the terms of Article L. 441-6-1 para.1 of 
the French Commercial Code ("Code de commerce"), 
the mandatory information on the times of payment of 
French suppliers (outside the group) is the following: 

 

At December 31, 2015, the balance of relevant accounts 
payable debt was €11.2 million with the following 
breakdown: 
 0,6% of invoices at immediate payment. 
 1,3% of invoices payable within 30 days ,as from 

the invoice's date of issue (or of the receipt of the 
goods or of the performance of the service, as the 
case may be). 

 3,4% of invoices payable within 30 days end of the 
month, the next 10th, as from the invoice's date of 
issue (or of the receipt of the goods or of the 
performance of the service, as the case may be). 

 6,8% of invoices payable within 45 days end of the 
month, as from the invoice’s date issue (or of the 
receipt of the goods or of the performance of the 
service, as the case may be). 

 88% of invoices payable within 45 days end of the 
month, as from the invoice's date of issue (or of the 
receipt of the goods or of the performance of the 
service, as the case may be). 

 
For your information, out of the entire Group's French 
accounts payable debt at December 31, 2015, none was 
due.  
 
At December 31, 2014, the balance of relevant accounts 
payable debt was €12.3 million with the following 
breakdown: 
 1% of invoices payable within 30 days end of the 

month, as from the invoice's date of issue (or of the 
receipt of the goods or of the performance of the 
service, as the case may be). 

 8% of invoices payable within 30 days end of the 
month, the next 10th, as from the invoice's date of 
issue (or of the receipt of the goods or of the 
performance of the service, as the case may be). 

 91% of invoices payable within 45 days end of the 
month as from the invoice's date of issue (or of the 
receipt of the goods or of the performance of the 
service, as the case may be). 

 
For your information, out of the entire Group's French 
accounts payable debt at December 31, 2014, none was 
due.  
 
Information on the time of payment of customers 
 

In application of the terms of Article L. 441-6-1 para.1 of 
the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), the 
mandatory information on the times of payment of 
French customers (outside the group) is the following: 
 
At December 31, 2015, the balance of relevant account 
receivables was €24.8 million with the following 
breakdown: 
 1% of invoices payable at 30 days net. 
 72% of invoices payable within 30 days end of the 

month, the next 10th, as from the invoice's date of 
issue (or of the receipt of the goods or of the 
performance of the service, as the case may be). 

 20% of invoices payable within 30 days end of the 
month, the next 15th, as from the invoice's date of 
issue (or of the receipt of the goods or of the 
performance of the service, as the case may be). 

 0,5% of invoices payable within 45 days net, as 
from the invoice's date of issue (or of the receipt of 
the goods or of the performance of the service, as 
the case may be). 

 6,5% of invoices payable within 45 days end of the 
month, as from the invoice's date of issue (or of the 
receipt of the goods or of the performance of the 
service, as the case may be). 

 
At December 31, 2015, this balance included 6% of 
accounts receivable past due. 
 
At December 31, 2014, the balance of relevant account 
receivables was €24.4 million with the following 
breakdown: 
 5% of invoices payable the 10th of the following 

month. 
 77% of invoices payable within 30 days end of the 

month, the next 10th, as from the invoice's date of 
issue (or of the receipt of the goods or of the 
performance of the service, as the case may be). 

 13% of invoices payable within 30 days end of the 
month, the next 15th, as from the invoice's date of 
issue (or of the receipt of the goods or of the 
performance of the service, as the case may be). 

 5% of invoices payable within 45 days end of the 
month as from the invoice's date of issue (or of the 
receipt of the goods or of the performance of the 
service, as the case may be). 

 
At December 31, 2014, this balance included 8% of 
accounts receivable past due. 
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2.3 Businesses of the Subsidiaries and other affiliates in 2015 

 
2.3.1 Integrated Subsidiaries 

 
 
LATECOERE Czech Republic s.r.o 

 
LATECOERE Czech Republic s.r.o., wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the LATECOERE Company, is located in 
Prague (Czech Republic). It constitutes the Group's 
center of excellence for the production of mechanical 
parts and the assembly of door structures and of 
avionics bays. It is also the production center of doors in 
composite materials for the Boeing 787. This Company 
invoices most of its production to LATECOERE. 
 
The Company's 2015 business was marked by a slower 
growth, with a decrease in revenue of 7%, from CZK 
2.93 billion to CZK 2.74 billion, through the effect of the 
reach of a steady rate of deliveries of doors of the 
Boeing B787. Net profit is CZK + 58,8 million. 
Investments reached CZK 88 million in 2015. 
 
There were 735 employees at December 31, 2015, 
increasing by 34 from December 31, 2014. 
 
LATECOERE do BRASIL 

 
This subsidiary is held 98% by LATECOERE and 2% by 
LATECOERE Développement. 
 

The objective of this entity is to carry out, given its 
proximity to Embraer, the final assembly and the 
customizing of ERJ 170/190 aircraft family fuselage 
sections. Since 2010, all fuselage sections delivered to 
Embraer have been assembled at this site. 
 
In 2015, LATECOERE do BRASIL revenue amounted to 
BRL126.6 million, principally with its parent company 
and with its customer Embraer. There were 409 
employees at December 31, 2015, increasing by 25 
from December 31, 2014. Its positive result was 
BRL20.4 million. Investments reached BRL0.9 million in 
2015. 
 
 
LATECOERE International Inc 

 
The American subsidiary of the LATECOERE Group 
which is wholly-owned by LATECOERE is charged with 
covering the American market in the area of marketing. 
It also ensures, when necessary, additional services for 
the North American market in support of the parent 
company. 
 
Its revenue amounted to €2.5 million in 2015, realized 
entirely with the parent company. The 2015 result is 
stable. 
 
 

LATelec  

 
LATelec, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Latécoère 
Company, constitutes the Group's center of excellence 
in interconnection systems. LATelec holds 100% control 
of its subsidiaries in Germany and in Tunisia. In terms of 
strategy, it is solidly centered on its basic business 
which is the interconnection of onboard electrical 
systems in the aeronautical and space sectors. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the main 
results were the following: 
 

- Revenue was €212.6 million; 
- The total of operating income is: €225.2 million;  
- The total of operating expenses is: €201.4 

million; 
- The operating result comes to: €23.8 million; 
- Operating net income before tax comes to: 

€7.5 million. 
 
Given these elements, the result for the year is a net 
profit of €6.8 million. 
 
At December 31, 2015, the total of the company's 
balance sheet is of €149.9 million. 
 
Information on Subsidiaries:  
 

 
 
The year 2015 has seen historically high production 
rates at Airbus, with a bullish outlook in the medium 
term. 
This high level of production hides however a strong 
contract at Airbus between the A350 program, and 
programs facing more difficulties: A330, A400M and 
A380. 
Furthermore, business was at a historically high level at 
ATR, but decreased at Dassault Aviation (-20% on the 
F7X/F8X). The latter also announced a postponement of 
flight of the Falcon 5X, for which LATelec manufactures 
special wiring, from 2015 until 2017. 
 
These large variations in production rates were in part 
only announced during 2015, which necessitated rapid 
adjustment measures, and penalized revenue (-€8.7 
million).  
  
Design & build activities remained relatively stable but at 
a low level. They relate primarily to the development of 
wing harnesses for the A350-1000, and the 
development of the electrical system of the Beluga nose 
section (program won at the beginning of 2015).  
 

('000 EURO)
SEA-Latelec Latelec Gmbh

Revenue 8 338 20 535

Net Income 20 1 131
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The aerospace design service market is declining; It 
was decided within the LATECOERE Group, in order to 
maintain a critical mass in the design office, that: 

 The service activities would all be handled by 
LATECOERE Services, and in corollary the 
transfer of the Marignane agency exclusively 
dedicated to this type of service 

 The Aerostructures and Interconnection 
Systems Design & Build design offices would 
be grouped together within a Group technical 
department. 

 
The impact of this organizational change during the year 
was significant for LATelec's business (-€2.5 million in 
revenue).  
 
The industrial activity of LATelec was sustained 
throughout the year, and was in particular marked by: 
- the continuation of the ramp-up phases of the A350,  
- industrial transfers to Tunisia (A350 racks, A380 racks, 
A400M) and Mexico (A330 and A350 wings). 
All of these industrial transfers were made in the context 
of the global plan to secure production established in 
2013 and revised in 2015, and in accordance with the 
projected schedules. 
 
A subsidiary was created in December 2015 near 
Casablanca, Morocco, for production of avionics racks 
(cabling and structures), and will increase in activity in 
2016 and 2017 on the A350. 
An extension of the building of the Mexican subsidiary in 
order to ensure the ramp-up of A350 wing harnesses, 
and when the contracts are won, production for the 
American continent, should be noted (+ 4,000 m2).  

LATECOERE Services 

 
LATECOERE Services is the main engineering 
subsidiary of the LATECOERE Group. Its business 
covers the aeronautical and space sectors, as well as 
defense and security, and more recently in the nuclear 
sector. LATECOERE Services, in addition to its 
establishment in the Toulouse, France region, in Sainte 
Foy d'Aigrefeuille and Purpan, has local offices in Paris, 
Bordeaux, Nantes, as well as in the PACA region of 
southeastern France. It also holds 100% of the capital of 
LATECOERE Services IBERIA, established in Seville, 
Spain, 100% of the capital of LATECOERE Services 
LTD, 100% of the capital of LATECOERE Services 
Canada Inc., and 51% of the capital of G²Métric located 
nearby Toulouse (48% of the capital being held by the 
SARL AXYL and 1% by natural persons). 
 
In a difficult market context especially in engineering 
related to the end of development of new programs at 
Airbus, 2015 was marked for the Aerostructure Services 
division by revenue up by 3,6% compared to 2014, with 
a revenue of €107 million. Business in 2015 was marked 
by strong growth of its business in Germany and in 
Spain as well as ramp up of its business in Brazil. 
 
LATECOERE Services had revenue of €77.0 million in 
2015, for a result of €0.7 million. It had 579 employees 
at December 31, 2015. The LATECOERE Services 
IBERIA subsidiary had revenue of €3.9 million in 2015, 
with a net result of +€0.2 million. Furthermore, the 2015 
revenue of G²Métric was €12.4 million for a net result of 
€1.3 million, with a workforce of 74 employees. 
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2.4 Research & Development Expenses 
 
 
In 2015, the total of these research and development 
expenses was €35.2 million (4.9% of revenue) 
compared to €35 million in 2014. 

In 2016, the Research & Development effort will be 
primarily dedicated to programs in the development 

stage -- Embraer E-Jet E2 doors and A350 doors -- and 
to aircraft changes and product improvements on 
already marketed programs (in particular, Boeing 787). 
 

 
 

2.5 Information on Trends 

 
The implementation of the Boost performance plan aims 
to allow the Group to set a goal of average annual 
increase on the order of 4% of revenue over the 2014-
2016 period and of free cash flow from operations 
equivalent to 7% of revenue by 2016. 
 
This objective assumed the maintenance of a high level 
of deliveries on series programs and a progression of 
rates such as those foreseen for 2014 for those coming 
out of the phase of development. 
 
Nevertheless, the slowdown in sales of the A330, the 
A380 and the A400M, as well as the lag in the ramp-up 
of the newer programs (B787 and A350) will make the 
attainment of revenue targets difficult. 

While 2014 was a year for stabilization and for 
strengthening of fundamentals, the continuation of the 
performance plan in 2015, especially with respect to the 

Aerostructures Industry business, enabled a decrease in 
unit costs and non-quality costs, which were divided in 
half in France in two years. Furthermore, applying 
flexibility to adapt to changes in load allowed the impact 
of production rate decreases recorded over some 
programs to be limited.  

The performance of the Group during 2015 enables the 
goal of recurring Free Cash Flow of operations to be 
confirmed at approximately at 7% of revenue in 2016, or 
nearly €50 million.  

Furthermore, in a more mature market environment, the 
Group confirms the offensive and defensive priorities 
developed in the strategic component of the Boost Plan: 
the strengthening of its position in key markets and the 
substantial improvement in its cost competitiveness. Its 
implementation will begin in 2016. 
 

 
2.6 Other Information 

 
 
2.6.1 Investments of the LATECOERE Company 
 

 
 
 
  

('000 EURO) Number of 

shares held
Gross value Provision Net value

LATECOERE INTERNATIONAL Inc. 600 541 0 541

LATECOERE  Développement 149 998 572 0 572

LATelec 1 900 7 600 0 7 600

LATECOERE Czech Republic s.r.o. NC 20 787 0 20 787

LATECOERE Do Brasil 30 339 461 13 425 0 13 425

LATECOERE Aéroservices 15 000 229 229 0

LATECOERE Bienes Raices 600 0 0 0

Corse Composites Aéronautique 184 139 2 700 923 1 777

LATECOERE Services 1 0 0 0

SEA LATELEC 10 0 0 0

TOTAL FILIALES ET PARTICIPATIONS 45 854 1 151 44 703

LATECOERE shares 29 432 120 0 120

TOTAL TITRES DE PLACEMENTS 29 432 120 0 120



 
                                 BUSINESSES AND RESULTS 

                             December 31, 2015  

 

 

 

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015  LATECOERE            30       

 

2 

2.6.2 Five Years Record of the LATECOERE Company 
 

 
 
 

 
2.6.3 Subsequent Events 
 

No significant events occurred after the closing.  

  

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2011 Dec 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2013 Dec 31, 2014 Dec 31, 2015

Capital at year-end:

Share Capital 17 219 994 18 647 508 23 017 186 23 090 998 186 694 330

Number of issued ordinary shares 8 609 997 9 323 754 11 508 593 11 545 499 93 347 165

Operations and results of the fiscal year:

Sales excluding VAT 399 705 790 445 595 033 395 390 550 443 975 800 505 289 730

Income before tax, employee profit sharing, depreciation, amortization and provisions  -14 341 653 -14 825 268 -155 778 927 -15 088 139 -3 148 097

Income taxes -8 447 538 -5 884 626 -6 464 039 -7 278 717 6 468 716

Employee profit sharing (legal and contractual) 546 035 25 050 723 781 2 104 270 -1 845 310

Income after tax, employee profit sharing,  depreciation, amortization and provisions 1 133 049 -1 074 453 -87 215 045 -3 838 179 -8 624 943

Dividend paid during the year (including withholding tax on securities)  0 0 0 0 0

Earnings per share: 

Earnings after tax and profit sharing, but before depreciation, amortization and -0,7 -1,0 -13,0 -0,9 -0,1

Earnings after tax and profit sharing, depreciation, amortization and provisions 0,1 -0,1 -7,6 -0,3 -0,1

Dividend paid per share (excluding tax credit) in the year 0 0 0 0 0

Personnel :

Average number of employees 1 022 1 086 1 109 1 128 1 067

Total remuneration 41 257 977 44 159 106 47 911 803 49 090 994 47 020 248

Total social charges and other personnel-related benefits 20 046 760 21 088 034 22 748 574 23 873 112 23 407 020
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3       CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 

31, 2015 

 
 
3.1 State of the consolidated financial situation 

 

 
 

 
 

  

('000 EURO)
Notes Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Goodwill 5.2 1 300 1 300

Other intangible assets 5.1 4 827 4 823

Tangible assets 5.1 91 565 89 722

Other financial assets 2 441 6 471

Deferred tax assets 15.2 24 430 21 235

Financial derivative instruments 9.1 232 0

Other non-current assets 116 0

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 124 910 123 552

Inventories 6.1 424 068 417 612

Accounts receivable 8 194 566 164 841

Tax receivable 15.1 23 461 24 732

Financial derivative instruments 9.1 376 0

Other current assets 1 881 2 784

Cash & Cash Equivalents 90 370 33 366

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 734 723 643 335

TOTAL ASSETS 859 633 766 887

('000 EURO)
Notes Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Share capital 10.2 186 694 23 091

Share premium 213 607 93 095

Treasury stock 1 586 1 625

Other Reserves -10 380 -9 218

Accumulated Net Income -5 435 1 972

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO PARENT OWNERS 386 073 110 565

Non-controlling interests 2 834 1 568

TOTAL EQUITY 388 907 112 133

Loans and bank borrowings 13.1 92 304 174 797

Refundable Advances 39 264 38 171

Employee benefits 12 16 784 15 839

Other provisions 11 1 050 943

Deferred tax liabilities 15.2 1 292 503

Financial derivative instruments 9.1 8 379 0

Other non-current liabilities 22 961 19 285

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 182 036 249 538

Loans and bank borrowings (less than 1 year) 13.1 62 093 168 743

Refundable Advances 1 699 1 038

Accounts payable 14 180 177 185 813

Income tax liabilities 3 529 3 024

Other current liabilities 16 199 18 549

Financial derivative instruments 9.1 24 994 28 048

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 288 691 405 216

TOTAL LIABILITIES 470 726 654 753

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES 859 633 766 887
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3.2 Consolidated Income Statement 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

('000 EURO)
Notes Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Revenue 712 423 664 074

Other operating revenue 1 293 791

Change in inventory: work-in-progress & finished goods -646 12 024

Raw material, Other Purchases & external charges 17 -430 734 -398 344

Personnel expenses -232 448 -238 116

Taxes -14 234 -8 599

Amortization -12 411 -12 009

Net operating provisions charge -84 -253

Depreciation of current assets 1 893 4 429

Other operating income 18 15 890 15 463

Other operating expenses -2 950 -2 188

OPERATING INCOME 37 994 37 273

Operating Income / Sales 5,33% 5,61%

Net Cost of debt -12 560 -14 710

Foreign Exchange gains/losses realized -6 650 -4 978

Other financial incomes and expenses realized -4 024 -9 302

Realized financial result -23 235 -28 990

Change in fair value of financial derivative instruments -6 910 -10 867

Other financial incomes and expenses unrealized -3 749 1 331

Unrealized financial result -10 660 -9 536

FINANCIAL RESULT 19 -33 895 -38 527

Income tax 20 -2 278 1 616

NET RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 1 820 362

Of which, Owners of the parent 264 135

Of which, Non-controlling interests 1 556 227

Group net result/ sales 0,04% 0,02%

Weighted average number of shares 36 984 668 11 521 751

Earnings per share 10.2 0,01 0,01

Diluted earnings per share 10.2 0,01 0,01
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3.3 State of the overall consolidated net result 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

('000 EURO)

NET RESULT FOR THE PERIOD (1) 1 820 362

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

- Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Commitments to purchase minority interests 17 -1 130

Actuarial gain or loss for year relating retirements benefits -103 -764

Other 87 -266

Income tax related to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 35 262

- Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Translation differences -2 431 -219

Financial instruments (cash flow hedging) : change in fair value and transfer in profit and loss 1 999 -28 053

Income tax related to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss -652 9 778

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (2): -1 047 -20 392

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1+2) 773 -20 031

Of which, Owners of the parent -821 -20 266

Of which, Non-controlling interests 1 594 235

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
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3.4 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow 

 
 

 
 
 

  

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Net result for the period 1 820 362

Adjustments related to non-cash activities  :

Depreciation and provisions ¹ 16 590 21 719

Fair value gains/losses 7 102 10 867

Other non-cash items 126 141

CASH FLOWS AFTER COST OF DEBT AND INCOME TAXES 25 638 33 088

Income taxes 2 278 -1 616

Interest expenses 12 560 14 710

CASH FLOWS BEFORE COST OF DEBT AND INCOME TAXES 40 477 46 182

Changes in inventories ¹ -6 648 -12 354

Changes in client and other receivables ¹ -28 688 -7 131

Changes in suppliers and other payables -2 701 21 408

Income tax paid -4 916 -2 454

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES -2 477 45 651

Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (including changes in payables to fixed asset suppliers) -15 014 -15 083
Purchase of financial assets -98 -6

Increase (decrease) in loans and advances made 170 -677

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 30 27

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -14 911 -15 739

Expenses on increase of capital ² 284 115 369

Purchase or disposal of treasury shares -39 -65

Proceeds from borrowings ³ 100 000 0

Repayments of borrowings ⁴ -230 828 -3 397

Financial interest paid -11 486 -15 504

Dividends paid -328 -325

Flows from refundable advances 1 754 167

Other flows from financing operation ⁵ -65 867 1 691

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 77 321 -17 064

Effects of exchange rate changes -308 -22

Other changes without cash impact 0 0INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 59 625 12 826

Opening cash and cash equivalents position 30 720 17 894

Closing cash and cash equivalents position 90 344 30 720

³ 2015 is the issue of the new  syndicated loan

⁴ 2015 corresponds mainly to the repayment of instalment B of the syndicated loan

⁵ 2015 corresponds to the repayment of short term loans for € 52.5 million and cash charges related to debt restructuring for € 15.9 million

² 2015 corresponds to € 3.8 million for the exercise of share purchase w arrants and € 280.3 million for the debt restructuring

¹ In order to improve the understanding of the cash f low  statement, the Group decided to present starting 12/31/2015 a w orking capital net of provisions. The change in provisions are 

included on the lines "changes in client and other receivables net of provisions". The impact of reclassif ication is of 4 429 K€ for the f inancial year 2014.
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3.5 Variation of Consolidated Shareholders' Equity 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

('000 EURO)

Share 

capital

Share 

Premium

Treasury 

stock

Reserves and 

Accumulated 

Results

Cash f low  

hedgings - 

f inancial 

instruments

Translation 

difference

Other 

variations 

Equity 

attributable to 

owners of 

parent

Non-controlling 

interests
TOTAL

Dec 31, 2013 23 017 92 800 1 691 11 290 9 678 -5 714 -2 233 130 528 1 657 132 185

Capital variations 74 295 369 369

Share-based payments 0 0

Transactions on treasury stock -65 -65 -65

Dividends 0 -325 -325

Other variations

Transactions with owners 74 295 -65 0 0 0 0 304 -325 -21

Résultat net de l’exercice (1) 135 135 227 362

Financial instruments (cash flow hedging): change in fair value 

and transfer in profit and loss 
-18 294 -18 294 -18 294

Instruments financiers : écarts de conversion 18 18 18

Ecarts de conversion : variations et transferts en résultat -226 -226 7 -219

Autres variations -1 899 -1 899 1 -1 898

Autres éléments du résultat global (2) 0 0 0 0 -18 275 -226 -1 899 -20 401 8 -20 392

TOTAL RESULTAT GLOBAL (1)+(2) 0 0 0 135 -18 275 -226 -1 899 -20 266 235 -20 031

Dec 31, 2014 23 091 93 095 1 625 11 424 -8 597 -5 939 -4 133 110 566 1 568 112 133

Capital variations 163 603 120 512 -8 802 275 314 275 314

Share-based payments 1 055 1 055 1 055

Transactions on treasury stock -39 -39 -39

Dividends 0 -328 -328

Other variations

Transactions with owners 163 603 120 512 -39 -7 747 0 0 0 276 329 -328 276 001

Net result for the period (1) 264 264 1 556 1 820

Financial instruments (cash flow hedging): change in fair value 

and transfer in profit and loss 
1 363 1 363 1 363

Financial instruments: Translation differences -16 -16 -16

Translation differences: change and transfer in profit and loss -2 468 -2 468 38 -2 431

Other variations 36 36 1 36

Other comprehensive income (2) 0 0 0 0 1 347 -2 468 36 -1 086 38 -1 047

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1)+(2) 0 0 0 264 1 347 -2 468 36 -821 1 594 773

Dec 31, 2015 186 694 213 607 1 586 3 942 -7 251 -8 408 -4 097 386 073 2 834 388 907
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3.6 Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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INFORMATION RELATIVE TO THE GROUP  

 
 
LATECOERE is a French corporation ("société 
anonyme") headquartered in Toulouse, France. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the 
LATECOERE Group for the fiscal year ended on 
December 31, 2015, include the parent company and its 
subsidiaries (the whole being designated as "the Group") 
and its share of results in associates. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been established by the Board of Directors on March 2, 
2016. They will be submitted to the Annual General 
Meeting. 

 
 

NOTE 1  MAIN EVENTS 

 
 
Recapitalization of the Group 
 

In accordance with the Conciliation Agreement signed 
with its creditors on May 26, 2015, and following the 
approval by the General Meeting of the shareholders of 
the restructuring plan on June 29 and July 15, 2015, the 
Group realized two successive capital increases for an 
aggregate amount of €280 million: 

 The first capital increase reserved to the lenders 
of the syndicated loan amounted to €57 million 
and was realized by debt-for-equity swaps. 
Following that transaction, lenders held a 37.4% 
stake in the capital of the Group. 

 The second capital increase with retention of 
preferential rights for an amount of €223 million 
allowed the Group to repay €123 million of the 
syndicated loan and to retain €100 million. With 
regard to the success of the transaction, the 
weight of the lenders in the capital of the Group 
has remained unchanged. 

 
Following the capital increase with retention of the 
preferential right of subscription, the share capital of 
Latécoère was €187 million. 

 
New governance 
 
In accordance with the resolutions adopted by the 
General Meeting, the Group has, effective September 22, 
2015, has a new corporate governance thus changing 
from a dual board structure (Supervisory Board and 
Management Board) to a unitary one (Board of 
Directors). Thus Frédéric Michelland was appointed 
Deputy CEO and Olivier Regnard, Deputy CEO.  
 
The Board of Directors of the Group is composed of: 

 Mr. Pierre Gadonneix, Chairman of the Board of 
Directors; 

 Mr. Frédéric Michelland, Deputy CEO; 
 Mr. Jean-Luc Allavena, Mr. Christophe Villemin, 

and Mr. Robert Séminara, representatives of 
Apollo; 

 Mr. Matthew Glowasky and Mr. Josiah 
Rotenberg, representatives of Monarch Capital; 

 Mrs. Claire Dreyfus-Cloarec, Mrs. Isabelle 
Azemard and Mr. Francis Niss, independent 
members; 

 Mr. Jean-Louis Peltriaux, representative of the 
employee shareholders. 

 

 

NOTE 2  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
 
2.1 Basis of Preparation of the Financial 
Statements 
 
The 2015 consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in compliance with the IFRS as issued by the 
IASB and adopted by the European Union at December 
31, 2015. 
 
The IFRS system of reference IFRS includes the IFRS, 
the IAS (International Accounting Standards) as well as 
their SIC (Standing Interpretations Committee) and IFRIC 
(International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee) interpretations. 
 
The financial statements are presented '000 EURO 
rounded to the closest thousand euros. 
 
They are prepared on the basis of historical cost, with the 
exception of the following assets and liabilities which are 
valued at fair value: derivative financial instruments, 
financial instruments held for trading, financial 
instruments and liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit and loss. 

 
 
2.2 Application of applicable standards, 
amendments and interpretations for the 
financial statements 
 
The new mandatorily applicable standards and 
interpretations, effective as from January 1, 2015, only 
include the IFRIC 21 "Levies" interpretation. 
 
The IFRIC 21 "Levies" interpretation specifies the 
conditions for recognition, on the liabilities side of the 
consolidated balance sheet, of levies within the scope of 
application of the IAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets" standard. It specifies 
the timing of recognition that should be applied to these 
levies and is generally based for that on their operative 
legal event. On the other hand, the IFRIC 21 
Interpretation does not address the counterpart to 
recognize in respect of the liability. 
 
At the Group level, the application of this interpretation 
mainly translated into the change, to each half-year 
period, of the timing of recognition in result of two levies 
in force in France, which were previously recorded on a 
pro rata basis: the property tax and the social solidarity 
contribution of companies ("contribution sociale de 
solidarité des sociétés" (C3S)). The application of IFRIC 
21 has therefore had no impact either on the annual 
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result or on the income statement for 2014. The impact of 
IFRIC 21 on the consolidated balance sheet of December 
31, 2014 is of lesser importance. The latter has therefore 
not been restated.  
 
The Group has not applied by anticipation any new 
standards and interpretations listed below that might 
relate to it and whose application is not mandatory at 
January 1, 2015: 

 IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers"; 

 IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments"; 

 "Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortization" (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 
38); 

 "Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations" (Amendments to IFRS 11); 

 "Improving Disclosures in the Annex" (Amendments to 
IAS 1); 

 "Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions" 
(Amendments to IAS 19); 

 Annual Improvements, 2010-2012 and 2012-2014 
cycles. 

 
LATECOERE is currently conducting an analysis of the 
impacts and practical consequences of the application of 
these standards. 
 

 
 
2.3 Use of estimates and assumptions  
 
The preparation of financial statements requires that the 
Board of Directors make estimates and assumptions 
which have an impact on the application of accounting 
methods as well as on amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses.  
 
The Group makes assumptions and regularly establishes, 
on these bases, estimates relating to its various 
businesses. These estimates have been made from past 
experience and other factors considered as reasonable in 
view of the circumstances; they integrate the economic 
conditions prevailing at the closing and the information 
available as of the date of preparation of the financial 
statements. The Board of Directors regularly reviews its 
estimates and assumptions on the basis of its past 
experience as well as other factors deemed reasonable, 
which constitutes the grounds for its appreciations of the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities. 
 
The impact of changes in accounting estimates is 
recognized during the period of the change if it affects 
only that period or during the course of the period of the 
change and subsequent periods if these are also affected 
by the change. 
 
The use of estimates and assumptions assumes a 
special importance principally for: 

  the estimated margin for construction contracts (note 
6); 

 employee benefits (note 12); 

 deferred tax assets; 

 provisions on inventory; 

 the recoverable value of intangible and tangible assets 
as well as their useful life; 

 the fair value of financial instruments. 
 
At December 31, 2015, the accounting estimates used in 
the preparation of the financial statements were 
performed in a worldwide economic context with a still 
high degree of volatility with regard to economic 
prospects. The estimates and the assumptions retained 
for the consolidated financial statements were 
determined based on the elements in the Group's 
possession at the closing date and, in particular: 

 commercial information (order book and rates) 
communicated by the various aircraft manufacturers 
and information from the prospects of the aeronautical 
market, 

 the outlook for the dollar in the long term. 

 
 
2.4 Subsidiaries 
 
Companies controlled directly or indirectly by the 
LATECOERE Company are fully consolidated. Control 
exists as soon as the parent company holds directly or 
indirectly the power to direct the financial and operational 
policy of the subsidiary and to obtain benefits from its 
activities. 
The full consolidation method consists in integrating all 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The share of 
assets and income attributable to the minority 
shareholders is accounted for as minority interests in the 
consolidated balance sheet and the consolidated 
statement of income. Subsidiaries are integrated into the 
consolidation scope from the date when control is 
obtained. 
 
 

2.5 Associated Companies 
 
“Associates" means entities in which the Group exercises 
significant influence over financial and operational policy 
without having the exclusive or joint control. Significant 
influence is assumed to exist when the Group's interest is 
greater or equal to 20%. 
The consolidation method is the equity method, which 
consists in entering in the balance sheet an amount 
reflecting the Group's share of the net assets of the 
associate, increased, if applicable, by the goodwill 
generated by the original acquisition. 

 
 
2.6 Elimination of Intercompany Transactions 
 
Intercompany transactions between consolidated 
subsidiaries are fully eliminated, as well as the resulting 
receivables and payables. The Group's internal income 
(dividends and income from disposals) is also eliminated 
from consolidated income. Unrealized losses are 
eliminated like unrealized profits, but only insofar as they 
do not represent a loss in value. 

 
 
2.7 Foreign Currency Translation 
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Foreign currency transactions are converted into euros 
by applying the exchange rate prevailing at the 
transaction date. The monetary assets and liabilities 
appearing in balance sheet at closing date are translated 
by applying the exchange rate at such date. Foreign 
currency differences for commercial transactions are 
recognized in the result. 

 
 
2.8 Financial Statements of Foreign 
Subsidiaries 
 
Assets and liabilities of consolidated entities for which the 
functional currency is different from the euro are 
converted at the exchange rate at the closing date, with 
the exception of shareholders' equity, which is accounted 
for at the historical rate. Income and expenses are 
converted at the exchange rate in force at the relevant 
transaction date or, as a practical matter, at the rate 
which approaches this and which corresponds to the 
average rate for the period, except for cases of large 
fluctuations in exchange rates. Exchange rate variations 
resulting from these conversions are accounted for in 
consolidated shareholders' equity (translation 
differences). 
 
In accordance with IAS 21, the exchange rate differences 
relating to permanent financing activities part of the net 
investment in a consolidated subsidiary are recorded in 
shareholders' equity (under translation differences). At 
disposal of these investments, the accumulated 
translation differences recorded in the shareholders' 
equity will be recognized in income statement. 
 
 

2.9 Goodwill 
 
Since January 1, 2010 
 
Pursuant to IFRS 3, business combinations made as 
from 1 January 2010 are valued and recorded according 
to the principles described below. 
Business Combinations are accounted for according to 
IFRS 3 (Revised). Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities recovered are valued at fair value at the date of 
acquisition and, when applicable, the interest not giving 
control in the acquired company is valued either at fair 
value, or at the share in the net identifiable assets 
(including adjustments of fair value) of the acquired 
entity. This option is available on a case-by-case basis 
for each business combination transaction. The direct 
costs related to the acquisition (transaction costs) are 
included in expenses for the period during which they are 
incurred. Any share previously held in the acquired 
business, before the taking of control, is revalued at its 
fair value and the corresponding income or loss is posted 
in result. 
Identifiable assets and liabilities recovered are valued at 
fair value at the date of acquisition and changes in fair 
value will be noted in the future in result beyond the 
appropriation period of one year. Contingent price 
adjustments of business combinations are valued at fair 
value at the date of acquisition. 
After the date of acquisition, the price adjustment is 
valued at its fair value at each closing of the financial 

statements. Beyond the appropriation period, any 
subsequent change to this fair value will be recorded in 
result. The purchase price paid by the buyer, which 
includes a contingent portion, is valued and recognized at 
its fair value at the date of acquisition, subsequent 
variations to fair value of the contingent portion present in 
liabilities, being recognized in accordance with IAS 39, 
IAS 37 or other applicable IFRS, will be accounted for in 
net result, or in Income and expenses accounted for 
directly in shareholders' equity. 
 
At the date of acquisition, the goodwill determined at the 
occasion of each business combination may be valued 
either on the basis of the share of the net acquired assets 
(including adjustments for fair value), or on the basis of 
the overall value of the business. 
 
If they are generated by the acquisition of integrated 
companies or proportionally integrated companies, 
positive goodwill are posted to balance sheet assets in 
the item "Goodwill" and negative goodwill (badwill) is 
immediately recorded in the income statement. On the 
other hand, goodwill from the acquisition of associates is 
posted on the line "investments in associates" in 
accordance with IAS 28. 
 
Goodwill may be corrected within the appropriation period 
of one year after the date of acquisition in order to take 
into account the final estimate of the fair value of 
acquired assets and liabilities. Beyond that period, the 
adjustments are posted in result. 
 
Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to impairment 
tests on at least an annual basis and in case of 
indications of loss in value. 
 
Before January 1, 2010 

 
Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of 
acquisition and the acquired share of the fair value of 
identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the 
acquisition date. 
 
For acquisitions prior to January 1, 2004, the goodwill is 
maintained at its deemed cost, which represents the 
amount accounted for according to the previous 
standards. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 3 and IAS 36, goodwill is 
recorded as an intangible asset at its initial value, 
reduced by accumulated loss in value. They are not 
amortized but are subject to impairment tests on an 
annual basis and in case of indications of loss in value. 
The impairment test is realized in accordance with the 
principles described in note 2.12. 
Negative goodwill (badwill) is recorded in the income 
statement of the period. 

 
 
2.10 Other Intangible Fixed Assets 
 
Intangible fixed assets are identifiable non-monetary 
assets (resulting from a legal right or able to be sold, 
transferred, rented or exchanged in an isolated manner 
or with a contract, another asset or liability), without 
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physical substance, held to be used for the production or 
the furnishing of goods or services, for the rental to third 
parties or for administrative purposes. 
 
The intangible fixed assets must respond to the following 
criteria: 

 probability of obtaining future economic benefits 
attributable to this asset; 

 reliable valuation of the cost of the asset. 
 
The amortization method used reflects the consumption 
rate by the company of the economic benefits of the fixed 
asset. 
 

The intangible fixed assets acquired through a business 
combination are accounted for according to the same 
principles. 
 
The intangible assets held by the Group are principally: 

 contracts acquired through a business combination, 
depreciated over the term of the contracts; 

 software and other licenses depreciated over four 
years. 

 
Intangible assets are depreciated over their useful life. 
The Group holds no intangible assets of indefinite useful 
life. The intangible fixed assets acquired by the Group 
are accounted for at their cost reduced by the 
accumulated depreciation and loss in value. If an 
indication of loss in value exists, an impairment test is 
carried out as described in note 2.12. Any loss in value is 
recognized in operating result, on the line "depreciation 
amortization". 
 

Research expenses are accounted for in expenses. 
Development costs are recognized as assets when all the 
following criteria are met: 

 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible 
fixed asset in order to use or sell it; 

 the intention to complete the intangible fixed asset and 
use or sell it; 

 the capacity to use or sell the intangible fixed asset; 

 the manner in which the intangible fixed asset will 
generate probable future economic benefits; 

 the availability of technical, financial and other 
resources in order to complete the development and to 
use or sell the intangible fixed asset; 

 the capacity to measure expenses reliably. 
 
To date, the development expenses incurred by the 
Group have been committed through partnership 
contracts responding to the characteristics of contracts 
defined by IAS 11 as construction contracts. These 
expenses therefore follow the treatment detailed in note 
2.15. 

 
 
2.11 Tangible Assets 
 
The tangible fixed assets are accounted for at their 
directly attributable cost (including purchase price, taxes 
paid and direct purchase cost), reduced by accumulated 
depreciation and loss of value. 
 

Subsequent expenses relating to tangible fixed assets 
are accounted for as expenses of the fiscal year in which 
they are incurred if they maintain the performance level of 
the asset. They are added to the carrying value of the 
initial fixed asset if they generate future economic 
benefits higher than the initial level of performance and if 
their cost can be measured reliably. 
 
When applicable, the total cost of an asset is broken 
down between its different constitutive elements 
(components) if their useful lives are different. Each 
element of the asset is depreciated over a different time 
period. The Group has defined families of assets that 
might be broken down, together with the useful lives of 
the components thus determined. 
 
As the assets acquired by the Group are not meant to be 
resold before the end of their economic lives, no residual 
value has been applied to the different tangible fixed 
assets. 
 
The amortization method reflects the rate of consumption 
of the future economic benefits relating to the asset. 
 
If an indication of loss in value exists, an impairment test 
is carried out as described in note 2.12. 
Any loss in value is recognized in operating result, on the 
line "depreciation amortization". 
 
 
The grants received by the Group to finance industrial 
fixed assets are accounted for in deduction of the asset's 
original value. 
The amortization periods associated with the groups and 
sub-groups of assets are as follows: 

 

 
 
 
2.12 Impairment of Assets 

 
The carrying value of the Group's assets (other than 
inventory and deferred tax assets) is examined at each 
closing so as to appreciate if any indication of a loss in 
value exists. If such an indication is identified (reduction 
in market value or accelerated obsolescence, for 
example) an impairment test is carried out. 

 
Concerning the intangible assets not yet available for use 
or for which the useful life is indefinite, and for the 
goodwill, such impairment test is carried out at a 
minimum of once a year. 

 

Group
Amortization 

period 

Construction 15 - 40 years

General facilities 10 -20 years

Technical facilities 6 2/3 – 20 years

Tooling 3 years

Electronic equipment 5 years

Computer hardware 3 – 5 years

Transportation equipment 4 years

Office equipment 6 2/3 years

Furniture 10 years
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The impairment test consists in comparing the carrying 
value of the asset or of the relevant group of assets with 
its recoverable value. 

 
The recoverable value of an asset is the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The value in 
use is the discounted value of estimated future cash 
flows expected from the continuing use of the asset and 
from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 

 
In order to determine the value in use of an asset, the 
Group uses: 

 an estimate of the future cash flows (before income tax 
and financial cost) based on assumptions that keep the 
asset in its current condition and represent the best 
estimate of the economic conditions which will exist 
during the remaining useful life of the asset; 

 the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current 
market valuations of the time value of money and of 
the specific risks of the asset. The discount rate does 
not reflect the risks that have already been taken into 
account in the estimate of future cash flows. 

Depreciation is recorded if the carrying value of an asset 
is higher than its recoverable value.  

 
The recoverable value shall be estimated for each asset 
individually. If that is not possible, IAS 36 states that 
companies shall determine the recoverable value of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Assets are thus allocated to the Cash-Generating Units 
(the smallest identifiable group of assets the continuous 
use of which generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of cash flows from other assets or groups of 
assets).  

 
The fixed assets of each Group company are not specific 
to a business or to a sector but are usable by the whole 
of the Company (no independence of cash inflows 
between them). Therefore, the Cash-Generating Units 
are the different companies of the Group taken 
individually. 

 
An impairment loss accounted for in a Cash-Generating 
Unit is first allocated to the reduction in carrying value of 
any goodwill allocated to this Cash-Generating Unit, then 
to the reduction in carrying value of the other assets of 
the Unit, at the pro rata of the carrying value of each 
asset. 

 
An impairment of goodwill cannot be reversed. 

 
An impairment loss recognized for another asset is 
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used in order to determine the recoverable value. 
The carrying value of an asset, increased by reason of 
the reversal of a loss in value, must not be higher than 
the carrying value that would have been determined net 
of depreciation, if no loss of value had been accounted 
for. 

 
 
2.13 Borrowing costs 
 

As from January 1, 2009, borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the purchase of tangible and intangible 
assets requiring at least twelve months of preparation 
before being put in service are included in the gross 
value of these assets referred to as "qualifying". The 
gross value of the Group's inventory fitting the definition 
of qualifying asset for the purposes of IAS 23 "Borrowing 
costs" is also adjusted. 
  
When a qualifying asset is financed by a specific loan, 
the additional cost taken into account in its gross value 
corresponds to the interests actually accounted for over 
the period, net of the income received on the funds not 
yet used. When a qualifying asset is not financed by a 
specific loan, the borrowing cost capitalized corresponds 
to the average general debt rate over the period. 

 
 
2.14 Lease Agreements 

 
Tangible asset leases for which the LATECOERE Group 
bears almost all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the asset leased are considered as finance 
leases in accordance with IAS 17 and thus are adjusted 
in the consolidated financial statements. The assets are 
accounted for at their fair value or the current value of 
minimum future lease payments if lower. These assets 
are then amortized on their useful life. If the Company 
does not have a reasonable certitude of becoming owner 
of the asset at the end of the contract, these assets are 
amortized over the shorter of the useful life and the 
duration of the contract. 

 
A financial debt is recognized with respect to each 
finance lease agreement. 

 
The lease agreements, in which the lessor does not 
transfer almost all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
The payments pursuant to these agreements are 
accounted for in expenses in the income statement. 

 
 
2.15 Inventories & Work-in-Progress 

 
Raw materials  

 
The gross value of raw materials and supplies includes 
the purchase price and associated costs. Raw materials 
and facilities are depreciated when their realization value 
is lower than their carrying value. Raw materials 
inventories are valued according to the weighted average 
price method. 
 
Work-in-Progress (excluding construction contracts)  

 
The gross value of work-in-progress is measured using 
the full cost method. Non-production costs (financial 
costs, marketing costs, unsuccessful proposal cost, 
administrative costs, etc.) are excluded from this 
valuation. Work-in-progress are depreciated when their 
realization value is under their book value. 
 
Construction/Partnership Contracts  
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The Group has concluded with some of its customers 
partnership contracts with the characteristics of 
construction contracts according to IAS 11: 

 contract relating to the production of a group of assets 
closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of 
design, technology and function; 

 which covers several years. 
 
The accounting for these contracts responds to the 
following criteria: 
The principal revenues and costs of construction 
contracts are: 
a) for revenues: 

 the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract; 

 the modifications in contract work or the claims to the 
extent that it is probable that they give rise to revenue 
and that they can be measured reliably. 

 
b) for costs: 

 the costs directly related to the contract; 

 the costs attributable to the contract activity in general 
and which can be allocated to the contract; 

 all other costs that can specifically be charged to the 
customer according to the terms of the contract. 

 
The margin is recognized by reference to the stage of 
completion and calculated in relation to the delivery of 
elements ("milestones"). 
Actually, the Group invoices on delivery and all the 
invoicing is due by the customer whatever the outcome of 
the program.  
Additional invoicing may also be carried out subsequently 
(modifications or additional work). A study is undertaken 
on a case-by-case basis in order to define elements 
permitting the determination of the stage of completion. 
The estimated margin is calculated on the basis of a 
forecast including the technical and budgetary elements. 
This margin is revised periodically based on costs and 
revenues realized during the period and remaining to 
come. When the foreign exchange exposure is hedged, 
the impact of this hedging is integrated in the calculation 
of the estimated margin. When the projected margin is 
negative, it is immediately recorded in income statement. 
 
Construction contracts covering several years, during the 
first years the Group is brought to note in the balance 
sheet costs of production (curve), which will subsequently 
be recycled in income statement according to the 
decrease really observed. 
 
 

2.16 Revenue Recognition 
 

Revenue is recognized according to the following criteria: 

 for contracts falling within the criteria of IAS 11, refer to 
note 2.15; 

 for other types of contracts (other than services), 
revenue is recognized when the main part of risks and 
rewards are transferred to the buyer, which occurs on 
delivery; 

 for service contracts, revenue is recognized by 
reference to the stage of completion based on the 
actual advancement of work on the basis of costs 
recorded in relation to total estimated costs. 

 
 
2.17 Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The Group applies IAS 32 and 39 and IFRS 7. These 
standards define four categories of financial assets and 
two categories of financial liabilities: 

 financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss: it concerns derivative instruments which do 
not qualify for hedge accounting as well as cash flow 
investments designated at fair value through profit and 
loss; 

 financial assets and liabilities available for sale valued 
at fair value with fair value variations recorded in 
shareholders' equity (the Group holds no such assets); 

 financial assets held to maturity valued at amortized 
cost: to date, no assets enter in this family; 

 loans and credits issued by the company and valued at 
amortized cost; 

 other financial liabilities valued at amortized cost, 
following the effective interest rate method.  

 
These financial assets and liabilities are allotted to the 
balance sheet in current and non-current elements 
following their expiry date less than or greater than a 
year. 
 
Derivative instruments  

 
The Group uses financial derivative instruments such as 
hedging contracts on foreign currency and on interest 
rates so as to hedge its current positions against foreign 
exchange exposure and interest rate risk. The hedging 
instruments are forward sales and purchases for the 
foreign currency and hedging for interest rates in the form 
of "collar". The derivative instruments are measured at 
fair value with fair value variations recognized in the 
income statement except for hedging instruments 
hereinafter designated. An independent company 
measures the fair value of derivative instruments. It takes 
into account the value of the derivative instrument at 
closing date (“mark to market"). The derivative 
instruments are recognized on the transaction date. 
 

The Group realizes a large share of its revenue in US 
dollars. Given the importance of these flows, a hedging 
strategy of future flows in this currency was put in place 
by applying the following principles: 

 hedging of part of estimated future cash inflows with 
some customers; 

 taking into account of a probability of realization of 
these future flows; this permits the appreciation of 
hedging needs relative to each hedged item for the 
application of the hedge accounting. 

 
Similarly, the Letov s.r.o. Company, Czech subsidiary of 
the LATECOERE Company, realized its revenue in Euros 
while its expenses are in Czech koruna (CZK). The 
Group has implemented hedging instruments for future 
flows of the Czech koruna and has decided to describe 
these hedging instruments from the point of view of IAS 
39 because of the business growth of this subsidiary and 
the current volatility of this currency. Until June 30, 2008, 
these instruments were accounted for at fair value 
through profit and loss. The criteria that enable the 
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application of cash flow hedge accounting have been 
respected since July 1, 2008. The flows hedged from 
such date are budgeted flows considered as highly likely 
operating expenses and financial expenses for the Letov 
s.r.o. Company. 

  
The derivative instruments subject to hedge accounting 
have been documented according to IAS 39. Tests of 
effectiveness are realized at the implementation of 
hedging instruments and at each closing. Based on the 
hedge item, two kinds of hedge exist in the Group: 

 the fair value hedge, which hedges the exposure to 
variation of fair value of an asset accounted for in the 
balance sheet as a result of the evolution of interest 
rates or of a currency; 

 the cash flow hedge, which hedges the exposure to 
variations in future cash flows of existing or future 
assets or liabilities. 

 
For the fair value hedge of existing assets or liabilities, 
the hedged share of these elements is valued in the 
balance sheet at its fair value. The variation of this fair 
value is recorded in the income statement where it is 
compensated by the symmetric fair value variations of 
financial hedging instruments, as far as their 
effectiveness. 

 
The future cash flows hedge which qualifies for hedge 
accounting is treated in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group as follows: 

 the effective share of profit or loss on the hedging 
instruments is directly accounted for in shareholders' 
equity (net of deferred tax); the inefficient share and 
the time value of options (non-qualified) are 
immediately recognized in financial result; 

 the profits or losses accounted for in shareholders' 
equity are reported to the income statement of the 
period during the course of which the under-lying 
hedged item is accounted for, such as when the 
forecasted revenue is realized.  

 
At each closing, every existing hedging instrument is 
subject to an actualization of its fair value and an 
updating of the effectiveness test specific to each hedge 
relationship. If a hedge proves ineffective at the end of 
the test, the hedge accounting ceases to be applied. 
Certain financial instruments are not treated as hedging 
instruments because they do not qualify for hedge 
accounting under IAS 39. In such case, the profits or the 
losses resulting from the fair value variations of these 
instruments are accounted for in financial result. 
 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash funds and 
demand deposits. Bank overdrafts repayable on demand 
and financing under discounted receivables (not 
respecting the criteria for derecognition of assets) which 
forms an integral part of the Group's cash management 
are a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
needs of the statement of cash flows. Short-term 
investments, very liquid, easily convertible in a known 
amount of cash and carrying a negligible risk of change in 

value are considered as the cash equivalents. These 
investments are valued at fair value. 
 
 
Borrowings  

 
Financial debts are initially recognized at fair value on 
which are allocated the transactions costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of the liabilities. At the 
closing, financial debts are valued at amortized cost, 
based on the effective interest rate method. The fair 
value of financial liabilities valued at amortized cost (fixed 
rate borrowings, essentially), disclosed in the notes, was 
determined by an independent organization on the basis 
of a valuation technique. 
 
 
Market Value Determination  

 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss and derivatives qualified as hedging instruments 
are evaluated and accounted for at their market value at 
their first accounting date, as well as at subsequent 
valuation dates.  
 
 
Market value is determined: 

 either based on a price quoted on an active market; 

 or based on a valuation technique using: 
- mathematical calculation methods based on 

recognized financial theories 
- the parameters whose value is determined, in 

some cases, based on the price of instruments 
negotiated on active markets, and in others, based 
on statistical estimates or other quantitative 
methods. 

The distinction between the two valuation methods is 
applied depending on whether the market on which the 
instrument is negotiated is active or not. 
A market is considered as active and thus liquid for a 
given instrument if transactions are regularly made on it 
or if transactions of instruments very similar to those 
subject to the valuation are carried out on it. 
The Group distinguishes three categories of financial 
instruments according to the consequences that their 
characteristics have on their valuation method and bases 
itself on this classification in order to disclose some of the 
information required by IFRS 7: 

 Level One "Market Price" category: financial 
instruments quoted on an active market; 

 Level Two "Model with observable parameters" 
category: financial instruments whose valuation uses 
valuation techniques based on observable parameters; 

 Level Three "Model with non-observable parameters" 
category: financial instruments whose valuation uses 
valuation techniques based in part or in whole on non-
observable parameters; a non-observable parameter 
being defined as a parameter whose value results from 
assumptions or correlations which are neither based on 
observable market transaction prices for the same 
instrument at the valuation date, nor on observable 
market data available at the same date. 

 

In the case of an inactive market evidenced, for example, 
by an increasing scarcity of counterparts, the Group may 
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resort to mathematical models evaluating risks based on 
assumptions that would normally take market 
participants, according to a time horizon corresponding to 
the term of the relevant instruments, in compliance with 
IAS 39. 
 
 
Commitment to buyout minority interests 

 
In accordance with IAS 32, commitments to buyout 
minority shares in the Group's subsidiaries are 
recognized to the balance sheet in non-current liabilities. 
The counterpart for this debt is recognized in deduction of 
the shareholders' equity Group share. The debt is 
reappraised at each closing at the current repayment 
value, which is to say the current value of the strike price 
of put option. Any change in value is accounted for in 
shareholders' equity. 

 
 

2.18 Trade & Other Receivables 
 

Trade & other receivables are initially valued at fair value, 
then at amortized cost reduced by the amount of losses 
in value. The loss in value is recognized in the income 
statement. 

 
As part of its short term financing activities, the Group 
carries out discount receivables operations with certain 
financial partners. The corresponding financial assets are 
totally or partially derecognized if the discounted 
receivables contracts respect the following conditions: 

 transfer of the contractual right to receive cash; 

 assignment to a financial partner of the risks and 
rewards relating to the receivable; 

 the financial partner bears entirely the risk of non-
payment of the receivable for solely financial reasons; 
the Group remaining guarantor of all of the technical 
and industrial risks; 

 the recovery of the receivable is the responsibility of 
the financial partner. However, the latter may 
contractually ask the Group to carry out the receivable 
collection on its behalf. 

 
Contracts not respecting these criteria do not give rise to 
derecognition of assets. 
 
 

2.19 Other Liabilities 
 

Other liabilities are initially valued at their fair value, then 
at amortized cost. 
 
 

2.20 Treasury Shares 
 
Treasury shares, whatever their use, are deducted from 
shareholders' equity. The income from disposal of 
treasury shares is recognized directly in shareholders' 
equity, so that the eventual gain or loss on disposal does 
not affect the income statement of the fiscal year. 

 
 

2.21 Provisions 
 

The Group constitutes a provision as soon as: 

 there exists a current obligation (legal or implicit) 
resulting from a past event; 

 it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
necessary to settle the obligation; 

 the amount of this obligation can be estimated reliably. 
The amount of the provision is determined on the basis of 
the best estimate relating to the obligation. The estimate 
of provisions is analyzed at each closing and if 
necessary, its amount is updated. 
The provision is maintained in the financial statements as 
long as precise information (time period and amount) 
does not allow its conclusion to be decided. When the 
effect of the time value of money could be material, the 
provisions are discounted. The provisions noted by the 
Group have not been discounted.  

 
 

2.22 Employee Benefits 
 
The Group recognizes some employee benefits. After 
analysis of the specific regulations of the countries in 
which the Group is present, it appears that these 
provisions concern principally French companies. 

 
Defined Contribution Plans  

 
Contributions to a defined contribution plan are 
accounted for in expenses when they are incurred.  
 
Retirement Liabilities  

 
The obligations of the Group for retirement benefits 
consist in retirement severance pay at the time of the 
employee's retirement departure. In accordance with IAS 
19, for defined benefit plans, the retirement liabilities are 
calculated according to the projected unit credit method. 
The Group's obligations for French companies' 
employees are estimated by an independent actuary. The 
method takes into account, on the basis of actuarial 
assumptions, the probability of the length of future 
service of the employee, the level of future remuneration, 
the life expectancy and employee turnover. The 
obligation, including social security charges, is 
discounted and is accounted for on the basis of the years 
of service of the employees. Actuarial variations resulting 
from these assumptions have been recognized in 
shareholders' equity since 2010. 

 
Long-Service Medals  

 
The LATECOERE Group recognizes a provision on the 
basis of actuarial assumptions, the future level of 
remuneration, life expectancy and employee turnover 
(IAS 19). The Group's obligations under the long-service 
medals (French companies only) are estimated by an 
independent actuary. 

 
 
Paiements fondés sur des actions 

 
Le Groupe comptabilise une charge de paiements en 
actions relative à l’attribution à certains de ses salariés 
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de plans d’attribution d’actions de performance. Cette 
charge est évaluée sur le fondement de calculs 
actuariels. Les principales hypothèses actuarielles 
(volatilité, rendement de l’action) retenues par le Groupe 
sont décrites par plan en note 10.4 Plan d’attribution 
d’actions gratuites. 
 

 

2.23 Public Financing 
 

The Group has obtained public financing for the 
development of some programs.  
These financings of the "refundable advances" type bear 
interest contractually (calculated on the basis of a market 
interest rate). Consequently, these types of financing are 
not subject to IAS 20 on public grants, to the extent that 
the program will likely succeed. 
At the origin, they are valued for the counterpart of the 
cash flow received. At each closing, they are valued 
according to the amortized cost method, calculated with 
the help of the effective interest rate. 
These advances shall be repaid if the program succeeds, 
and repayments are made as deliveries of each financed 
product subject to an advance occur. 
For certain contracts, after full repayment of the advance 
the Group continues to pay out a royalty as a function of 
the program's revenue, the latter being deemed an 
operating expense. 

 
 

2.24 Other operating income 
 
The Group recognizes operating grants, research-based 
tax credit and competitveness and employment tax credit, 
in particular, in other operating income. 
 
 

2.25 Income Tax 
 

The income tax includes the current income tax due and 
deferred tax. Tax is recognized in income statement, 
except if it attached to items that are accounted for 
directly in shareholders' equity. In such case, it is 
accounted for in shareholders' equity. The tax due is the 
amount of the estimated tax due for the period, taking 
into account any tax adjustment of the tax due relating to 
previous periods. 

 
The deferred tax is determined according to the balance 
sheet liability method. It is calculated on the temporary 
differences between the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities and their tax value, with the exception of the 
following elements: 

 goodwill; 

 temporary differences relating to holdings insofar as 
they are not reversed in a foreseeable future. 

 
Valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on 
the Group's estimate of their settlement, using the tax 
rates that were adopted or quasi-adopted at the closing 
date. A deferred tax asset is recognized only if the future 
pre-tax profits on which this tax could be applied are 
probable. The deferred tax assets are reduced when it is 
not probable that a sufficient profit will be realized. In 
accordance with IAS 12, the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not discounted. 
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NOTE 3  CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 

 
 
As the Group has, directly or indirectly, exclusive control in all Group companies except Corse Composites Aéronautique, 
subsidiaries are consolidated by full consolidation. All the companies forming part of the consolidation scope close their 
financial statements on December 31.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Company  name Country Control % Interest %
Consolidation 

method

Aerostructure segment:

LATECOERE France

LATECOERE do BRASIL Brazil 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE CZECH REPUBLIC s.r.o (ex LETOV s.r.o.) Czech Republic 100% 100% Consolidation

LETOV LV a.s. Czech Republic 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE INC. USA 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE DEVELOPPEMENT France 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE BIENES RAICES Mexico 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE Mexico Mexico 100% 0% Consolidation

LATECOERE Mexico Services Mexico 100% 0% Consolidation

LATECOERE Services (ex LATecis) France 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE Services  Iberia (ex LATecis Iberia) Spain 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE Services  Limited (ex LATecis UK limited) England 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE Services  Canada Inc. (ex LATecis Canada Inc.) Canada 100% 100% Consolidation

LATECOERE services Gmbh Germany 100% 100% Consolidation

G²METRIC France 51% 51% Consolidation

G²METRIC GmbH Germany 51% 51% Consolidation

G²METRIC Limited England 51% 51% Consolidation

Interconnection Systems segment:

LATelec France 100% 100% Consolidation

LATelec GmbH Germany 100% 100% Consolidation

SEA LATelec Tunisia 100% 100% Consolidation

LATelec Mexico Mexico 100% 0% Consolidation

LATelec Mexico Services Mexico 100% 0% Consolidation
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NOTE 4  OPERATIONAL SEGMENTS 

 
 
The sectors or segments presented by the Group are distinct components of the Group which are committed in the supply of 
goods or dependent services (business segments), and that are exposed to risks and to a profitability different from those of 
other segments. 
 
the business segments defined by the Group are as from fiscal year 2013:  

 Aerostructures (including Aerostructure industry segment and Aerostructure services segment) 

 Interconnection Systems 

 
These two segments represent the industrial activities of the Group and call upon the activities of subsidiaries where 
appropriate. Furthermore, expenses relating to the position of parent company of the LATECOERE Company are 
maintained in the Aerostructures segment. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 8, the information presented by segment is based on the Group's internal reporting, examined 
regularly by Executive Management. 
 
The accounting methods used by the Group for the establishment of the information presented by operational segment in 
accordance with IFRS 8 are identical to those used by the Group for the establishment of its consolidated financial 
statements under IFRS standards. 
 
It should be noted that three customers of the Group each represent more than 10% of total consolidated revenue. The 
analysis of revenue by customer is presented in Chapter 1 of this registration document. 
 
Measurement of economic performance 
 
The Group uses Adjusted EBIT as its main alternative performance indicator. This indicator is intended to present the level 

of operational performance of the branches of the Group. 
 
For the sake of consistency, since July 1, 2015, the Group decided to change its main alternative performance indicator in 
order better to monitor its economic performance. Indeed, the very significant decline of the euro against the dollar caused 
the knock-in of certain currency barriers linked to the currency options* and led the Group to record these losses in financial 
result in compliance with IFRS standards. This accounting treatment imposed by IFRS standards no longer allows the 
transcription of the economic substance of the euro/dollar hedging in the indicator used. 
 
Consequently, since July 1, 2015, the Group has decided to integrate into Adjusted EBIT the whole of exchange gains and 
losses made on euro/dollar hedging and this with the goal of reflecting in Adjusted EBIT the real economic substance of the 
euro/dollar exchange rate hedging strategy. 
 
*In order to hedge its foreign currency exposure the Group primarily uses futures and knock-in barrier options (collar hedging). All these instruments are not 
eligible for hedge accounting in the sense of IAS 39 "Financial Instruments"  
 

 
Adjusted EBIT (formerly Economic EBIT) represents at the consolidated accounts level the operating result (EBIT) of the 

Group adjusted for the change of non-recurring work-in-progress net of provisions, integrating all of the gains and losses 
realized on the euro/dollar hedging. 
 
 
For similar reasons and to enable its monitoring and comparison by the reader, the Group presents an adjusted net result. 

It corresponds to the net result, adjusted for the variation of non-recurring work-in-progress net of provisions and for the fair 
value variation of foreign exchange and interest rate derivative instruments (accounted for in unrealized gains and losses) 
net of corresponding tax effects  
 
Finally, for the Group the net debt corresponds to current and non-current loans and bank borrowings and cash and cash 

equivalents.  
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Adjusted income statement by operational segments 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Balance sheet by operational segments 

 

 
 
  

('000 EUR)

               Dec 31, 2015

Aerostructure 

Industrial
%

Aerostructure 

Services
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Aerostructures %

Interconnection 

Systems
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Total

Revenue 443 324 62% 107 009 15% -10 776 539 557 76% 202 743 28% -29 877 712 423

Inter-segment revenue -26 358 88% -10 614 36% 10 776 -26 196 88% -3 682 12% 29 877 0

Consolidated revenue 416 966 59% 96 395 14% 513 361 72% 199 062 28% 0 712 423

Ajusted EBIT 16 133 67% 4 056 17% 0 20 189 84% 3 623 15% 125 23 937

Economic EBIT  / revenue 3,64% 3,79% 1,79% 3,36%

Ajusted realized financial result -12 469 98% 280 -2% 0 -12 189 96% -534 4% 0 -12 723

Ajusted unrealized financial result -1 957 52% -635 17% 0 -2 592 69% -1 158 31% 0 -3 749

Income tax and miscellaneous -1 192 -1 907 0 -3 099 -432 0 -3 531

Ajusted net result 515 13% 1 795 46% 0 2 310 59% 1 499 38% 125 3 935

('000 EUR)

               Dec 31, 2014

Aerostructure 

Industrial
%

Aerostructure 

Services
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Aerostructures %

Interconnection 

Systems
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Total

Revenue 404 378 61% 103 315 16% -9 672 498 021 75% 194 409 29% -28 355 664 074

Inter-segment revenue -23 185 82% -7 741 27% 9 672 -21 253 75% -7 102 25% 28 355 0

Consolidated revenue 381 194 57% 95 574 14% 476 767 72% 187 307 28% 0 664 074

Ajusted EBIT -6 788 -145% 5 876 125% 0 -912 -19% 5 879 125% -279 4 687

Economic EBIT  / revenue -1,68% 5,69% 3,02% 0,71%

Adjusted realized financial result -24 195 87% -36 0% 0 -24 231 87% -3 655 13% 0 -27 886

Adjusted unrealized financial result 403 30% -168 -13% 0 234 18% 1 097 82% 0 1 331

Income tax and miscellaneous 11 115 -1 622 0 9 492 -817 0 8 675

Adjusted net result -19 466 148% 4 050 -31% 0 -15 417 117% 2 504 -19% -279 -13 192

('000 EUR)

               Dec 31, 2015

Aerostructure 

Industrial
%

Aerostructure 

Services
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Aerostructures %

Interconnection 

Systems
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Total

Intangible fixed assets 2 455 51% 1 975 41% 0 4 430 92% 397 8% 0 4 827

Goodwill 0 0% 1 300 100% 0 1 300 100% 0 0% 0 1 300

Tangible fixed assets 71 066 78% 5 471 6% 0 76 537 84% 15 020 16% 8 91 565

Other financial assets 26 944 0% 271 0% 0 27 215 0% 283 0% -25 056 2 441

TOTAL ASSETS 100 465 100% 9 017 9% 0 109 482 109% 15 699 16% -25 048 100 133

Net investments 11 010 74% 926 6% 0 11 936 80% 2 975 20% 14 911

Inventories 324 562 77% 1 029 0% 0 325 591 77% 99 430 23% -953 424 068

Trade and other receivables 115 782 60% 51 981 27% -2 966 164 796 85% 64 800 33% -35 031 194 566

Net debt 37 553 59% -4 557 -7% 0 32 996 52% 56 098 88% -25 068 64 026

Accounts payable 145 974 81% 36 085 20% -2 966 179 093 99% 36 115 20% -35 031 180 177

Total Assets 680 790 79% 66 569 8% -2 966 744 393 87% 180 502 21% -65 262 859 633
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Reconciliation of the consolidated income statement to the adjusted income statement 
 

 
 

('000 EUR)

               Dec 31, 2014

Aerostructure 

Industrial
%

Aerostructure 

Services
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Aerostructures %

Interconnection 

Systems
%

Intersegment 

eliminations
Total

Intangible fixed assets 2 110 44% 2 243 47% 0 4 353 90% 470 10% 0 4 823

Goodwill 0 0% 1 300 100% 0 1 300 100% 0 0% 0 1 300

Tangible fixed assets 69 577 78% 5 687 6% 0 75 264 84% 14 451 16% 8 89 722

Other financial assets 80 296 0% 864 0% 0 81 159 0% 1 407 0% -76 095 6 471

Total 151 982 149% 10 094 10% 0 162 076 158% 16 327 16% -76 087 102 316

Net investments 10 440 66% 3 192 20% 0 13 631 87% 2 108 13% 15 739

Inventories 330 332 79% 1 207 0% 0 331 540 79% 87 151 21% -1 078 417 612

Trade and other receivables 102 560 62% 42 050 26% -3 126 141 483 86% 118 746 72% -95 389 164 841

Net debt 299 884 97% -6 187 -2% 0 293 697 95% 92 585 30% -76 108 310 174

Accounts payable 207 769 113% 30 615 17% -3 126 235 258 127% 44 787 24% -95 389 184 656

Total Assets 666 214 87% 58 618 8% -3 126 721 706 94% 219 538 29% -174 358 766 887

('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2015

IFRS data

Work-in-

progress "Non 

recurring cost"

Reclassification 

of currency €/$ 

hedge 

Faire value for 

derivative 

instruments

Dec 31, 2015

Adjusted data

Revenue 712 423 712 423

Other operating revenue 1 293 1 293

Change in inventory: w ork-in-progress & finished goods -646 1 496 850

Raw  material, Other Purchases & external charges -430 734 -430 734

Personnel expenses -232 448 -232 448

Taxes -14 234 -14 234

Amortization -12 411 -12 411

Net operating provisions charge -84 -84

Depreciation of current assets 1 893 -5 039 -3 146

Other operating income 15 890 15 890

Other operating expenses -2 950 -10 513 -13 462

Operating income (EBIT) 37 994 -3 544 -10 513 0 23 937

Operating income / revenue 5,3% 3,4%

Net Cost of debt -12 560 -12 560

Foreign Exchange gains/losses realized -6 650 10 513 3 862

Other f inancial incomes and expenses realized -4 024 -4 024

Realized financial result -23 235 0 10 513 0 -12 722

Change in fair value of f inancial derivative instruments -6 910 6 910 0

Other f inancial incomes and expenses unrealized -3 749 -3 749

Unrealized financial result -10 660 0 0 6 910 -3 749

FINANCIAL RESULT -33 894 0 10 513 6 910 -16 471

Result from associates 0 0

Income tax -2 278 1 220 -2 472 -3 531

0

NET RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 1 821 -2 324 0 4 438 3 935

Of w hich, Ow ners of the parent 264 2 380

Of w hich, Non-controlling interests 1 556 1 556
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('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2014

IFRS data

Work-in-

progress "Non 

recurring cost"

Reclassification 

of currency €/$ 

hedge 

Faire value for 

derivative 

instruments

Dec 31, 2014

Adjusted data

Revenue 664 074 664 074

Other operating revenue 791 791

Change in inventory: w ork-in-progress & finished goods 12 024 -29 706 -17 682

Raw  material, Other Purchases & external charges -398 344 -398 344

Personnel expenses -238 116 -238 116

Taxes -8 599 -8 599

Amortization -12 009 -12 009

Net operating provisions charge -253 -253

Depreciation of current assets 4 429 -1 775 2 654

Other operating income 15 463 15 463

Other operating expenses -2 188 -1 104 -3 292

Operating income (EBIT) 37 273 -31 481 -1 104 0 4 687

Operating income / revenue 5,6% 0,7%

Net Cost of debt -14 710 -14 710

Foreign Exchange gains/losses realized -4 978 1 104 -3 873

Other f inancial incomes and expenses realized -9 302 -9 302

Realized financial result -28 990 0 1 104 0 -27 885

Change in fair value of f inancial derivative instruments -10 867 10 867 0

Other f inancial incomes and expenses unrealized 1 331 1 331

Unrealized financial result -9 536 0 0 10 867 1 331

FINANCIAL RESULT -38 526 0 1 104 10 867 -26 555

Result from associates 0 0

Income tax 1 616 10 839 -3 780 8 675

0

NET RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 363 -20 642 0 7 087 -13 192

Of w hich, Ow ners of the parent 135 -13 419

Of w hich, Non-controlling interests 227 227
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NOTE 5  FIXED ASSETS 

 
 
5.1 Changes in Fixed Assets 
 
 
Gross value of fixed assets 
 

 

 
Amortization of fixed assets 
 

 

 
Net value of fixed assets  
 

 

 
 
The intangible fixed assets include in particular software 
and licenses relating to the Group's information systems. 
 
The main acquisitions of intangible and tangible fixed 
assets for the year 2015 are as follows: 

 equipment and production tools for €7.3 million 
mainly for LATECOERE CZECH REPUBLIC 
and LATECOERE 

 development of computer tools in the context of 
the information system master plan for €4.4 
million 

 investments on buildings for €2.1 million.  
 
At year-end, there are securities (pledge, mortgage) 
on tangible fixed assets of the Group amounting to € 
4 million. 

 
 
 

 ('000 EUR)

Dec 31, 2014
Currency  

variations
Other Acquisitions Disposals Dec 31, 2015

Franchises/patents/similar rights 13 573 -17 1 293 657 -95 15 411

Other Intangible Fixed Assets 4 579 0 -381 133 -1 4 329

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 152 -17 912 789 -97 19 740

Land 5 755 -179 0 0 0 5 576

Buildings 53 120 -1 072 248 1 364 0 53 660

Plants & Equipment 95 486 -2 338 3 380 4 756 -1 370 99 915

Other Fixed Assets 22 113 -338 -1 964 1 394 -552 20 654

Fixed assets in progress 12 781 13 -2 571 6 900 -42 17 081

Advanced payments on fixed assets 3 0 -3 0 0 0

Real estate leasing 9 682 0 0 0 0 9 682

TANGIBLE ASSETS 198 940 -3 914 -909 14 414 -1 963 206 568

 ('000 EUR)

Dec 31, 2014
Currency  

variations
Other Increase Decrease Dec 31, 2015

Franchises/patents/similar rights 9 286 -5 0 1 781 -93 10 968

Other Intangible Fixed Assets 4 043 -8 0 -90 0 3 945

AMORTIZATION INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13 329 -13 0 1 691 -93 14 913

Buildings 21 979 -363 0 2 032 -1 23 648

Plants & Equipment 69 652 -2 490 0 6 923 -1 339 72 746

Other Fixed Assets 13 373 -272 0 1 423 -471 14 053

Real estate leasing 4 213 0 0 343 0 4 556

AMORTIZATION TANGIBLE ASSETS 109 217 -3 125 0 10 720 -1 810 115 003

 ('000 EUR)

Dec 31, 2014 Dec 31, 2015

Franchises/patents/similar rights 4 823 4 827

Other Intangible Fixed Assets 0 0

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 4 823 4 827

Land 5 755 5 576

Buildings 31 140 30 012

Plants & Equipment 25 835 27 169

Other Fixed Assets 8 740 6 601

Fixed assets in progress 12 781 17 081

Advanced payments on fixed assets 3 0

Real estate leasing 5 469 5 126

TANGIBLE ASSETS 89 722 91 565
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5.2 Goodwill 

 

 
 
 
5.3 Finance lease contracts 

 

 
 
 
5.4 Impairment test of assets 

 
In accordance with the principle stated in note 2.12, the 
accounting value of each Cash-Generating Unit (CGU) 
was the subject of a comparison with the highest amount 
of the market value and the value in use, defined as 
equal to the sum of the discounted cash flows calculated 
from information resulting from the plan at medium long-
term. 
For all of the CGUs, the discount rate of the cash flows 
using the weighted average cost of capital is 8.5% at 
December 31, 2015 compared to 8.3% at December 31, 
2014. It is based on a market rate without risk increased 
by a risk premium. This rate is calculated after tax and is 
applied to cash flows after tax. A single discount rate was 
used for all the CGUs insofar as the specific risks of each 
CGU were taken into account in the forward-looking cash 
flows. 
 
The terminal value was determined from normalized cash 
flow to which a perpetuity growth rate of 2% was applied. 
 

At December 31, 2015, the tests carried out on all of the 
Group's CGUs did not lead to the recognition of 
depreciation. 
A sensitivity analysis was carried out on all of the Group's 
CGUs by changing the main assumptions accepted, 
namely:  

 an increase in the discount rate of 50 basis 
points; 

 a decrease in the perpetuity growth rate of 50 
basis points; 

 a decrease in the operating margin of the 
terminal value of 50 places basis points 

 
Taken individually, the changes in these main 
assumptions did not lead to values in use lower than the 
net book values. 
 
Furthermore, a 250 basis point increase in the discount 
rate would have led to the recognition of a provision. 

 

 
  

('000 EUR)

LATECOERE services 834 834 8,5% Infinite 2,0%

G2 METRIC 466 466 8,5% Infinite 2,0%

CGU "Aerostructure" 1 300 1 300

Dec 31, 2015 Growth rate 
Discounting 

period
Discounting rateValuation methodDec 31, 2014

Cash flow method

Less tan 1 

year

From 1 to 5 

years
Over 5 years Total

Less tan 1 

year

From 1 to 5 

years
Over 5 years Total

Batimap 640 480 0 1 120 599 469 0 1 068

LATECOERE 640 480 0 1 120 599 469 0 1 068

LB 2 47 141 0 187 40 147 0 187

LATelec 47 141 0 187 40 147 0 187

LB 2 124 620 219 963 78 393 299 769

LATecis 124 620 219 963 78 393 299 769

TOTAL 811 1 240 219 2 270 717 1 008 299 2 024

Present value of minimum future payments as of 

Dec 31, 2015

(000 EUR)

Minimum future payments as of Dec 31, 2015
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NOTE 6  INVENTORIES AND WORK-IN-PROGRESS AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 

 
 
6.1 Detail of inventories & work-in-progress 
 

 
 
 
Net inventories and work in progress increased over the 
year of €6.5 million mainly due to the combined effect: 

 an increase in industrial stocks (raw materials, 
individual parts and in-progress) of € 3 million, 

 an increase of €3.5 million in work in progress 
"No Recurring" (development costs of 
programs and the curve for programs followed 
in construction contracts), taking into account 
in particular: 

 expenses devoted to programs in 
development and/or industrialization 

stages of +€27.4 million (mainly Boeing 
787 and Embraer E-Jet E2), 

 the impact of the drop in costs of 
programs in the maturity phase (A 380, 
Embraer E1 and F7X0) of -€28 million. 

 
Industrial stocks include materials, parts and work-in-
progress. Non recurring work-in-progress is made up of 
the development costs of programs (NRC work-in-
progress) and the curve recognized in accordance with 
IAS 11 (Construction Contracts). 
 

 
 
6.2 Construction Contracts 
 

 
 
 
Construction contracts are based on forecasts made by 
the Group taking into account the commercial information 
(order book and production rates) released by the 
different aircraft manufacturers and the information 
coming from the outlook for the aeronautical market. 
Future costs are estimated on the basis of the industrial 
organizations of the Group. Furthermore, the dollar flows 
(revenue and expenses) representing a significant share 
of the total flows, the Group founded its projections on a 
historical analysis of the dollar, assumptions of the future 
evolution of the dollar in relation to the duration of 
contracts. This last assumption could be reviewed 

depending on the outlook for the currency evolution and 
its impact on the projections. 
The main construction contracts relate to the following 
programs: A380 (lower part of the nose section, doors of 
upper deck, avionics bays, commercial harnesses), 
A400M (avionics bay), F7X (harnesses, rear fuselage 
section), Embraer ERJ 170/190 (fuselage section and 
doors), and Boeing 787 (passenger doors). Detailed 
numbers by program (and in particular, the margins of 
construction contracts) cannot be communicated, for 
confidentiality reasons.  
 
 

  

('000 EURO)

Gross Provision Net Gross Provision Net

Industrial Inventories 182 889 -18 971 163 919 176 741 -15 734 161 007

Work in progress - Non Recurring Cost 273 115 -12 966 260 149 274 611 -18 005 256 605

TOTAL 456 004 -31 937 424 068 451 352 -33 739 417 612

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Amount due from customers (work in progress) 298 302

Amount due to customers 0 0

Revenue recognized from the origin of the contracts* 3 031 2 924

Expenses incurred since the origin of the contracts* 3 249 3 145

Refundable Advances 41 39

* A contract has expired during 2014.
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NOTE 7  FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The fair value of a trade receivable is treated as its balance sheet value, given the very short payment periods. The same is 
true for other receivables. 
 
The cash and cash equivalents item includes bank debit balances of €26 million at December 31, 2015 compared to €20.2 
million at December 31, 2014 and short-term investments available and without risk of significant change in value of €64.3 
million at December 31, 2015 compared to €13.1 million at December 31, 2014. 
 
 

  

('000 EURO)
Loans and 

receivables at 

amortised cost

Financial assets at 

fair value through 

profit and loss

Hedging  

instruments
Dec 31, 2015 Fair value

Non current financial assets 2 441 2 441

Trade receivables and other receivables 194 566 194 566

Financial instruments 54 554 608 608

Cash and cash equivalent 26 053 64 318 90 370 64 318

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 223 060 64 372 554 287 985 64 925

('000 EURO)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value

Financial instruments 608 608

Cash and cash equivalent 64 318 64 318

TOTAL 64 318 608 0 64 925

('000 EURO)
Loans and 

receivables at 

amortised cost

Financial assets at 

fair value through 

profit and loss

Hedging  

instruments
Dec 31, 2014 Fair value

Non current financial assets 6 471 6 471

Trade receivables and other receivables 164 841 164 841

Financial instruments 0 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalent 20 226 13 140 33 366 13 140

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 191 537 13 140 0 204 678 13 140

('000 EURO)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value

Financial instruments 0 0

Cash and cash equivalent 13 140 13 140

TOTAL 13 140 0 0 13 140
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NOTE 8  RECEIVABLES 

 

 
 
* At December 31, 2015, the amount of trade receivables assigned to the factor was €120.9 million. The amount financed by 
the factor on the basis of the assigned receivables amounted to €72.4 million. At December 31, 2014, the amount of trade 
receivables assigned to the factor was €108.2 million. The amount financed by the factor on the basis of the assigned 
receivables amounted to €67.5 million 
As the Group remains responsible for collection of assigned customer receivables, these receivables continue to appear in 
assets. 
 
 
The antecedence of trade receivables breaks down as follows: 
 

 
 
 
NOTE 9  DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 

 
 
Through its international exposure and invoicing in US 
dollars to its French customers, the Group is confronted 
with foreign currency exposure. The exposure linked to 
fluctuations in the US dollar is partially hedged through 
forward sales contracts and option "collars". The dollar 
rate and the associated foreign exchange rate exposure 
are part of the estimated future assumptions for the 
determination of margins on construction contracts. The 
fluctuations of the parities may affect the operational 
margin, financial result, shareholders' equity and net 
debt.  
 
The Group consequently developed a policy of natural 
hedging by carrying out a part of its purchases in USD. 
Thus, the Group invoices approximately 78% of its sales 
in dollars and buys approximately 54% of supplies or 
subcontracting in dollars. The Group's natural hedging on 
the USD represents approximately 34%. 

In order to manage its net residual exposure, the Group 
uses exchange hedging financial instruments, of the 
forward sale or option collar hedging nature. Option collar 
hedging implemented gives the Group the possibility to 
benefit from an improvement in the EUR/USD rate.  
 
New hedging financial instruments (EUR/USD) for a total 
amount of $665 million were put in place during 2015 to 
provide hedging up to $245 million until 2016, $340 
million until 2017 and $80 million until 2018. 
 
At December 31, 2015, the Group has hedged 
approximately 95% of its 2016 exposure by forward sale 
and collar hedging at EUR/USD rates of, at the worst, 
1.20, 85% of its 2017 exposure at EUR/USD rates of, at 
worst, 1.16 and 20% of its 2018 exposure at EUR/USD 
rates of, at worst, 1.17. 

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Advanced payments 820 1 244

Trade receivables* 169 730 142 455

Group current account 285 16

Tax receivables 16 060 11 793

Other current receivables 7 672 9 331

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 194 566 164 841

Prepaid expenses 1 461 2 383

Other current assets 421 401

TOTAL OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 1 881 2 784

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Trade receivables non past due 153 988 132 479
Past due trade receivables < 30 days 8 548 7 665
Past due trade receivables between 30 and 60 days 2 139 1 687
Past due trade receivables between 60 and 90 days 2 654 242
Past due trade receivables between 90 and 180 days 1 376 383
Past due trade receivables > 6 months 1 126 143
Provision for doubful debt -100 -144

TRADE RECEIVABLES 169 730 142 455
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The Group has set up exchange rate hedges to protect 
against the fluctuations of the Czech crown (koruna) with 
respect to the Euro in relation with its LATECOERE 
Czech Republic s.r.o. subsidiary and against fluctuations 

of the Brazilian real with respect to the dollar in relation 
with its LdB subsidiary.  
  

 
9.1 Information on the value of derivative instruments and on their covered notional contract value 
 
In order to cover its foreign exchange risk, the Group primarily uses currency futures contracts and option collars. The 
interest rate risk is covered by caps and interest rate swaps. 
 

 
 
 
9.2 Information on the impact of derivative instruments on income and shareholders’ equity 

 
Impact of future cash flow hedging 
 

 
 
* The reclassification in the year's net result has primarily impacted revenue by the amount of +€44.3 million (against + € 3.9 million as of 
December 31, 2014). 

Impact of derivative instruments to which hedge accounting is not applied 

('000 EURO)

Assets Liabilities <  1 year
From 1 to 

5 years
>  5 years

Derivative instruments not designed as a hedge:

      - Forward currency contracts BRL/USD 0 1 015 8 818 8 818 0 0

      - Currency option contracts ** and forward currency contracts EUR/USD 0 10 017 **

      - Currency option contracts EUR/CZK ** 54 0 **

Cash flow hedging:

      - Forward currency contracts EUR/USD 346 10 375 225 958 142 372 83 586 0

      - Currency option contracts EUR/USD (intrinsic value) *** 0 10 178 486 130 183 935 302 195 0

      - Currency option contracts EUR/CZK (intrinsic value) 208 0 24 000 24 000 0 0

Foreign currency Derivative instruments 608 31 585 744 906 359 124 385 781 0

Financial instruments not designed as a hedge:

      - Floor**** 0 1 788 97 908 0 97 908 0

Interest rate Derivative instruments 0 1 788 97 908 0 97 908

Financial instruments not designed as a hedge 54 12 820 106 726 8 818 97 908 0

Cash flow hedgind 554 20 553 712 088 350 307 385 781 0

TOTAL OF DERIVATIVES INSTRUMENTS 608 33 373 818 814 359 124 483 689 0

of which non current derivative instruments 232 8 379

of which current derivative instruments 376 24 994

*Notional is converted in euro K by applying the exchange rate at the closing date

** Correspond essentially to time value and digital option

*** To avoid redundancy of information, the total notional amount of currency options EUR / USD (intrinsic value and time value) is mentioned in the line "Currency 

option contract EUR / USD (intrinsic value)"

**** The floor corresponds to embedded derivative of the new syndicated loan agreement

Balance sheet position

Notional*

Maturity

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Equity - Hedging instruments (net of tax) at the opening date -8 597 9 678

Equity change for the effective portion -42 309 -25 118

Reclasssified in income when the hedged element affects profit and loss * 44 324 -2 953

Translation differences -16 18

Deferred tax variation -652 9 778

Equity - Hedging instruments (net of tax) at the closing date -7 250 -8 597
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NOTE 10  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 
 
10.1 Capital management policy 

 
The LATECOERE Group considers it a principle of good 
governance to monitor shareholders’ equity and debt. 
 

Furthermore, the Group has a policy of purchasing and 
selling its own shares, with the principal objective of 
market animation (detailed in note 10.3). 
 

 
10.2 Breakdown of capital and earnings per share 

 

 
 
The capital increase, under the year 2015 is related to: 

 the exercise of converted bonds for € 3,789,940 that resulted in the issuance of 378,994 new shares (affecting the 
share capital up to € 757,988 and the share premium up to € 3,031,952) 

 the impact of the financial restructuring described in Note 1 "Significant events" and the issue of 81,422,672 new 
shares for a total amount of € 280,325,353 (affecting the share capital up to € 162,845,344 and the share premium 
up to € 117,480,009) 

  

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Fair value at the opening date -13 935 -3 564

Recorded through income statement before Taxes 1 169 -10 371

Fair value at the closing date -12 766 -13 935

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Number of shares 93 347 165 11 545 499

Nominal value of each share (in euro) 2,00 2,00

Share Capital 186 694 330 23 090 998
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10.3 Treasury shares 

 

 
 
10.4 Plan for the grant of performance shares 

 
Pursuant to the authorization granted by the Extraordinary General Meeting of July 15, 2015, the Board of Directors 
implemented a plan for the grant of performance shares for the benefit of certain members of the Executive Committee. 
These grants are subject to a condition of presence and conditions of economic and stock performance. The main features 
of the plan are summarized in the table below: 
 

 
 
 
The performance conditions are made up: 
 of a stock performance criterion for a maximum total amount of 1,166,840 shares on the basis of an increase in the 

price of the share of Latécoère stock compared to a reference price fixed for each fiscal year (reference year) in 

respect of the years 2015 to 2018,  

 of an economic performance criterion for a maximum total amount of 1,166,840 shares as a function of the level of 

recurring Economic EBITDA recorded for each reference year in respect of the years 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Averaged issued shares 36 999 245 11 532 784

Averaged treasury shares 14 577 11 032

Weighted average shares (a) 36 984 668 11 521 751

Dilutive impact of share purchase warrant (b) 0 675 860

Dilutive impact performance scheme (c) 2 333 680 0

Total of shares diluted  (a+b+c) 39 318 348 12 197 611

Net resultat - Group Share (in euro) 264 307 134 720

Diluted result 264 307 134 720

Earnings per share (in euro)    0,01 0,01

Diluted earnings per share (in euro) 0,01 0,01

Number of shares

Dec 31, 2014 Acquisitions Disposals Dec 31, 2015
% of 

ownership

LATECOERE Shares 12 421 880 651 863 640 29 432 0,03%

('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2014
Acquisitions / 

Provisions
Cessions Dec 31, 2015

Average 

purchase 

price

LATECOERE Shares 108              5 589               5 578        120 4,06         

09/22/2015 Plan

Assembly date July 15, 2015

Date of Board of Directors September 22, 2015

Total number of shares that may be granted 2 333 680

Vesting period 4 installments corresponding to the financial 

years 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018

Acquisition time two years starting from the assignment by the 

Board of Directors

Compulsory duration of the holding period of shares starting from the definitive acquisition two years starting frome the date of acquisition

Performance conditions yes (see detail hereafter)
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Information on the fair value of the plan 
 

 
 
The fair value of options, calculated by an external actuary, is determined, at the date of grant, from the Monte Carlo 
simulation model for the part relating to the stock performance condition and from the Black & Scholes model for the part 
relating to the economic performance (EBITDA) condition. The fair value of the plan is €2.7 million. The expense is spread 
out over the vesting period. The amount recorded in expense for 2015 is €1.1 million.  
 
 
Information on the evolution of the plan 
 

 
 
 
NOTE 11  NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS 

 

 
 

 
NOTE 12  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 
 
In accordance with IAS19, for defined benefit plans, the 
retirement liabilities are calculated according to the 
projected unit credit method. The Group's obligations for 
French companies' employees are estimated by an 
independent actuary. It should be noted that the potential 
commitments of the foreign subsidiaries are immaterial. 
The method takes into account, on the basis of actuarial 
assumptions, the probability of the length of future 
service of the employee, the level of future remuneration, 
the life expectancy and employee turnover. The 
obligation, including social security charges, is 
discounted and is accounted for on the basis of the years 
of service of the employees. Actuarial variations resulting 

from these assumptions are entirely recognized in 
income statement for the period. 
 
Employee benefits include the discounted amounts 
relating: 

 to long-service medals, accounted for in the individual 
financial statements; 

 to retirement liabilities. 
The table below shows the amounts recognized by the 
Group at December 31, 2015. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
12.1 Retirement Benefits 

Fair value 09/22/2015 Plan

Share price at the date of grant 3.4 €

Latécoère share volatility 40%

Risk free rate of return 0.05%

Fair value of the option for the stock performance 1.85 €

Fair value of the option for the EBITDA performance 0.50 €

Fair value of the option 1.17 €

Dec. 31, 2015

Number of shares granted at the beginning of the period 0

Granted shares 2 333 680

Shares acquired by beneficiaries 0

Shares canceled 0

Number of shares granted at the end of the period 2 333 680

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2014 Increase

Write-backs 

used

Write-backs 

not used
Dec 31, 2015

Provisions 943 903 -713 0 1 050

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Retirement bonus 14 849 13 797

Long-service medals 1 935 2 042

TOTAL 16 784 15 839
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Retirement liabilities accounted for at December 31, 2015 
relate to France only and were calculated according to 
the method described in note 2.22 of this document.  
The calculation assumptions retained are the following: 

 discount rate of 2.1% (as in 2014) calculated on the 
basis of rates observed at November 30, 2015 for high 
quality corporate bonds, the Group using in particular 
the iBoxx index; 

 use of the INSEE 2010-2012 mortality table; 

 employee turnover noted by age group and by 
company; 

 age of retirement departure: 66 years old; 

 progression of salaries consistent with the average of 
the last years ; 

There exists no deferred past service costs at the year-
ends 2015 and 2014. Actuarial variations are recognized 
in shareholder’s equity since 2010 in accordance with the 

option offered by IAS 19 "Employee Benefits", to 
recognize the entirety of actuarial variations in the period 
in which they are produced, outside of the income 
statement in the state of the overall consolidated net 
result. The obligation is noted in the balance sheet as a 
non-current liability for the amount of the total obligation, 
as there exist no deferred actuarial variations nor 
deferred past service costs. No employee should leave in 
2016 therefore no remuneration should be paid. 
An increase of 0.5 point of discount rate would lead to a 
decrease of the provision for retirement severance pay of 
- €595k. For information, and based on identical actuarial 
assumptions, the 2016 provision should be (excluding 
departures) €1,369k. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
12.2 Long-Service medals 
 
The obligation under long-service medals accounted for 
at December 31, 2015 was calculated according to the 
method described in note 2.22 of this document. 
The calculation assumptions retained are the following: 

 discount rate of 2.1% (as in 2014) calculated on the 
basis of rates observed at November 30, 2015 for high 
quality corporate bonds, the Group using in particular 
the iBoxx index; 

 use of the INSEE 2010-2012 mortality table; 

 employee turnover noted by age group and by 
company; 

 age of retirement departure: 66 years old; 

 progression of salaries consistent with the average of 
the last years ; 
 

The long-service medal bonus pay relating to employees 
who should leave in 2016 is €137k.  
 
An increase of 0.5 point of discount rate would lead to a 
decrease of the provision for long-service medals of - 
€39k. For information, and based on identical actuarial 
assumptions, the 2016 provision should be (excluding 
departures) €171k. 
 

('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Obligations at opening date 13 797 12 084

Services cost of the period 977 846

Interest cost of the periode 309 384

Contributions paid -147 -281

Actuarial gains or losses (OCI) -87 764

Obligations at closing date 14 849 13 797

Costs of the period:

Obligations at opening date 977 846

Services cost of the period 309 384

TOTAL 1 286 1 231
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NOTE 13  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 

 
 
 

 
 

('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Obligations at opening date 2 042 1 977

Services cost of the period 144 139

Interest cost of the periode 45 62

Contributions paid -97 -98

Actuarial gains or losses -199 -37

Obligations at closing date 1 935 2 042

Costs of the period:

Obligations at opening date 144 139

Services cost of the period 45 62

TOTAL 189 201

('000 EURO) Financial liabilities 

at fair value 

through profit and 

loss

Hedging  

instruments

Other financiel 

liabilities
Dec 31, 2015 Fair value

Refundable Advances 40 963 40 963 40 963

Syndicated loan - Tranche B 90 967 90 967 90 967

Syndicated loan - Other tranches 0 0 0

Other Bank loans 632 632 625

Factoring 59 247 59 247 59 247

Finance lease 2 024 2 024 2 083

Unsecured banking facility and other 1 526 1 526 1 526

Other non-current liabilities 22 961 22 961 22 961

Financial instruments 12 820 20 553 33 373 33 373

Accounts payable 180 177 180 177 180 177

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 12 820 20 553 398 498 431 871 431 923

('000 EURO)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value

Financial instruments 0 33 373 0 33 373

TOTAL 0 33 373 0 33 373

('000 EURO) Financial liabilities 

at fair value 

through profit and 

loss

Hedging  

instruments

Other financiel 

liabilities
Dec 31, 2014 Fair value

Refundable Advances 39 209 39 209 39 209

Syndicated loan - Tranche B 225 610 225 610 225 610

Syndicated loan - Other tranches 52 500 52 500 52 500

Other Bank loans 2 952 2 952 2 928

Factoring 56 706 56 706 56 706

Finance lease 2 706 2 706 2 709

Unsecured banking facility and other 3 066 3 066 3 066

Other non-current liabilities 19 285 19 285 19 285

Financial instruments 13 935 14 113 28 048 28 048

Accounts payable 185 813 185 813 185 813

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 13 935 14 113 587 847 615 895 615 874



 
                                 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 

                             December 31, 2015  

 

 

 

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015  LATECOERE            62       

 

3 

 

 
 
The fair value of accounts payable is treated as its balance sheet value, given the very short payment periods. The same is 
true for other payables. Loans and bank borrowings are accounted for at amortized cost, calculated used the effective 
interest rate ("TIE"). The financial liabilities whose balance sheet value differs from fair value are fixed rate loans and bank 
borrowings, which are not subject to hedging. 

 
 
13.1 Loans and bank borrowings 
 

 
 
 

Debt reconciliation related to the factor (factoring): 
 

 
 
Cash available from the factor corresponds to receivables transferred directly cashed by the factor between the last date of 
application for financing and the accounts closing date. 
 
The terms and conditions of the existing loans are the following: 
 

 
 

('000 EURO)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value

Financial instruments 0 28 048 0 28 048

TOTAL 0 28 048 0 28 048

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Bank loans - non current 90 967 172 778

Leasing - non current 1 336 2 020

Non-current liabilities 92 304 174 797

Bank loans - current 632 108 285

Leasing - current 688 686

Factoring 59 247 56 706

Other short term credit 1 526 3 066

Current liabilities 62 093 168 743

TOTAL OF LOAN AND BANK BORROWINGS 154 396 343 540

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Receivables sold to the factor 120 934 108 196

Financing obtained from the factor 72 401 67 521
Cash available from the factor -13 155 -10 815

DEBT - FACTORING 59 247 56 706

('000 EURO)

Notional Actual

Syndicated loan - Tranche B EURO EURIBOR+ margin 2020 97 785 90 967

Bank borrowings with guarantee EURO 3,0%-4,8%-5,9% 2016 21 209 400

Bank borrowings with guarantee EURO EURIBOR+ margin 2016 1 500 232

Factoring EURO/USD EURIBOR/LIBOR + 

margin

n/a 83 600 59 247

Finance lease EURO 4,7%-7,2% 2020 25 013 2 024

Unsecured banking facility and other EURO EURIBOR + margin n/a 1 526 1 526

TOTAL OF LOAN AND BANK BORROWINGS 259 233 154 396

Dec 31, 2015

MaturityInterest rateCurrency
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13.2 Financial ratios (“covenants”)  
 

 
Financial commitment on the syndicated loan 

 
The syndicated loan includes a covenant committing the Group to respect a minimum EBIT whose implementation will only 
take place from the accounts closed on 31 December 2017. 
 

13.3 Refundable advances 
 
Refundable advances for an overall amount of €41 million relate to the A380 programs for €24 million and to the A350 
programs for €15 million. Advances shall be repaid if the program succeeds, and repayments are linked to the deliveries of 
each financed product. The repayment conditions have been established in the agreement signed with the lending 
organization. 

 
 
NOTE 14  OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

 
 
 
NOTE 15  TAXES  

 
 
15.1 Income tax receivable 
 
The amount recorded at December 31, 2015 of €23.5 million corresponds to tax credits for €22.4 million (the research-
based tax credit and the competitveness and employment tax credit (CICE)). 
 
 

15.2 Deferred taxes  

 

 
 
 
  

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Trade payables 94 917 91 155

Employee related liabilities 47 969 54 597

State payables 13 202 13 694

Credit balance on trade receivables and advance payments from customers 5 737 10 617

Other creditors 18 352 15 750

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 180 177 185 813

('000 EURO) Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Deferred tax assets 21 235 17 075

Deferred tax liabilities -503 -12 186

DEFERRED TAX AT OPENING 20 732 4 890

Deferred tax Income (Expense) recognised in P&L 3 313 5 637

Deferred tax variation recognised directly in equity -908 10 206

DEFERRED TAX AT CLOSING 23 138 20 732

     Of which Deferred tax assets 24 430 21 235

     Of which Deferred tax liabilities -1 292 -503
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The analysis of the net deferred tax assets by nature is as follows: 
 

 
 

 
The main sources of deferred tax assets were the recognition of the loss carry-forwards from the French tax group in an 
amount of €13.4 million at December 31, 2015. Over the French tax consolidation scope, deferred tax assets in an amount 
of €46 million were not recognized in 2015. The Group's tax losses come from the French tax group and may be carried 
forward without limit in time. In order to assess its ability to reclaim these assets, the Group takes into account estimates of 
the future tax results of the tax consolidation scope over a period generally of five years. 

 
 
NOTE 16  REVENUE 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Tangible and intangible assets -3 821 -2 955

Financial instruments 11 311 9 557

Retirement bonus 4 925 4 536

Other provisions (regulated provision) -3 065 -2 521

Loan and bank borrowings -575 -426

Loss carry-forwards 13 354 11 854

Other 1 009 688

NET DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 23 138 20 732

BY BUSINESS

('000 EURO)

Amount % Amount %

Civil business 692 052 97,1% 649 033 97,7%

Military business 20 371 2,9% 15 027 2,3%

TOTAL 712 424 100,0% 664 060 100,0%

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

BY GEOGRAPHICAL ZONE

('000 EURO)

Amount % Amount %

France 392 081 55,0% 382 231 57,6%

Export 320 343 45,0% 281 829 42,4%

TOTAL 712 424 100,0% 664 060 100,0%

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

BY GEOGRAPHICAL MARKET (DIRECT EXPORTS)

('000 EURO)

Amount % Amount %

Europe 452 203 63,5% 455 574 68,6%

America 255 268 35,8% 204 163 30,7%

Asia 4 946 0,7% 2 223 0,3%

Other 7 0,0% 2 100 0,3%

TOTAL 712 424 100,0% 664 060 100,0%

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
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NOTE 17  RAW MATERIALS, OTHER PURCHASES & EXTERNALCHARGES 

 

 
 
 
NOTE 18  OTHER INCOME 

 
 
The amount of other income includes, in particular, grants for €3.1 million, research-based tax credits and competitiveness 
and employment tax credits (CICE) for €7.5 million, and own work capitalized for €3.6 million. 

 

NOTE 19  DETAILS OF FINANCIAL INCOME 

 

 
 

BY NATURE

('000 EURO)

Amount % Amount %

Revenue - Construction contrats 339 505 47,7% 304 655 45,9%

Revenue - Goods 262 028 36,8% 247 135 37,2%

Revenue - Services 110 891 15,6% 112 269 16,9%

TOTAL 712 424 100,0% 664 060 100,0%

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Raw material consumed -150 566 -133 210

Cost of goods sold -3 087 -1 517

Sub-contracting -205 201 -194 809

External charges 0 0

RAW MATERIAL, OTHER PURCHASES & EXTERNAL CHARGES -358 854 -329 537

('000 EURO) Dec 31, 2014

Interest expense - net -12 560 -14 711

Foreign Exchange gains/losses realized : -6 650 -4 978

     - derivative instuments EUR/USD -11 531 -2 035

     - other derivative instrument -2 368 -1 897

     - Foreign Exchange gains/loss realized 7 248 -1 046

Other realized financial expenses / income -4 024 -9 302

Realized net financial result -23 235 -28 991

Change in fair value of financial instruments : -6 910 -10 867

     - Change in fair value of currency derivative instruments EUR/USD -5 977 -13 318

     - Change in fair value of other currency derivative instruments 190 747

     - Change in fair value of interest rate contract -1 123 1 705

Valuation of items on balance sheet at the closing date -1 185 3 902

Other unrealized financial expenses / income -2 565 -2 572

Unrealized net financial result -10 660 -9 536

FINANCIAL RESULT -33 895 -38 527

Dec 31, 2015
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Fair value variation of EUR/USD foreign exchange derivative financial instruments comes in essence from an assessment of 
the time value of options. No hedge ineffectiveness was noted for 2015. 
 
In respect of 2014, the other realized financial expense and income includes primarily the impact of the amortization of the 
costs of the renegotiation of the debt using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for an amount of -€0.9 million and 
financial expenses related to tax disputes regulation for -€2.5 million.  
 
In respect of 2014, the other unrealized financial expense and income includes in particular the accrued interest on 
refundable advances for an amount of -€1.6 million and the cost of financing retirement liabilities for an amount of -€0.3 
million. 

 
 
NOTE 20  INCOME TAXES  

 
 
20.1 Tax consolidation agreement 
 
Since fiscal year 2009, the LATECOERE Company has 
made itself the only taxpayer in France for the corporate 
tax, for additional contributions based on the corporate 
tax for the annual flat-rate taxation due in respect of the 
tax Group which includes the LATECOERE, LATelec, 
LATECOERE Services and LATECOERE 
Développement companies. 

 
Under the tax consolidation agreement, the tax 
consolidated subsidiaries bear their own tax expense, as 
they would had there not been tax consolidation, and pay 
the corresponding sums to the LATECOERE Company, 
by way of contribution to the payment of taxes of the tax 
Group.

 
 

20.2 Income tax expense 
 

 
 
  

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Current income taxes -5 592 -4 021

Deferred taxes 3 313 5 637

TOTAL -2 278 1 616
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20.3 Reconciliation between the French corporate income tax and the Group’s effective tax 
rate 

 

 

 
 
*  This amount essentially corresponds to the research-based tax credit and the CICE 
**  The unused tax losses are without carry-forward limit  

 
 
NOTE 21  RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
 
21.1 Counterparty risk  
 
The Group is mainly exposed to credit and counterparty 
risk relating to customers and derivative financial 
instruments and short-term financial investments.  
 
The risk of default of counterparties relating to customers 
is very limited due to the credit quality of the main 
customers (Tier 1 aircraft manufacturers) of the 
Aerostructure and Interconnection Systems divisions. 
 
Counterparties relating to the Engineering and Services 
division are more numerous and may present a higher 
risk. However, this risk is judged to be of lesser 
importance with respect to the Group's main 
counterparties. 

 
At year-end, the Group had identified no significant credit 
risk on these assets due but not depreciated. 
 
The Group implements derivative financial instruments 
with the goal of reducing its exposure to foreign currency 
and interest rate risks. These transactions are contracted 
by private agreement with tier 1 banks. 
 
Because of its financial structure, the Group is only 
surplus in cash over short periods. Cash is invested 
through risk-free monetary instruments with tier 1 banking 
establishments. 
 

('000 EURO)
December 31, 2015

Group net result of consolidated companies 1 820

 - Consolidated tax expense (due and deferred) -2 278

Pre-tax consolidated result (before Group/minority interests share) 4 098

 - Result from associates 0

Pre-tax consolidated result        (A) 4 098

Theoretical tax rate (current rate applicable to parent company)    (B) 38,00%

Theoretical tax expense      (A*B) -1 557

      Permanent Differences -1 468

      Effect of reduced tax rates 1 261

      Tax reductions / tax credits * 2 839

      Unreported tax losses ** -3 652

      Tax losses carried forward 1 500

      Other items -1 200

Sub-total -721

ACTUAL TAX EXPENSE -2 278

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE 55,6%
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21.2 Liquidity risk  
 
In order to face up to its liquidity risk, the Group uses 
borrowings, short-term credit lines, authorized overdrafts 
and discount lines. Undiscounted cash flows presented in 
the tables below integrate financial interest. The financial 

interest was calculated on the basis of the 2015 variable 
rate for the share of variable rate financial liabilities. The 
financial liabilities by maturity are analyzed as follows: 

 
 

  
Accounts payable correspond to:  

- €180 million trade payables detailed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,  
- €23 million to other liabilities. 

 
 

 
21.3 Foreign currency exposure  

 
US dollar foreign currency exposure 

 
Through its international exposure and invoicing in US dollars to its French customers, the Group is confronted with 
foreign currency exposure. The exposure linked to fluctuations in US dollars is partially hedged through forward sales 
contracts and option "collars". The dollar rate and the associated foreign exchange rate exposure are part of the 
estimated future assumptions for the determination of margins on construction contracts. 
The Group invoices approximately 78% of its sales in dollars and buys approximately 54% of supplies or sub-
contracting in dollars. The effect of the dollar exchange risk hedging operations on revenue was -€44,315k in 2015 
compared to +€3,867k in 2014.  

('000 EURO)

Refundable Advances 40 963 -73 715 -3 740 -28 558 -41 417

Syndicated loan - Tranche B 90 967 -90 967 0 0 -90 967

Other bank loans 632 -1 903 -1 550 -353 0

Factoring 59 247 -59 247 -59 247 0 0

Finance lease 2 024 -2 270 -811 -1 240 -219

Other short term credit 1 526 -1 526 -1 526

Accounts payable 203 138 -203 138 -184 346 -13 191 -5 601

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (except derivative instr.) 398 498 -432 767 -251 220 -43 342 -138 205

Derivative instruments (instrinseque value) 20 553 -20 553 -20 553

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 419 051 -453 320 -271 774 -43 342 -138 205

Over 5 years
From 1 to 5 

years

Less than 1 

year

Undiscounted cash 

flow
Carrying value

Dec 31, 2015

('000 EURO)

Refundable Advances 39 209 -73 433 -2 312 -27 613 -43 508

Syndicated loan - Tranche B 225 610 -246 251 -60 649 -185 602

Syndicated loan - Other tranches 52 500 -53 460 -53 460

Other bank loans 2 952 -8 084 -3 477 -4 057 -549

Factoring 56 706 -56 706 -56 706

Finance lease 2 706 -3 081 -811 -1 803 -467

Other short term credit 3 066 -3 066 -3 066

Accounts payable 205 098 -205 098 -188 617 -10 863 -5 618

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (except derivative instr.) 587 847 -649 179 -369 098 -229 938 -50 143

Derivative instruments (instrinseque value) 14 113 -14 113 -14 113

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 601 960 -663 292 -383 211 -229 938 -50 143

Dec 31, 2014

Over 5 yearsFrom 1 to 5 years
Less than 1 

year

Undiscounted 

cash flow
Carrying value
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The LATECOERE Group's USD hedging policy limits the impact of currency variations on the individual and 
consolidated financial statements. It should be noted that this table hereafter only reflects the situation noted at 
December 31, 2015 and does not reflect all future hedging. Furthermore, at December 31, 2015, the estimated net 
flows in US dollars were hedged to a total of 95% for 2016, around 85% for 2017 and 20% for 2018. The impact of 
foreign exposure with respect to the profit and loss account is detailed in Note 19. 

 
a) Exposure and Balance Sheet Sensitivity to the Dollar 

 
The Group's foreign currency balance sheet information exposure in dollars is the following: 
 

 
 
 
A sensitivity analysis was carried out, based on the assumption of a 5% change of the dollar in relation to the euro 
on the basis of the Group's net balance sheet exposure at December 31, 2015. This variation would have resulted 
in a pre-tax decrease in result of €2,244k at December 31, 2015 compared to a pre-tax decrease in result of 
€1,455k at December 31, 2014. 
 

b) Sensitivity to Transaction Flows in Dollars 
 

A sensitivity analysis was performed on the flows relating to transactions performed in USD by companies whose 
functional currency is the Euro net of the impact of exchange rate hedging EUR/USD for the period.  
 

 
 
 

c) Sensitivity of Dollar Derivative Financial Instruments 

 
A sensitivity analysis was carried out on the basis of a portfolio of derivatives qualified with cash flow hedging and 
held at year-end. A 5% decrease of the dollar in relation to the Euro would result in a decrease of pre-tax result of 
€15.6 million and a reduction of pre-tax shareholders' equity of €19.2 million. 
 
 
Other foreign currency risks 

 
The Group has set-up exchange rate hedges to protect against the fluctuations of the Czech crown (koruna) with 
respect to the Euro in relation with its Latécoère Czech Republic s.r.o. subsidiary and against fluctuations of the 
Brazilian real with respect to the dollar in relation with its LdB subsidiary. These financial instruments are detailed 
in note 9. 
 
A sensitivity analysis was carried out, based on the assumption of a 5% increase of the dollar (USD) over the real 
(BRL) parity. This increase would have resulted in a pre-tax increase in result of €0.1 million. 
 
A sensitivity analysis was carried out, based on the assumption of a 5% increase of the Euros over the Czech 
crown (koruna) parity. This increase would have resulted in a pre-tax decrease in result of €0.7 million and a pre-
tax reduction in shareholders' equity of €0.4 million. 

'000 $ '000 € '000 $ '000 €

Accounts Receivable 124 294 124 294 121 007 99 668

Accounts Payable -36 106 -36 106 -38 150 -31 422

Other (including advanced payments suppliers and customers) -60 902 -60 902 -56 494 -46 531

Net debt 24 026 24 026 10 734 8 841

NET EXPOSITION BEFORE HEDGING 51 312 51 312 37 097 30 555

Hedging instruments for the receivables on the balance sheet 0 0 0 0

NET EXPOSITION AFTER HEDGING 51 312 51 312 37 097 30 555

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Hypothesis of variation in the euro / US dollar -5% +5% -5% +5%

Average rate during the period

Average rate after sensitivité test 1,054 1,165 1,262 1,395

Operating result 1 818 -1 645 5 835 -4 489

Financial result 0 0 -4 082 1 104

RESULT BEFORE TAX 1 818 -1 645 1 753 -3 385

1,110 1,329

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
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The foreign currency exposure on the other currencies is not considered significant in view of the Group's 
exposure to them. 
 
Conversion Exchange Rate Risk 
 

Conversion exchange rate risk corresponds to the risk of the conversion into Euros of the financial statements of 
companies whose functional currency is different than the Euro. The main companies of which the functional 
currency is other than the Euro are Latécoère Czech Republic (EUR/CZK exposure), Latécoère do Brazil 
(EUR/BRL exposure), SEA-LATelec (EUR/TND exposure) and the Mexican subsidiaries (EUR/MXN exposure).  
 
A sensitivity test was implemented on subsidiaries whose amounts are significant (Latécoère Czech Republic and 
Latécoère do Brazil). Thus, a devaluation of 5% of the BRL and CZK currency performances compared to the 
Euro would result in a decrease in shareholders' equity at December 31, 2015 of -€2.1 million compared to -€1.9 
million at December 31, 2014. As a reminder, the amount of the conversion reserve in shareholders' equity 
amounts to €8.5 million at December 31, 2015 compared to €5.9 million at December 31, 2014. 
 

 

21.4 Interest rate risk  
 
 
 

 
 
Almost all medium and long-term net debt is based on short-term floating rates. Cost of bank debt is 4.4% on 
average in 2015 compared to 4.1% in 2014. The overall average interest rate borne by the Group (including as 
well the amortization of the issue expense of the convertible bonds through the effective interest rate and the 
interest share of repayments of refundable advances occurring during the year) in 2015, is 4.8% compared to 
4.5% in 2014.  
 
The sensitivity tests implemented were made on a hedging of interest rates net basis of loans at adjustable rates 
at December, 31 2015. By taking as an assumption a 100 basis point increase in short-term rates, the impact on 
the Group's pre-tax result would be an increase in financial costs of €1,084k per year. 
 
 

21.5 Raw material risk 
 
The LATECOERE Group is exposed to raw material risk relating to its purchasing for raw materials, essentially 
aluminum, steel and titanium. Since 2007, the Group has negotiated contracts with its main suppliers, either 
independently, or through its customers' programs These contracts have been concluded for two or three years, 
include price clauses that either make them constant for the duration of the contract, or cause them to evolve 
according to an index provided for in advance, on the average lower than the past increases. In some contracts, 
the raw material is consigned by the customer, which reduces the risk for the Group. 

 
  

('000 EURO) < à 1 an de 1 à 5 ans > à 5 ans Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Fixed rate 0 0 0 0 0

Adjustable rate 90 370 0 0 90 370 33 366

Fixed rate -1 147 -13 940 -26 632 -41 718 -43 400

Adjustable rate -60 946 -90 997 0 -151 943 -338 286

Fixed rate -1 147 -13 940 -26 632 -41 718 -43 400

Adjustable rate 29 425 -90 997 0 -61 572 -304 920

Fixed rate 0 0 0 0 0

Adjustable rate 97 908 0 0 97 908 175 000

Fixed rate -1 147 -13 940 -26 632 -41 718 -43 400

Adjustable rate 127 333 -90 997 0 36 336 -129 920

Financial liabilities

NET EXPOSURE BEFORE HEDGING

Derivative financial instruments

NET EXPOSURE AFTER HEDGING

Financial assets
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21.6 Equity share risk 
 
The Group holds essentially LATECOERE shares, the carrying value of which is adjusted according to the closing 
market prices. The treasury shares are accounted for in deduction of shareholders' equity in the consolidated 
financial statements. The amount of treasury shares at December 31, 2015 is €120k. 
 
Given the fact that at year end the Latécoère Company only held 29,432 of its own shares, the equity share risk is 
not significant. 
Furthermore, the Group does not hold any other significant listed shares and for this reason is not exposed to the 
risk of the fluctuation of share prices. 
 

NOTE 22  AVERAGE HEADCOUNT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Executives & 

Management
Administration

Blue-

collars
Total Total

LATECOERE 336 573 158 1 067 1 128

LATECOERE do BRASIL 34 134 225 393 347

LATECOERE Czech Republic s.r.o. 41 242 430 713 687

LATECOERE Mexico Services 21 0 60 81 44

LATECOERE Inc. 4 1 0 5 4

Aerostructure Industrial 436 950 873 2 259 2 210

LATECOERE Services 308 239 0 547 488

G²Metric 42 26 0 68 66

G²Metric GmbH 3 3 0 6 8

G²Metric UK 1 5 5 11 10

LATECOERE Services  Ibéria 12 27 0 39 37

LATECOERE Services Canada Inc. 13 3 16 26

LATECOERE Services LTD 0 0 0 0 0

LATECOERE Services GmbH 12 4 2 18 12

Aerostructure Services 391 307 7 705 646

LATelec 149 241 289 679 701

SEA LATelec 40 127 658 825 841

LATelec GmbH 38 44 20 102 99

LATelec Mexico Services 30 0 257 287 207

Interconnection Systems 257 412 1 224 1 893 1 847

GROUP 1 084 1 669 2 104 4 857 4 703

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
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NOTE 23  FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
23.1 Financial commitments 

 
The amount of the commitments given by the Group at year end was as follows: 
 

 
 

(1) The trade receivables given as security correspond to the receivables financed by the Factor pursuant to the factoring 
agreement 

(2) These securities relate to asset items recognized to the balance sheet for €23 million, and intangible items not recognized 
to the balance sheet for €206 million. 

 
 

23.2 Commitments under operating leases 
 
Within the framework of its operation, the Group is 
caused to set up operating leases. The amount of 
the expense for the year was €8.7 million. The main 
contracts are the following: 

 leasing of vehicles; 

 leasing of computer and office equipment 
(general and technical office data processing 
equipment, photocopiers, fax machines, etc.); 

 real estate leasing; 

 other leasing (as needed). 
All these contracts do not include any specific 
clause that could have an impact on the method of 
renewal or of termination of these contracts.

  

23.3 Other commitments 
 
In the course of its ordinary business; the Group has 
purchasing commitments related to production. 
These commitments are based primarily on  
forecasts of the production rates of the aircraft 
manufacturers and are realized at normal market 
conditions.  

 
 
The Group has also, in the course of its ordinary 
business, given commitments to its customers and 
to customs for a total amount of €2,361k. 

 
23.4 Other contingent liabilities 
 
 
On 31 December 2015 the Group has not identified any other significant contingent liabilities. 

 
23.4 Non-consolidated Entities 
 
LATECOERE holds 24.81% of the capital of 
CORSE COMPOSITE AERONAUTIQUE.  
This investment by LATECOERE, along with the 
other shareholders -- Airbus, Dassault and 
SAFRAN, allows the Group to reinforce its 
competencies in the area of composite materials. 
 
The Group exercises no significant influence on the 
Corse Composites Aéronautique company since 
April 1, 2013. Therefore, that company was 
deconsolidated and the financial asset has been 
classified in other financial assets. 

 
The information below summarizes the main 
financial indicators of Corse Composites 
Aéronautique (data at 100%): 

 2015 Revenue: €52.7 million (€45.5 million) 

 2015 Net Result: €0.7 million (€1.0 million in 
2014) 

 
The Group did not provide financial support to the 
CORSE COMPOSITE AERONAUTIQUE company. 
 

 

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2014

< To 1year
From 1 to 5 

years
>  5 years Total Total

Trade receivables given as security (1) 59 247 0 0 59 247 56 706

Securities, collateral and mortgages (2) 17 406 211 694 0 229 100 204 208

TOTAL 76 653 211 694 0 288 347 260 914

Dec 31, 2015
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NOTE 24  RELATED PARTIES 

 
 
24.1 Main flows with related parties 
 
Relations during 2015 with associates as determined at December 31, 2015: 
 

 
 
Transactions with related parties are done on a market-price basis. 
 

24.2 Director compensation 
 
 
The Group has defined as Key Managers the 
individuals holding the following functions: 

 Members of the Board of Directors of the 
LATECOERE Company; 

 Members of the Executive Committee of the 
LATECOERE Company; 

 directors or managers of consolidated 
subsidiaries.  

For all the individuals falling into the above 
definition, the total of remuneration, benefits 
acquired or to be acquired represents at December 
31, 2015 the amount of €2,641k against €2,531k at 

December 31, 2014. The amount relating to 
retirement liabilities and long service medal 
amounts €248k for 2015 against €263k for 2014. 
 
Remuneration due in 2015 for all of the Members of 
in Supervisory Board and Board of Directors was 
€298k. At December 31, 2014, remuneration due for 
all of the Members of the Supervisory Board was 
€266k. 

 

 
24.3 Main Relationships between the LATECOERE Company and Its Subsidiaries 
 
The main Group flows concern economic flows 
relating to the production of sub-assemblies. 
 
The Group is organized around two businesses: 
“Aerostructures” (Aerostrucre Industrial division and 
Aerostructure Services division) and 
“Interconnection Systems”. Every company that is a 
leader in a business has subsidiaries (in France or 
abroad) that enable it to respond to its industrial 
needs. Given the general organization of the Group, 
the different companies that form part of the scope 
of consolidation may have industrial and commercial 
relations between themselves so as to respond to 
the production needs of each entity. Group 
transactions being variable, it is not possible a priori 
to define their annual amounts. 
 
The conditions of payment applicable between the 
different companies of the Group match those 
applicable for other suppliers and take into account, 
as appropriate, occasional needs related to 
centralized cash flow management. 
 
The LATECOERE Company, the parent company of 
the Group, centralizes some global management 
actions with respect to subsidiaries (general 

management, insurance and risk management, 
financial management, etc.). Therefore, it invoices 
its subsidiaries for management fees, integrating the 
cost relating to these items. 
 
Furthermore, as part of its centralized cash flow 
management, the LATECOERE Company may 
grant to its subsidiaries (directly held) advances on 
current account (short term cash flow) or loans 
(medium or long term) to enable the financing of 
real estate and industrial investments. Short-term 
financings are subject to regulated agreements and 
carry interest. Loans are subject to specific 
contracts, which state the object of the financing, 
the duration as well as the interest rate applied. 
 
In some cases, this method of financing internal to 
the Group may be set up between a subsidiary of 
the LATECOERE Company and its indirect 
subsidiary or subsidiaries, the procedures and 
conditions remaining identical to those described 
above. With the exception of companies of the 
Group and of the Key Manager relationships 
mentioned above, there exists no significant 
operation with related parties outside the Group. 
 

Groupe 

LATECOERE
CCA

Revenue 0 2 082

Purchasing 2 082 0

Trade receivables 0 133

Trade payables 133 0
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Since fiscal year 2009, the LATECOERE Company 
has made itself the only taxpayer in France for the 
corporate tax, for additional contributions based on 
the corporate tax for the annual flat-rate taxation 
due in respect of the tax Group which includes the 
LATECOERE, LATelec, LATECOERE Services and 
LATECOERE Développement companies. 
 

Under the tax consolidation agreement, the tax 
consolidated subsidiaries bear their own tax 
expense, as they would had there not been tax 
consolidation, and pay the corresponding sums to 
the LATECOERE Company, by way of contribution 
to the payment of taxes of the tax Group. 
 

 
 
NOTE 25  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (MINORITY INTERESTS) 
 
G² Metric subsidiary is the only consolidated subsidiary materially significant with minority interests: 
 

 

 
 
The following table summarizes the financial information of G² Metric before eliminations of intra-Group: 
 

 
 
 
Dividends paid to minority interests amounted to €328k for the year 2015 and €325k for the year 2014. 
 

 
NOTE 26  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

No significant events occurred after the closing.  

('000 EURO)

Ow nership 

%

Equity (non-controlling 

interests)

Net income 

attributable to 

non-controlling 

interests

Ow nership 

%

Equity (non-controlling 

interests)

Net income 

attributable to non-

controlling 

interests

G² METRIC 49% 3 045 618 49% 2 755 933

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Intangible f ixed assets 1 127 1 225

Intermediate and finished products 261 359

Trade account receivables 3 795 2 828

Other 3 574 2 349

Cash and bank 4 064 4 452

TOTAL ASSETS 12 821 11 213

Shareholder's equity 6 215 5 623

Provisions for risks and expenses 10 1

Financial debts 88 164

Trade accounts payable 843 1 020

Tax, personnel and social security 2 599 2 293

Other 3 067 2 112

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12 821 11 213

Sales 12 407 12 617

Net Income 1 262 1 903
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3.7 Report of the Statutory Auditors on the consolidated financial statements 

 
 
To the Shareholders,  
 
 
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your annual general meeting, we hereby report to you, for the year 
ended 31 December 2015, on: 

 the audit of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Latécoère S.A.; 

 the justification of our assessments; 

 the specific verification required by law. 

These consolidated financial statements have been approved by your Board of Directors. Our role is to express an opinion 
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France; those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures, using sampling techniques or other methods of selection, 
to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well 
as the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the matter set out in note “1 – Main events” to the consolidated 
financial statements regarding the recapitalization of the Company and the related stabilizing of its financial situation. 

Justification of our assessments 

 

The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2015 were 
performed in a context where economic prospects were definitely difficult to grasp, as set out in note 2.3 to the consolidated 
financial statements. It is in this context that, in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial 
Code (Code de Commerce), we have proceeded with our assessments that we bring this to your attention. 

 
Hedging financial instruments 

 

Note 2.17 and note 9 to the consolidated financial statements disclose the methods applied for recording hedging financial 
instruments.  

In the context of our assessment of the accounting principles of the Group, we have verified that these accounting methods 
and the related information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements were appropriate, and we have 
assessed their correct implementation. 
 
Construction contracts 

 

Note 2.15 “Inventory and work-in progress” and note 6.2 “Construction contracts” to the consolidated financial statements 
disclose the accounting methods relating to revenue recognition of construction contracts under the stage of completion 
method. These results at completion on construction contracts are based on estimates, relating mainly to industrial 
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assumptions and foreign currency exchange rates, approved by the Management Board. When applicable, forecast losses 
at completion are immediately recorded in the results, as mentioned in note 2.15 to the consolidated financial statements. 

These estimates are based on assumptions which are by their very nature uncertain, the outcomes being likely to differ 
sometimes significantly from the estimated data used.  

On the basis of information available, our work consisted of assessing the assumptions and data underlying these estimates 
at completion of these contracts, of comparing the estimates at completion made in prior periods with the corresponding 
outcome, and of reviewing the calculations of the Group and examining the approval procedures for these estimates by the 
Management Board.  

These assessments were made as part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, and therefore 
contributed to the opinion we formed which is expressed in the first part of this report. 

Specific verification 

As required by law we have also verified, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the information 
relative to the Group, given in the parent company's management report. 

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the consolidated financial statements. 
 

 

 

Labège, on the 29 April 2016 Paris, on the 29 April 2016 

KPMG Audit 

Department of KPMG S.A. 

Grant Thornton 

French member of Grant Thornton International 

  The statutory auditors 

 

 

 

French original signed by 

The statutory auditors 

 

 

 

French original signed by Michel Dedieu Gilles Hengoat 

Partner 

 

Partner 
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4       STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 

LATECOERE S.A. COMPANY AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 

 
 
 
4.1 Balance sheet of the LATECOERE S.A. Company 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

('000 EURO)
Gross Amortization Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Intangible fixed assets 16 875 6 145 10 730 1 990

Land 505 505 505

Buildings 2 942 961 1 981 2 048

Plant, equipment and tooling 34 557 22 906 11 651 11 719

Other tangible fixed assets 11 054 7 109 3 945 3 245

Fixed assets in progress 13 491 13 491 10 752

Advance payments 0 0

Tangible fixed assets 62 549 30 976 31 573 28 268

Other shareholdings 45 854 1 151 44 703 44 703

Other long-term investments 26 657 26 657 77 685

Other fixed shares 25 25 25

Loans 409 409 0 0

Other financial fixed assets 209 0 209 2 510

Financial fixed assets 73 154 1 560 71 594 124 922

Fixed assets 152 578 38 681 113 897 155 181

Raw materials 31 028 8 007 23 021 24 860

Work-in-process 250 515 13 043 237 472 252 970

Intermediate and finished products 31 911 4 077 27 835 30 073

Intermediate and finished products 313 454 25 127 288 327 307 902

Advances, payments on account  167 167 3 105

Trade accounts receivable 9 102 9 102 9 920

Other receivables 126 314 126 314 98 651

Short-term investments 62 314 62 314 12 740

Cash and bank 18 783 18 783 11 836

Prepayments, unrealized exchange losses 8 503 8 503 1 344
0 0 0

CURRENT ASSETS 538 639 25 127 513 512 445 498
  

TOTAL ASSETS 691 217 63 808 627 409 600 679
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('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Share capital 186 694 23 091

Share premium 213 607 93 095

Legal reserve 1 722 1 722

Other reserves 107 496 107 496

Retained earnings -195 937 -192 099

Income for the year (profit or loss) -8 625 -3 838

Tax based provisions 5 814 4 981

Shareholders’ equity 310 772 34 448

Refundable advances 32 021 30 609

Total equity 342 793 65 057

Provisions for risks and expenses 3 258 12 732

Loans and debts from financial institution 98 880 278 163

Other loans and financial liabilities 3 009 2 006

Trade accounts payable 76 357 78 905

Tax, personnel and social security 28 576 33 271

Due for fixed assets 882 685

Other liabilities 66 672 118 685

Deferred income-unrealized exchange gains 6 981 11 176

Total liabilities 281 358 522 891

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 627 409 600 679
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4.2 Income statement of the LATECOERE S.A. Company 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Production sold (goods) 494 410 429 600

Production sold (services) 10 880 14 375

Net sales 505 290 443 976

Change in inventory (WIP and finished goods) -13 803 9 984

Capitalized production 12 146 5 842

Operating grants 2 121 2 354

Write-back of provisions and amortization, expense transfers 17 904 4 964

Other income 202 261

Operation income 523 860 467 381

Changes in inventory (goods) 48 0

Purchase of raw materials and other supplies 45 598 41 092

Changes in inventory (raw materials, supplies) 769 1 713

Other purchases and external expenses 349 319 340 877

Taxes, duties and similar 9 371 4 425

Wages and salaries 47 020 50 143

Social security 23 407 23 873

Depreciation, amortization 4 962 2 803

Provisions on current assets 7 804 132

Other operation expenses 717 404

Operation expenses 489 014 465 462

NET OPERATING INCOME 34 846 1 918

NET FINANCIAL INCOME -47 413 -9 573

INCOME BEFORE TAX -12 567 -7 654

NET EXCEPTIONAL EXPENSES -681 -1 358

Employee profit sharing 1 845 2 104

Tax on profit -6 469 -7 279

TOTAL INCOME 548 908 493 760

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 557 533 497 598

NET INCOME -8 625 -3 838
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4.3 Statement of cash flows of the LATECOERE S.A. Company 
 
 

 
 

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Net income -8 625 -3 838

Elim of depreciation and provisions -4 118 -1 163

Elim of profit/loss on disposal 0

Cash flow -12 743 -5 001

Changes in working capital ¹ -14 663 1 267

Cash flow from operating activities -27 406 -3 733

Purchase of tangible and intangible assets -7 600 -7 877

Proceed of sale of tangible and intangible assets 44 136

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities -7 556 -7 742

Dividends paid 0

Increase (decrease) in capital ² 284 115 369

Proceeds from borrowings ³ 101 074 0

Repayments of borrowings ² -227 825 -795

Shares in subsidiary companies flow ⁴ 165 860

Flow from refundable advances 1 412 -833

Disposal (acquisition) of treasury shares -11

Other flow from financing operation 5 -68 400 25 000

Increase (decrease) in loans and advances made from financing activities 2 313 -252

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities 92 843 24 348

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 57 881 12 874
Opening cash position 23 196 10 322

Closing cash position 81 077 23 196

Cash and cash equivalents 81 096 24 577

Overdraft facilities -19 -1 381

Discounted receivables 0 0

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END 81 077 23 196

¹ In order to improve the understanding of the cash f low  statement, the Group decided to present starting 12/31/2015 a w orking capital net of provisions. The change in 

provisions are included on the lines "changes in client and other receivables net of provisions". The impact of reclassif ication is of €4.913K for the f inancial year 2014.

² 2015 corresponds to €3.8 million for the exercise of share purchase w arrants and €280.3 million for the debt restructuring

³ 2015 is the issue of the new  syndicated loan

⁴ 2015 corresponds mainly to the repayment of instalment B of the syndicated loan

⁵ 2015 corresponds to the repayment of short term loans for €52.5 million and cash charges related to debt restructuring for €15.9 million
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4.4 Notes to the corporate financial statements at December 31, 2015 

 
 
 
These documents are annexed to the balance sheet 
before apportionment of the fiscal year ending on 
December 31, 2015 totaling €627,408,808, and to the 
income statement of the fiscal year presented in the form 
of a list, showing total income of €548,907,727, total 
expenditure of €557,532,670, and net income of               
-€8,624,942. 
 
The relevant year covers a period of 12 months from 
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015. 
 
The notes and the tables herein, form an integral part of 
the annual financial statements. The financial statements 
are presented in €k rounded to the closest thousand 
euros. 

 
NOTE 1 MAIN EVENTS 

 
Recapitalization of the Group 
 

In accordance with the Conciliation Agreement signed 
with its creditors on May 26, 2015, and following the 
approval by the General Meeting of the shareholders of 
the restructuring plan on June 29 and July 15, 2015, the 
Group realized two successive capital increases for an 
aggregate amount of €280 million: 

 The first capital increase reserved to the lenders 
of the syndicated loan amounted to €57 million 
and was realized by debt-for-equity swaps. 
Following that transaction, lenders held a 37.4% 
stake in the capital of the Group. 

 The second capital increase with retention of 
preferential rights for an amount of €223 million 
allowed the Group to repay €123 million of the 
syndicated loan and to retain €100 million. With 
regard to the success of the transaction, the 
weight of the lenders in the capital of the Group 
has remained unchanged. 

 
Following the capital increase with retention of the 
preferential right of subscription, the share capital of 
Latécoère was €187 million. 

 
New governance 
 
In accordance with the resolutions adopted by the 
General Meeting, the Group has, effective September 22, 
2015, has a new corporate governance thus changing 
from a dual board structure (Supervisory Board and 
Management Board) to a unitary one (Board of 
Directors). Thus Frédéric Michelland was appointed 
Deputy CEO and Olivier Regnard, Deputy CEO.  
 
The Board of Directors of the Group is composed of: 

 Mr. Pierre Gadonneix, Chairman of the Board of 
Directors; 

 Mr. Frédéric Michelland, Deputy CEO; 

 Mr. Jean-Luc Allavena, Mr. Christophe Villemin, 
and Mr. Robert Séminara, representatives of 
Apollo; 

 Mr. Matthew Glowasky and Mr. Josiah 
Rotenberg, representatives of Monarch Capital; 

 Mrs. Claire Dreyfus-Cloarec, Mrs. Isabelle 
Azemard and Mr. Francis Niss, independent 
members; 

 Mr. Jean-Louis Peltriaux, representative of the 
employee shareholders. 

 
 

NOTE 2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
2.1 Presentation of the financial statements 
 
The financial statements of the Company at December 
31, 2015 have been prepared in accordance with 
regulations in force, in compliance with regulation CRC 
14-03. Moreover, the Company applies the 
recommendations of the accounting plan of the 
aeronautical and space industry for the accounting 
treatment of some specific operations. 
 

2.2 Assumptions and estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires that the 
Board of Directors make estimates and assumptions 
which have an impact on the application of accounting 
methods as well as on amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. 
 
The Company makes assumptions and regularly 
establishes, on these bases, estimates relating to its 
various businesses. These estimates have been made 
from past experience and other factors considered as 
reasonable in view of the circumstances they integrate 
the economic conditions prevailing at the closing and the 
information available as of the date of preparation of the 
financial statements The Board of Directors regularly 
reviews its estimates and assumptions on the basis of its 
past experience as well as other factors deemed 
reasonable, which constitutes the grounds for its 
appreciations of the carrying value of assets and liabilities 
 
The impact of changes in accounting estimates is 
recognized during the period of the change if it affects 
only that period or during the course of the period of the 
change and subsequent periods if these are also affected 
by the change. 
 
The judgments made by the Board of Directors, having a 
significant impact on financial statements and estimates 
having an important risk of variations during the period, 
concern mainly the estimated margin on construction 
contracts (note 2.7), provisions on inventory, the 
recoverable value of long-term investments, and 
employee benefits (note 15.2). 
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At December 31, 2015, the accounting estimates used in 
the preparation of the financial statements were 
performed in a worldwide economic context with a still 
high degree of volatility with regard to economic 
prospects.  

The estimates and the assumptions retained for the 
consolidated financial statements were determined based 
on the elements in the Group's possession at the closing 
date and, in particular: 

 commercial information (order book and rates) 
communicated by the various aircraft manufacturers 
and information from the prospects of the aeronautical 
market, 

 the outlook for the dollar in the long term. 

 
2.3 Research & Development costs 
 
At December 31, 2015, research & development 
expenses are recorded as expenses with the exception of 
development expenditures relating to construction 
contracts, which are recognized as work-in-progress. 

 
2.4 Other intangible fixed assets 
 
Composed essentially of computer software, they are 
measured on the basis of acquisition cost (purchase price 
and associated costs) or at their production cost (own 
work capitalized). The interest costs on loans specific to 
own work capitalized are not included in the cost of 
production. 
 
For fixed assets that use reducing balance methods for 
tax purposes the difference with respect to book 
depreciation is shown as accelerated fiscal depreciation 
in regulated provision. Other intangible fixed assets are 
amortized over their duration of use. 

 
2.5 Tangible fixed assets 
 
The tangible fixed assets are accounted for at their 
directly attributable cost (including purchase price, taxes 
paid and direct purchase cost), reduced by accumulated 
depreciation and loss of value. 
 
Subsequent expenses relating to tangible fixed assets 
are accounted for as expenses of the fiscal year in which 
they are incurred if they maintain the performance level of 
the asset. They are added to the carrying value of the 
initial fixed asset if they generate future economic 
benefits higher than the initial level of performance and if 
their cost can be measured reliably. 
 
When applicable, the total cost of an asset is broken 
down between its different constitutive elements 
(components) if their useful lives are different. Each 
element of the asset is depreciated over a different time 
period. The LATECOERE Company has defined families 
of assets that might be broken down, together with the 
useful lives of the components thus determined. 
 
As the assets acquired by the LATECOERE Company 
are not meant to be resold before the end of their 
economic lives, no residual value has been applied to the 
different tangible fixed assets. 

 
The amortization method reflects the rate of consumption 
of the future economic benefits relating to the asset. 
 
Any loss in value is recognized in operating result, on the 
line "depreciation amortization". 
 
The grants received by the LATECOERE Company as 
assistance to the financing of industrial fixed assets are 
accounted for in deduction of the original value of the 
asset. 
 
Furthermore, the LATECOERE Company has not chosen 
the option of integrating in the cost of fixed asset, the 
financial costs relating to the specific financing of this 
asset. 
 
The amortization periods associated with the groups and 
sub-groups of assets are as follows. 
 

 
 
In general, the LATECOERE Company has opted for the 
use of the straight-line method of depreciation for the 
whole of its assets. However, according to nature and 
specificity of the asset, the decreasing-balance method 
may be applied. 
 
Impairment of assets 

 
The carrying value of the Company's assets (other than 
inventory and deferred tax assets) is examined at each 
closing so as to appreciate if any indication of a loss in 
value exists. If such an indication is identified an 
impairment test is carried out. The impairment test 
consists in comparing the carrying value of the asset or of 
the relevant group of assets with its recoverable value. 
The recoverable value of an asset is the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The value in 
use is the discounted value of estimated future cash 
flows expected from the continuing use of the asset and 
from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 
 
In order to determine the value in use of an asset, the 
LATECOERE Company uses: 

 estimates of future cash flows (before income tax and 
financial cost) based on assumptions that keep the 
asset in its current condition and represent the best 
estimate of the economic conditions which will exist 
during the remaining useful life of the asset, 

 the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current 
market valuations of the time value of money and of 
the specific risks of the asset. The discount rate does 

Group Amortization period 

Construction 15 - 40 years

General facilities 10 -20 years

Technical facilities 6 2/3 – 20 years

Tooling 3 years

Electronic equipment 5 years

Computer hardware 3 – 5 years

Transportation equipment 4 years

Office equipment 6 2/3 years

Furniture 10 years
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not reflect the risks that have already been taken into 
account in the estimate of future cash flows. 

 
Depreciation is recorded if the carrying value of an asset 
is higher than its recoverable value. 

 
2.6 Shareholdings and other long-term 
investments 
 
Shareholdings 

 
Shareholdings are initially measured at their price or 
subscription price. At each year-end, their value in use is 
determined by taking into account the net equity and 
potential profitability of each holding. 
 
Other long-term investments 

 
Their gross value includes their purchase price excluding 
associated costs. 

 
2.7 Inventories and work-in-progress 
 
Raw materials 

 
The gross value of raw materials and supplies includes 
the purchase price and associated costs. Valuation is 
made at the weighted average price. Provisions for 
depreciation are constituted on the raw materials and 
facilities that have not moved during the year and for 
which no use is foreseen in the short-term. 
 
Work-in-progress excluding construction contracts 
 
The gross value of work-in-progress is measured using 
the full cost method excluding non-production costs 
(financial expenses, marketing costs, estimates without 
follow-up, administrative costs, etc.). Work-in-progress is 
depreciated when its realization value is under its book 
value. 
 
Construction contracts (long-term contracts): 

 
The LATECOERE Company has concluded with some of 
its customers partnership contracts the characteristics of 
which are those of construction contracts: 

 contract relating to the production of a group of assets 
closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of 
design, technology and function; 

 which covers several years.. 
 
The accounting for these contracts responds to the 
following criteria: 
The principal revenues and costs of construction 
contracts are: 
a. for revenue: 

 the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract; 

 the modifications in contract work or the claims to the 
extent that it is probable that they give rise to revenue 
and that they can be measured reliably. 

b. for costs: 
The costs directly related to the contract; 

 the costs attributable to the contract activity in general 
and which can be allocated to the contract; 

 all other costs that can specifically be charged to the 
customer according to the terms of the contract. 

 
The margin is recognized by reference to the stage of 
completion and calculated in relation to the delivery of 
elements (“milestones”). Actually the LATECOERE 
Company invoices on delivery and all the invoicing is due 
by the customer whatever the outcome of the program 
 
 
Additional invoicing may also be carried out subsequently 
(modifications or additional work). A study is undertaken 
on a case-by-case basis in order to define elements 
permitting the determination of the stage of completion 
(milestones). 
The estimated margin is calculated on the basis of a 
forecast including the technical and budgetary elements 
determined at the inception. This margin is revised 
periodically based on costs and revenues realized during 
the period and remaining to come. When the foreign 
exchange exposure is hedged, the impact of this hedging 
is integrated in the calculation of the estimated margin. 
When the projected margin is negative, it is immediately 
recorded in income statement. 

 
Construction contracts covering several years, during the 
first years the Company is brought to note in the balance 
sheet costs of production, which will subsequently be 
recycled in income statement according to the decay 
really observed. 
 
Construction contracts are based on forecasts made by 
LATECOERE taking into account the commercial 
information (order book and production rates) released by 
the different aircraft manufacturers and the information 
coming from the outlook for the aeronautical market. 
Future costs are estimated on the basis of the industrial 
organizations of the Group. Furthermore, the dollar flows 
(revenue and expenses) representing a significant share 
of the total flows, the Group founded its projections on a 
historical analysis of the dollar, assumptions of the future 
evolution of the dollar in relation to the duration of 
contracts. This last assumption could be reviewed 
depending on the outlook for the currency evolution and 
its impact on the projections. 
 

2.8 Revenue Recognition 
 

Revenue is recognized according to the following criteria: 

 for construction contracts, refer to note 2.7; 

 for other types of contracts (other than services), 
revenue is recognized when the main part of risks and 
rewards are transferred to the buyer, which occurs on 
delivery; 

 for service contracts, revenue is recognized by 
reference to the stage of completion based on the 
actual advancement of work on the basis of costs 
recorded in relation to total estimated costs. 

 
2.9 Receivables 
 
Receivables are valued at their nominal value. The risks 
of non-recovery are provided for as required at the end of 
each year. 
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2.10 Investment securities 
 
They are exclusively made up of securities other than 
treasury shares. Their gross value includes their 
purchase price excluding associated costs. When the 
inventory value is under their gross value, a provision for 
depreciation is constituted. 
 

2.11 Provisions for risks 
 
Provisions for risks and expenses are established in 
compliance with regulation CRC 2000-06 on liabilities. 
Risks known at the date of the closing of the financial 
statements are subject to a review and a provision is 
made. 

 
2.12 Tax related provisions 
 
Regulatory provisions that figure in the balance sheet 
include exclusively accelerated fiscal depreciation. 
Accelerated fiscal depreciation represents the difference 
between straight-line depreciation to determine net 
operating income and the accelerated depreciation 
authorized by the current tax legislation. 
 

2.13 Recording of foreign currency operations 
 
The LATECOERE Company, for transactions carried out 
in foreign currencies (essentially the U.S. dollar), 
manages its exposure by covering the expected cash 
inflows with forward sales of currencies. Foreign currency 
transactions are converted into euros by applying the 
exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date. 
Receivables denominated in dollars are converted at year 
end using the rate of the forward exchange contracts. 
Other receivables and liabilities denominated in other 
currencies are converted using the closing exchange 
rate. Exchange rate differences are posted in financial 
result and the hedging instruments are detailed in off-
balance sheet commitments. 
 

2.14 Employee long-service medals 
 
In compliance with recommendation n° 2003-R-01 of the 
"Conseil National de la Comptabilité" (Regulation n° 
2000-06 on liabilities), the LATECOERE Company set up 
a provision in 2004 for employee long-service awards, 
calculated in compliance with IAS 19 (using actuarial 

assumptions, the level of future remuneration, life 
expectancy and employee turnover rates). At December 
31, 2015, this provision was revalued and amounts to 
€1,726k compared to €1,846k at December 31, 2014. 
 

2.15 Recognition of revenue 
 
Revenue is recognized on product delivery or upon the 
provision of services. 

 
2.16 Taxes 
 
Since fiscal year 2009, the LATECOERE Company has 
made itself the only taxpayer in France for the corporate 
tax, for additional contributions based on the corporate 
tax for the annual flat-rate taxation due in respect of the 
tax Group which includes the LATECOERE, LATelec, 
LATECOERE Services and LATECOERE 
Développement companies. 
 
Under the tax consolidation agreement, the tax 
consolidated subsidiaries bear their own tax expense, as 
they would had there not been tax consolidation, and pay 
the corresponding sums to the LATECOERE Company, 
by way of contribution to the payment of taxes of the tax 
Group. 
 

2.17 Competitiveness and Employment Tax 
Credit ("CICE") 
 
The Competitiveness and Employment Tax Credit (the 
"Crédit d'Impôt Compétitivité Emploi" or "CICE") is 
accounted for by the pace of engagement, it is taken into 
account progressively based on the commitment of 
corresponding remuneration expenses.  
 
The entering into accounts of the CICE was conducted in 
reduction of the corporate tax, through the crediting of a 
sub-account of a tax credit (account 6996). 
 
The amount recognized for the year ended December 31, 
2015 was €1,437,995 and was the subject of pre-
financing. 
 
The CICE was primarily used for the replenishment of 
working capital. 
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NOTE 3   FIXED ASSETS 

 
 

 
 
 
 
NOTE 4   DEPRECIATION 

 
 

 

('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2014 Acquisitions Transfer Disposals Dec 31, 2015

Intangible fixed assets 6 759 9 280 914 78 16 875

Land 505 0 505

Buildings constructed on leasehold land 2 890 21 31 2 942

Plant, industrial equipment and tooling 32 763 2 002 335 542 34 557

Fixtures and fittings 8 763 1 065 0 254 9 574

Vehicles 133 18 0 151

Office equipment, I.T., furniture 1 347 200 5 223 1 329

Fixed assets in progress 10 752 4 024 -1 284 13 491

Tangible fixed assets 57 153 7 330 -914 1 020 62 549

Shares in subsidiary companies 45 854 0 45 854

Receivables concerning associated companies 77 685 3 649 54 676 26 657

Other long-term investments 25 25

Loans, other financial fixed assets 2 919 7 473 9 774 617

Financial fixed assets 126 483 11 121 0 64 450 73 154

TOTAL GROSS FIXED ASSETS 190 394 27 732 0 65 547 152 578

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2014 Increase Decrease Dec 31, 2015

Intangible fixed assets 4 768 1 455 78 6 145

Buildings constructed on leasehold land 886 184 1 1 069

Plant, industrial equipment and tooling 21 044 2 398 535 22 906

Fixtures and fittings 5 728 387 241 5 874

Vehicles 129 4 0 133

Office equipment, I.T., furniture 1 097 95 199 994

Tangible fixed assets 28 884 3 067 976 30 976

TOTAL AMORTIZATION 33 653 4 522 1 054 37 121
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NOTE 5   PROVISIONS 

 
 

 
 
 

 

The reversal of provision for risk and expenses corresponds to a reversal of €8.149k on provision for loss at completion. 

 

 

('000 EURO)

Increase Decrease

Intangible fixed assets 1 455 0 1 225 530

Buildings constructed on leasehold land 184 15 0

Plant, industrial equipment and tooling 2 398 524 356

Fixtures and fittings 387 55 98

Vehicles 4 0 0

Office equipment, I.T., furniture 95 0 0

Tangible fixed assets 3 067 0 593 454

TOTAL BREAKDOWN OF DEPRECIATION 4 522 0 1 819 985

straight-line 

method

double declining 

method 

Accelerated fiscal depreciation

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2014 Increase Decrease Dec 31, 2015

Accelerated fiscal depreciation 4 981 1 819 985 5 814

Regulated provision 4 981 1 819 985 5 814

Foreign exchange losses 1 127 429 1 127 429

Provisions for taxes 11 605 211 8 987 2 829

Total provisions for risks and expenses 12 732 640 10 114 3 258

Provisions for financial assets 1 560 0 0 1 560

Provisions for stocks and work-in-process 19 101 7 804 1 778 25 127

Total provisions on assets 20 662 7 804 1 778 26 687

TOTAL PROVISIONS 38 374 10 262 12 877 35 759

('000 EURO)
Increase Decrease

Operating 7 804 10 062

Financial 429 1 127

Exceptional 2 030 1 688

TOTAL 10 262 12 877
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NOTE 6   ANALYSIS OF RECEIVABLES AND OF LIABILITIES 

 
 

 

 
The receivables of greater than one year relating to the line "State and other authorities" correspond to tax credits (primarily, 
the research-based tax credit). 
 

 
 

 
 

('000 EURO)
Gross Amount

Due within one 

year
Due after one year

Receivable related to associates 26 657 243 26 414

Loans 409 409

Other financial fixed assets 209 121 88

Doubtful or disputed trade accounts receivable

Other trade accounts receivable 9 102 9 102

Payroll and similar accounts 64 64

Social security and other similar organizations 5 5

State and other community bodies 31 535 9 571 21 964

Group and shareholders 29 838 29 838 0

Miscellaneous 64 873 64 873

Prepayments expenses 775 775

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 163 466 114 592 48 875

Loans granted during the year 0  

Reimbursements obtained during the year 0  

('000 EURO)

Gross Amount
Due within one 

year

Due between one 

and five years

Due after five 

years

Refundable Advances 32 021 1 610 9 857 20 554

Loans due within 1 year at origin 21 21 0

Loans due after 1 year at origin 98 859 1 074 97 785 0

Other loans and financial debts 3 009 3 009

Trade accounts payable 76 357 76 357

Payroll and similar accounts 9 748 9 748

Social security and other similar organizations 14 324 14 324

State : tax on profits 805 805

State : value added tax 935 935

State : other taxes and duties 2 765 2 765

Due for fixed assets 882 882

Group current accounts 30 485 30 485

Other liabilities 36 186 7 312 18 996 9 879

Deferred income 5 456 5 456

TOTAL LIABILITIES 311 853 154 783 126 637 30 434

Loans obtained during the year 97 785  

Loans reimbursed during the year 225 610   
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NOTE 7   LOANS AND BANK BORROWINGS 

 

 
 

 
Financial commitments on the syndicated loan 

 
The syndicated loan includes a covenant committing the Group to respect a minimum EBIT whose implementation will only 
take place from the accounts closed on 31 December 2017. 
 

 
NOTE 8   REFUNDABLE ADVANCES 
 
 
The most significant refundable advance relates to the 
A380 programs (€24 million). Advances shall be repaid if 
the program succeeds, and repayments are linked to the 

deliveries of each financed product. The repayment 
conditions have been established in the agreement 
signed with the lending organization. 

 
NOTE 9   ACCRUALS AND PREPAYMENTS 
 
 

 
 

NOTE 10   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 
 
LATECOERE's shares are listed on EURONEXT Paris, of NYSE EURONEXT, compartment "B". ISIN code: 
FR0000032278. 
 
The share capital is €186,694,330, and breaks down as follows: 
 

('000 EURO)

Nominal 

value

Carrying 

value

Syndicated loan - Tranche B EURO EURIBOR+ margin 2020 97 785 97 785

Unsecured banking facility and other EURO EURIBOR+ margin n/a 4 102 4 102

TOTAL OF LOAN AND BANK BORROWINGS 101 887 101 887

Currency Interest rate Maturity

Dec 31, 2015

('000 EURO)
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Invoices to be issued 948 983

Total income accruals 948 983

Accrued interest on loans 1 074 38

Supplier invoices not yet received 29 389 32 102

Tax, personnel and social security 12 027 13 048

Interest accrued on overdraft 19 15

Other 18 744 17 584

Total expense accruals 61 253 62 787

Insurance premiums 98 88

Miscellaneous expenses 677 130

Total prepayments (net) 775 217

5 456 8 477
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The capital increase, under the year 2015 is related to: 

 the exercise of converted bonds for € 3,789,940 that resulted in the issuance of 378,994 new shares (affecting the 
share capital up to € 757,988 and the share premium up to € 3,031,952) 

 the impact of the financial restructuring described in Note 1 "Significant events" and the issue of 81,422,672 new 
shares for a total amount of € 280,325,353 (affecting the share capital up to € 162,845,344 and the share premium 
up to € 117,480,009) 

 

 
 

(1) Including unavailable reserves for hedging of treasury shares in an amount of €120k. 

 
 
Treasury shares 

 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Number Nominal value

Total shares at beginning of year 11 545 499 2,00

Shares issued during the year 81 801 666 2,00

Shares exchanged during the year 0

Total shares at end of year 93 347 165 2,00

('000 EURO)
Amount

Shareholders’ equity as of 31/12/13 37 085

Increase in share capital 369

2014 Net income -3 838

Distribution of dividends in 2013 0

Charge in regulated provisions 832

Shareholders’ equity as of 31/12/14 34 448

Increase in share capital + premium 284 115

2015 Net income -8 625

Distribution of dividends in 2014 0

Charge in regulated provisions 834

Shareholders’ equity as of 31/12/15 310 772

Number of shares

Dec 31, 2014 Acquisitions Disposals Dec 31, 2015
% of 

ownership

LATECOERE Shares 12 421 880 651 863 640 29 432 0,03%

('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2014
Acquisitions / 

Provisions
Cessions Dec 31, 2015

Average 

purchase 

price

LATECOERE Shares 108              5 589               5 578            120 4,06         
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NOTE 11   REVENUE 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
It should be noted that this breakdown does not show the final destination of products manufactured. Indeed, most sales to 
our French customers (Airbus France, Dassault, etc.) may end up being exported. 

  

BY BUSINESS

('000 EURO)

Amount % Amount %

Civil business 497 658 98,5% 437 919 99,1%

Military business 7 631 1,5% 6 056 0,9%

TOTAL 505 290 100,00% 443 976 100,00%

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

BY GEOGRAPHICAL ZONE

('000 EURO)

Amount % Amount %

France 164 406 32,5% 144 274 35,4%

Export 340 884 67,5% 299 702 64,6%

TOTAL 505 290 100,00% 443 976 100,00%

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

BY GEOGRAPHICAL MARKET (DIRECT EXPORTS)

('000 EURO)

Amount % Amount %

Europe 272 341 53,9% 249 975 52,6%

America 119 610 23,7% 107 348 25,3%

Asia 4 946 1,0% 2 223 0,4%

Other 108 393 21,5% 84 429 21,7%

TOTAL 505 290 100,00% 443 976 100,00%

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
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NOTE 12   FINANCIAL INCOME 

 

 
 
 
 

NOTE 13   INCOME TAX 

 
 
The taxes related to each income are determined by taking into account the tax write-back and deductions practiced and the 
tax rates applicable to the operations concerned. 
 

 
 
The "Miscellaneous" item includes tax savings relating to the tax consolidation. 

 
NOTE 14   NON-RECURRING EXPENSES AND INCOME 

 

 
 

('000 EURO) Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Financial income from shareholding 4 024 4 490

Other interest and similar income 73 23

Write-back of provision and transfer of expenses 1 127 6 528

Foreign exchange gains 17 826 14 539

Net income from sales of short-term investments 8 20

TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME 23 057 25 601

Financial provision 429 1 127

Interest and related expenses 18 478 19 950

Foreign exchange losses 51 536 14 035

Net loss on sales of short-term investments 28 62

TOTAL FINANCIAL EXPENSE 70 470 35 174

FINANCIAL RESULT -47 413 -9 573

('000 EURO)

Gross amount
Tax write-back and 

deduction 
Tax basis Tax

After tax 

amount

Résultat courant -12 567 -12 497 0 -12 567

Résultat exceptionnel -681 -1 358 0 -681

Intéressement -1 845 -1 845

Participation des salariés 0 0

Crédit d'impôt 4 854 4 854

Divers 1 615 1 615

RESULTAT COMPTABLE -8 625 0 -13 855 0 -8 625

('000 EURO) Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Accelerated fiscal depreciation 1 819 1 514

Extraordinary expenses for revenue operations 305 -40

Net book value of fixed asset disposals 44 136

Other exceptional expense 505 526

TOTAL EXCEPTIONAL EXPENSE 2 672 2 137

Write-back of accelerated fiscal depreciation 985 682

Proceed from fixed asset disposals 12 11

Revenue operations 276 44

Other exceptional income 717 42

TOTAL EXCEPTIONAL INCOME 1 991 778
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NOTE 15   FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS 

 
 

15.1 Real estate leasing 
 

 
 
 

15.2  Retirement Liabilities 
 
Retirement benefits unrecognized in the balance sheet 
are estimated at December 31, 2015 to be €8,062k, 
including social charges, compared to €7,639k for the 
prior fiscal year. The share of the retirement liabilities 
recognized in balance sheet in the amount of €702k is 
subsequent to the merger and acquisition of the 
LATECOERE AEROSTRUCTURE Company. 
 
The retirement benefits are calculated according to 
recommendation n° 2003-R-01 of the "Conseil National 
de la Comptabilité". The Company's obligations with 
respect to its commitments towards the personnel of the 
French companies have been estimated by an 
independent actuary, using the projected credit unit 
method. 
 
This method takes into account, on the basis of actuarial 
assumptions, the probability of the length of future 
service of the employee, the level of future remuneration, 
life expectancy and employee turnover. 
 
The calculation assumptions retained are the following: 

 discount rate of 2.1% (as in 2014) calculated on the 
basis of rates observed at November 30, 2015 for high 
quality corporate bonds, the Group using in particular 
the Iboxx index; 

 use of the INSEE 2010-2012 mortality table; 

 employee turnover noted by age group and by 
company; 

 age of retirement departure: 66 years old; 

 progression of salaries consistent with the average of 
the last years ; 

 
The obligation is calculated inclusive of social 
contributions. It is accounted for as the prorata of years of 
service of the employees. 
 

15.3  Financial commitments on foreign 
currency contracts and exchange rate hedging 
 
The principal hedging methods are the following: 

 hedged transactions: estimate of the future cash 
inflows or outflows of each period; 

 hedging techniques: cover of estimated cash flows 
using forward contracts and option collars 
guaranteeing at worst the underlyings covered. 

 
The total amount of hedging contracts (forward contracts 
and option collars) in US$ is $775,3 million at December 

31, 2015, compared to $475 million at year-end 2014. 
These commitments, which are borne legally by the 
LATECOERE Company, cover all of the €uros/USD 
foreign exchange risk of the Group. 
 

15.4  Commitments made to Group companies 
 
The amount of commitments given (comfort letter and 
joint and several guarantee) by the LATECOERE 
Company to Group companies is €2.4 million. 

 
 
 
 
15.5  Guarantees given in respect of liabilities 
 
In connection with the refinancing of the debt, the 
financial commitments of the LATECOERE Company 
were reviewed. Securities given totaled €107 million and 
were primarily constituted of charges and mortgages. 
Some contracts include covenants and financial 
commitments described in note 7. 
 

15.6  Other information 
 
The LATECOERE Company and the LATelec Company 
are joint parties to a €84 million factoring agreement for 
financed work-in-progress, shared between them.  
For the LATECOERE company, at December 31, 2015, 
the amount of receivables assigned to the factor 
amounted to €85.6 million. The amount financed by the 
factor on the basis of the assigned receivables amounted 
to €40,6 million. At December 31 2014, the amount of 
receivables assigned to the factor amounted to €75 
million. The amount financed by the factor on the basis of 
the assigned receivables amounted to €49,4 million. 
 
In the course of its ordinary business; The LATECOERE 
Company has purchasing commitments related to 
production. These commitments are based primarily on 
forecasts of the production rates of the aircraft 
manufacturers and are realized at normal market 
conditions. 
 
The Company has also given commitments to customs 
for a total amount of €0.6 million. 
 
 
 
 

('000 EURO)

In current

 year
Aggregate

Within 1 

year

From 1 to 

5 years

After 

5 years
Total due

Land and building Gimont 2002 6 791 640 7 930 640 480 0 1 120

TOTAL 6 791 640 7 930 640 480 0 1 120

Initial cost

Amount paid Amounts due
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NOTE 16   INCIDENCE OF TAX MEASURES ON THE RESULT 

 
 

 
 
 

NOTE 17   DEFERRED TAX SITUATION 

 

 
 
 

NOTE 18   AVERAGE HEADCOUNT 
 
 

 
 
 

NOTE 19   DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

 
In 2013, the remuneration allotted for members of the Supervisory Board and the management bodies (the Company's 
10 highest salaries) totals €2,160k. 

 
  

('000 EURO) Amount Impact

Net income of year -8 625 -8 625

Charge for accelerated fiscal depreciation 1 819 1 819

Write-back of accelerated fiscal depreciation 985 -985

Tax reduction due to charge 626 -626

Tax increase due to write-back 339 339

NET INCOME BEFORE IMPACT OF TAX MEASURES -8 078

('000 EURO) Amount Impact

Amortissements dérogatoires -5 814 2 002

Participation des salariés 0 0

ORGANIC 801 -289

Provision de départ à la retraite 702 -242

Ecart de conversion passif 1 526 -551

SITUATION FISCALE DIFFEREE -2 786 920

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Managers 336 347

Employees, Technicians and Supervisors 576 597

Workers 158 185

TOTAL 1 070 1 129
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NOTE 20   TABLE OF SUBSIDIARIES AND SHAREHOLDINGS 

 
 

 
 
 

Items of the balance sheet of companies whose functional currency is one other than the Euro were converted at the 
closing rate and the income statement items at the average rate for the relevant period. 
 
  

('000 EURO)

Share 

capital 

Retained 

earnings
Holding %

Carrying value 

of holding 

Loans and 

advances 

outstanding 

not yet 

reimbursed

Sales in 

last 

financial 

year

Net income of 

last financial 

year

Dividends 

received during 

last financial 

year

Guarantees 

and securities 

given by the 

Company

LATECOERE Inc. 

1000 Brickel av. - suite 

641

Miami Florida  33131 

USA

551 127 100% 541 156 2 227 1 0 0

LATECOERE 

Développement

135 rue de Périole

31500 Toulouse 

France

600 3 089 100% 572 0 0 908 900 0

LATELEC  

Z.I. La Bourgade

rue Max Planck

31315 Labège

France

7 600 60 715 100% 7 600 25 068 212 643 6 765 1 700 0

LATECOERE Czech 

Republic s.r.o.

Letov Letecka Vyroba

Beranovich, 65

199 02 Praha 9 - Letnany

Czech Republic

23 384 4 975 100% 20 787 0 100 484 2 156 0 2 361

LATECOERE Do Brasil

Av Getulio Dorneles 

Vargas 3,320

12305-010 Jacarei (SP)      

Brazil

7 186 1 734 98% 13 425 0 34 281 4 737 0 0

Corses Composites 

Aéronautiques

Z.I. Du Vazzio 

20090 AJACCIO

France

1 707 5 099 25% 1 777 0 52 666 737 0 0

LATECOERE Services

1, Avenue P.G. Latécoère 

31570 Saint Foy 

d’Aigrefeuille

France

4 500 7 169 0% 0 0 77 151 681 342 0
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NOTE 21   RELATED PARTIES 

 
 

 
 
 
 

NOTE 22   INFORMATION ON RISKS 

 
 

22.1 Counterparty risk 
 
Because of the nature of the principal counterparts, 
the Company is not exposed to credit risk in any 
major way and foresees no default of third parties 
which could have a significant impact on the 
Company's financial statements. At year end, the 
Company had identified no significant credit risk on 
these assets due but not depreciated. 
 
The Company implements derivative financial 
instruments with the goal of reducing its exposure to 
foreign currency and interest rate risks. These 
transactions are contracted by private agreement 
with tier 1 banks and for this reason do not present 
any default risk. 
 
Because of its financial structure, the Company is 
only surplus in cash over short periods. Cash is 
invested through risk-free monetary instruments with 
tier 1 banking establishments. 
 

22.2 Foreign currency exposure  
 
Through its international exposure and invoicing in 
US dollars to its French clients the Company is 
confronted with foreign currency exposure. The 
exposure linked to fluctuations in US dollars is 
partially hedged through forward sales contracts 
and option "collars". The dollar rate and the 
associated foreign exchange rate exposure are part 
of the estimated future assumptions for the 
determination of margins on construction contracts. 
 

22.3 Interest rate risk  
 
Almost all medium and long-term net debt is based 
on short-term floating rates. Cost of bank debt is 
4.4% on average in 2015 compared to 4.1% in 
2014. The overall average interest rate borne by the 
Group in 2014, is 4.8% compared to 4.4% in 2014. 
 
 

 
NOTE 23  AUDIT FEES 
 

Fees charged for the statutory audit of 2015 financial statements are of €374k and those charged for advice and services 
falling within the scope of assistance directly related to statutory audit engagement with regard of financial statements are 
of €14k. 
 
 

NOTE 24  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

No significant events occurred after the closing.  

 

('000 EURO)

Subsidiaries (over 50% of 

shares held)
Other shareholdings

Shareholdings 42 925 1 777

Other receivables related to shareholdings 25 224 0

Miscellaneous receivables 28 753 0

Trade account receivables 6 409 139

Trade accounts payable 18 862 1 967

Miscellaneous debts 12 692 15 071

Operating income 73 535 2 544

Operating expenses 116 346 7 222

Financial income 3 219 0

Financial expenses 1 927 318

Amounts concerning :
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4.5 Report of the Statutory Auditors on the annual financial statements 

 
Year ended 31 December 2014 

To the Shareholders,   
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your annual general meeting, we hereby report to you, for the year ended 31 December 2014, 
on: 
the audit of the accompanying financial statements of Latécoère S.A.; 
the justification of our assessments; 
the specific verifications and information required by law. 
These financial statements have been approved by the management board. Our role is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audit. 
Opinion on the financial statements 
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France; those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures, 
using sampling techniques or other methods of selection, to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2014 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with French accounting principles. 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the situation of the company with regard to its ability to continue as a going concern as set 
out in Note 1 to the financial statements. 
Justification of our assessments  
The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014 were performed in a context where 
economic prospects were definitely difficult to grasp, as set out in note 2.2 to the statutory financial statements. It is in this context that, in accordance 
with the provisions of Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial Code (Code de Commerce), we have proceeded with our assessments that we bring 
this to your attention.  
Note 2.13 to the statutory financial statements discloses the accounting methods applied for recording currency operations. 
In the context of our assessment of the accounting principles of your company, we have verified that these accounting methods and the related 
information disclosed in the notes were appropriate, and we have assessed their correct implementation. 
Your Company recognizes the results on construction contracts under the stage of completion method as described in note 2.7 to the statutory 
financial statements. These results on construction contracts are based on estimates, relating mainly to industrial assumptions and foreign currency 
exchange rates, approved by the Management Board. When applicable, forecast losses at completion are immediately recorded in the results, as 
mentioned in note 2.7 to the statutory financial statements. 
These estimates are based on assumptions which are by their very nature uncertain, as indicated in note 2.2 to the statutory financial statements, the 
outcomes being likely to differ sometimes significantly from the estimated data used.  
On the basis of information available, our work consisted of assessing the assumptions and data underlying these estimates at completion of these 
contracts, of comparing the estimates at completion made in prior periods with the corresponding outcome, and of reviewing the calculations of the 
Company and examining the approval procedures for these estimates by the Management Board.  
In addition, as set out in the first part of this report, Note 1 to the financial statements presents the situation of the Company with regard to its ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
In the context of our assessment of the accounting principles of your company, we have assessed the measures taken by management with regard to 
this situation. 
On the basis of our work and the information available to date, we consider that Note 1 to the financial statements gives appropriate information with 
regard to the ability of the company to continue as a going concern. 
These assessments were made as part of our audit of the financial statements, taken as a whole, and therefore contributed to the opinion we formed 
which is expressed in the first part of this report. 
Specific verifications and information 
We have also performed, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the specific verifications required by French law. 
We have no matters to report as to the fair presentation and the consistency with the financial statements of the information given in the management 
report of the Management Board, and in the documents addressed to shareholders with respect to the financial position and the financial statements. 
Concerning the information given in accordance with the requirements of article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code ("Code de commerce") 
relating to remunerations and benefits received by the directors and any other commitments made in their favour, we have verified its consistency with 
the financial statements or with the underlying information used to prepare these financial statements and, where applicable, with the information 
obtained by your Company from companies controlling your Company or controlled by it. Based on this work, we attest the accuracy and fair 
presentation of this information. 
In accordance with French law, we have verified that the required information concerning the identity of the shareholders and holders of the voting 
rights has been properly disclosed in the management report. 
 
 
Labège, on the 29 April 2015 Paris, on the 29 April 2015 

KPMG Audit 
Department of KPMG S.A. 

Grant Thornton 
French member of Grant Thornton International 

To the Shareholders,   
 
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your annual general meeting, we hereby report to 
you, for the year ended 31 December 2015, on: 

 the audit of the accompanying financial statements of Latécoère S.A.; 

 the justification of our assessments; 

 the specific verifications and information required by law. 

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our role is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

Opinion on the financial statements 

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France; those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures, using 
sampling techniques or other methods of selection, to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the 
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and of the results of its operations for the 
year then ended in accordance with French accounting principles. 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the matter set out in note “1 – Main events” to 
the statutory financial statements regarding the recapitalization of the Company and the related 
stabilizing of its financial situation. 

Justification of our assessments  

The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements at 31 December 2015 
were performed in a context where economic prospects were definitely difficult to grasp, as set out in 
note 2.2 to the statutory financial statements. It is in this context that, in accordance with the provisions 
of Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial Code (Code de Commerce), we have proceeded with our 
assessments that we bring this to your attention.  
 
Currency operations 

 
Note 2.13 to the statutory financial statements discloses the accounting methods applied for recording 
currency operations. 
In the context of our assessment of the accounting principles of your company, we have verified that 
these accounting methods and the related information disclosed in the notes were appropriate, and we 
have assessed their correct implementation. 
 
Construction contracts 

 
Note 2.7 “Inventory and work-in progress” to the statutory financial statements disclose the accounting 
methods relating to revenue recognition of construction contracts under the stage of completion 
method. These results at completion on construction contracts are based on estimates, relating mainly 
to industrial assumptions and foreign currency exchange rates, approved by the Management Board. 
When applicable, forecast losses at completion are immediately recorded in the results. 
These estimates are based on assumptions which are by their very nature uncertain, the outcomes 
being likely to differ sometimes significantly from the estimated data used.  
On the basis of information available, our work consisted of assessing the assumptions and data 
underlying these estimates at completion of these contracts, of comparing the estimates at completion 
made in prior periods with the corresponding outcome, and of reviewing the calculations of the 
Company and examining the approval procedures for these estimates by the Management Board.  
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These assessments were made as part of our audit of the financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
therefore contributed to the opinion we formed which is expressed in the first part of this report. 

Specific verifications and information 

We have also performed, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the specific 
verifications required by French law. 
We have no matters to report as to the fair presentation and the consistency with the financial 
statements of the information given in the management report of the Board of Directors, and in the 
documents addressed to shareholders with respect to the financial position and the financial 
statements. 
Concerning the information given in accordance with the requirements of article L. 225-102-1 of the 
French Commercial Code ("Code de commerce") relating to remunerations and benefits received by the 
directors and any other commitments made in their favour, we have verified its consistency with the 
financial statements or with the underlying information used to prepare these financial statements and, 
where applicable, with the information obtained by your Company from companies controlling your 
Company or controlled by it. Based on this work, we attest the accuracy and fair presentation of this 
information. 
In accordance with French law, we have verified that the required information concerning the identity of 
the shareholders and holders of the voting rights has been properly disclosed in the management 
report. 
 
 

Labège, on the 29 April 2016 Paris, on the 29 April 2016 

KPMG Audit 

Department of KPMG S.A. 

Grant Thornton 

French member of Grant Thornton International 

The statutory auditors 

 

 

French original signed by 

The statutory auditors 

 

 

French original signed by 

Michel Dedieu Gilles Hengoat 

Partner 

 

Partner 
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4.6 Auditors’ special report on regulatory agreements and commitments  

 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
As statutory auditors of your Company, we present our report on regulatory agreements and commitments. 
 
It is our responsibility to present to you, on the basis of the information available, the main characteristics and provisions 
of agreements and commitments of which we have been informed or that we would have discovered during our 
engagement, without commenting on their usefulness or merit nor performing any specific procedures aimed at identifying 
other agreements and commitments which may exist. For the purpose of approving these agreements, it is your 
responsibility, in accordance with article R. 225-58 of the French Commercial Code, to assess the benefits arising from 
entering into such agreements and commitments. 
 
Furthermore, we are responsible, when applicable, to inform you of the information provided for in Article R. 225-58 of the 
French Commercial Code relating to the performance, during the year ended on December 31, 2013, of agreements and 
commitments already approved by the General Meeting. 
 
We have implemented procedures that we have considered necessary with regard to the professional policy of the 
"Compagnie nationale des commissaires aux comptes" relating to this mission. These procedures consisted in checking 
the agreement of information that was given to us with the background documents from which it results. 
 

1. Agreements and commitments submitted to the General Meeting for approval 

 

1.1 Agreements and commitments authorised during the pas financial year  

 
Pursuant to L. 2254057 of the French Commercial Code, we have been informed that the following agreements and 
commitments, already approved by the Board of Directors. 
 

1.1.1 Non-recurring remuneration for the benefit of the Chairman of the Board of Directors 

 
Person concerned: Mr. Pierre Gadonneix, Chairman of the Board of Directors. 
 
Description: Grant of an extraordinary bonus.  
 
Terms: Grant of an extraordinary bonus in a gross amount equal to two hundred thousand euros (€200,000) paid on the 

second anniversary date of the date of appointment as Chairman of the Board of Directors, which is September 22, 2017, 
provided that Mr. Pierre Gadonneix is still Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company at that date.  
 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 
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1.1.2 Departure payment due to the removal of the Chairman of the Board of Directors  

 
Person concerned: Mr. Pierre Gadonneix, Chairman of the Board of Directors. 

 
Description: Commitment of a departure payment in case of removal.  
 
Terms: Grant of a departure payment in a gross amount equal to two hundred thousand euros (€200,000) in the event of 

revocation of his duties as Chairman of the Board of Directors before the second anniversary date of the date of 
appointment as Chairman of the Board of Directors (September 22, 2017).  
 
The payment of the departure payment thus granted will be conditioned on the finding by the Board of Directors, after 
consulting the Nominations and Compensation Committee, of the fulfillment of the following condition: organization of the 
work and functioning of the Board of Directors that enables the Board of Directors to take the decisions necessary to 
support the financial restructuring of the Latécoère Group realized in September 2015 and to the implementation of its 
strategic plan. 
 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 
 

1.1.3 Departure payment due by reason of the ceasing of duties and of the forced departure of the Deputy CEO 

 
Person concerned: Mr. Frédéric Michelland, Deputy CEO. 

 
Description: Commitment of a departure payment in case of the ceasing of duties and of the forced departure from the 

Latécoère Group. 
 
Terms: Departure payment may be paid to Mr. Frédéric Michelland in case of the ceasing of his duties and the forced 

departure from the Latécoère Group, pursuant to the provisions of Articles L. 225-22-1 and L. 225-42-1 of the French 
Commercial Code, in accordance with the following terms and conditions: 

 
(a) In case of the ceasing of his duties, both as corporate officer and as employee, at Latécoère's initiative and of the 

forced departure from the Latécoère Group during 2015, Mr. Frédéric Michelland will have the right to a 
departure payment (i) if the Latécoère Group has had access to new financial resources during 2014, in 
particular in the context of an agreement with its financial creditors or (ii) if Latécoère has recorded a 
consolidated net result, corrected for fair value variation of financial instruments, which is positive during fiscal 
year 2014, bearing in mind that the conditions (i) and (ii) have been met.  
 

(b) As from January 1, 2016, so that the first two consecutive reference years have been achieved while Mr. Frédéric 
Michelland has held the position of Chairman of the Management Board and then that of General Manager of 
Latécoère (as from the adoption of the unitary board structure with a Board of Directors), Mr. Frédéric Michelland 
will have the right to a departure payment if Latécoère has recorded a consolidated net result, corrected for the 
fair value variation of financial instruments, for costs associated with the financial restructuring and for costs of 
implementation of the strategic plan, which is positive for one of the two consecutive fiscal years preceding the 
fiscal year during which Mr. Frédéric Michelland would have ceased to perform any duties within the Latécoère 
Group, bearing in mind that the above condition has been met for the year ended on December 31, 2014.  
 
In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as corporate officer and as employee, on Latécoère's initiative, and 
the imposed departure from the Latécoère Group, the departure payment to which Frédéric Michelland will have 
a right, subject to the conditions in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, as appropriate, having been satisfied, will 
correspond to a gross departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration calculated on the basis of the total 
remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will have received during the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year in 
which he ceased to exercise any duties within the Latécoère Group, it being specified that the variable share of 
the remuneration taken into account will correspond to the highest amount between (i) the variable remuneration 
effectively received and (ii) 75% of the gross fixed annual remuneration that he will receive under the 
employment agreement that binds him to the Latécoère. 
 
In the event of the ceasing of his duties and forced departure from the Latécoère Group of Mr. Frédéric 
Michelland on his own initiative and at any time if he considers that he has no other choice, subsequent to (i) a 
change in control of Latécoère and/or (ii) the occurrence of a persistent disagreement with the Board of 
Directors, Mr. Frédéric Michelland will have the right, subject to the conditions in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, 
as appropriate, having been satisfied, to a gross departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration 
calculated on the basis of the total remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will have received during the 
fiscal year preceding the fiscal year in which he ceased to exercise any duties within the Latécoère Group, it 
being specified that the variable share of the remuneration taken into account will correspond to the highest 
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amount between the variable remuneration effectively received and 100% of the gross fixed annual remuneration 
that he will receive under the employment agreement that binds him to Latécoère.  
 
It is specified that the ceasing of the duties of Mr. Frédéric Michelland and his forced departure from the 
Latécoère Group "on his own initiative and at any time if he considers that he has no other choice” subsequent to 
the occurrence of one of the events listed in points (i) and (ii) above, may result: 

 

 from his resignation from his duties as Deputy CEO and as a director; 
 

 of his request to be dismissed from his duties as Deputy CEO and as a director; or 
 

 of his wish not to be renewed in his duties as Deputy CEO and as a director. 
 

It is specified that any severance payment which shall be due, as the case may be, in respect of the early 
termination of the employment agreement of Mr. Frédéric Michelland with the Latécoère will be charged on the 
amount of departure payment due, as the case may be, in accordance with the conditions set out above, which 
shall not exceed 18 months of total remuneration. 
 
It is also recalled that at the close of the ruling request procedure initiated with the French unemployment office 
("Pôle Emploi") at the time of the designation of Mr. Frédéric Michelland as Chairman of the former 
Management Board of the Company, Latécoère, in accordance with the decision of the Supervisory Board of 
November 4, 2013, subscribed a private unemployment insurance policy of the GSC type ("Garantie Sociale 
des Chefs et Dirigeants d'Entreprise") for the benefit of Mr. Frédéric Michelland. It is foreseen that this private 
unemployment insurance policy be maintained for the benefit of Mr. Frédéric Michelland in connection with his 
designation to the duties of Deputy CEO. If such insurance policy provides for a waiting period between the 
date of the ceasing of the position and the beginning of the compensation, Latécoère will indemnify Mr. 
Frédéric Michelland, in case of the ceasing of his duties or his forced departure from the Latécoère Group, until 
the end of such waiting period, and under the same conditions as those provide for in the relevant private 
unemployment insurance policy. This special payment will be cumulated with the departure payment described 
above. 
 
If taking into account the circumstances of the ceasing of duties and the forced departure from the Latécoère 
Group of Mr. Frédéric Michelland, the guarantee provisions of the foregoing private unemployment insurance 
policy came not to apply, Latécoère will pay him a specific compensation corresponding to the amount to which 
he could have claimed under such insurance up to the limit of one hundred and fifty thousand euros per year, it 
being specified that this amount will cumulate with any other payment that will be paid him in connection with 
the ceasing of his duties and with the forced departure from the Latécoère Group. 
 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 

 
 

1.1.4 Departure payments due by reason of the ceasing of duties and the forced departure of the Deputy CEO 

 
Person concerned: Mr. Olivier Regnard, Deputy CEO. 
 
Description: Commitment of a departure payment in case of the ceasing of duties or forced departure from the Latécoère 

Group. 
 
Terms: Departure payment may be paid to Mr. Olivier Regnard in case of the ceasing of his duties and the forced 

departure from the Latécoère Group, pursuant to the provisions of Articles L. 225-22-1 and L. 225-42-1 of the French 
Commercial Code, in accordance with the following terms and conditions: 

 
(a)  In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as corporate officer and as employee, at Latécoère's initiative 

and of the forced departure from the Latécoère Group during 2015, Mr. Olivier Regnard will have the right to 
a departure payment if the Latécoère Group has had access to new financial resources during 2014 or 2015, 
bearing in mind that this condition has been met. 

 
(b) In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as corporate officer and as employee, at Latécoère's initiative 

and of the forced departure from the Latécoère Group of Mr. Olivier Regnard during 2016, Mr. Olivier 
Regnard will have the right to a departure payment (i) if the Latécoère Group has had access to new financial 
resources during 2014 or 2015, in particular in the context of an agreement with its financial creditors, or (ii) if 
Latécoère has recorded a consolidated net result, corrected for fair value variation of financial instruments, 
which is positive during fiscal year 2015, bearing in mind that condition (i) has been met. 
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(c) As from January , 2017, so that the first two consecutive reference years have been achieved while 
Mr. Olivier Regnard has held the position of Member of the Management Board then Deputy CEO of 
Latécoère (as from the adoption of the unitary board structure with a Board of Directors), Mr. Olivier Regnard 
will have the right to a departure payment if Latécoère has recorded a consolidated net result, corrected for 
the fair value variation of financial instruments, for costs associated with the financial restructuring and for 
costs of implementation of the strategic plan, which is positive for one of the two consecutive fiscal years 
preceding the fiscal year during which Mr. Olivier Regnard would have ceased to perform any duties within 
the Latécoère Group. 

 
In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as corporate officer and as employee, on Latécoère's initiative, 
and the forced departure from the Latécoère Group, the departure payment to which Mr. Olivier Regnard will 
have a right, subject to the conditions in paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) above, as appropriate, having been 
satisfied, will correspond to a gross departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration calculated on the 
basis of the total remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will have received during the fiscal year 
preceding the fiscal year in which he ceased to exercise any duties within the Latécoère Group.  
 
In the event of the ceasing of his duties and forced departure from the Latécoère Group on his own initiative 
and at any time if he considers that he has no other choice, subsequent to (i) a change in control of Latécoère 
and/or (ii) the occurrence of a persistent disagreement with the Board of Directors, Mr. Olivier Regnard will 
have the right, subject to the conditions in paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) above, as appropriate, having been 
satisfied, to a gross departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration calculated on the basis of the 
total remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will have received during the fiscal year preceding the fiscal 
year in which he ceased to exercise any duties within the Latécoère Group.  
 
It is specified that the ceasing of the duties of Mr. Olivier Regnard and his forced departure from the 
Latécoère Group "on his own initiative and at any time if he considers that he has no other choice” 
subsequent to the occurrence of one of the events listed in points (i) and (ii) above, may result: 
 

 from his resignation from his duties as Deputy CEO; 

 of his request to be dismissed from his duties as Deputy CEO; or 

 of his wish not to be renewed in his duties as Deputy CEO. 
 
It is specified that any severance payment which shall be due, as the case may be, in respect of the early 
termination of the employment agreement of Mr. Olivier Regnard with Latécoère will be charged on the 
amount of departure payment due, as the case may be, in accordance with the conditions set out above, 
which shall not exceed 18 months of total compensation. 

 
It is recalled that, taking into account the response received from the French unemployment office ("Pôle 
Emploi") in connection with the ruling request procedure initiated at the time of the designation of Mr. Olivier 
Regnard as corporate officer, Latécoère did not subscribe a private unemployment insurance policy of the 
GSC type ("Garantie Sociale des Chefs et Dirigeants d'Entreprise") for the benefit of the latter.  
 
If such insurance policy is subscribed in the future with respect to Mr. Olivier Regnard and if it provides for a 
waiting period between the date of the ceasing of the position and the beginning of the compensation, 
Latécoère will indemnify Mr. Olivier Regnard, in case of the ceasing of his duties or his forced departure from 
the Latécoère Group, until the end of such waiting period, and under the same conditions as those provided 
for in the relevant private unemployment insurance policy. This special payment will be cumulated with the 
departure payment described above. However, in the event that Mr. Olivier Regnard should benefit, because 
of the ceasing of his duties and of the forced departure from the Latécoère Group during foregoing waiting 
period, of compensation, event partial, from the French unemployment office ("Pôle Emploi"), the amount of 
the payment due by Latécoère in the foregoing conditions will be reduced accordingly by the amount of the 
compensation effectively paid by the French unemployment office to Mr. Olivier Regnard.  
 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 
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2. Agreements and commitments already approved at the general meeting 

 

Pursuant to R. 225-30 of the French Commercial Code, we have been informed that the following agreements and 
commitments, already approved by the general meeting during previous years, remained in force during the year. 
 

2.1.1 Precisions on the Departure Payments to Members of the Management Board because of the Ceasing of or 

Changes of Officer Duties 

 
Person concerned: Mr. Frédéric Michelland, Chairman of the Management Board, Mr Olivier Regnard, Member of the 

Management Board 
 
Description: Commitment to a departure payment in case of the ceasing of duties or forced departure from the Latécoère 

Group 

 
Terms: Additions to the terms and conditions of the payment due or likely to be due by reason of the ceasing of or 
change in the duties of members of the Management Board: it is specified that the ceasing of duties of Mr. Frédéric 

Michelland and Mr. Olivier Regnard and their forced departure from the Latécoère Group, "at their initiative if they 
consider that they have no other choice" subsequent to a change in control or the implementation of a strategy different 
from that wished by the Management Board could result from: 

  their resignation from their duties as a member of the Management Board, and of Chairman in the case of Mr. 
Frédéric Michelland, 

 their request to be removed of their duties as a member of the Management Board, or 
 their wish not to be renewed in their duties as a member of the Management Board. 

 
The ceasing of the duties of Mr. Frédéric Michelland and Mr. Olivier Regnard and their forced departure from the 
Latécoère group subsequent to a change in control or the implementation of a strategy different from that wished by the 
Management Board, may occur at any time following the change in control of the Latécoère group or the implementation 
of a strategy different from that wished by the Management Board. 
 
It is also specified that if taking into account the circumstances of the the ceasing of duties and forced departure from the 
Latécoère group of Mr. Frédéric Michelland, the guarantee of private unemployment insurance subscribed by Latécoère in 
his favor pursuant to the decisions of the Supervisory Board of November 4, 2013, and of October 29, 2014, were not to 
apply, Latécoère undertakes to make a special payment to him equal to the amount to which he would have been entitled 
under that insurance, it being specified that this amount will be accumulated with any other payment to be made to him in 
respect of the ceasing of his duties and forced departure from the Latécoère Group.  
 
Finally, in the event that Latécoère governance methods should change from the two board form consisting in a 
supervisory board and a management board to a single (or "unitary") board form consisting of a board of directors, 
decided by the shareholders in extraordinary general meeting, all of the aforementioned system will be adapted in order to 
apply mutatis mutandis to the positions which will be those of Mr. Frédéric Michelland and of Mr. Olivier Regnard in a 
corporation (société anonyme) with a unitary board form. 
 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 
 
This agreement expired on 22 September 2015 at the date of change of the Latécoère governance. 
 

2.1.2 Payment Due to the Ceasing or Change of an Officer's Duties 

 
Person concerned: Mr Olivier Regnard, Member of the Management Board 

 
Description: Commitment to a departure payment in case of the ceasing of duties or forced departure from the Latécoère 

Group 
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Terms: The terms and conditions of the departure payment due or likely to be due by reason of the ceasing or change of 

the duties as a member of the Management Board, are application to Mr. Olivier Regnard as from January 1, 2017. 

 
In the event of the ceasing of duties or of a forced departure from the Latécoère Group during fiscal years 2014 and 2015, 
the conditions giving rise to a payment right are: 

 in respect of 2015, access to new financial resources during 2014 or 2015, particularly in connection with an 
agreement with the creditor banks; 
 

 in respect of 2016, (i) access to new financial resources during 2014 or 2015, particularly in connection with an 
agreement with the creditor banks or (ii) the realization by the Company of a consolidated net result, corrected 
for fair value variation of financial instruments, which is positive during 2015. 

 
Mr. Olivier Regnard will have a right to a gross departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration calculated on the 
basis of the total remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will have received during the fiscal year preceding the fiscal 
year in which he ceased to exercise any duties within the Latécoère group. 
 
In the event of the ceasing of his duties and the forced departure from the Latécoère Group of Mr. Olivier Regnard, 
including at his own intitiative if he considers that he has no other choice, subsequent to (i) a change in control of 
Latécoère, (ii) a change in he composition of the Supervisory Board of Latécoère not recommended by the Board or (iii) a 
change in the composition of the Board resulting in the implementation of a strategy different from that conducted by the 
Company before such change and on which Mr. Olivier Regnard will have expressed differing views, Mr. Olivier Regnard 
will have the right to a gross departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration calculated on the basis of the total 
remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will have received during the fiscal year preceeding the fiscal year in which he 
ceased to exercise any duties within the Latécoère Group. 
 
Any severance payment which shall be due under a collective bargaining agreement in respect of the early termination of 
the employment agreement will be charged on the amount of departure payment due or likely to be due as a result of the 
ceasing or change of the duties of the members of the Management Board, which shall not exceed 18 months of total 
compensation. 

 
In the event that private unemployment insurance has been subscribed and if it applies a waiting period, the Latécoère 
Company undertakes to indemnify the Management Board member under the same conditions until the end of the waiting 
period; this special payment will be accumulated with the departure payment. 
 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 
 
This agreement expired on 22 September 2015 at the date of change of the Latécoère governance. 
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2.1.3 Payment due to the ceasing or modification of an officer’s duties 

 
 
Person concerned: Mr. Frédéric Michelland, Chairman of the Management Board 

 
Description: Obligation to make a severance payment in the event their duties come to an end. 
 
Terms: The terms and conditions of the departure payment due or likely to be due by reason of the ceasing or the change 

of duties of the Chairman of the Management Board, as approved by the General Meeting of the Shareholders during 
prior fiscal years, apply to Mr. Frédéric Michelland, as from January 1, 2016. 
In the event of the ceasing of duties or of an imposed departure from the Latécoère Group during fiscal years 2014 and 
2015, the conditions giving rise to a right to payment have been redefined and are: 
 

 in respect of 2014, access to new financial resources, particularly in connection with an agreement with the 
creditor banks: 
 

 in respect of 2015, (i) access to new financial resources during 2014, particularly in connection with an 
agreement with the creditor banks or (ii) the realization in respect by the Company of a consolidated net result, 
corrected for fair value variation of financial instruments, which is positive during 2014. 

 
In order to establish the total remuneration (fixed and variable) taken into account in the calculation of the departure 
payment, the variable share of the remuneration will be the higher amount between the variable remuneration effectively 
paid and: 

 75% of the fixed remuneration in the event of the ceasing of duties and the imposed departure from the 
Latécoère Group; 
 

 100% of the fixed remuneration in the event of the ceasing of duties and the imposed departure from the 
Latécoère Group, including at the initiative of Mr. Frédéric Michelland if he considers that he has no other choice, 
subsequent to (i) a change in control of Latécoère, (ii) a change in the composition of the Supervisory Board of 
Latécoère not recommended by the Board or (iii) a change in the composition of the Board resulting in the 
implementation of a strategy different from that conducted by the Company before such change and on which 
Mr. Frédéric Michelland will have expressed differing views. 

 

Any severance payment which shall be due under a collective bargaining agreement in respect of the early termination of 
the employment agreement will be charged on the amount of departure payment due or likely to be due as a result of the 
ceasing or change of the functions of the Members of the Management Board, which shall not exceed 18 months of total 
compensation. In the event that private unemployment insurance has been subscribed and if it applies a waiting period, 
the Latécoère Company undertakes to indemnify the Management Board Member under the same conditions as the 
insurance until the end of the waiting period; this special payment will be accumulated with the departure payment. 
 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 
 
This agreement expired on 22 September 2015 at the date of change of the Latécoère governance. 
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2.1.4 Special compensation for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board  

 
Person concerned: Mr. Pierre Gadonneix, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Latécoère. 
 
Description: special compensation in case of the realization of à merger between the Latécoère Group and an industrial 

partner. 

 
Terms: allotment of a fixed salary of €175,000 

 
This agreement has had no impact on 2015. 
 
This agreement expired on 22 September 2015 at the date of change of the Latécoère governance. 
 
 
 
Paris et Labège, April 29, 2016 
 
                                                       The Statutory Auditors 

Grant Thornton 

French Member of Grant Thornton 
International 

                    KPMG AUDIT 

                  A division of KPMG S.A 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Gilles Hengoat 
Partner 

 
 
 
 
 
 

                    Michel Dedieu 
                  Partner 
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5       RISK FACTORS 
 
The company proceeded to a review of the risks which could have a significant unfavorable effect on its activity, its 
financial position or its results (or on its capacity to carry out its objectives) and considers that there are no other 
significant risks except those presented. 

 

5.1 Business Risks 
 
 
5.1.1 Program Risk 
 
Commercial Risk 

The strategic choice of future programs is carried out in 
a changing technological environment and involves the 
commitment of large investments, particularly in 
Research & Development. These investment programs 
assume that there will be long-term profitability. The 
profitability of the Group depends upon the commercial 
success of the programs. The commercial and 
profitability assumptions accepted by the Group could 
turn out not to be true and the products which have 
been the subject of these investments might not achieve 
the commercial success necessary to make the initial 
investments profitable. 

In order to face up to this risk, the Group has diversified 
its programs and has obtained refundable advances to 
finance a part of the Development costs on some 
programs. These advances are only refundable if the 
program succeeds. Details on these advances may be 
found in note 13.3 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 

Program Delay Risk 

Aircraft manufacturers can have difficulties respecting 
their program calendars. Delays in the schedule for the 
realization of new aircraft can cause delivery 
postponements and thus affect the rate of the realization 
of the Group's revenue. 
 
For the Group, this risk is shared out because the 
company uses second-tier "partners" as suppliers, who 
are subject to the same risks. The refundable advances 
obtained also make it possible to reduce this risk 
because reimbursements depend on the deliveries 
carried out. Moreover, the Group may occasionally open 
negotiations with its customers, which enables it to 
reduce this risk. These negotiations support and secure 
the financing of the relevant programs. 
 

5.1.2 Aircraft Manufacturer Delivery Rate Risk 
 
Aircraft order rates show cyclic tendencies related to 
changes in passenger traffic, to the rate of ageing and 
renewal of aircraft fleets, to equipment decisions and to 
the financial health of the airlines companies and also, 
in a more general way, to changes in global GDP and 
international business. The Group's activity resulting 
directly from the production rates of the aircraft 
manufacturers, variations in production rates impact its 
level of activity and can affect its financial position. 
Furthermore, exceptional events (terrorism, pandemics, 
and air crashes) could have major repercussions on air 
traffic and, as a consequence, on the aeronautical 
programs in which the Group participates. In 2015, 
about 97% of the Group's consolidated revenue related 
to civil aviation. 
 
In order to face up to the risk that aircraft manufacturers 
reduce production rates, in particular in a period of 
downturn cycle, the Group develops an industrial policy 
aiming to ensure a good level of reactivity of its cost 
structure and in which there is the choice to resort to 
"partner" suppliers of the second level, subject to the 
same constraints.  
 

5.1.3 Product Risk  
 

The manufacturer guarantees the airworthiness of 
delivered aircraft. In case of failure, LATECOERE, as a 
supplier, could be found liable. The very strict quality 
standards (selection of suppliers, internal quality control 
procedures, etc.) implemented in the ISO 9001/ EN EN 
9100 V2009 system of reference by the companies of 
the Group, aim to ensure irreproachable reliability of the 
products delivered. An ISO 14001 certification initiative 
was undertaken; five of the Group's sites have already 
been certified and the extension to two sites is ongoing. 
Furthermore, the Group has taken out a product liability 
insurance policy(cf § 5.3.2). 
 

5.1.4 Raw Material Risk  
 

Raw material procurement (aluminum, steel and 
titanium) is covered principally by contracts managed by 
the aircraft manufacturers (conbids) and by long-term 
contracts containing clauses that limit the impact of price 
fluctuations. Market purchases constitute only a 
negligible portion of procurement, and represent the 
only part of our raw material purchasing subjected to 
price fluctuations. 
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5.1.5 Legal and Tax Risks 
 
There exists no governmental, legal or arbitral 
proceeding, including any proceeding of which the 
Group has knowledge, which is outstanding or 
threatened, likely to have or having had during the last 
twelve months, a significant effect on the Group's 
financial position or profitability. 
 

5.1.6 Supplier risk 

 
In general, the LATECOERE Group works through 
partnerships with partners and suppliers. Events likely to 
affect these partners may affect the Group's business 
(additional costs, production delays, etc.). In order to 
limit this risk the Group takes various actions: 

 monitoring through regular audits (quality and 
logistics), 

 technical and organizational assistance, 

 assistance in the development of the maturity of 
suppliers through internal resources or through the 
SPACE organization of which LATECOERE is an 
executive member, 

 the development of double sources for the most 
critical supplies. 

 legal monitoring of potential claims of sensitive 
suppliers 

 

5.1.7 Country risk 

 
Due to its presence in more than ten countries, the 
LATECOERE Group may be exposed to political or 
social risks. 
The Group practices an industrial strategy of double 
sourcing schemes, once production rates allow it and in 
connection with its aircraft manufacturer customers, in 
order to better address country risks 

 
 
 

5.2 Financial Risks 
 
 
5.2.1 Foreign Currency Exposure 
 
Through its international exposure and invoicing in US 
dollars to its French customers, the Group is confronted 
with foreign currency exposure. The exposure linked to 
fluctuations in the US dollar is partially hedged through 
forward sales contracts and option "collars". The dollar 
rate and the associated foreign exchange rate exposure 
are part of the estimated future assumptions for the 
determination of margins on construction contracts. The 
fluctuations of the parities may affect the operational 
margin, financial result, shareholders' equity and net 
debt. 
 
The Group consequently developed a policy of natural 
hedging by carrying out a part of its purchases in USD. 
Thus, the Group invoices approximately 78% of its sales 
in dollars and buys approximately 54% of supplies or 
sub-contracting in dollars. The Group's natural hedging 
on the USD represents approximately 34%. 
 
In order to manage its net residual exposure, the Group 
uses exchange hedging financial instruments, of the 
forward sale or option collar hedging nature. Option 
collar hedging implemented give the Group the 
possibility to benefit from an improvement in the 
EUR/USD rate. 
 
At March 31, 2016, the Group has hedged 
approximately 95% of its 2016 exposure by forward sale 
and collar hedging at EUR/USD rates of, at the worst, 
1.20, 85% of its 2017 exposure at EUR/USD rates of, at 
worst, 1.16, and 20% of its 2018 exposure at EUR/USD 
rates of, at worst, 1.17. 
 
The Group has set-up exchange rate hedges to protect 
against the fluctuations of the Czech crown (koruna) 
with respect to the Euro in relation with its LATECOERE 

Czech Republic s.r.o. subsidiary and against 
fluctuations of the Brazilian real with respect to the dollar 
in relation with its LdB subsidiary. 
 

Details of these derivative instruments and their impact 
on the financial statements appear in note 9 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
The effect of the dollar exchange risk hedging 
operations on revenue was -44.3 million in 2015 
compared to +€3.9 million in 2014. 
 
The Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk and the 
sensitivity analysis are detailed in Note 21.3 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The characteristics of 
the financial instruments are described in notes 2.17 
and 9 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

5.2.2 Interest Rate Risk 
 
Almost all net debt is based on short-term floating rates. 
The average interest rate borne by the Group in 2015 
was 4.8%. 
 
The Group's exposure to the interest rate risk and the 
sensitivity analysis are mentioned in Note 21.4 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

5.2.3 Equity share risks 
 

The Group holds essentially LATECOERE shares, the 
carrying value of which is adjusted according to the 
closing market prices. The treasury shares are 
accounted for in deduction of shareholders' equity in the 
consolidated financial statements. The amount of 
treasury shares at December 31, 2015 is €120k. 
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Given the fact that at year end the Company only held 
29,432 of its own shares, the equity share risk is not 
significant. Furthermore, the Group does not hold any 
other significant listed shares and for this reason is not 
exposed to the risk of the fluctuation of share prices. 
 

5.2.4 Counterparty Risk 
 
The Group is mainly exposed to credit and counterparty 
risk relating to customers and derivative financial 
instruments and short-term financial investments.  
 
The risk of default of counterparties relating to 
customers is very limited due to the category of the main 
customers (Tier 1 aircraft manufacturers) of the 
Aerostructure and Interconnection Systems divisions. 
 
Counterparties relating to the Engineering and Services 
division are more numerous and may present a higher 
risk. However, this risk is judged to be of lesser 
importance with respect to the Group's main 
counterparties. 
 
At year-end, the Group had identified no significant 
credit risk on these assets due but not depreciated. 
 
The Group implements derivative financial instruments 
with the goal of reducing its exposure to foreign 
currency and interest rate risks. These transactions are 
contracted by private agreement with tier 1 banks. 
 

Cash is invested through risk-free monetary instruments 
with tier 1 banking establishments. 
 

5.2.5 Liquidity risk  
 
The Group manages its cash flow in a centralized way. 
The surpluses or the financing needs of its subsidiaries 
are invested or financed by the parent company on 
market conditions. The Group's cash flow department 
manages the current and provisional financing activities 
of the Group and its capacity to face up to its financial 
commitments. 
 
In April 2015, the Group changed its financial partner in 
connection with the financing of its receivables 
(factoring). The new contract will enable the growth of 
the Group's activity to be better accompanied during the 
next few years including the removing of the upper limit 
on the amount of financing of the assigned receivables. 
 
At the closing, the Group had drawn down the whole of 
the resources at its disposal including the factoring 
whose operating principle required the mobilization of all 
receivables attached to customers assigned without 
regard to actual cash needs. 
 
Group's exposure to liquidity risk is presented in Note 
22.2 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 

 
5.3 Other risks 
 

 
5.3.1 Continuity of information systems 
 

The Information Systems Department (DSI) guarantees 
the continuity of the array of services tied to the Group's 
Information Systems (SI). The DSI has among its 
missions, the maintenance in operational condition and 
the management of the integrity of the Information 
Systems.  
The maintenance in operational condition is ensured by 
a group organization structured in transversal 
competence centers. The integrity of the Information 
Systems is guaranteed through a mastery of computer 
risks plan which defines the priorities and associated 
actions to reduce the exposure to external and internal 
threats. 
 
An Information System master plan (SDSI) enables the 
alignment of the Information System to the strategy of 
the Group and on operational requirements while 
improving the performances and the security of 
infrastructures. This multi-year plan implements 
information system solutions to meet business 
requirements outlined in formally described processes. 
These solutions are based on a policy of standards and 
of tested software packages in order to ensure their 
sustainability over time while benefiting from the latest 
technical advances or functional improvements. 

It is updated annually and validated by the Executive 
Committee (Comex), as a function of changes to the 
Group's strategy and business lines.  
 
A methodology of project management enables the 
human and financial investments in the master plan to 
be monitored and guaranteed. 
 
A project management methodology can control and 
guarantee the human and financial investments included 
in this master plan. 
Two independent and redundant Data Center provide 
service continuity by replicating data with each other 
through a local network also redundant. 
 
A shared backup strategy between business and the IT 
department ensures data recovery in case of incident or 
for every need of business. 
This strategy defines in particular the frequency of 
backups, storage conditions and rules periods of 

conservations physical media. 
 
 

5.3.2 Insurance 
 
The subscription of Group insurance contracts enables 
a very wide range of risks to be covered in an optimized 
way, including: 
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 damage to property or assets of the Group or for 
property entrusted to it, as well as the operating loss 
that may result from such damage for a period of 18 
months of business, 

 the risk of the calling into question of the Group's 
liability for claims occurring during the performance of 
services or to guarantee the consequences of product 

defects including for an aeronautical or space product, 
in case of an accident, 

 the risk of grounding flights, 
In addition, local insurance programs are subscribed in 
countries where the Group is established if it is to cover 
specific risks or to respond to local insurance 
regulations. 
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6       GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

 

In the context of the financial restructuring of the Latécoère Group, and in accordance with the provisions of the 
Conciliation Agreement of May 26, 2015, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company, held on second convening 
on July 15, 2015, decided to change the method of administration and management of the Company through the adoption 
of a corporate governance structure with Board of Directors, governed in particular by Articles L. 225-17 to L. 225-56 of 
the French Commercial Code in place of the previous structure of corporate governance with Management Board and 
Supervisory Board, governed in particular by Articles L. 225-57 to L. 225-93 of the French Commercial Code. 

The Company refers to the Middlenext corporate governance code for mid-cap issuers (the "Middlenext Code") by virtue 
of a decision of Supervisory Board of May 17, 2010. Furthermore, the Board of Directors confirmed, during its meeting of 
September 22, 2015, that the Company continues to refer to such Code. The text of the Middlenext Code may be 
consulted on the website of Middlenext (www.middlenext.com).  

 
 

6.1 Executive Management 
 
 
The Board of Directors decided, at its meeting of 
September 22, 2015, to separate the duties of the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors from those of Deputy 
CEO. 
 
At December 31, 2015, Executive Management of the 
Company is composed of: 

 Frédéric Michelland: Deputy CEO, 

 Olivier Regnard: Deputy CEO. 
 

The positions of Deputy CEO and Deputy CEO took 
effect on September 22, 2015 for the duration of the 
position of Frédéric Michelland, or until the close of the 
Annual General Meeting of shareholders that will rule on 
the financial statements for the year ending on 
December 31, 2020. 
 
Frédéric Michelland previously served as Chairman of 
the Management Board of the Company. Olivier 
Regnard previously held the position of Member of the 
Management Board.  

 
6.1.1 Positions and Duties 

 

 
 
 
 
Frédéric Michelland, born on September 10, 1966, is a 

graduate of the Institut d'Etudes Politiques de Paris, and 
of Insead with a Master's degree in Finance and a MBA. 
He began his career at JP Morgan and SG Warburg in 
New York, Paris, Frankfurt and London. Between 1996 
and 2006, he worked as Corporate Finance Officer then 
Senior Vice President in charge of Financial Control for 
Suez Group after overseeing the company's market 
listing in the United States. In 2006, he joined Nexans 
as Group Chief Financial Officer. Since 2010, he was 
Senior Corporate Vice President in charge of 
Administration and Finance of Nexans, in charge of the 
high-voltage activities and underwater cables business 
and the North and South America regions and was a 
member of the Group's Management and Executive 
Committees. 
Olivier Regnard, born on June 26, 1976, is a certified 

accountant and a graduate of ESSEC. Prior to assuming 

his functions with the LATECOERE Group, he spent his 
entire career at the Deloitte firm, first in Auditing, 
followed by the Transaction Services then 
Reorganization Services departments.  
To the Company's knowledge, and at the date of the 
establishment of this registration document, none of the 
members of the Executive Management, during the past 
five years: 

 was convicted for fraud,  

 was associated with a bankruptcy, sequestration or 
liquidation (winding-up), 

 was subject to incrimination or official public sanction 
ordered by a statutory or regulatory authority,  

 was prevented by a court from acting as a member of 
a corporate administrative, management or 
supervisory body or from participating in the 
management or the conduct of business of an issuer. 

Frédéric MICHELLAND 

(49 years old)
Chief Executive Officer

September 2015

AG 2021

Director

Member of the Strategy 

Committee

President, Latécoère Développement

Director, Latécoère International

Director Corse Composite Aéronautique

Vice President and Member of Board of Directors, AmerCable 

Incorporated

Chairman of Board of Directors, NEXANS BRASIL S/A

Chairman of Board of Directors, NEXANS NORWAYS AS

Member of Board of Directors, NEXANS PARTICIPATIONS

Member of Board of Directors, NEXANS SERVICES

0

Olivier REGNARD 

(39 years old)
Managing Director

September 2015

AG 2021
Chief Financial Officer

Director, Latécoère International

Membre of the Supervisory Board Prodef
0

Other positions 

withing Latécoère 

company

Executive Management Positions within Executive Management Other current duties
Duties (except subsidiairies) during teh last 5 years, already 

expired

Number of 

Latécoère 

shares held

Date of first appointment

Expiration of term of 

office
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There has not been brought to the Company's 
knowledge the existence of any family ties of 
whatsoever nature between the members of the Board 
of Directors and the Executive Management. 

Furthermore, to the Company's knowledge, there exists 
no conflict of interest between the duties of each of the 
members of the Executive Management with respect to 
the Company and their private interests or other 

duties.Moreover, there is no service contract between a 
Executive Management member and the LATECOERE 
company or any of its subsidiaries, it being specified that 
the current members of the Executive Management are 
each bound by an employment agreement with the 
Company.  

 

 
6.1.2 Remuneration 

 
6.1.2.1 Summary table of remuneration and options allocated to each Member of the Executive Management 

 

 
 
 
6.1.2.2 Recapitulative table of remuneration of the Executive Management 
 

 
* The differentials between the amounts due and the amounts paid come from the fact that the variable share of remuneration is calculated based on the result of the prior year and 
paid at the beginning of the following year. 
 

  

(EURO) Fiscal Year N-1 Fiscal Year N

Frédéric MICHELLAND, CEO and Member of the Board of Directores since 09/22/2015, previously Chairman of the Management Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.1.2.2) 597 952 601 348

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 597 952 601 348

Olivier REGNARD,  Managing Director since 09/22/2015, previously Member of the Management Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.1.2.2) 181 191 233 914

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 181 191 233 914

Amount due Amount paid Amount due Amount paid

Frédéric MICHELLAND, CEO and Member of the Board of Directors 

since 22.9.2015, previously Member of the Management Board

Fixed remuneration 350 004 350 004 350 004 350 004

Variable compensation* 225 750 231 000 225 750

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind 22 198 22 198 20 344 20 344

TOTAL 597 952 372 202 601 348 596 098

Olivier REGNARD,  Managing Director since 09.22.2015, previously 

Member of the Management Board

Fixed remuneration as corporate officer 11 400 11 400 17 100 17 100

Fixed remuneration as salaried 115 800 102 400 149 309 168 509

Variable compensation as corporate officer* 3 333 23 017 3 333

Variable compensation as salaried* 47 320 11 840 41 415 47 320

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind 3 338 3 338 3 073 3 073

TOTAL 181 191 128 978 233 914 239 335

(EURO)
Fiscal year N-1 Fiscal year N
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6.1.2.3 Subscriptions or share purchase options allocated during the year to the Executive Management 
 

 
 
 
6.1.2.4 Subscriptions or share purchase options exercised during the year by the Executive Management 
 

 
 
 
6.1.2.5 Performance shares allocated to the Executive Management 
 

 
 
 
6.1.2.6 Performance shares which have become available during the year to the Executive Management 

 

 
 
 
6.1.2.7 Other contractual elements 

 
 

 
 

The remunerations of the Deputy CEO and the Deputy 
CEO are determined 1 in compliance with the 
recommendations of the Middlenext code of corporate 
governance for mid-cap issuers. 

The annual remuneration of Frédéric Michelland and 
Olivier Regnard is comprised of a fixed part and a 
variable part. 

 

                                                 
1 The level of achievement required for the quantitative criteria for calculating the 
variable elements of remuneration was determined precisely but cannot be made 
public for confidentiality reasons. 

At its meeting of September 22, 2015, the Board of 
Directors decided that the terms and conditions of the 
remuneration were mostly to remain unchanged in 
relation to the terms and conditions of their 
remuneration approved by the Company under its 
former structure as a French public limited company 
with Management Board and Supervisory Board.  

Determination of the fixed share of remuneration 

The fixed share of the annual remuneration of Frédéric 
Michelland and Olivier Regnard is: 

Share purchase options allocated to each 

corporate officer by Latécoère or any company 

of the Group (name list)

N° and date of 

the plan

Nature of the 

options 

(subscription 

or purchase)

Value of the options 

according to the 

accounting 

principles of the 

consolidated 

accounts

Number of 

options 

allocated during 

the fiscal year

Exercise 

price
Exercise date

None

Options exercised by each corporate officer (name list)
N° and date of the 

plan 

Number of options 

exercised during the 

fiscal year

Exercice 

price

None

Performance shares allocated during the fiscal year to each 

corporate officer by Latécoère or any company of the Group 

(name list)

N° and date 

of the plan 

Number of shares 

allocated during the 

fiscal year

Value of the shares according to the 

accounting principles of the 

consolidated accounts

Acquisition 

date

Availibility 

date

None

Performance shares which have become available during the fiscal year for 

each corporate officer (name list)

N° and date 

of the plan 

Number of performance shares 

which have become available 

during the fiscal year

Acquisition 

conditions

None

Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No

Frédéric MICHELLAND, 

CEO

Appointed September 22, 2015, duty expiring General 

Assembly 2021

Olivier REGNARD, 

Managing Director

Appointed September 22, 2015, duty expiring General 

Assembly 2021

X

X X X X

X X X

Corporate officer

Contract of 

employment

Additional retirement 

programme

Allowance or benefit due or likely 

to be due following cessation or 

change in position

Compensation for non 

compete clause
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 €350,000 for Frédéric Michelland, which 
corresponds to the gross annual remuneration in 
respect of his employment contract binding him 
to the Company; 

 €200,000 for Olivier Regnard, which corresponds 
to the gross annual remuneration in respect of 
his employment contract binding him to the 
Company. 

Determination of the variable share of remuneration 

The variable share of the remuneration of the Deputy 
CEO and the Deputy CEO was approved by the Board 
of Directors at its meeting on September 22, 2015, after 
consulting with the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee. 

This variable share is determined as a function of the 
degree of attainment of a certain number of qualitative 
and quantitative objectives.  

The level of achievement required for the quantitative 
criteria for calculating the variable elements of 
remuneration was determined precisely but cannot be 
made public for confidentiality reasons. 

The variable share of the remuneration of Frédéric 
Michelland in connection with his position as Deputy 
CEO is fixed annually as a function of the realization of 
objectives determined on the basis of the following 
quantitative and qualitative criteria: 

 on operating profitability and net indebtedness 
criteria for an amount of up to 85% of his fixed 
remuneration; 

 on qualitative criteria for an amount of up to 20% 
of his fixed remuneration. 

The variable share of the remuneration of Olivier 
Regnard in connection with his position as Deputy CEO 
is fixed annually on the basis of a target remuneration 
amount equal to 30% of his gross annual fixed 
remuneration as a function of the realization of 
objectives determined on the basis of the following 
quantitative and qualitative criteria:  

 on operating profitability and net indebtedness 
criteria for an amount of up to 27.6% of the target 
remuneration; 

 on qualitative criteria for an amount of up to 8.4% 
of the target remuneration. 

During its meeting on March 2, 2016, the Board of 
Directors, on a proposal of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee, set the variable shares of the 
Deputy CEO and the Deputy CEO for 2015, as a 
function of performances realized with respect to 
objectives assigned, as follows:  

 €231,000 for Frédéric Michelland in connection 
with his position as Deputy CEO, which 
corresponds to a rate of realization of 73%; and 

 €23,017 for Olivier Regnard in connection with 
his position as Deputy CEO, which corresponds 
to a rate of realization of 72.5%. 

Other elements of remuneration 

Payment due or likely to be due by reason of the 
ceasing of duties of the Deputy CEO and the Deputy 
CEO.  

The Board of Directors at its meeting on September 22, 
2015, decided the terms and conditions of the payment 
of the departure pay due or likely to be due to Frédéric 
Michelland and to Olivier Regnard in the event of the 
ceasing of their duties and of a forced departure from 
the Latécoère Group, it being specified that these terms 
and conditions mostly remain unchanged in relation to 
those that had been approved by the Company in its 
former structure as a French public limited company 
with Management Board and Supervisory Board. 

The terms of these commitments will be submitted for 
the approval of the General Meeting of the 
Shareholders. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as 
corporate officer and as employee, and the forced 
departure from the Latécoère Group during fiscal year 
2015, Frédéric Michelland will have the right to a 
departure payment if (i) the Latécoère Group has had 
access to new financial resources in 2014, in particular 
within the framework of an agreement with the creditor 
banks, or if (ii) the Company records a consolidated net 
result, corrected for fair value variation of financial 
instruments, which is positive in fiscal year 2014. Please 
note that the foregoing conditions (i) and (ii) have been 
satisfied.  

As from January 1, 2016, so that the first two 
consecutive reference years have been achieved while 
Mr. Frédéric Michelland has held the position of 
Chairman of the Management Board and then that of 
General Manager of Latécoère, the latter will have the 
right to a departure payment if the Company has 
recorded a consolidated net result, corrected for the fair 
value variation of financial instruments, for costs 
associated with the financial restructuring of the 
LATECOERE Group and for costs of implementation of 
the strategic plan, which is positive for one of the two 
consecutive fiscal years preceding the fiscal year during 
which Frédéric Michelland would have ceased to 
perform any duties within the LATECOERE Group, 
bearing in mind that the above condition has been met 
for the year ended on December 31, 2014 and for the 
year ended on December 31, 2015.  

In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as 
corporate officer and as employee, and the forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group, the departure 
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payment to which Frédéric Michelland will have a right, 
subject to the conditions indicated above, will 
correspond to a gross departure payment equal to 18 
months of remuneration calculated on the basis of the 
total remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will 
have received during the fiscal year preceding the fiscal 
year in which he ceased to exercise any duties within 
the LATECOERE Group, it being specified that the 
variable share of the remuneration taken into account 
will correspond  
 

 

to the highest amount between the variable 
remuneration effectively received and 75% of the gross 
fixed annual remuneration that he will receive under the 
employment contract binding him to the Company. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties and forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group of Mr. Frédéric 
Michelland, including on his own initiative if he considers 
that he has no other choice, and at any time subsequent 
to (i) a change in control of the Company and/or (ii) the 
occurrence of a persistent disagreement with the Board 
of Directors, Frédéric Michelland will have the right to a 
gross departure payment equal to 18 months of 
remuneration calculated on the basis of the total 
remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will have 
received during the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year 
in which he ceased to exercise any duties within the 
LATECOERE Group, it being specified that the variable 
share of the remuneration taken into account will 
correspond to the highest amount between the variable 
remuneration effectively received and 100% of the gross 
fixed annual remuneration that he will receive under the 
employment contract that binds him to the Company. 

It is specified that the ceasing of the duties of Frédéric 
Michelland and his forced departure from the 
LATECOERE Group "on his own initiative and at any 
time if he considers that he has no other choice " 
subsequent to the occurrence of one of the events listed 
in points (i) and (ii) above, may result: 
 

 from his resignation from his duties as Deputy CEO 
and as a director; 

 of his request to be dismissed from his duties as 
Deputy CEO and as a director; or 

 of his wish not to be renewed in his duties as Deputy 
CEO and as a director. 

Any severance payment which shall be due, as the case 
may be, in respect of the early termination of the 
employment contract of Frédéric Michelland with the 
Company will be charged on the amount of departure 
payment due, as the case may be, in accordance with 
the conditions set out above, which shall not exceed 18 
months of total compensation. 

Olivier Regnard would have had a right to a departure 
payment in respect of 2015 in the event of the ceasing 
of his duties, both as corporate officer and as employee 
on the initiative of the Company, if the LATECOERE 

Group has had access to new financial resources during 
2014 or 2015. Please note that this condition was 
satisfied. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as 
corporate officer and as employee, at the Company's 
initiative and of the forced departure from the 
LATECOERE Group of Olivier Regnard during 2016, 
Olivier Regnard will have the right to a departure 
payment (i) if the LATECOERE Group has had access 
to new financial resources during 2014 or 2015, in 
particular in the context of an agreement with its creditor 
banks, or (ii) if the Company has recorded a 
consolidated net result, corrected for fair value variation 
of financial instruments, which is positive during fiscal 
year 2015, bearing in mind that condition (i) and (ii) 
above have been met. 

As from January 1, 2017, so that the first two 
consecutive reference years have been achieved while 
Olivier Regnard has held the position of Member of the 
Management Board then Deputy CEO of the Company, 
Olivier Regnard will have the right to a departure 
payment if the Company has recorded a consolidated 
net result, corrected for the fair value variation of 
financial instruments, for costs associated with the 
financial restructuring of the LATECOERE Group and 
for costs of implementation of the strategic plan, which 
is positive for one of the two consecutive fiscal years 
preceding the fiscal year during which Olivier Regnard 
would have ceased to perform any duties within the 
LATECOERE Group. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as 
corporate officer and as employee, at the Company's 
initiative and of the forced departure from the 
LATECOERE Group, the departure payment to which 
Olivier Regnard will have a right, subject to the 
conditions indicated above, will correspond to the gross 
departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration 
calculated on the basis of the total remuneration -- fixed 
and variable -- that he will have received during the 
fiscal preceding the fiscal year in which he ceased to 
exercise any duties within the LATECOERE Group.  

In the event of the ceasing of his duties and forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group of Olivier 
Regnard, including on his own initiative if he considers 
that he has no other choice, and at any time subsequent 
to (i) a change in control of the Company and/or (ii) the 
occurrence of a persistent disagreement with the 
Company, Olivier Regnard will have the right to a gross 
departure payment equal to 18 months of remuneration 
calculated on the basis of the total remuneration -- fixed 
and variable -- that he will have received during the 
fiscal year preceding the fiscal year in which he ceased 
to exercise any duties within the LATECOERE Group. 

It is specified that the ceasing of the duties of Olivier 
Regnard and his forced departure from the 
LATECOERE Group "on his own initiative and at any 
time if he considers that he has no other choice" 
subsequent to the occurrence of one of the events listed 
in points (i) and (ii) above, may result: 
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 from his resignation from his duties as Deputy CEO; 

 of his request to be dismissed from his duties as 
Deputy CEO; or 

 of his wish not to be renewed in his duties as Deputy 
CEO. 

 
 
It is specified that any severance payment which shall 
be due, as the case may be, in respect of the early 
termination of the employment contract of Olivier 
Regnard with the Company will be charged on the 
amount of departure payment due, as the case may be, 
in accordance with the conditions set out above, which 
shall not exceed 18 months of total compensation. 

The terms of these commitments will be submitted for 
the approval of the General Meeting of the 
Shareholders. 

Unemployment insurance 

As reminded by the Board of Directors at its meeting on 
September 22, 2015, the Company, in accordance with 
the decision of the Supervisory Board of November 4, 
2013, subscribed a private unemployment insurance 
policy of the GSC type ("Garantie Sociale des Chefs et 
Dirigeants d'Entreprise") for the benefit of Frédéric 
Michelland. This private unemployment insurance policy 
was maintained for the benefit of Frédéric Michelland in 
connection with his designation to the duties of Deputy 
CEO, and applies in the event of the ceasing of his 
duties and departure from the LATECOERE Group. If 
such insurance provides for a waiting period, the 
Company has undertaken to indemnify the Deputy CEO 
in case of the ceasing of his duties and the departure 
from the LATECOERE Group until the end of the 
aforementioned waiting period, and this under the same 
conditions as those provided for by the relevant private 
unemployment insurance. This special payment will be 
cumulated with the departure payment described above. 

Furthermore, if taking into account the circumstances of 
the ceasing of duties and the forced departure of 
Frédéric Michelland, the guarantee provisions of the 
foregoing private unemployment insurance policy 
subscribed by LATECOERE for his benefit came not to 
apply, LATECOERE undertook to pay him a specific 
compensation corresponding to the amount to which he 
could have claimed under such insurance up to the limit 
of €150,000 per year, it being specified that this amount 
will cumulate with any other payment that will be paid 
him in connection with the ceasing of his duties and with 
the forced departure from the LATECOERE Group. This 
commitment will be submitted for the approval of the 
General Meeting of the Shareholders. 

It is recalled that, taking into account the response 
received from the French unemployment office ("Pôle 
Emploi") in connection with the ruling request procedure 
initiated at the time of the designation of Olivier Regnard 
as corporate officer, the Company did not subscribe a 

private unemployment insurance policy of the GSC type 
("Garantie Sociale des Chefs et Dirigeants d'Entreprise") 
for his benefit. If such insurance policy is subscribed in 
the future with respect to Olivier Regnard and if it 
provides for a waiting period between the date of the 
ceasing of the position and the beginning of the 
compensation, the Company will indemnify Olivier 
Regnard, in case of the ceasing of his duties or his 
forced departure from the LATECOERE Group, until the 
end of such waiting period, and under the same 
conditions as those provided for in the relevant private 
unemployment insurance policy. This special payment 
will be cumulated with the departure payment described 
above. However, in the event that Olivier Regnard 
should benefit, because of the ceasing of his duties and 
of the forced departure from the LATECOERE Group 
during foregoing waiting period, from compensation, 
even partial, from the French unemployment office 
("Pôle Emploi"), the amount of the payment due by 
Latécoère in the foregoing conditions will be reduced 
accordingly by the amount of the compensation 
effectively paid by the French unemployment office to 
Olivier Regnard. 

Retirement 

The Deputy CEO and the Deputy CEO do not benefit 
from any special executive retirement scheme other 
than the statutory supplementary pension allotted to all 
the Company's other executive employees. 

The amount of the sums reserved for retirement and 
other personnel-related benefits for the Deputy CEO 
and the Deputy CEO is €10,608.  

Benefits in kind 

The Deputy CEO and the Deputy CEO benefit from a 
company car. As indicated above, Frédéric Michelland 
also benefits from an unemployment insurance policy for 
executives. These items are taken into account as 
benefits in kind. 

Stock options and bonus issues of shares 

The Board of Directors, at its meeting on September 22, 
2015, and making use of the powers conferred on it by 
the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company's 
shareholders held on second convening on July 15, 
2015, decided to implement a system of bonus issues of 
the Company's shares for the benefit of certain 
corporate officers and employees who were Members of 
the Executive Committee of the Company.  

The bonus issue of shares of the Company in 
connection with this system is with respect to a 
maximum total number of 2,333,680 shares of the 
Company, to be issued in four consecutive tranches 
corresponding to, respectively, the Company's reference 
fiscal years 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, subject to the 
finding by the Board of Directors of the conditions of 
issue required by the system. 
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The bonus issue of shares of the Company is subject to 
(i) satisfaction of a condition of presence, and is a 
function of (ii) the realization of a condition of stock 
performance and (iii) a condition of economic EBITDA. 

Frédéric Michelland and Olivier Regnard are among the 
beneficiaries of this system, as disclosed in greater 
detail in chapter 3, note 10.4 of the Registration 
Document. 

During its meeting on March 2, 2016, the Board of 
Directors, on the basis of a report established by the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee, examined 
and found the realization by the relevant beneficiaries of 
the conditions for the bonus issue of shares for 2015, 
then ratified: 

 The bonus issue to Frédéric Michelland for 2015 
of a total number of 192,528 shares; 

 The bonus issue to Olivier Regnard for 2015 of a 
total number of 124,518 shares. 

Moreover, except for the above-mentioned system of 
bonus issue of shares, there exists no other stock option 
or bonus issue of shares system for the benefit of the 
members of Executive Management. 
 
 

 
 
6.1.2.8 Recapitulative state of stock transactions of the Executive Management, of high officials and of their close 
ones during the year 
 

 
 
 
6.1.3 Business address 
 

In respect of their positions, the Executive Management are domiciled at c/o LATECOERE, 135, Rue de Périole, BP 
25211, 31079 Toulouse cedex 05, France. Telephone Number: +33 5 61 58 77 00. 
 

 
6.2 The Supervisory Board than the Board of Directors 

 
In the context of the financial restructuring of the LATECOERE Group, and in accordance with the provisions of the 
Conciliation Agreement of May 26, 2015, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company, held on second convening 
on July 15, 2015, decided to change the method of administration and management of the Company through the adoption 
of a corporate governance structure with Board of Directors. The change in corporate governance occurred on September 
22, 2015. 

 

  

Transaction 

date
Name Duty/position

Type of 

transaction

Unit price *

(euros)
Quantity Stock concerned Transaction location

19-May-15 Frédéric MICHELLAND Member of the Board of Directors Sell 9.60 2 000 LATECOERE Shares Nyse Euronext Paris
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6.2.1 Positions and duties of the Board of Directors 
 

 
 
 

To the Company's knowledge, and at the date of this 
registration document, none of the members of the 
Board of Directors, during the past five years:  

 was convicted for fraud,  

 was associated with a bankruptcy, sequestration or 
liquidation (winding-up), 

 was subject to incrimination or official public sanction 
ordered by a statutory or regulatory authority,  

 was prevented by a court from acting as a member of 
a corporate administrative, management or 
supervisory body or from participating in the 
management or the conduct of business of an issuer. 

To the Company's knowledge, there exists no conflict of 
interest between the duties of each of the members of 
the Board of Directors with respect to the Company and 
their private interests or other duties.  
 

  

Pierre GADONNEIX 

(73 years old)

Chairman of the Board of Directors

(independent)

Chairman of the strategy committee

Member of the nominations and compensation 

committee

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None

Chairman of the Harvard Business School of France

Vice-President of Coe-Rexecode

Member of the Board of Directors of the French Energy Council

Chairman of the Board of Directors of EDF,

Member of the Economic, Social and Environmental Council,

Chairman of World Energy Council,

Member of the Board of Directors of the Cercle de l'Industrie

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Latécoère (until September 

2015)

1 000

Fréderic MICHELLAND

(49 years old)

Director

Member of the strategy committee

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
CEO

Chairman, Latécoère Développement

Director, Latécoère International

Director Corse Composite Aéronautique

Vice President and Member of Board of Directors, AmerCable 

Incorporated

Chairman of Board of Directors, NEXANS BRASIL S/A

Chairman of Board of Directors, NEXANS NORWAYS AS

Member of Board of Directors, NEXANS PARTICIPATIONS

Member of Board of Directors, NEXANS SERVICES

0

Claire DREYFUS-CLOAREC 

(69 years old)

Director

(independent)

Chairman of the internal audit committee

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None

SA Aéroport de Montpellier Méditerranée, Member of Supervisory 

Board and member of the audit and compensation committee,

SA Aéroport de La Réunion Roland Garros, Member of Supervisory 

Board and Chairman of the audit and compensation committee,

SA Aéroports de Lyon, Chairman of the Supervisory Board,

SICAV LCL Obligations, Member of Supervisory Board,

Manager of  CD-JC Conseils

FRAM, Chairman of the Supervisory Board,

Monoprix, vice-president of the Supervisory Board,Grand Port

Member of the Supervisory Board of Latécoère, Chairman of the audit 

and financial statements committee until September 2015
100

Francis Niss

(60 years old) 

Director

(independent)

Member of the strategy committee

Member of the internal audit committee

Member of the nominations and compensation 

committee

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None

Chairman of NF & Partners SAS / Toulouse France

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Sell GmbH / Germany 

(Zodiac-Aerospace Group)

Chairman of Liebherr-Aerospace & Transportation SAS / Toulouse 

France until march 2014

Managing Director de Liebherr Transportation Gmbh / Korneuburg - 

Vienne Autriche until march 2014

1 000

Isabelle AZEMARD

(64 years old)

Director

(independent)

Chairman  of the nominations and compensation 

committee

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None

Member of the Board of Directors AXA Mutuelles Vie et Mutuelles 

IARD

Member of the Board of Directors Mersen 

Member of the Board of Directors Majencia 

Member of the Board of Directors RTDE

0

Jean-Luc ALLAVENA

(52 years old)
Director representing Apollo

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None

Member of the Board of Directors of Altice Group

Chairman of the French-American Foundation

Member of the Board of Directors of Constellium

Member of the Board of Directors of the "association française des 

investisseurs en capital (Afic)"

0

Christophe VILLEMIN

(47 years old)

Director representing Apollo

Member of the strategy committee

Member of the nominations and compensation 

committee

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None

Chairman of Black Crows
Member of the Board of Directors of Blue Kiwi 129 172

Robert SEMINARA

(44 years old)
Director representing Apollo

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None

Berry Plastics Group, Inc., Independent Director

Covalence Specialty Materials Corp., Independent Director

Horizon Holdings (parent company of Verallia), Director

Berry Plastics Corporation, Director,

Hexion Holdings LLC, Director,

Hexion Inc., Director,

Hexion LLC, Director,

NCL Corporation Ltd., Director,

Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd. , Director

SkyLink, Director,

0

Member of the Board of Directors for the following companies :

Monarch Alternative Capital (Europe) Ltd

52 Conduit 2 Ltd

Chairman of the Board of Directors for the following companies of 

the Butterfly Group : Butterfly Group Healthcare Limited, 

Aspenframe Limited, Bramble Lodge Care Home Limited, Crossco 

(1332) Limited, Crossco (1333) Limited, Crossco (1334) Limited, 

Dolphin Property Co Limited, Eagle View Care Home Limited, ECG 

Domiciliary Care Limited, ECG Guest Services Limited, Executive 

Care Developments Limited, Executive Health Care Limited, 

Express Care (Guest Services) Limited, Express Care Limited, 

Hillcrest Care Homes Limited, 

Northwind Leisure Limited, Primrose Care Home Limited 

Quarter Care Limited, Regency Guest Services Limited, Salco 

Homes Limited, Sovereign Care Homes Limited, Sovereign Guest 

Services Limited, Stirling Guest Services Limited, System Cycle 

Limited, Windmill Hills Care Home Limited, World Trade Properties 

Limited

Chairman of the Board of Directors for the following companies of 

the Hollyblue Group : Hollyblue Healthcare (Haslingden) Limited, 

Hollyblue Healthcare (Chorley & Norton Lees) Limited, Hollyblue 

Healthcare (St. Georges) Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare (Amore) 

Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare (Ulster) Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare 

(Spring) Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare (London) Limited, Hollyblue 

Healthcare (Arden) Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare (Voyage Care) 

Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare (Alphacare) Limited, Hollyblue 

Healthcare (Carrick Glen) Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare (Gisburne 

Park) Limited, Hollyblue Healthcare (Stirling) Limited

Josiah ROTENBERG

(45 years old)
Director representing Monarch

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None None None 0

Jean-Louis PELTRIAUX

(48 years old)

Director representing the FCPE "B" of Latécoère 

employees

September 2015

General Meeting 2021

Cost control manager 

and cash manager of 

the Works Council

None
Member of the Supervisory Board of Latécoère representing the 

FCPE "B" of Latécoère employees until September 2015
14

Members of the Board of Directors Duties on the Board of Directors

Date of first appointment

Expiration of term of 

office

Position in the 

company Latécoère
Other current duties

Duties (outside Latécoère Group) during the last 5 years, 

already expired

Number of 

Latécoère 

shares held

Matthew GLOWASKY

(35 years old)

Director representing Monarch

Member of the strategy committee

Member of the internal audit committee

September 2015

General Meeting 2021
None None 0
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6.2.2 Positions and duties of the Supervisory Board 
 
 

All terms of office hereafter came to an end with the change of governance. 
 

 
 

 
To the Company's knowledge, and at the date of this 
registration document, none of the members of the 
Supervisory Board, during the past five years:  

 was convicted for fraud,  

 was associated with a bankruptcy, sequestration or 
liquidation (winding-up), 

 was subject to incrimination or official public sanction 
ordered by a statutory or regulatory authority,  

 was prevented by a court from acting as a member of 
a corporate administrative, management or 
supervisory body or from participating in the 
management or the conduct of business of an issuer. 

To the Company's knowledge, there exists no conflict of 
interest between the duties of each of the members of 
the Supervisory Board with respect to the Company and 
their private interests or other duties.  

 
 
  

Jean Claude CHAUSSONNET 

(74 years old)

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Member of the strategy committee, the audit and financial 

statements committee and the nominations and 

compensation committee

January 2003

General Meeting 2015
None Manager of Blagnac Consultance Aéronautique (B.C.A)

Director of RECAERO
168

Jean Jacques PIGNERES 

(70 years old)

Member of the Supervisory Board

Member of the audit and financial statements committee

June 2009

General Meeting 2015
None None President LATECOERE AEROSERVICES 42

Christian DUVILLET 

(67 years old)

Member of the Supervisory Board

Member of the strategy committee and the nominations 

and compensation committee

June 2011

General Meeting 2015
None

Member of the "Collège de Supervision de l'Autorité de Contrôle 

Prudentiel et de Résolution" of the Banque de France since April 

2015

Manager of CD Consulting

Managing Director of LCL

Member of executive committee of Crédit Agricole Group

Chairman of Crédit Agricole Crédit Insurance

Director ofAmundi, Predica, Crédit Agricole Assurance, Crédit 

Agricole Consumer Finance (Sofinco) and Uniedition

Director ofAmundi, Predica, Crédit Agricole Assurance, Crédit 

Agricole Consumer Finance (Sofinco) and Uniedition

Chairman of SCHILTIGHEIM Distribution

Chairman of  Atelier-Galerie 1911 Paris

Chairman of HyperCoop 

Chief Executive of COOP ALSACE

Chairman and Director of COOP ALSACE

President and CEO Stumpf Frères

Director Cafétérias Le Perroquet

Director Mulhousienne d'Investissements Immobiliers

Manager Schall 5

Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Banque Française 

Commerciale Antilles-Guyanne (en in April 2015)

1 000

Jean GOUMY 

(69 years old)

Member of the Supervisory Board

Member of the strategy committee and the nominations 

and compensation committee (since February 2012)

June 2011

General Meeting 2015
None None None 10

Pierre LATECOERE 

(52 years old)

Member of the Supervisory Board

Member of the nominations and compensation 

committee

January 2003

General Meeting 2015
None None None 55

Christian BEUGNET 

(71 years old)

Member of the Supervisory Board

Chairman of the nominations and compensation 

committee

January 2003

General Meeting 2015
None None Director of CORSE COMPOSITES AERONAUTIQUE 14

Patrick CHOLLET 

(52 years old)

Member of the Supervisory Board

Member of the audit and financial statements committee

January 2003

General Meeting 2015
None

Chairman CHOLLET Finances  Investissements

Chairman Alpinvest Financial Services SA

Director Sunny Stone Real Estate SCA

Director  Banque de Fleury Ltd

None 100

Christian REYNAUD 

(71 years old)

Member of the Supervisory Board

Member of the strategy committee and the audit and 

financial statements committee

January 2003

General Meeting 2015
None

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of FRAM

President and CEO of SORID

Président Directeur Général, IRDI

Administrateur, MIDI PYRENEES CREATION

Vice-président du Conseil de Surveillance, SOCRI

Président du Conseil de Surveillance, ICSO GESTION

1

Yves DA COSTA 

(47 years old)
Member of the Supervisory Board

June 2009

General Meeting 2015

Quality Technician and 

union representative
None None 10

Valérie GUIMBER 

(48 years old)
Member of the Supervisory Board

May 2012

General Meeting 2015

Sales and contract 

Manager of LATelec
None None 20

Members of the Supervisory Board Duties on the Supervisory Board

Date of first appointment

Expiration of term of 

office

Position in the 

company Latécoère
Other current duties

Duties (outside Latécoère Group) during the last 5 years, 

already expired

Number of 

Latécoère 

shares held
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6.2.2 Remuneration 
 
6.2.2.1 Summary table of remuneration and options allocated to each corporate officer 
 
Members of the Board of Directors 

 
 
 
  

(EURO) Fiscal Year N-1 Fiscal Year N

Pierre GADONNEIX, Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 09/22/2015, Chairman of the Board of Directors 

since 09/22/2015

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 150 000 163 611

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 150 000 163 611

Frédéric MICHELLAND, CEO and Member of the Board of Directores since 09/22/2015, previously Chairman of 

the Management Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 597 952 601 348

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 597 952 601 348

Claire DREYFUS-CLOAREC, Member of the Supervisory Board until 09/22/2015 Member of the Board of 

Directors since 09/22/2015

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 15 000 28 510

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 15 000 28 510

Francis NISS, Member of the Board of Directors

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 0 14 521

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 0 14 521

Isabelle AZEMARD, Member of the Board of Directors

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 0 10 521

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 0 10 521

Jean-Luc ALLAVENA,  Member of the Board of Directors

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 0 14 521

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 0 14 521

Christophe VILLEMIN, Member of the Board of Directors

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 0 14 521

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 0 14 521

Robert SEMINARA, Member of the Board of Directors

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year 0 0

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 0 0
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Members of the Supervisory Board for which terms of office has expired this year 
 

 
 
 
 
 

(EURO) Fiscal Year N-1 Fiscal Year N

Matthew GLOWASKY, Member of the Board of Directors

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year 0 0

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 0 0

Josiah ROTENBERG, Member of the Board of Directors

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year 0 0

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 0 0

Jean Louis PELTRIAUX, Member of the Board of Directors, previously member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 96 898 98 046

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 96 898 98 046

(EURO) Fiscal Year N-1 Fiscal Year N

Jean Claude CHAUSSONNET, Vice chairman of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 21 923 11 250

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 21 923 11 250

Christian DUVILLET, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 13 929 7 500

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 13 929 7 500

Jean GOUMY, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 15 000 11 250

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 15 000 11 250

Jean Jacques PIGNERES, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 7 500 3 750

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 7 500 3 750

Christian BEUGNET, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 15 000 7 500

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 15 000 7 500
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6 

 

 

 
6.2.2.2 Recapitulative table of remuneration of each corporate officer 
 
Members of the Board of Directors 
 

 

(EURO) Fiscal Year N-1 Fiscal Year N

Patrick CHOLLET, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 5 500 0

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 5 500 0

Christian REYNAUD, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 15 000 7 500

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 15 000 7 500

Pierre LATECOERE, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 6 750 2 810

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 6 750 2 810

Yves DA COSTA, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 41 125 41 774

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 41 125 41 774

Valérie GUIMBER, Member of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration relating to the fiscal year (detailed in table 6.2.2.2) 64 312 66 148

Value of the options allocated during the fiscal year

Value of the performance shares allocated during the fiscal year

TOTAL 64 312 66 148

Amount due Amount paid Amount due Amount paid

Pierre GADONNEIX, Chairman of the Board of Directors previously Chairman of 

the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration 150 000 150 000 163 611 163 611

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 150 000 150 000 163 611 163 611

(EURO)
Fiscal year N-1 Fiscal year N
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6 

 
 

 

 

Amount due Amount paid Amount due Amount paid

Frédéric MICHELLAND, CEO and Member of the Board of Directors since 

09/22/2015, previously Member of the Management Board

Fixed remuneration 350 004 350 004 350 004 350 004

Variable compensation* 225 750 231 000 225 750

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind 22 198 22 198 20 344 20 344

TOTAL 597 952 372 202 601 348 596 098

Claire DREYFUS-CLOAREC, Member of the Board of Directors, previously member 

of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration 10 000

Attendance fees 15 000 15 000 28 510 26 250

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 15 000 25 000 28 510 26 250

Francis NISS, Member of the Board of Directors

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 0 0 14 521 0

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 0 0 14 521 0

Isabelle AZEMARD, Member of the Board of Directors

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 0 0 10 521 0

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 0 0 10 521 0

Jean-Luc ALLAVENA,  Member of the Board of Directors

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 0 0 14 521 0

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 0 0 14 521 0

Christophe VILLEMIN, Member of the Board of Directors

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 0 0 14 521 0

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 0 0 14 521 0

Jean Louis PELTRIAUX, Member of the Board of Directors, previously member of 

the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration 81 214 81 214 82 050 82 050

Variable compensation 15 684 15 684 15 996 15 996

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 96 898 96 898 98 046 98 046

(EURO)
Fiscal year N-1 Fiscal year N
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The fixed remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors (Chairman) corresponds to the payments made in 
respect of their duties. The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors under private law contracts of 
employment includes their remuneration under their employment agreement. 
 
Members of the Supervisory Board for which terms of office has expired this year 

 

 
 
 

Amount due Amount paid Amount due Amount paid

Jean Claude CHAUSSONNET, Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration 10 000

Attendance fees 21 923 21 000 11 250 33 170

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 21 923 31 000 11 250 33 170

Christian DUVILLET, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration 10 000

Attendance fees 13 929 15 000 7 500 21 430

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 13 929 25 000 7 500 21 430

Jean GOUMY, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 15 000 15 000 11 250 26 250

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 15 000 15 000 11 250 26 250

Jean Jacques PIGNERES,  Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 7 500 7 500 3 750 11 250

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 7 500 7 500 3 750 11 250

Christian BEUGNET, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 15 000 15 000 7 500 22 500

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 15 000 15 000 7 500 22 500

Patrick CHOLLET, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 5 500 3 940 0 5 500

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 5 500 3 940 0 5 500

Christian REYNAUD, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 15 000 15 000 7 500 22 500

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 15 000 15 000 7 500 22 500

(EURO)
Fiscal year N-1 Fiscal year N
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The fixed remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board (Chairman) corresponds to the payments made in 
respect of their duties. The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board under private law contracts of 
employment includes their remuneration under their employment agreement.  
 
 
6.2.2.3 Table of attendance fees 

 
Members of the Board of Directors 

 
The Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting on June 29, 2015 voted a resolution bringing the total annual 
amount attributable to attendance fees to €480,000 allocated to the Members of the Board of Directors as from the date of 
the change in corporate governance structure. This amount applies on a prorata basis for the period from the date of 
change in corporate governance until the date of the closing of fiscal year 2015. The Board of Directors, at its meeting on 
September 22, 2015, established this amount at €72,602,75.  

On the termination of the Conciliation Agreement of May 26, 2015, it is expected that the Members of the Board of 
Directors will have the right to a fixed share consideration for their duties as director equal to €50,000 per year. However, 
in accordance with such agreement, no attendance fee is paid (i) to Members of the Board of Directors who are employee 
corporate officers of Apollo and of Monarch, (ii) to the representative of employee shareholders, and (iii) to the Members 
of the Board of Directors who simultaneously exercise the duties of Deputy CEO. 

The sharing out of attendance fees for 2015 was decided by the Board of Directors on September 22, 2015, as follows: 

Amount due Amount paid Amount due Amount paid

Pierre LATECOERE, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration

Variable compensation

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees 6 750 750 2 810 9 560

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 6 750 750 2 810 9 560

Yves DA COSTA, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration 37 634 37 634 38 561 38 561

Variable compensation 3 491 3 491 3 213 3 213

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 41 125 41 125 41 774 41 774

Valérie GUIMBER, Member of the Supervisory Board

Fixed remuneration 61 305 61 305 58 050 58 050

Variable compensation 3 007 3 007 8 098 8 098

Exceptional remuneration

Attendance fees

Benefits in kind

TOTAL 64 312 64 312 66 148 66 148

(EURO)
Fiscal year N-1 Fiscal year N
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Members of the Supervisory Board 

 
The General meeting of the shareholders of May 3, 2012 adopted a resolution to raise the total annual amount allocated 
to attendance fees to €120,000. This decision is valid for 2012 and following years until change in the corporate 
governance structure, in accordance with the decisions of the Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 
the Company's shareholders on June 29, 2015.  

On advice of the Nominations and Compensation Committee, the members of the Supervisory Board decided to share out 
this amount among the members of the Supervisory Board according to their attendance at meetings of that Board and 
their contribution to the work of the Committees. 

 

The sharing out of attendance fees for 2015 was decided by the Supervisory Board on August 18, 2015, as follows: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amount due Amount paid

Pierre GADONNEIX 0 0 0

Frédéric MICHELLAND 0 0 0

Claire DREYFUS-CLOAREC 15 000 28 510 26 250

Francis NISS 0 14 521 0

Isabella AZEMARD 0 10 521 0

Jean-Luc ALLAVENA 0 14 521 0

Christophe VILLEMIN 0 14 521 0

Robert SEMINARA 0 0 0

Matthew GLOWASKY 0 0 0

Josiah ROTENBERG 0 0 0

Jean Louis PELTRIAUX (representing the FCPE "B" of Latécoère employees) 0 0 0

(EURO)
Attendance fees paid in 

N-1

Attendance fees paid in N

Amount due Amount paid

Pierre GADONNEIX 0 0 0

Jean Claude CHAUSSONNET 21 923 11 250 33 173

Christian DUVILLET 13 929 7 500 21 429

Jean GOUMY 15 000 11 250 26 250

Jean Jacques PIGNERES 7 500 3 750 11 250

Christian BEUGNET 15 000 7 500 22 500

Patrick CHOLLET 5 500 0 5 500

Pierre LATECOERE 6 750 2 810 9 560

Christian REYNAUD 15 000 7 500 22 500

Valérie GUIMBER 0 0 0

Yves DA COSTA 0 0 0

(EURO)
Attendance fees paid in 

N-1

Attendance fees paid in N
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6.2.2.4 Subscription or share purchase options allocated during the year to each corporate officer 
 

 
 
 
 
6.2.2.5 Subscriptions or share purchase options exercised during the year by each corporate officer 

 

 
 
 
6.2.2.6 Performance shares allocated to each corporate officer 

 

 
 
 
6.2.2.7 Performance shares which have become available during the year for each corporate officer 
 

 
 
 
6.2.2.8 Recapitulative state of stock transactions of corporate officers, of high officials and their close ones 
during the year 
 

 
 

 
6.2.3 Business address 

 
In respect of their positions, the Members of the Board of Directors are domiciled at c/o LATECOERE, 135, Rue de 
Périole, BP 25211, 31079 Toulouse cedex 05, France. Telephone Number: +33 5 61 58 77 00. 
 
 
6.2.4 Subsequent events 
 

No significant events occurred after the closing.  

 

 

 

Share purchase options allocated to each 

corporate officer by Latécoère or any company 

of the Group (name list)

N° and date of 

the plan

Nature of the 

options 

(subscription 

or purchase)

Value of the options 

according to the 

accounting 

principles of the 

consolidated 

accounts

Number of 

options 

allocated during 

the fiscal year

Exercise 

price
Exercise date

None

Options exercised by each corporate officer (name list)
N° and date of the 

plan 

Number of options 

exercised during the 

fiscal year

Exercice 

price

None

Performance shares allocated during the fiscal year to each 

corporate officer by Latécoère or any company of the Group 

(name list)

N° and date 

of the plan 

Number of shares 

allocated during the 

fiscal year

Value of the shares according to the 

accounting principles of the 

consolidated accounts

Acquisition 

date

Availibility 

date

None

Performance shares which have become available during the fiscal year for 

each corporate officer (name list)

N° and date 

of the plan 

Number of performance shares 

which have become available 

during the fiscal year

Acquisition 

conditions

None

Transaction 

date
Name Duty/position

Type of 

transaction

Unit price *

(euros)
Quantity Stock concerned Transaction location

15-Sep-15 Francis NISS Member of the Board of Directors Buy 3,44 1 000 LATECOERE Shares Nyse Euronext Paris

26-Oct-15 Christophe VILLEMIN Member of the Board of Directors Buy 4,12 129 172 LATECOERE Shares Nyse Euronext Paris
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6.3 Report of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board than of the Board 
of Directors on Corporate Governance and Internal Control 

 

 

Dear Shareholders,  

 
In accordance with law, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of corporations (sociétés anonymes) whose 
stock is traded on a regulated market is required to give an account on the following in a report attached to that 
of the Board of Directors:  

 the composition and the application of the principle of balanced representation of women and men, 
conditions of preparation and organization of the work of the Board of Directors ; 
 

 internal control procedures and risk management procedures implemented by the Company.  
 
This report detail also the references made to a corporate governance code and the special terms relating to the 
participation of shareholders at the annual general meeting 
 
Finally, this report also discloses the principles and rules approved for determining corporate officers' 
compensation and benefits of whatsoever nature and items likely to have an effect in the event of a public offer.  
 
This report was submitted for the approval of the Board of Directors of April 28, 2016 and transmitted to the 
auditors.  
 

6.3.1 Corporate Governance 

 

In the context of the financial restructuring of the 
Latécoère Group, and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Conciliation Agreement of May 
26, 2015, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the 
Company, held on second convening on July 15, 
2015, decided to change the method of 
administration and management of the Company 
through the adoption of a corporate governance 
structure with Board of Directors, governed in 
particular by Articles L. 225-17 to L. 225-56 of the 
French Commercial Code in place of the previous 
structure of corporate governance with 
Management Board and Supervisory Board, 
governed in particular by Articles L. 225-57 to L. 
225-93 of the French Commercial Code. 

This report presents, in respect of fiscal year 2015 
for the period from January 1, 2015 to 
September 22, 2015, date of change of the 
corporate governance structure, of the composition 
of the Supervisory Board, of the application of the 
principle of balanced representation of women and 
men within it, and of the conditions of preparation 
and organization of the work of the Supervisory 
Board. 

In addition, given the change in corporate 
governance structure, this report also presents this 
information with respect to the Board of Directors 
since its implementation on September 22, 2015. 

The Company refers to the Middlenext corporate 
governance code for mid-cap issuers (the 
"Middlenext Code") by virtue of a decision of 
Supervisory Board of May 17, 2010. Furthermore, 
the Board of Directors confirmed, during its 
meeting of September 22, 2015, that the Company 
continues to refer to such Code. The text of the 
Middlenext Code may be consulted on the website 
of Middlenext (www.middlenext.com). 

This corporate governance code is more 
specifically intended for securities listed on 
Euronext Paris compartments "B" and "C", which is 
to say, small caps and mid-caps ("VAMPs"). 
Middlenext is a representative association that 
groups together these mid-caps. This code follows 
the report: "Frame of reference for a reasonable 
governance of French companies" published in 
2009 ("Référentiel pour une gouvernance 
raisonnable des entreprises françaises"/Gomez 
report). It includes two categories of proposals: 

 recommendations and rules to which the 
Company that adopts said code should 
subscribe; and 

 points to watch out for, subjects on which 
the company that adopts code must 
question themselves. 
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The Middlenext Code to which the Company refers 
includes recommendations. The Chairman of the 
Board of Director’s report should clearly indicate 
how they apply, or the reasons why they were not 
applied ("apply or explain »). 

6.3.1.1 Corporate governance until change in 
corporate governance structure 

 

 

6.3.1.1.1 The Executive Power: The 
Management Board 

 

In accordance with the Middlenext 
recommendations, the terms and conditions of 
remuneration of the Members of the Management 
Board are clearly explained in this report and in the 
registration document of the Company. 

Until the change in the corporate governance 
structure, the Supervisory Board decided the 
remuneration policy for corporate officers and the 
remuneration of each of them on proposal of the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee set up 
by the Supervisory Board. The Company having 
adopted the Middlenext Code, it ensured that the 
remuneration policy implemented for Members of 
the Management Board has referred to its 
recommendations, after consulting with the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee, in 
order to set the remuneration of Members of the 
Management Board. 

This policy applies in an exhaustive manner to 
fixed, variable and non-recurring remuneration to 
which are added benefits of whatsoever nature 
granted by the Company (retirement, payments 
due or likely to be due by reason of the ceasing or 
the change in duties, etc.). 

Corporate office and employment contract 

The Company already applied, prior to the change 
in corporate governance structure, the treatment of 
the dual status as a corporate officer with an 
employment contract. 

Thus, the employment contracts of Frédéric 
Michelland and Olivier Regnard were not 
suspended. 

Elements of principal remuneration 

Until the change in the corporate governance 
structure, the remunerations of the Members of the 
Management Board were determined in 
compliance with the recommendations of the 
Middlenext Code. 

The annual remuneration of Members of the 
Management Board was comprised of a fixed part, 
in connection with an employment contract with the 
Company, and a variable part. 

Determination of the fixed share of remuneration 

The fixed share of the annual remuneration of 
active Members of the Management Board in 2015 
was: 

€350,000 for Frédéric Michelland, which 
corresponds to the gross annual 
remuneration in respect of his employment 
contract binding him to the Company;  

€200,000 for Olivier Regnard, which corresponds 
to the gross annual remuneration in respect 
of his employment contract binding him to 
the Company. 

Determination of the variable share of 
remuneration 

The variable share of the annual remuneration of 
Members of the Management Board for 2014, was 
approved by the Supervisory Board at its meeting 
on April 13, 2015, after consulting with the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee. 

This variable share is determined as a function of 
the degree of attainment of a certain number of 
qualitative and quantitative objectives.  

The level of achievement required for the 
quantitative criteria for calculating the variable 
elements of remuneration was determined 
precisely but cannot be made public for 
confidentiality reasons. 

The variable share of the remuneration of Frédéric 
Michelland in connection with his corporate office 
was fixed annually as a function of the realization 
of objectives determined on the basis of the 
following quantitative and qualitative criteria: 

- on operating profitability and net 
indebtedness criteria for an amount of up 
to 85% of his fixed remuneration; 

- on qualitative criteria for an amount of up to 
20% of his fixed remuneration. 

The variable share of the remuneration of Olivier 
Regnard in connection with his corporate office 
was fixed annually as a function of the realization 
of objectives determined on the basis of the 
following quantitative and qualitative criteria: 
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 the amount of this remuneration was 
equal to €50,000 for a realization of 100% 
of his objectives with a possible range 
going from 0% to 120%; 

 the share of quantitative and qualitative 
objectives represented, respectively, 55% 
and 45% of the amount of this 
remuneration.  

Other elements of remuneration 

Payment due or likely to be due by reason of the 
ceasing of duties of Members of the Management 
Board 

The Supervisory Board had decided the terms and 
conditions of the making of departure payments 
due or likely to be due to Frédéric Michelland at its 
meeting on November 4, 2014, and to Olivier 
Regnard at its meeting on October 29, 2014, in the 
event of the ceasing of their duties and forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group. Such 
terms and conditions were specified by the 
Supervisory Board at its meeting on February 27, 
2015. 

The terms of these commitments were approved by 
the General Meeting of the Company's 
shareholders held on May 19, 2014, as well as by 
the General Meeting of the shareholders held on 
June 29, 2015. 

Frédéric Michelland would have had the right, as 
from January 1, 2016, so that the first two 
consecutive reference years had been achieved 
while holding the position of Chairman of the 
Management Board, to a departure payment if the 
Company had recorded a consolidated net result, 
corrected for the fair value variation of financial 
instruments, which was positive for one of the two 
consecutive fiscal years preceding the fiscal year 
during which Frédéric Michelland would have 
ceased to perform any duties within the 
LATECOERE Group.  

In the event of the ceasing of his duties and the 
forced departure from the LATECOERE Group, the 
departure payment to which Frédéric Michelland 
would have had a right pursuant to the conditions 
indicated above, would have corresponded to a 
gross departure payment equal to 18 months of 
remuneration calculated on the basis of the total 
remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he would 
have received during the fiscal year preceding the 
fiscal year in which he ceased to exercise any 
duties within the LATECOERE Group, it being 
specified that the variable share of the 
remuneration taken into account would have 
corresponded to the highest amount between the 
variable remuneration effectively received and 75% 
of the gross fixed annual remuneration received 

under the employment contract binding him to the 
Company. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties and the 
imposed departure from the LATECOERE Group of 
Frédéric Michelland, including at this own initiative 
if he considered that he had no other choice, at any 
time subsequent to (i) a change in control of the 
Company, (ii) a change in the composition of the 
Supervisory Board of the Supervisory Board of the 
Company not recommended by the Board or (iii) a 
change in the composition of the Supervisory 
Board resulting in the implementation of a strategy 
different from that wished by the Management 
Board before such change and on which Mr. 
Frédéric Michelland would have expressed differing 
views, Frédéric Michelland would have had the 
right to a gross departure payment equal to 18 
months of remuneration calculated on the basis of 
the total remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that 
he would have received during the fiscal year 
preceding the fiscal year in which he ceased to 
exercise any duties within the LATECOERE Group, 
it being specified that the variable share of the 
remuneration taken into account would have 
corresponded to the highest amount between the 
variable remuneration effectively received and 
100% of the gross fixed annual remuneration 
received under the employment contract binding 
him to the Company.  

Any severance payment which would have fallen 
due in respect of the early termination of the 
employment contract of Frédéric Michelland with 
the Company would have been charged on the 
amount of departure payment that would have 
been due, in accordance with the conditions set out 
above, which could not have exceeded 18 months 
of total compensation. 

It was foreseen that Olivier Regnard would have 
had the right to a departure payment if the 
Company recorded a consolidated net result, 
corrected for fair value variation of financial 
instruments, which was positive during one of the 
two fiscal years preceding the one during which 
Olivier Regnard would have ceased exercising any 
duties within the LATECOERE Group, and this as 
from the fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2017 
so that the first two consecutive fiscal years of 
reference would have been accomplished while 
Olivier Regnard held the position of a Member of 
the Management Board. 

As a consequence of the foregoing: 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties and the 
forced departure from the LATECOERE Group 
during fiscal year 2016, Olivier Regnard would 
have had the right to a departure payment if the 
LATECOERE Group had had access to new 
financial resources in 2014 or 2015, in particular 
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within the framework of an agreement with the 
creditor banks, or if the Company had recorded a 
consolidated net result, corrected for fair value 
variation of financial instruments, which was 
positive in fiscal year 2015. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties and the 
forced departure from the LATECOERE Group, the 
departure payment to which Olivier Regnard would 
have had a right pursuant to the conditions 
indicated above, would have corresponded to a 
gross departure payment equal to 18 months of 
remuneration calculated on the basis of the total 
remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he would 
have received during the fiscal year preceding the 
fiscal year in which he ceased to exercise any 
duties within the LATECOERE Group.  

It is specified that the preceding would have 
applied in the event of the ceasing of his duties 
including on his own initiative if he considers that 
he had no other choice, and at any time 
subsequent to (i) a change in control of the 
Company, (ii) a change in the composition of the 
Supervisory Board of the Supervisory Board of the 
Company not recommended by the Board or (iii) a 
change in the composition of the Supervisory 
Board resulting in the implementation of a strategy 
different from that wished by the Management 
Board before such change and on which Olivier 
Regnard would have expressed differing views.  

It is specified that any severance payment which 
would have fallen due in respect of the early 
termination of the employment contract of Olivier 
Regnard with the Company would have been 
charged on the amount of departure payment 
which would have fallen due in accordance with the 
conditions set out above, which could not have 
exceeded 18 months of total compensation. 

It is specified that neither Frédéric Michelland nor 
Olivier Regnard ceased their duties with the 
Company between January 1, 2015 and the date of 
the change in corporate governance structure, and 
that consequently none of the payments described 
above was due or paid by the Company.  

Unemployment insurance  

The Company has undertaken to subscribe a 
private unemployment insurance policy of the 
officer/director/entrepreneur (GSC) type enabling it 
to cause the Members of the Management Board 
to benefit from indemnities in case of the ceasing of 
their duties and the departure from the 
LATECOERE Group. If such insurance provides for 
a waiting period, the Company has undertaken to 
indemnify the current Members of the Management 
Board in case of the ceasing of their duties and the 
departure from the LATECOERE Group until the 
end of the aforementioned waiting period, and this 

under the same conditions as those provided for by 
the relevant private unemployment insurance. This 
special payment would have been cumulated with 
the departure payment described above. 

It is also specified that if taking into account the 
circumstances of the the ceasing of duties and 
forced departure of Mr. Frédéric Michelland, the 
guarantee of private unemployment insurance 
subscribed by LATECOERE in his favor pursuant 
to the decisions of the Supervisory Board were not 
to apply, LATECOERE undertook to pay him a 
specific compensation corresponding to the 
amount to which he would have been entitled 
under that insurance, it being specified that this 
amount would have been cumulated with any other 
payment that would have been made to him in 
respect of the ceasing of his duties and forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group. This 
commitment had been submitted for the approval 
of the General Meeting of the Shareholders. 

Extraordinary bonus linked to the exercise of share 
warrants (BSA) 

It had been foreseen that Frédéric Michelland 
would benefit from an extraordinary bonus of 
€200,000 if, at July 30, 2015, at least 90% of the 
share warrants issued by the Company had been 
exercised. 

The foregoing condition not having been satisfied, 
this bonus was not paid to Frédéric Michelland. 

Retirement 

The Members of Management Board did not 
benefit from any special executive retirement 
scheme other than the statutory supplementary 
pension allotted to all the Company's other 
executive employees. 

The amount of the sums reserved for retirement 
and other personnel-related benefits for the 
Members of the Management Board was €10,608. 

Benefits in kind 

The Members of the Management Board benefit 
from a company car which was taken into account 
as a benefit in kind. Furthermore, the Chairman of 
the Management Board benefitted from a director's 
unemployment insurance policy that was taken into 
account as a benefit in kind.  

Stock options 

No stock option or bonus issue of shares system 
existed within the Group before the change in 
corporate governance structure. 
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Change in corporate governance structure 

The Supervisory Board, after consulting with the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee, had 
decided that in the event that LATECOERE 
governance methods should change from the two 
board form consisting in a supervisory board and a 
management board to a single (or "unitary") board 
form consisting of a board of directors, decided by 
the shareholders in extraordinary general meeting, 
all of the aforementioned system will be adapted in 
order to apply mutatis mutandis to the duties which 
would have been those of Frédéric Michelland and 
of Olivier Regnard in a public limited company 
(société anonyme) with a unitary board form. 

Points to watch out for 

As the Middlenext Code recommends, the 
Company displayed great vigilance about the 
following points between January 1st, and the date 
of the change in corporate governance structure. 

The Management Board was composed of two 
members.  

The Management Board was supported by an 
Executive Committee (COMEX) put together of 
members of the Management Board and of other 
members designated by the Management Board - 
after consultation with the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board - due to their operational or 
functional responsibilities in the Group. 

The Executive Committee had for mission the 
handling of subjects of current development to the 
LATECOERE Group, as well as strategic projects 
(development and organization of businesses). It 
met at least twice a month. 

The remuneration of the Members of the 
Management Board was decided by the 
Supervisory Board on a proposal of the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee. It was 
composed of two parts -- fixed and variable: a fixed 
share corresponding to their competence and to 
their field of responsibility, and a variable share 
based on the degree of attainment of a certain 
number of qualitative and quantitative objectives. 
The weighting between fixed and variable 
remuneration was set so as not to limit the 
judgment capacity of the Members of the 
Management Board and thus to thwart the spirit of 
their mission. 

Furthermore, the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee saw to the development of the 
Members of the Management Board according to 
their responsibilities and taking into account the 
statutory age limit. It periodically reported about 
this to the Supervisory Board. 

6.3.1.1.2 The Supervisory Power: The 
Supervisory Board 
 

Composition 

Since the General Meeting on June 29, 2015 and 
until the change in corporate governance structure, 
the Supervisory Board was composed of four 
members; Three of them: Pierre Gadonneix, Claire 
Dreyfus-Cloarec, and Jean Goumy were 
considered as independent, after studying the 
criteria indicated in the recommendations of the 
Middlenext Code and ratified by the Nominations 
and Compensation Committee. 

For the period from January 1, 2015 to September 
22, 2015, date of change in corporate governance 
structure, the Company was in compliance with Act 
No. 2011-103 of January 27, 2011 relating to the 
balanced representation of women and men on 
boards of directors and supervisory boards and to 
professional equality, taking into account the 
presence of two women among the thirteen 
members of the Supervisory Board. 

In addition, Jean-Louis Peltriaux, an employee of 
the LATECOERE Company, represented the 
corporate mutual fund ("Fonds Commun de 
Placement d’Entreprise (FCPE)” “B”), a 
shareholder of the Company. 

Internal bylaws 

On May 19, 2006 the Supervisory Board adopted 
bylaws, which had been updated on April 24, 2009 
to include in particular the bylaws of the Audit and 
Financial Statements Committee and the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee. An 
update was carried out during the Supervisory 
Board meeting of May 17, 2010 in order to ratify 
the adoption of the Middlenext Code. On October 
27, 2010, the Supervisory Board amended these 
bylaws by including the creation of a Strategy 
Committee. All members of the Supervisory Board 
sign these bylaws when they enter into their duties. 

Rules of ethics 

The bylaws of the Supervisory Board and of its 
Committees recalled the rules of ethics that the 
Members of the Board had to follow. At the time of 
their appointment, each Member received a copy of 
the internal bylaws as well as a Middlenext Code. 
Every Member had to sign these bylaws. 

In addition, in a general manner, to the Company's 
knowledge, at the date of the establishment of this 
report, there existed, up to the date of the change 
in corporate governance structure, no conflict of 
interest between the duties of each of the Members 
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of the Supervisory Board with respect to the 
Company and their private interests or other duties. 

Choice of the Members of the Supervisory 
Board 

Until the change in corporate governance structure, 
Members of the Supervisory Board were co-opted 
or appointed by the Supervisory Board, after 
consulting with the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee. During the vote submitted to the 
General Meeting, their CVs, their career histories 
and their competences were explained. 

Activities of the Supervisory Board until 
change in corporate governance structure 

The Supervisory Board met six times during the 
period from January 1, 2015 to September 22, 
2015, which is until the change in corporate 
governance structure. 

Over this period, the total attendance of the 
members to the Meetings of the Supervisory Board 
came to 85%. 

The delegates of the Works Council were 
convened to all of the Supervisory Board meetings. 
They regularly attended them. 

The Statutory Auditors were convened to all the 
meetings of the Supervisory Board, and in 
particular to those which approved the annual and 
the semi-annual financial statements and forward-
looking management documents. They participated 
in them. 

In accordance with the provisions of its internal 
bylaws, certain decisions of the Supervisory Board 
were prepared by the specialized committees that it 
created, and which reported to it their work and 
which submitted to it their advice and proposals. 

The main activities of the Supervisory Board during 
this period were the following: 

As part of its mission of control: 

 The Supervisory Board proceeded, after they 
had been approved by the Management Board: 

- with the review of the 2015 consolidated 
financial statements and statutory 
financial statements (meeting on April 13, 
2015); 

- with the review of the Q1 2015 
consolidated financial statements 
(meeting on April 27, 2015). 

 These financial statements and the elements of 
the forward-looking situation which accompany 
them were the subject of detailed presentations 
by the Chief Financial Officer, followed by 
reports of the Chairman of the Audit and 
Financial Statements Committee and the 
auditors on the procedures carried out and the 
conclusions of their work; they were approved 
by the Supervisory Board. 

 At its February 27, 2015 meeting, the 
Supervisory Board ratified the proposed budget 
for 2015 presented by the Management 
Committee. It had been reviewed beforehand 
by the Audit and Financial Statements 
Committee whose chairwoman reported on the 
works recommending its approval. 

Concerning the economic and financial situation of 
the LATECOERE Group: 

 From January 1, 2015 to September 22, 2015, 
the Supervisory Board was kept regularly 
informed by the Chairman of the Management 
Board, particularly on the occasion (i) of 
presentations of quarterly reports and (ii) 
reports of the work of the Strategy Committee: 

- of the advancement of negotiations with 
the creditors and and the presentation of 
the plan foreseen for the financial 
restructuring, 

- of significant events of the Group's 
business, of the economic climate in the 
aeronautical industry, of the evolution of 
the business of branches, of the financial 
position of the Group, of foreign exchange 
rate hedging as well as of the significant 
commercial negotiations in progress; 

- of the economics of major programs, 

- of the advancement of the Boost Plan. 

With respect to managing corporate officers' 
remuneration, 

  The Supervisory Board accepted:  

- at its meeting on February 27, 2015, the 
proposals of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee of the same 
day relating to the determination of 
quantitative and qualitative objectives 
contributing to the establishment of the 
variable share of the remuneration of the 
Management Board in respect of 2015; 

- at its meeting on April 13, 2015, t the 
proposals of the Nominations and 
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Compensation Committee of the same 
day relating to the determination of the 
results obtained by Frédéric Michelland 
and Olivier Regnard in relation to 
quantitative and qualitative objectives 
contributing to the establishment of the 
variable shares of their remunerations 
during the fiscal year 2014; 

- at its meeting on May 19, 2015, the 
proposals of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee of the same 
day relating to the setting of the fixed and 
variable shares of the remuneration of 
Olivier Regnard as from July 1, 2015 

As regards corporate governance: 

The Supervisory Board had not made any 
removals or appointments before the change in 
corporate governance structure. However, the 
positions of the following members of the 
Supervisory Board expired at the close of the 
General Meeting on June 29, 2015, which did not 
proceed with their renewal in view of the change in 
corporate governance structure linked to the 
financial restructuring of the LATECOERE Group: 
Jean-Claude Chaussonnet, Christian Duvillet, 
Pierre Latécoère, Christian Beugnet, Patrick 
Chollet, Christian Reynaud, Yves da Costa and 
Valérie Guimbert. 

In addition, as part of the financial restructuring of 
the Group, the Supervisory Board was informed of 
the appointment of the members of the future 
Board of Directors.  

As regards remuneration of the Supervisory Board 
members 

The General meeting of the shareholders of May 3, 
2012 adopted a resolution to raise the total annual 
amount allocated to attendance fees to €120,000. 
This decision is valid for 2012 and following years 
until change in the corporate governance structure, 
in accordance with the decisions of the Combined 
Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of the 
Company's shareholders on June 29, 2015.  

The Supervisory Board committees 

The Supervisory Board had established three 
committees to assist it in its work: 

two standing committees: The Audit and Financial 
Statements Committee and the Nominations 
and Compensation Committee 

and a Strategy Committee. 

The Audit and Financial Statements Committee 

Up until the General Meeting on June 29, 2015 the 
Audit and Financial Statements Committee was 
composed of five members: Claire Dreyfus-Cloarec 
(Chairwoman), Jean-Claude Chaussonnet, 
Christian Reynaud, Jean-Jacques Pignères and 
Patrick Chollet, four members of which were 
considered independent under the Middlenext 
Code (Christian Reynaud, Jean-Claude 
Chaussonnet, Claire Dreyfus-Cloarec and Patrick 
Chollet). 

These members had been chosen for their 
experience and their skill in finance and 
accounting. 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Pierre 
Gadonneix, regularly participated in meetings of 
this Committee. 

From the General Meeting on June 29, 2015 until 
September 22, 2015, this committee was 
composed of the following members: Claire 
Dreyfus-Cloarec, Jean Goumy and Pierre 
Gadonneix.  

The missions of this committee were the following: 
it was responsible for the follow-up of the process 
of preparing the financial information, for the 
efficiency of the internal control systems and for 
risk management. It issued recommendations 
regarding the appointment of the auditors and 
ensured itself of the statutory control they 
performed. 

During these meetings dedicated to the annual and 
semi-annual closings, it informed the Supervisory 
Board of its comments on these financial 
statements. 

The Audit and Financial Statements Committee 
met four times during the period from January 
1, 2015 to September 22, 2015, which is until the 
change in corporate governance structure; in 
particular, its work covered: 

- the presentation of the 2015 budget 
(February 2, 2015 meeting); 

- the cash flow situation (February 2, 2015 
meeting); 

- the approval of the 2014 financial 
statements (April 13, 2015 meeting); 

- the financial restructuring plan (April 13, 
2015 meeting); 
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- the monitoring of the business market 
(February 27, 2015 and April 13, 2015 
meetings);  

- the monitoring of the hedging policy 
(February 2, February 27, and April 13, 
2015 meetings); 

- approval of the H1 2015 financial 
statements (September 16, 2015 
meeting); 

- the analysis of industrial performance 
indicators (December 9, 2015 meeting). 

This Committee's participation rate was 80% for 
the relevant period. 

Members of the Audit and Financial Statements 
Committee had at their disposition analyses and 
financial and accounting documents related to their 
work; they had the possibility of listening to the 
auditors, the Chief Financial Officer as well as, as a 
function of the agenda, the relevant Members of 
the Management Board. 

The Audit and Financial Statements Committee 
regularly reported its work to the Supervisory 
Board, which duly noted it and followed the whole 
of the recommendations therein. 

The Nominations and Compensation 
Committee 

Up until the General Meeting on June 29, 2015, the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee was 
composed of five members: Mr. Christian Beugnet 
(Chairman), Jean-Claude Chaussonnet, 
Pierre Latécoère, Christian Duvillet and Jean 
Goumy, four members of which were considered 
as independent under the Middlenext Code 
(Christian Duvillet, Jean Goumy, Jean-Claude 
Chaussonnet, and Pierre Latécoère). 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Pierre 
Gadonneix, regularly participated in meetings of 
this Committee. 

The missions of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee were the following: it 
made all recommendations to the Supervisory 
Board concerning the nominations of Members of 
the Supervisory Board, the Management Board, 
corporate officers of subsidiaries and Members of 
the Executive Committee. It also made 
recommendations concerning the remuneration of 
Members of the Management Board and the 
variable share of corporate officers of subsidiaries 
and Members of the Executive Committee. It 
examined the consequences of legal provisions 

concerning the Members of the Management 
Board. 

The Nominations and Compensation Committee 
met three times during the period from January 
1, 2015 to September 22, 2015, which is until the 
change in corporate governance structure; in 
particular, it worked on and formulated 
recommendations to the Supervisory Board:  

 at its February 27, 2015 meeting, relating to: 

- the determination of quantitative and 
qualitative objectives contributing to the 
establishment of the variable share of the 
remuneration of the Management Board in 
respect of 2015; 

- The transposition of elements of 
remuneration and other benefits granted 
to Members of the Management Board if 
the governance methods of the 
LATECOERE Group should change (from 
a two board form to a single board form). 

 at its meeting on April 10, 2015, the proposals 
relating to the determination of the results 
obtained by Frédéric Michelland and Olivier 
Regnard in relation to quantitative and 
qualitative objectives contributing to the 
establishment of the variable shares of their 
remunerations during the fiscal year 2014. 
 

 at its meeting on May 19, 2015, the proposals 
relating to the setting of the fixed and variable 
shares of the remuneration of Olivier Regnard 
as from July 1, 2015. 

The Nominations and Compensation Committee 
has regularly reported its work to the Supervisory 
Board, which duly noted it and followed all of the 
recommendations therein. 

This Committee's participation rate was 90% for 
the relevant period. 

The Strategy Committee 

Up until the the General Meeting on June 29, 2015 
this committee was composed of six members: 
Pierre Gadonneix (Chairman), Jean-Claude 
Chaussonnet, Christian Duvillet, Claire Dreyfus-
Cloarec, Jean Goumy and Christian Reynaud.  

From the General Meeting on June 29, 2015 until 
September 22, 2015, this committee was 
composed of the following members: Pierre 
Gadonneix (Chairman), Claire Dreyfus-Cloarec and 
Jean Goumy. 
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the Members of the Management Board 
participated in meetings of this Committee. 

The task of the Strategy Committee was to advise 
the Supervisory Board on the major strategic 
orientations of the LATECOERE Group and on the 
development policy presented by the Management 
Board (strategic agreements, partnerships, 
financial and stock market strategies). 

The Strategy Committee met three times during the 
period from January 1, 2015 to September 22, 
2015, which is until the change in corporate 
governance structure; 

Members of the Strategy Committee had at their 
disposition analyses and financial and accounting 
documents related to their work.  

The Strategy Committee was kept regularly 
informed of the content of discussions with the new 
creditors involved in the financial restructuring of 
the LATECOERE Group and of the various options 
examined by the Management Board with its 
agreement. 

Moreover, the various strategic scenarios foreseen 
as part of the financial restructuring, as well as the 
LATECOERE Group's project for an establishment 
in Morocco, were presented to it by the 
Management Board. 

The Strategy Committee has regularly reported its 
work to the Supervisory Board, which duly noted it 
and followed all of the recommendations therein. 

This Committee's participation rate was 100% for 
the relevant period. 

Evaluation of the Supervisory Board's work 

As the Company's governance was the subject of 
extensive changes since 2010, the Supervisory 
Board decided to make a formal assessment of its 
work during 2015. However, the rate of meetings of 
the Supervisory Board and of its Committees and 
the complexity of the subjects discussed during the 
first nine months of 2015, particularly in connection 
with the financial restructuring of the Group, did not 
permit the realization of a formal assessment of the 
Supervisory Board prior to the change in corporate 
governance structure. 

Points to Watch Out for Relating to the 
Supervisory Function 

As the Middlenext Code recommends, the 
Company displayed great vigilance about the 
following points. 

Separation of powers 

The missions and roles of the Supervisory Board 
and of the Management Board are clearly defined 
in the Supervisory Board's bylaws ("règlement 
intérieur") and the Company's bylaws ("statuts"). 

Supervisory duty 

The Management Board regularly reported its 
decisions and its findings to the Supervisory Board. 
The two first committees created, the Nominations 
and Compensation Committee and the Audit and 
Financial Statements Committee, contributed 
through their work to the knowledge and the 
information of the Supervisory Board. The creation 
of the Strategy Committee in 2010 strengthened 
the Supervisory Board's involvement in strategic 
decisions of the LATECOERE Group and the 
negotiations with its creditors. 

The Composition of the Supervisory Board ensured 
the representativeness of the shareholders until the 
General Meeting on June 29, 2015, insofar as 
three members represented the interests of 
employee shareholders, and eight independent 
members represented the interests of the other 
shareholders. 

Material means 

As previously stated, all items that enabled the 
Supervisory Board to act were passed on to it, 
beforehand where possible, allowing it to know the 
subjects treated and to form its own opinion. 

The Board's decisions were reported in the 
minutes, which laid out the different opinions 
expressed before the collegial decision-making. 

Furthermore, any new Member without prior 
knowledge of the LATECOERE Group and of its 
business benefited from a detailed presentation of 
the distinctive features of the segment and of the 
companies, accompanied by a visit to the main 
sites of production and a meeting with the main 
managing executives. 

Appropriate competence 

The Members of the Supervisory Board were 
chosen for their career history, their experience 
and their competences. Some had more 
particularly a high level of experience in industry in 
general and aeronautics in particular. Others had a 
more financial profile. The presence of Members 
who were independent in the sense of the 
recommendations of the Middlenext Code ensured 
the diversity necessary to the usefulness of the 
supervision of the executive power. 



                                
                                 GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

                               December 31, 2015 

 
 
 
 
  

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015  LATECOERE            136       

 

6 

Work-exercise conditions 

The remuneration of the Members of the 
Supervisory Board (see preceding chapter) did not 
make them dependent on the Company. The six-
year term of their position, was sufficiently long in 
order to enable them to benefit from the effect of 
experience. 

 

 

6.3.1.1.3 The Sovereign Power: The General 
Meeting of the shareholders 

 

As the Middlenext Code recommends, the 
Company displayed great vigilance about the 
following points during the period from January1, 
2015 until the date of the change in corporate 
governance structure. 

Participation of the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting 

Until the date of the change in corporate 
governance structure, the terms for shareholders 
taking part in the Annual General Meeting 
appeared in Article 18 of the former bylaws: 

"Shareholder Meetings are convened and decide in 
the conditions provided for by the French 
Commercial Code ("Code de Commerce"). 

They are held at the registered office or at any 
other location in the same French Department. 

The right to take part in Annual General Meetings 
is subject to the registration of the shares in the 
name of the shareholder or the intermediary 
registered for his account, at the third working day 
preceding the Meeting at zero hour, Paris time, 
either in the registered securities accounts held by 
the Company, or in the accounts of bearer shares 
held by the authorized intermediary. 

Any shareholder who is the owner of a given 
category of shares may take part in the Special 
General Meetings of Shareholders of that category, 
under the conditions referred to above. 

Are considered present for the calculation of the 
quorum and the majority, the shareholders who 
take part in the General Meeting by 
videoconference or means of telecommunication 
allowing their identification and the nature and the 
conditions of application of which are determined 
by the regulations in force. 

Votes are expressed either by a show of hands or 
by roll call. A secret vote for which the Annual 
General Meeting will fix the terms, may only be 
resorted to at the request of the members present, 
either personally or as agents, the majority being 
required for the approval of the relevant resolution. 

Voting rights double those conferred on shares 
representing the share of authorized capital that 
they represent, are allotted to all the fully paid 
shares registered as registered securities for at 
least four years in the name of the same 
shareholder. Moreover, in the event of an increase 
in capital by means of an incorporation of reserves, 
profits or share premia, the double voting right is 
conferred at issuance to registered shares allotted 
without charge to a shareholder when his holding 
of old shares gives him this right. » 

Elements likely to have an effect in the case of a 
public offering 

These items are disclosed in the paragraph 
"Information about Shareholders" of the 
Registration Document. 

Points to Watch Out for Relating to the Sovereign 
Function 

As the Middlenext Code recommends, the 
Company displayed great vigilance about the 
following points during the period from January 1, 
2015 until the date of the change in corporate 
governance structure. 

Informing the shareholders about risks 

The Company's business risks were clearly 
explained in the published documents. The 
registration document, containing the financial 
statements approved by the Management Board, 
resumes all these risks. 

Choice of the Members of the Supervisory 
Board 

The historical or major shareholders, in particular 
the employee shareholders choose their 
representatives. 

Participation in votes 

During the meetings of shareholders, a quorum 
was in general exceeded, ensuring the validity of 
decisions. By way of exception, a quorum was not 
present for the extraordinary resolutions during the 
Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General 
Meeting convened on first call on June 29, 2015, 
which required that an Extraordinary General 
Meeting be convened on second call on July 15, 
2015. 
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Protection of minority interests 

Transactions with related parties are clearly 
explained in Registration Document. Regulated 
agreements are also explained. They were the 
subject of a report of the auditors, included in 
Registration Document. All of this information is 
brought to the attention of the shareholders prior to 
the General Meeting. 

Management of the shareholder's base over the 
long-term 

Prior to the completion of the financial restructuring 
of the Group, the Company was confronted with a 
very large dispersion of its shareholder's 
base. Nevertheless, the Company benefitted from 
a high degree of shareholder loyalty and saw to its 
management over the long-term 

 
 
6.3.1.2 Corporate governance since the change 
in corporate governance structure 
 
 

6.3.1.2.1 The Executive Power: Executive 
Management  

 

Following the change in corporate governance 
structure approved by the Company's shareholders 
during the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 
July 15, 2015 on second convening, and in 
accordance with the provisions of the Conciliation 
Agreement dated May 26, 2015, and Article 14 of 
the bylaws updated as of September 22, 2015, the 
Company is now headed by Frédéric Michelland in 
his position as Chief Executive Officer, aided by 
Olivier Regnard in his position as Deputy CEO, and 
administered by a Board of Directors. In this 
context, the Board of Directors decided, at its 
meeting on September 22, 2015, to separate the 
duties of the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
from those of Chief Executive Officer.  

In accordance with the Middlenext Code 
recommendations, the terms and conditions of 
remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Deputy CEO(s) are clearly explained in this report 
and in the registration document of the Company. 

The Board of Directors decides on the 
remuneration policy for corporate officers and the 
remuneration of each of them on proposal of the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee. The 
Company having decided to continue to refer to the 
Middlenext Code, it ensured that the remuneration 
policy implemented for the Chief Executive Officer 
and the Deputy CEO is in compliance with its 
recommendations.  

This policy applies in an exhaustive manner to 
fixed, variable and non-recurring remuneration to 
which are added benefits of whatsoever nature 
granted by the Company (retirement, payments 
due or likely to be due by reason of the ceasing or 
the change in duties, etc.) to the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Deputy CEO. 

Corporate office and employment contract 

The Company applies the treatment of the dual 
status as a corporate officer with an employment 
contract. 

Thus, Frédéric Michelland and Olivier Regnard 
have employment agreements which have not 
been suspended. 

Elements of principal remuneration 

The remunerations of the Chief Executive Officer 
and the Deputy CEO are determined in compliance 
with the recommendations of the Middlenext Code. 

The annual remuneration of Frédéric Michelland 
and Olivier Regnard is comprised of a fixed part 
and a variable part.  

At its meeting of September 22, 2015, the Board of 
Directors decided that the terms and conditions of 
the remuneration were mostly to remain 
unchanged in relation to the terms and conditions 
of their remuneration approved by the Company 
under its former structure as a French public limited 
company with Management Board and Supervisory 
Board. 

Determination of the fixed share of remuneration 

The fixed share of the annual remuneration of 
Frédéric Michelland and Olivier Regnard is: 

 €350,000 for Frédéric Michelland, which 
corresponds to the gross annual 
remuneration in respect of his employment 
contract binding him to the Company; 

 €200,000 for Olivier Regnard, which 
corresponds to the gross annual 
remuneration in respect of his employment 
contract binding him to the Company. 

Determination of the variable share of 
remuneration 

The variable share of the remuneration of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Deputy CEO was 
approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting 
on September 22, 2015.  
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This variable share is determined as a function of 
the degree of attainment of a certain number of 
qualitative and quantitative objectives.  

The level of achievement required for the 
quantitative criteria for calculating the variable 
elements of remuneration was determined 
precisely but cannot be made public for 
confidentiality reasons. 

The variable share of the remuneration of Frédéric 
Michelland in connection with his position as Chief 
Executive Officer is fixed annually as a function of 
the realization of objectives determined on the 
basis of the following quantitative and qualitative 
criteria: 

 on operating profitability and net 
indebtedness criteria for an amount of up to 
85% of his fixed remuneration; 

 on qualitative criteria for an amount of up to 
20% of his fixed remuneration. 

The variable share of the remuneration of Olivier 
Regnard in connection with his position as Deputy 
CEO is fixed annually on the basis of a target 
remuneration amount equal to 30% of his gross 
annual fixed remuneration as a function of the 
realization of objectives determined on the basis of 
the following quantitative and qualitative criteria:  

 on operating profitability and net 
indebtedness criteria for an amount of up to 
27.6% of the target remuneration; 

 on qualitative criteria for an amount of up to 
8.4% of the target remuneration. 

During its meeting on March 2, 2016, the Board of 
Directors, on a proposal of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee, set the variable shares 
of the Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy CEO 
for 2015, as a function of performances realized 
with respect to objectives assigned, as follows:  

 €231,000 for Frédéric Michelland in 
connection with his position as Chief 
Executive Officer, which corresponds to a 
rate of realization of 70%; and 

 €23,017 for Olivier Regnard in respect of his 
position as Deputy CEO, corresponding to a 
realization rate of 72.5%. 

Other elements of remuneration 

Payment due or likely to be due by reason of the 
ceasing of duties of the Chief Executive Officer and 
the Deputy CEO.  

The Board of Directors at its meeting on 
September 22, 2015, decided the terms and 
conditions of the payment of the departure pay due 
or likely to be due to Frédéric Michelland and to 
Olivier Regnard in the event of the ceasing of their 
duties and of a forced departure from the 
Latécoère Group, it being specified that these 
terms and conditions mostly remain unchanged in 
relation to those that had been approved by the 
Company in its former structure as a French public 
limited company with Management Board and 
Supervisory Board.  

The terms of these commitments will be submitted 
for the approval of the General Meeting of the 
Shareholders. 

As from January 1, 2016, so that the first two 
consecutive reference years have been achieved 
while Mr. Frédéric Michelland has held the position 
of Chairman of the Management Board and then 
that of General Manager of Latécoère, the latter will 
have the right to a departure payment if the 
Company has recorded a consolidated net result, 
corrected for the fair value variation of financial 
instruments, for costs associated with the financial 
restructuring of the LATECOERE Group and for 
costs of implementation of the strategic plan, which 
is positive for one of the two consecutive fiscal 
years preceding the fiscal year during which 
Frédéric Michelland would have ceased to perform 
any duties within the LATECOERE Group, bearing 
in mind that the above condition has been met for 
the year ended on December 31, 2014 and for the 
year ended on December 31, 2015.  

In the event of the ceasing of his duties and the 
imposed departure from the LATECOERE Group, 
the departure payment to which Frédéric 
Michelland will have a right pursuant to the 
conditions indicated above, will correspond to a 
gross departure payment equal to 18 months of 
remuneration calculated on the basis of the total 
remuneration -- fixed and variable -- that he will 
have received during the fiscal year preceding the 
fiscal year in which he ceased to exercise any 
duties within the LATECOERE Group, it being 
specified that the variable share of the 
remuneration taken into account will correspond to 
the highest amount between the variable 
remuneration effectively received and 75% of the 
gross fixed annual remuneration that he will receive 
under the employment contract binding him to the 
Company. 
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In the event of the ceasing of his duties and forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group of Frédéric 
Michelland, including on his own initiative if he 
considers that he has no other choice, and at any 
time subsequent to (i) a change in control of the 
Company and/or (ii) the occurrence of a persistent 
disagreement with the Board of Directors, Frédéric 
Michelland will have the right to a gross departure 
payment equal to 18 months of remuneration 
calculated on the basis of the total remuneration -- 
fixed and variable -- that he will have received 
during the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year in 
which he ceased to exercise any duties within the 
LATECOERE Group, it being specified that the 
variable share of the remuneration taken into 
account will correspond to the highest amount 
between the variable remuneration effectively 
received and 100% of the gross fixed annual 
remuneration that he will receive under the 
employment contract binding him to the Company. 

It is specified that the ceasing of the duties of 
Frédéric Michelland and his forced departure from 
the LATECOERE Group "on his own initiative and 
at any time if he considers that he has no other 
choice " subsequent to the occurrence of one of 
the events listed in points (i) and (ii) above, may 
result: 

 from his resignation from his duties as Chief 
Executive Officer and as a director; 

 of his request to be dismissed from his duties 
as Chief Executive Officer and as a director; or 

 of his wish not to be renewed in his duties as 
Chief Executive Officer and as a director. 

 
Any severance payment which shall be due, as the 
case may be, in respect of the early termination of 
the employment contract of Frédéric Michelland 
with the Company will be charged on the amount of 
departure payment due, as the case may be, in 
accordance with the conditions set out above, 
which shall not exceed 18 months of total 
compensation. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as 
corporate officer and as employee, at the 
Company's initiative and of the forced departure 
from the LATECOERE Group of Olivier Regnard 
during 2016, Olivier Regnard will have the right to a 
departure payment (i) if the LATECOERE Group 
has had access to new financial resources during 
2014 or 2015, in particular in the context of an 
agreement with its creditor banks, or (ii) if the 
Company has recorded a consolidated net result, 
corrected for fair value variation of financial 
instruments, which is positive during fiscal year 
2015, bearing in mind that condition (i) and (ii) 
above have been met. 

As from January 1, 2017, so that the first two 
consecutive reference years have been achieved 
while Olivier Regnard has held the position of 
Member of the Management Board then Deputy 
CEO of the Company, Olivier Regnard will have the 
right to a departure payment if the Company has 
recorded a consolidated net result, corrected for 
the fair value variation of financial instruments, for 
costs associated with the financial restructuring of 
the LATECOERE Group and for costs of 
implementation of the strategic plan, which is 
positive for one of the two consecutive fiscal years 
preceding the fiscal year during which Olivier 
Regnard would have ceased to perform any duties 
within the LATECOERE Group. 

In the event of the ceasing of his duties, both as 
corporate officer and as employee, at the 
Company's initiative and of the forced departure 
from the LATECOERE Group, the departure 
payment to which Olivier Regnard will have a right, 
subject to the conditions indicated above, will 
correspond to the gross departure payment equal 
to 18 months of remuneration calculated on the 
basis of the total remuneration -- fixed and variable 
-- that he will have received during the fiscal 
preceding the fiscal year in which he ceased to 
exercise any duties within the LATECOERE Group. 

The foregoing would apply in the event of the 
ceasing of his duties, including on his own initiative 
if he considers that he has no other choice, and at 
any time subsequent to (i) a change in control of 
the Company and/or (ii) the occurrence of a 
persistent disagreement with the Company. 

It is specified that the ceasing of the duties of 
Olivier Regnard and his forced departure from the 
LATECOERE Group "on his own initiative and at 
any time if he considers that he has no other 
choice" subsequent to the occurrence of one of the 
events listed in points (i) and (ii) above, may result: 

 from his resignation from his duties as Deputy 
CEO; 

 of his request to be dismissed from his duties 
as Deputy CEO; or 

 of his wish not to be renewed in his duties as 
Deputy CEO. 

 
It is specified that any severance payment which 
shall be due, as the case may be, in respect of the 
early termination of the employment contract of 
Olivier Regnard with the Company will be charged 
on the amount of departure payment due, as the 
case may be, in accordance with the conditions set 
out above, which shall not exceed 18 months of 
total compensation. 
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The terms of these commitments will be submitted 
for the approval of the General Meeting of the 
Shareholders. 

Unemployment insurance 

As reminded by the Board of Directors at its 
meeting on September 22, 2015, the Company, in 
accordance with the decision of the Supervisory 
Board of November 4, 2013, subscribed a private 
unemployment insurance policy of the GSC type 
("Garantie Sociale des Chefs et Dirigeants 
d'Entreprise") for the benefit of Frédéric Michelland. 
This private unemployment insurance policy was 
maintained for the benefit of Frédéric Michelland in 
connection with his designation to the duties of 
Chief Executive Officer, and applies in the event of 
the ceasing of his duties and departure from the 
LATECOERE Group. If such insurance provides for 
a waiting period, the Company has undertaken to 
indemnify the Chief Executive Officer in case of the 
ceasing of his duties and the departure from the 
LATECOERE Group until the end of the 
aforementioned waiting period, and this under the 
same conditions as those provided for by the 
relevant private unemployment insurance. This 
special payment will be cumulated with the 
departure payment described above. 

Furthermore, if taking into account the 
circumstances of the ceasing of duties and the 
forced departure of Frédéric Michelland, the 
guarantee provisions of the foregoing private 
unemployment insurance policy subscribed by 
LATECOERE for his benefit came not to apply, 
LATECOERE undertook to pay him a specific 
compensation corresponding to the amount to 
which he could have claimed under such insurance 
up to the limit of €150,000 per year, it being 
specified that this amount will cumulate with any 
other payment that will be paid him in connection 
with the ceasing of his duties and with the forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group. This 
commitment will be submitted for the approval of 
the General Meeting of the Shareholders. 

It is recalled that, taking into account the response 
received from the French unemployment office 
("Pôle Emploi") in connection with the ruling 
request procedure initiated at the time of the 
designation of Olivier Regnard as corporate officer, 
the Company did not subscribe a private 
unemployment insurance policy of the GSC type 
("Garantie Sociale des Chefs et Dirigeants 
d'Entreprise") for his benefit. If such insurance 
policy is subscribed in the future with respect to 
Olivier Regnard and if it provides for a waiting 
period between the date of the ceasing of the 
position and the beginning of the compensation, 
the Company will indemnify Olivier Regnard, in 
case of the ceasing of his duties or his forced 
departure from the LATECOERE Group, until the 

end of such waiting period, and under the same 
conditions as those provided for in the relevant 
private unemployment insurance policy. This 
special payment will be cumulated with the 
departure payment described above. However, in 
the event that Olivier Regnard should benefit, 
because of the ceasing of his duties and of the 
forced departure from the LATECOERE Group 
during foregoing waiting period, from 
compensation, even partial, from the French 
unemployment office ("Pôle Emploi"), the amount 
of the payment due by Latécoère in the foregoing 
conditions will be reduced accordingly by the 
amount of the compensation effectively paid by the 
French unemployment office to Olivier Regnard. 

Retirement 

The Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy CEO 
do not benefit from any special executive 
retirement scheme other than the statutory 
supplementary pension allotted to all the 
Company's other executive employees. 

The amount of the sums reserved for retirement 
and other personnel-related benefits for the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Deputy CEO is €10,608.  

Benefits in kind 

The Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy CEO 
benefit from a company car. As indicated above, 
Frédéric Michelland also benefits from an 
unemployment insurance policy for executives. 
These items are taken into account as benefits in 
kind. 

Stock options and bonus issues of shares 

The Board of Directors, at its meeting on 
September 22, 2015, and making use of the 
powers conferred on it by the Extraordinary 
General Meeting of the Company's shareholders 
held on second convening on July 15, 2015, 
decided to implement a system of bonus issues of 
the Company's shares for the benefit of certain 
corporate officers and employees who were 
Members of the Executive Committee of the 
Company.  

The bonus issue of shares of the Company in 
connection with this system is with respect to a 
maximum total number of 2,333,680 shares of the 
Company, to be issued in four consecutive 
tranches corresponding to, respectively, the 
Company's reference fiscal years 2015, 2016, 
2017 and 2018, subject to the finding by the Board 
of Directors of the conditions of issue required by 
the system. 



                                
                                 GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

                               December 31, 2015 

 
 
 
 
  

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015  LATECOERE            141       

 

6 

The bonus issue of shares of the Company is 
subject to (i) satisfaction of a condition of presence, 
and is a function of (ii) the realization of a condition 
of stock performance and (iii) a condition of 
economic EBITDA. 

Frédéric Michelland and Olivier Regnard are 
among the beneficiaries of this system, as 
disclosed in greater detail in chapter 3, note 10.4 of 
the Registration Document. 

During its meeting on March 2, 2016, the Board of 
Directors, on the basis of a report established by 
the Nominations and Compensation Committee, 
examined and found the realization by the relevant 
beneficiaries of the conditions for the bonus issue 
of shares for 2015, then ratified: 

 The bonus issue to Frédéric Michelland for 
2015 of a total number of 192,528 shares; 

 The bonus issue to Olivier Regnard for 2015 
of a total number of 124,518 shares. 

Moreover, except for the above-mentioned system 
of bonus issue of shares, there exists no other 
stock option or bonus issue of shares system for 
the benefit of the members of Executive 
Management.  

Points to watch out for 

As the Middlenext Code recommends, the 
Company, since the change in the corporate 
governance structure, displays great vigilance 
about the points listed below. 

Executive managementt is composed of two 
members: Frédéric Michelland as Chief Executive 
Officer and Olivier Regnard as Deputy CEO. 
The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer 
and of the Deputy CEO is decided by the Board of 
Directors on a proposal of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee. It is composed of two 
parts -- fixed and variable: a fixed share 
corresponding to their competence and to their field 
of responsibility in connection with an employment 
contract binding them to the Company, and a 
variable share based on the degree of attainment 
of a certain number of qualitative and quantitative 
objectives. The weighting between fixed and 
variable remuneration was set so as not to limit the 
judgment capacity of the Chief Executive Officer 
and the Deputy CEO and thus to thwart the spirit of 
their mission. 

Furthermore, the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee sees to the development of the Chief 
Executive Officer and of the Deputy CEO according 
to their responsibilities and taking into account the 

statutory age limit. It periodically reports about this 
to the Board of Directors. 

 

 

6.3.1.2.2 The guidance and supervisory power: 
The Board of Directors 
 

Principal remuneration of the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors 

In accordance with the Middlenext Code 
recommendations, the terms and conditions of 
remuneration of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors are clearly explained in this report and in 
the registration document of the Company. 

The annual remuneration of the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors is set at a gross fixed amount of 
€200,000.  

Other elements of remuneration 

Extraordinary bonus  

Pierre Gadonneix will benefit from an extraordinary 
bonus in a gross amount equal to two hundred 
thousand euros (€200,000) paid on the second 
anniversary date of the date of appointment as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, which is 
September 22, 2017, provided that Pierre 
Gadonneix is still Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of the Company at that date.  

Payment due or likely to be due by reason of the 
ceasing of duties of Chairman of the Board of 
Directors.  

A departure payment in a gross amount equal to 
two hundred thousand euros (€200,000) may be 
paid to Pierre Gadonneix in the event of revocation 
of his duties as Chairman of the Board of Directors 
before the second anniversary date of the date of 
appointment as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors.  

The payment of the departure payment thus 
granted to Pierre Gadonneix will be conditioned on 
the finding by the Board of Directors, after 
consulting the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee, of the fulfillment of the following 
condition:  

 organization of the work and functioning of 
the Board of Directors that enables the 
Board of Directors to take the decisions 
necessary to support the financial 
restructuring of the LATECOERE Group 
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realized in September 2015 and to the 
implementation of its strategic plan.  

In the event of realization of this condition, the 
departure payment will be made to Pierre 
Gadonneix in whole and in one installment within a 
maximum time period of one month from the 
effective date of his removal from his duties as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the 
Company. 

The terms of these commitments will be submitted 
for the approval of the General Meeting of the 
Shareholders. 

Composition 

At the date of this report, the Board of Directors is 
composed of eleven members; four of them: Pierre 
Gadonneix, Isabelle Azemard, Claire Dreyfus-
Cloadec, and Francis Niss, are considered as 
independent under the criteria indicated in the 
Middlenext Code recommendations and validated 
by the Nominations and Compensation Committee. 

At the date of this report, the Board of Directors 
counts two women present among its eleven 
members. The Company is conscious of the 
requirements with respect to the balanced 
representation of women and men within boards of 
directors and supervisory boards as from January 
1, 2017. For this reason, thought is being given to 
the composition of the Board of Directors so as to 
enable the Company's compliance with these 
requirements.  

In addition, Jean-Louis Peltriaux, an employee of 
the Company, represents the employee 
shareholders. 

Internal bylaws 
 

On September 22, 2015, the Board of Directors 
adopted internal bylaws, which were updated at the 
Board of Director meetings on December 15, 2015 
and March 2, 2016. This latter amendment 
coincided with the adoption of the internal bylaws 
of the Nominations and Compensation Committee 
on the same date. The internal bylaws of the Board 
of Directors are signed by all of the Members of the 
Board of Directors at their entry into duties. 

Rules of ethics 
 

The internal bylaws of the Board of Directors and of 
its Committees recall the rules of ethics that the 
Members of the Board of Directors must follow. At 
the time of their appointment, each Member 
receives a copy of the internal bylaws as well as a 
Middlenext Code. Every Member must sign these 
internal bylaws. 

In addition, in a general manner, to the Company's 
knowledge, at the date of the establishment of this 
report, there exists no conflict of interest between 
the duties of each of the Members of the Board of 
Directors with respect to the Company and their 
private interests or other duties. 

Choice of the Members of the Board of 
Directors  

Future Members of the Board of Directors are co-
opted or appointed by the Board of Directors, after 
consulting with the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee. During the vote submitted to the 
General Meeting, their CVs, their career histories 
and their competences are explained. 

Term of positions 

In order to fully benefit from the competence of the 
Members and given the long business cycle of the 
Group, the term of the positions was set at six 
years. 

Briefing of Members 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors ensured 
that the directors had in a timely manner and in a 
clear and appropriate form the information 
necessary for the performance of their duties. He 
asked for any document or information to inform 
the Board of Directors in connection with the 
preparation of meetings. 
In order to participate effectively in the work and 
the decisions of the Board of Directors, every 
member of the Board of Directors was able to 
obtain the documents that he considered useful, 
upon request made to the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors. 
Every member of the Board of Directors was able 
to benefit, when he deemed it necessary, from 
training on the distinctive features of the Company, 
its business lines and its business sector. 
Apart from Board of Directors meetings, the 
Members of the Board of Directors were informed 
of any events affecting in a significant manner the 
operations of the LATECOERE Group.  

The delegates of the Works Council have 
benefitted from the same information as the 
Members of the Board of Directors, and in the 
same time periods. 

 
Meetings of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors meets as often as the 
corporate interest requires it to do so, and in any 
event at least once a quarter. 
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The Board of Directors is convened in writing by 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors at least five 
business days before the date of the meeting. In an 
emergency, the convening may be made without 
time limit. The Board of Directors meets regularly 
on written notification of the Chief Executive Officer 
or of at least three current Members of the Board of 
Directors sent at least five business days before 
the date of the meeting. Except in case of an 
emergency, the Members of the Board of Directors 
receive with the notification the agenda of the 
meeting of the Board of Directors as well as the 
elements necessary for their review and which 
allow them to make informed decisions on the 
subjects included on the agenda. Meetings of the 
Board of Directors are held at any location 
specified in the convening notification. 

 
Decisions are taken by a majority of votes of the 
members present (or deemed present in the case 
of videoconference or use of means of 
telecommunication) or represented. In the event of 
a tie vote, the chairman of the meeting will never 
have the deciding vote. 
The Board of Directors may only act validly if at 
least half of its members are present (or deemed 
present in the case of videoconference or use of 
means of telecommunications).  
In accordance with its internal bylaws, the 
members of the Board of Directors may participate 
in meetings of the Board of Directors by 
videoconference or by means of 
telecommunication, except for the adoption of 
decisions which have as their purpose: 

 the approval of statutory or consolidated 
financial statements;  

 the establishment of statutory or 
consolidated management reports. 

Decisions are taken by a majority of votes of the 
members present (or deemed present in the case 
of videoconference or use of means of 
telecommunication) or represented. In the event of 
a tie vote, the chairman of the meeting will never 
have the deciding vote. As an exception to the 
foregoing, the Board of Directors adopts by 8/11ths 
majority of the members present or represented, 
which must include two independent members 
other than the Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
the following decisions: 

 merger or division or partial division 
transactions or any other transaction of 
similar effect; 

 sale or disposal, by the company or its 
subsidiaries, of significant holdings or of 
strategic assets; 

 the acquisition, by the company or its 
subsidiaries of other holdings or assets for a 
price exceeding €50 million; and 

 the creation, by the company or its 
subsidiaries, of any significant joint venture. 

 
Persons participating in meetings of the Board of 
Directors are held to a strict duty of confidentiality. 

 
 
Activities of the Board of Directors since the 
change in corporate governance structure 

The Board of Directors met five times since the 
change in corporate governance structure.  

Over this period, the total attendance of the 
members to the meetings of the Board of Directors 
comes to 87%. 

The delegates of the Works Council were 
convened to all of the Board of Directors meetings. 
They regularly attended them. 

The Statutory Auditors were convened to all the 
meetings of the Board of Directors, and in 
particular to those which approved the annual and 
the semi-annual financial statements and forward-
looking management documents. They have 
participated in them. 

In accordance with the provisions of its internal 
bylaws, and of those of the internal bylaws of the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee, 
certain decisions of the Board of Directors were 
prepared, in the areas of their competence, by the 
specialized committees that it created, and which 
reported to it their work and which submitted to it 
their advice and proposals. 

The main activities of the Board of Directors since 
the change in corporate governance structure on 
September 22, 2015, were the following: 

As part of its guidance and supervisory mission: 

 At its meeting on September 22, 2015, the 
Board of Directors: 

- Examined and approved the the semi-
annual statutory and consolidated 
financial statements at June 30, 2015, and 
approved the related reports; 

- Authorized the signature of an 
amendment no. 5 to the syndicated loan 
in connection with the financial 
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restructuring of the LATECOERE Group, 
as well as the giving of securities required 
to be granted by the Company pursuant to 
such amendment; 

- Approved the terms and conditions of an 
amendment to a shareholder loan 
agreement between the Company and 
LATelec dated December 21, 2011, and 
authorized the giving of sureties required 
to be granted by the Company with 
respect to sums due by virtue of such 
shareholder loan; 

- Authorized an annual global ceiling for the 
granting of securities, endorsements and 
guarantees by the Chief Executive Officer; 

- Was informed with respect to the 
implementation of a support mechanism 
for employees foreseen in complement to 
the financial restructuring of the 
LATECOERE Group,  

 At its meeting on October 28, 2015, the Board 
of Directors: 

- Approved the approval thresholds of the 
Board of Directors for calls for tender; 

- Benefitted from a presentation on the 
financial statements at September 30, 
2015; 

- Approved the proposed press release on 
revenue at September 30, 2015; 

- Ratified the amount of consulting fees for 
the financial restructuring of the 
LATECOERE Group. 

 At its meeting on December 15, 2015, the 
Board of Directors: 

- Studied monthly accounting closing 
procedures and means for improvement; 

- Became aware of the proposed 2016 
budget; 

- Took note of the minutes of the Internal 
Audit Committee and of the Strategy 
Committee; 

- Approved the terms and conditions 
relating to the capital increase reserved to 
employees of the Company. 

 

 At its meeting on January 19, 2016, the Board 
of Directors: 

- Approved the 2016 budget and took note 
of the minutes of the Internal Audit 
Committee on the same; 

- Delegated authority to the Chief Executive 
Officer to implement the share buyback 
program voted by the General Meeting on 
June 29, 2015, in particular in the context 
of the capital increase reserved to 
employees. 

 At its meeting on March 2, 2016, the Board of 
Directors: 

- Approved the statutory and consolidated 
financial statements of the Company for 
the year ended on December 31, 2015; 

- Approved the proposed press release 
relating to the 2015 results; 

- Acknowledged the realization of the 
capital increase reserved to employees; 

- Authorized the annual global ceiling for 
the granting of securities, endorsements 
and guarantees by the Chief Executive 
Officer.  

Concerning the economic and financial situation of 
the LATECOERE Group: 

 From September 22, 2015 until the date of this 
report, the Board of Directors was kept 
regularly informed by the members of Executive 
Management, particularly on the occasion (i) of 
presentations of quarterly reports and (ii) 
reports of the work of the Strategy Committee: 

- of significant events of the Group's 
business, of the economic climate in the 
aeronautical industry, of the evolution of 
the business of branches, of the financial 
position of the Group, of foreign exchange 
rate hedging as well as of the significant 
commercial negotiations in progress; 

- of the economics of major programs; 

- of the advancement of the Boost Plan; 
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As regards corporate governance: 

 At its meeting on September 22, 2015, the 
Board of Directors: 

- Decided to create an Internal Audit 
Committee, a Nominations and 
Compensation Committee, and a Strategy 
Committee; 

- Adopted internal bylaws of the Board of 
Directors; 

- Examined the new anti-bribery policy of 
the LATECOERE Group. 

 At its meeting on December 15, 2015, the 
Board of Directors amended its internal bylaws. 

 At its meeting on March 2, 2016, the Board of 
Directors adopted internal bylaws of the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee 
and, consequently, amended a second time the 
internal bylaws of the Board of Directors. 

 The Board of Directors:  

- appointed Pierre Gadonneix as Chairman 
of the Board of Directors (September 22, 
2015 meeting); 

- appointed Frédéric Michelland as Chief 
Executive Officer (September 22, 2015 
meeting); 

- appointed Olivier Regnard as Deputy 
CEO (September 22, 2015 meeting); 

- appointed Claire Dreyfus-Cloarec as 
Chairwoman of the Internal Audit 
Committee (September 22, 2015 
meeting); 

- appointed Francis Niss as a Member of 
the Internal Audit Committee (September 
22, 2015 meeting); 

- appointed Matthew Glowasky as a 
Member of the Internal Audit Committee 
(September 22, 2015 meeting); 

- appointed Pierre Gadonneix as a Member 
of the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee (September 22, 2015 
meeting); 

- appointed Christophe Villemin as a 
Member of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee (September 22, 
2015 meeting); 

- appointed Pierre Gadonneix as Chairman 
of the Strategy Committee (September 22, 
2015 meeting); 

- appointed Frédéric Michelland as a 
Member of the Strategy Committee 
(September 22, 2015 meeting); 

- appointed Francis Niss as a Member of 
the Strategy Committee (September 22, 
2015 meeting); 

- appointed Matthew Glowasky as a 
Member of the Strategy Committee 
(September 22, 2015 meeting); 

- appointed Christophe Villemin as a 
Member of the Strategy Committee 
(September 22, 2015 meeting); 

- co-opted Isabelle Azemard as a Member 
of the Board of Directors in replacement of 
Eve-Lise Blanc-Deleuze, who had 
resigned (October 28, 2015 meeting);  

- appointed Isabelle Azemard as 
Chairwoman of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee (December 15, 
2015 meeting);  

- co-opted Ralph Ackermann as a Member 
of the Board of Directors in replacement of 
Jean-Luc Allavena, who had resigned 
(March 2, 2016 meeting); 

- appointed Matthew Glowasky as a 
Member of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee (March 2, 2016 
meeting);  

-  appointed Francis Niss as a Member of 
the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee (March 2, 2016 meeting).  

 With respect to managing corporate officers' 
remuneration, the Board of Directors accepted: 

- At its meeting on September 22, 2015, 
established the principles of the terms and 
conditions of remuneration and departure 
payment of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and 
of the Deputy CEO; 

- At its meeting on September 22, 2015, 
approved the implementation of a system 
of bonus issue of shares for the benefit of 
certain members of the Executive 
Committee; 
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- At its meeting on March 2, 2016, ratified 
the bonus issue of the first tranche of 
shares of the Company to the members of 
the Executive Committee according to the 
system; 

- At its meeting on March 2, 2016, ratified 
the proposals of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee meeting of the 
same day, relating to: 

 the assessment of quantitative and 
qualitative objectives contributing to 
the establishment of the variable share 
of the remuneration of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Deputy CEO 
in respect of 2015; 

 the setting of quantitative and 
qualitative objectives contributing to 
the establishment of the variable share 
of the remuneration of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Deputy CEO 
in respect of 2016. 

As regards labor policy 

 Please note that the Extraordinary General 
Meeting of the shareholders of the Company on 
second convening on July 15, 2015 authorized 
the Board of Directors to proceed with bonus 
issues of shares existing or to be issued of the 
Company, without preferential subscription 
right, for the benefit of members of the salaried 
workforce or certain categories of them, and 
corporate officers, or certain of them, of the 
Company and/or companies that are affiliated 
with it. As indicated above, a system of bonus 
issues of shares was, on the basis of this 
authorization, implemented by the Board of 
Directors at its meeting on September 22, 
2015, for the benefit of certain members of the 
Executive Committee.  

 In addition, and pursuant to the authorization 
conferred on it by the abovementioned 
Extraordinary General Meeting, the Board of 
Directors, at its meetings on September 22, 
2015, October 28, 2015, and January 19, 2016, 
studied and approved the terms and conditions 
of the implementation of an increase of cash 
capital reserved to the members of company 
savings schemes in force within the 
LATECOERE Group. At its meeting on March 
3, 2016, the Board of Directors noted the 
realization of this reserved increase of capital. 

 At its meeting on March 2, 2016, the Board of 
Directors approved the ethical charter of the 
company.  

As regards remuneration of the Members of the 
Board of Directors 

The Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General 
Meeting on June 29, 2015 voted a resolution 
bringing the total annual amount attributable to 
attendance fees to €480,000 allocated to the 
Members of the Board of Directors as from the date 
of the change in corporate governance structure. 
This amount applies on a prorata basis for the 
period from the date of change in corporate 
governance until the date of the closing of fiscal 
year 2015. The Board of Directors, at its meeting 
on September 22, 2015, established this amount at 
€72,602,75.  

On the termination of the Conciliation Agreement of 
May 26, 2015, it is expected that the Members of 
the Board of Directors will have the right to a fixed 
share consideration for their duties as director 
equal to €50,000 per year. However, in accordance 
with such agreement, no attendance fee is paid (i) 
to Members of the Board of Directors who are 
employee corporate officers of Apollo and of 
Monarch, (ii) to the representative of employee 
shareholders, and (iii) to the Members of the Board 
of Directors who simultaneously exercise the duties 
of Chief Executive Officer. In addition, a 
supplementary annual remuneration of €10,000 will 
be allocated to the chairperson of each committee 
(except the Chairman of the Board of Directors). 

 

The committees of the Board of Directors 

At its meeting on September 22, 2015, the Board of 
Directors implemented three committees to assist it 
in its work: The Internal Audit Committee, the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee, and 
the Strategy Committee. 

The Internal Audit Committee 

The Internal Audit Committee is composed of three 
members. They are Claire Dreyfus-Cloarec 
(Chairwoman), Francis Niss, and Matthew 
Glowasky. Two members are considered as 
independent under the Middlenext Code: Claire 
Dreyfus-Cloarec and Francis Niss. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors, Pierre 
Gadonneix, regularly participates in meetings of 
this Committee. 

The missions of the Internal Audit Committee are 
the following: it is responsible for the monitoring of 
the process of preparing the financial information 
and the budget, for the efficiency of the internal 
control systems and for risk management. It issues 
recommendations regarding the appointment of the 
auditors, verifies their independence and ensures 
itself of the statutory control they perform.  
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During these meetings dedicated to the annual and 
semi-annual closings, it informs the Board of 
Directors of its comments on these financial 
statements. 

The Internal Audit Committee met six times since 
the change in the corporate governance structure, 
and in particular, its work covered: 

 The review of the quarterly financial statements 
at September 30, 2015 (October 28, 2015 
meeting); 

 the proposed 2016 budget (December 9, 2015, 
and January 19, 2016 meetings); 

 The advancement of the project for the 
acceleration of time periods for closing; 

 Hedging policy and monitoring of hedging 
implemented; 

  The review of consolidated and statutory 
financial statements of the company (February 
12, and February 25, 2016 meetings); 

 The review of all documents included in the 
Registration Document (April 28, 2016 
meeting). 

This Committee's participation rate was 100% for 
the relevant period. 

Members of the Internal Audit Committee had at 
their disposition analyses and financial and 
accounting documents related to their work; they 
had the possibility of listening to the auditors, the 
Chief Financial Officer as well as, as a function of 
the agenda, the relevant Members of the Board of 
Directors. 

The Internal Audit Committee regularly reported its 
work to the Board of Directors, which duly noted it 
and followed the whole of the recommendations 
therein. 

The Nominations and Compensation Committee 

The Nominations and Compensation Committee is 
composed of five members: Isabelle Azemard 
(Chairwoman), Pierre Gadonneix, Christophe 
Villemin, Matthew Glowasky, and Francis Niss. 
Three members are considered as independent 
under the Middlenext Code: Isabelle Azemard, 
Pierre Gadonneix, and Francis Niss. 
The missions of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee regarding appointments 
are the following: it gives its advice on the 
separation or the accumulation of the duties of 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and of Chief 
Executive Officer; it gives its advice on the 

proposed appointment or removal of the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors; gives its advice on the 
proposed appointment and removal of the Chief 
Executive Officer and of the Deputy CEO(s) by the 
Board of Directors and may also propose 
candidates; it also establishes a succession plan 
and assists the Board of Directors in the selection 
and evaluation of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, of the Chief Executive Officer and of the 
Deputy CEO(s), as the case may be, makes 
proposals for the selection of members of the 
Board of Directors and members of Committees, 
and more generally on the composition of the 
Board of Directors and the Committees, examines 
the independence of members of the Board of 
Directors and candidates for a position as a 
member of the Board of Directors or a Committee.  

The Nominations and Compensation Committee is 
informed of the policy developed by the Executive 
Management of the Company in terms of 
management of the managing executives of the 
LATECOERE Group (managing officers of 
subsidiaries and members of the Executive 
Committee). 

For remunerations, it also makes all 
recommendations to the Board of Directors 
concerning the remuneration of members, and 
members of the Executive Management of the 
Company, in particular on the variable share of the 
Chief Executive Officer and of the Deputy CEO(s).  

In addition, the Nominations and Compensation 
Committee may be consulted by the Board of 
Directors on any project concerning the employee 
profit-sharing scheme policy for managing 
executives of the LATECOERE Group (managing 
officers of subsidiaries and members of the 
Executive Committee), which may be likely to give 
rise to the allocation, for the benefit of the latter, of 
share subscription options, of share purchase 
options, or even bonus issues of shares or, more 
generally, to the implementation of any other 
system that enables access to the capital of the 
Company. 

The Nominations and Compensation Committee 
met three times since the change in the corporate 
governance structure; in particular, it worked on 
and formulated recommendations to the Board of 
Directors: 

 at its meeting on October 28, 2015, relating 
to the appointment of Isabelle Azemard as a 
new director; 

 at its meeting on October 28, 2015, relating 
to the appointment of Isabelle Azemard as 
Chairwoman of the Nominations and 
Compensation Committee; 
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 at its meeting on March 2, 2016 relating to: 

- the appointment of Ralph Ackermann as a 
new director; 

- the setting of quantitative and qualitative 
objectives contributing to the 
establishment of the variable share of the 
remuneration of the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Deputy CEO in respect of 
2016; 

- in the determination of the results 
obtained by Frédéric Michelland and 
Olivier Regnard in relation to quantitative 
and qualitative objectives contributing to 
the establishment of the variable shares of 
their remuneration during the fiscal year 
2015. 

The Nominations and Compensation Committee 
has regularly reported its work to the Board of 
Directors, which duly noted it and followed the 
whole of the recommendations therein. 

This Committee's participation rate was 100% for 
the relevant period. 

The Strategy Committee 

The Strategy Committee is composed of five 
members: Pierre Gadonneix (Chairman), Frédéric 
Michelland, Francis Niss, Matthew Glowasky and 
Christophe Villemin. 

The mission of the Strategy Committee is to advise 
the Board of Directors on the major strategic 
orientations of the LATECOERE Group and on the 
development policy presented by the Chief 
Executive Officer (strategic agreements, 
partnerships). 

The Strategy Committee met once since the 
change in corporate governance structure. In 
particular, it worked on and formulated 
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the 
implementation of the Boost Plan.  

Members of the Strategy Committee had at their 
disposition analyses and financial and accounting 
documents related to their work. 

The Strategy Committee was kept regularly 
informed of the content of discussions with the new 
creditors and of the various options examined by 
the Chief Executive Officer with its agreement. 

The Strategy Committee has regularly reported its 
work to the Board of Directors, which duly noted it 
and followed the whole of the recommendations 
therein. 

This Committee's participation rate was 100% for 
the relevant period. 

 

Evaluation of the Board of Director's work 

The internal bylaws of the Board of Directors as 
approved by the Board of Directors on March 2, 
2016, provides for an annual evaluation of the 
Board of Directors.  

However, the change in the corporate governance 
structure having been realized at the end of Q3 of 
the last fiscal year, the Board of Directors has 
estimated that it is more relevant to proceed with 
such evaluation exercise for the first time in fiscal 
year 2016. 

 

Points to watch out for relating to the 
functioning of the Board of Directors 

As the Middlenext Code recommends, the 
Company will display great vigilance about the 
following points. 

Separation of powers 

The missions and roles of the Board of Directors 
and of the Executive management are clearly 
defined in the Board of Director's internal bylaws 
("règlement intérieur") and the Company's bylaws 
("statuts"). 

Supervision by the Board of Directors  

Executive management regularly reports its 
decisions and results to the Board of Directors. The 
Nominations and Compensation Committee and 
the Internal Audit Committee, contribute through 
their work to the knowledge and information of the 
Board of Directors. The Strategy Committee 
contributes to strengthening the involvement of the 
Board of Directors in the strategic decisions of the 
LATECOERE Group and the development policy of 
the latter. 

 

The composition of the Board of Directors ensures 
the representativeness of the shareholders, as they 
result from the financial restructuring of the 
LATECOERE Group. One member represents the 
interests of the employee shareholders. 

Material means 
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As previously indicated the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors ensures that the directors obtain in a 
timely manner and in a clear and appropriate form 
the information necessary for the performance of 
their duties. 

In order to participate effectively in the work and 
the decisions of the Board of Directors, every 
member of the Board of Directors may obtain the 
documents that he considered useful, upon request 
made to the Chairman of the Board of Directors. 
 
Every member of the Board of Directors may 
benefit, when he deems it necessary, from training 
on the distinctive features of the Company, its 
business lines and its business sector. 
 

Apart from Board of Directors meetings, the 
Members of the Board of Directors are informed of 
any events affecting in a significant manner the 
operations of the LATECOERE Group. 

The Board's decisions are reported in the minutes, 
which lay out the different opinions expressed 
before the collegial decision-making. 

French and English are the working languages of 
the Board of Directors. Every director is free to 
express himself in either English or French. Work 
documents as well as notifications and minutes of 
meetings are drafted in English and French. During 
the meetings a translator is made available for the 
use of members of the Board of the Directors who 
so wish.  

As a function of the items on the agenda, the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors may decide, on 
a proposal of a member of the Board of Directors, 
to invite any person not a member of the Board of 
Directors, whose presence is deemed useful or 
necessary.  

In addition, in accordance with the internal bylaws 
of the Board of Directors, the directors representing 
Apollo, on the one hand, and the directors 
representing Monarch, on the other hand, have the 
right to invite to participate in meetings of the Board 
of Directors as an observer, an outsider to the 
LATECOERE Group, not a member of the Board of 
Directors and having, as the case may be, the 
status of employee or representative of Apollo or 
Monarch. 

Furthermore, any new Member without prior 
knowledge of the LATECOERE Group and of its 
business benefits from a detailed presentation of 
the distinctive features of the segment and of the 
companies, accompanied by a visit to the main 
sites of production and a meeting with the main 
managing executives.  

Appropriate competence 

The Members of the Supervisory Board are chosen 
according to their career history, their experience 
and their competences. Some have more 
particularly a high level of experience in industry in 
general and aeronautics in particular. Others have 
a more financial profile, especially those 
representing the shareholders Apollo and Monarch. 
The presence of Members who are independent in 
the sense of the recommendations of the 
Middlenext Code ensures the diversity necessary 
to the usefulness of the supervision of the 
executive power. 

Work-exercise Conditions 

The remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors (see preceding chapter) does not make 
them dependent on the Company. The six-year 
term of their position is sufficiently long in order to 
enable them to benefit from the effect of 
experience.  
 
 
6.3.1.2.3 The Sovereign Power: The 
Shareholders' General Meeting 

 
As the Middlenext corporate governance code 
recommends, the Company will display great 
vigilance about the following points. 
 

Participation of the Shareholders at the General 
Meeting  

The terms for shareholders taking part in the 
general meetings appear in Article 18 of the bylaws 
updated in September 2015. 

"Shareholder meetings are convened and decide in 
the conditions provided for by the French 
Commercial Code ("Code de commerce").  

They are held at the registered office or at any 
other location in the same French department.  

The right to take part in the general meetings is 
subject to the registration of the shares in the name 
of the shareholder or the intermediary registered 
for his account, at the second working day 
preceding the meeting at zero hour, Paris time, 
either in the registered securities accounts held by 
the Company, or in the accounts of bearer shares 
held by the authorized intermediary.  

Any shareholder who is the owner of a given 
category of shares may take part in the special 
general meetings of shareholders of that category. 

Any sharholder may be represented by another 
shareholder, spouse or partner with whom a civil 
solidarity pact was concluded or by any natural or 
legal person of their choice, in accordance with 
laws and regulations. 
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Shareholders may also vote by mail in accordance 
with laws and regulations. To be considered, any 
form of proxy or voting must be received by the 
company three days before the general meeting. 

Are considered present for the calculation of the 
quorum and the majority, the shareholders who 
take part in the general meeting by 
videoconference or means of telecommunications 
allowing their identification and the nature and 
conditions of application of which are determined 
by the regulations in force.  

A shareholder which has voted by correspondence 
or proxy cannot choose another method of 
participation in the general meeting. 

Each member of the general meeting has a 
number of votes proportional to the fraction of 
share capital corresponding th the shares it owns 
or represents, provided that these are not deprived 
of the right to vote. 

Voting rights double those conferred on shares 
representing the share of authorized capital that 
they represent, is allotted to all the fully paid up 
shares registered as registered securities for at 
least four years in the name of the same 
shareholder. Moreover, in the event of an increase 
in capital by means of an incorporation of reserves, 
profits or share premia, the double voting right is 
conferred at issuance to registered shares allotted 
without charge to a shareholder when his holding 
of old shares gives him this right." 
 

Elements Likely to Have an Effect in the Event 
of a Public Offering 

 
These items are disclosed in the paragraph 
"Information about Shareholders" of the registration 
document. 
 
 
Points to Watch Out for Relating to the 
Sovereign Function 

 
As the Middlenext corporate governance code 
recommends, the Company displays great 
vigilance about the following points since the 
change of governance 
 
 
 
 
Informing the Shareholders about Risks 

 
The Company's business risks are clearly 
explained in the published documents. The 
registration document, containing the financial 
statements approved by the Board of Directors, 
resumes all these risks; it is explained to the 
meeting of shareholders before asking them for 
approval.  

 

Choice of the Members of the Board of 
Directors 

In accordance with the terms of the internal bylaws 
of the Board of Directors and of the Conciliation 
Agreement signed on May 26, 2015 and approved 
by the Commercial Court of Toulouse on June 15, 
2015, three members of the Board of Directors are 
appointed from among the candidates proposed by 
Apollo and two of the members of the Board of 
Directors are appointed from among the candidates 
proposed by Monarch.  

Furthermore, the employees, who were together 
historically the major shareholders of the Company, 
choose their representative. 

 
Protection of Minority Interests  

 
Transactions with related parties are clearly 
explained in the registration document. Regulated 
agreements are also explained. They are the 
subject of a report of the auditors, included in the 
registration document. All of this information is 
brought to the attention of the shareholders prior to 
the general meeting.  
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6.3.2 Internal Control and Risk Management 
Procedures 
 
 
6.3.2.1 The Internal Control Procedures 
 
 
6.3.2.1.1 Definition and Objective of Internal 
Control 

 
The Group's internal control is linked to the legal 
framework applicable to listed companies. It has 
been inspired by the framework of reference 
published by the AMF in 2008, and updated in July 
2010, relating to mid- and small-cap issuers. 
 
Internal control is a whole of systems, which aim at 
controlling the Group's activities and giving 
reasonable assurance that the principal risks are 
dealt with.  
 
Internal control more particularly aims at ensuring 
the protection of assets, the reliability of the 
financial information, the respect of laws and rules 
and the application of the instructions and the 
orientations fixed by the Executive Management.  
 
 
6.3.2.1.2 Procedures Relating to the Preparation 

and Processing of Accounting and Financial 

Information 

The financial management, working closely with 
the Management Board, is responsible for the 
financial information.  

For this reason, the financial management is 
principally in charge of:  

 management control and the running of 
the planning/budget/reporting cycle,  

 the production of accounting data and the 
establishment of the financial statements,  

 projected cash management,  
 management of currency exchange rate 

and interest rate hedging,  
 and internal control.  

 
Management control is organized on a dual level; 
budgetary -- by nature/managerial responsibility; 
and analytical by program/product line. The 
controlling department manages the cost 
accounting by business and, in particular, the 
follow-up and the valuation of inventories and work-
in-progress. Long-term contracts (construction 
contracts) are the subject of periodic revisions 
based on evolution of costs and associated 
industrial scenarios.  
 

Forecasts of delivery rates of the various aircraft, 
which determine the workload schedules of the 
Aerostructures and Interconnection Systems 
businesses and thus the establishment of the 

budget and revised estimates during the fiscal 
year, are reviewed periodically. 
 
The budgetary procedures set transversally at the 
Group level extend to the French and foreign 
subsidiaries. The monitoring of the implementation 
of the budgets is the subject of monthly reports 
(key operational and financial indicators, income 
statements, and cash forecasts) and quarterly 
(balance sheets, income statements, and 
statements of flows) involving all managers under 
the oversight of the Management Board.  

The most significant budget items (personnel costs, 
materials and sub-contracting purchases, and 
investment activities) are analyzed and monitored 
on a monthly basis. Decisions that might have an 
impact on these items and in particular the 
evolution of internal personnel in the Group are 
submitted for the approval of the Executive 
Management.  
 
The Company's accounting and administrative 
procedures were completely updated based on the 
Company's key processes:  

 procedures covering the following sub-
processes: Forecast (budgetary sub-
process), Record, Close the financial 
statements, Analyze, Consolidate and 
Manage the financial risks (in particular 
the foreign currency exchange risk and 
the interest rate risk)  

 trade instructions explaining the tasks to 
perform for each sub-process  

 tool guides covering principally the 
Group's ERP, the consolidation and cash 
flow software, and reporting and analysis 
tools  

 
Most of this information is available through the 
Company's intranet and is applicable to the main 
foreign subsidiaries.  
 
In addition to this system, the Group also relies on 
a manual of IFRS accounting principles. 
 
The accounting principles and the IFRS 
adjustments are centralized at the parent company 
level.  

The Group's consolidated financial statements are 
established by the parent company's financial 
management. That department is in charge of the 
updating of consolidation procedures, training and 
the inclusion of subsidiaries within the 
consolidation scope. Moreover, it is in charge of the 
processing of information, the maintenance and 
development of the consolidation tools for the 
Group.  
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6.3.2.1.3 Accounting and Financial Information 
System 

 
The Accounting and financial information system 
meets the requirements of the accounting and 
management control processes defined by the 
financial management.  
 
It is based on the SAP software package. This 
solution, which has been extended to all of the 
Aerostructure division companies, covers mainly 
financial accounting, controlling, purchasing, orders 
management and invoicing, the supply chain and 
production management.  
 
The Information system master plan has for 
objective to evolve this solution towards a finance 
"core-model" applicable throughout the 
LATECOERE Group. The operational deployment 
of this solution is planned in 2016 for the 
companies of Interconnection Systems activity. 
 
The conformity of the developments with regard to 
business requirements is guaranteed by a strict 
maintenance process entrusted to the Group's 
internal SAP competence center. 
 
This system is supervised by an internal operations 
department that ensures the availability of data and 
the monitoring of interfaces with the firm's other 
systems that feed the SAP management system.  
 
Control of the risks associated with information 
systems is described in Chapter 5 -- "Risk Factors" 
--in paragraph 5.3.1. 
 

6.3.2.1.4 Financial and Accounting 
Communication 

 

A schedule of the mandatory deadlines for financial 
communications, regardless of whether they are 
related to legal, tax or securities regulation 
requirements, is generally established at the 
beginning of the year.  

The Company is part of compartment "B" of NYSE 
Euronext, and for this reason must satisfy certain 
obligations: regular communication (in French and 
in English), the holding of analyst and investor 
meetings, and the availability of financial 
information on a website. Regulatory monitoring is 
done by the Management Board.  
Before release, statutory financial information is 
subject to the control of the Board of Directors. 

6.3.2.2 Risk Management 

 

Our Group is constantly striving, in particular at the 
level of its senior management, to anticipate as 
well as possible risks linked with our businesses. 
The processes set up are as follows:  
The Executive Committee regularly analyzes 
market risks, business risks and risks related legal 
and regulatory requirements, as well as those 
arising from environmental aspects.  
 
The mapping of risks was updated in 2010. The 
main risks were reviewed, and the persons who 
manage them were identified. First, the gross risk 
(inherent risk) was assessed. The procedures and 
controls implemented were identified so as to 
define net risk (residual risk). This analysis did not 
uncover any new risks nor any change in 
assessment of their control by the Company. The 
company proceeded with a limited review of risks 
during 2015 and did not detect any significant 
changes in the mapping.  
 
The main risks identified and monitored by the 
internal control procedures are as follows: 
 
 
6.3.2.2.1 Program Risk 

 
Commercial Risk 

The strategic choice of future programs is carried 
out in a changing technological environment and 
involves the commitment of large investments, 
particularly in Research & Development. These 
investment programs assume that there will be 
long-term profitability. The profitability of the Group 
depends upon the commercial success of the 
programs. The commercial and profitability 
assumptions accepted by the Group could turn out 
not to be true and the products which have been 
the subject of these investments might not achieve 
the commercial success necessary to make the 
initial investments profitable. 

In order to face up to this risk, the Group has 
diversified its programs and has obtained 
refundable advances to finance a part of the 
Development costs on some programs. These 
advances are only refundable if the program 
succeeds. Details on these advances may be 
found in note 13.3 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 

  



                                
                                 GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

                               December 31, 2015 

 
 
 
 
  

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015  LATECOERE            153       

 

6 

Program Delay Risk 

Aircraft manufacturers can have difficulties 
respecting their program calendars. Delays in the 
schedule for the realization of new aircraft can 
cause delivery postponements and thus affect the 
rate of the realization of the Group's revenue. 
 
For the Group, this risk is shared out because the 
company uses second-tier "partners" as suppliers, 
who are subject to the same risks. The refundable 
advances obtained also make it possible to reduce 
this risk because reimbursements depend on the 
deliveries carried out. Moreover, the Group may 
occasionally open negotiations with its customers, 
which enables it to reduce this risk. These 
negotiations support and secure the financing of 
the relevant programs. 
 
6.3.2.2.2 Aircraft Manufacturer Delivery Rate 
Risk 

 
Aircraft order rates show cyclic tendencies related 
to changes in passenger traffic, to the rate of 
ageing and renewal of aircraft fleets, to equipment 
decisions and to the financial health of the airlines 
companies and also, in a more general way, to 
changes in global GDP and international business. 
The Group's activity resulting directly from the 
production rates of the aircraft manufacturers, 
variations in production rates impact its level of 
activity and can affect its financial position. 
Furthermore, exceptional events (terrorism, 
pandemics, and air crashes) could have major 
repercussions on air traffic and, as a consequence, 
on the aeronautical programs in which the Group 
participates. In 2015, about 97% of the Group's 
consolidated revenue related to civil aviation. 
 
In order to face up to the risk that aircraft 
manufacturers reduce production rates, in 
particular in a period of downturn cycle, the Group 
develops an industrial policy aiming to ensure a 
good level of reactivity of its cost structure and in 
which there is the choice to resort to "partner" 
suppliers of the second level, subject to the same 
constraints.  
 
6.3.2.2.3 Product Risk  
 

The manufacturer guarantees the airworthiness of 
delivered aircraft. In case of failure, LATECOERE, 
as a supplier, could be found liable. The very strict 
quality standards (selection of suppliers, internal 
quality control procedures, etc.) implemented in the 
ISO 9001/ EN EN 9100 V2009 system of reference 
by the companies of the Group, aim to ensure 
irreproachable reliability of the products delivered. 
An ISO 14001 certification initiative was 
undertaken; five of the Group's sites have already 
been certified and the extension to two sites is 
ongoing. Furthermore, the Group has taken out a 
product liability insurance policy (cf § 5.3.2). 

6.3.2.2.4 Raw Material Risk  
 

Raw material procurement (aluminum, steel and 
titanium) is covered principally by contracts 
managed by the aircraft manufacturers (conbids) 
and by long-term contracts containing clauses that 
limit the impact of price fluctuations. Market 
purchases constitute only a negligible portion of 
procurement, and represent the only part of our 
raw material purchasing subjected to price 
fluctuations. 

 
6.3.2.2.5 Legal and Tax Risks 

 
There exists no governmental, legal or arbitral 
proceeding, including any proceeding of which the 
Group has knowledge, which is outstanding or 
threatened, likely to have or having had during the 
last twelve months, a significant effect on the 
Group's financial position or profitability. 
 
6.3.2.2.6 Foreign Currency Exposure 

 
Through its international exposure and invoicing in 
US dollars to its French customers, the Group is 
confronted with foreign currency exposure. The 
exposure linked to fluctuations in the US dollar is 
partially hedged through forward sales contracts 
and option "collars". The dollar rate and the 
associated foreign exchange rate exposure are 
part of the estimated future assumptions for the 
determination of margins on construction contracts. 
The fluctuations of the parities may affect the 
operational margin, financial result, shareholders' 
equity and net debt. 
 
The Group consequently developed a policy of 
natural hedging by carrying out a part of its 
purchases in USD. Thus, the Group invoices 
approximately 78% of its sales in dollars and buys 
approximately 54% of supplies or sub-contracting 
in dollars. The Group's natural hedging on the USD 
represents approximately 34%. 
 
In order to manage its net residual exposure, the 
Group uses exchange hedging financial 
instruments, of the forward sale or option collar 
hedging nature. Option collar hedging implemented 
give the Group the possibility to benefit from an 
improvement in the EUR/USD rate. 
 
At March 31, 2016, the Group has hedged 
approximately 95% of its 2016 exposure by forward 
sale and collar hedging at EUR/USD rates of, at 
the worst, 1.20, 85% of its 2017 exposure at 
EUR/USD rates of, at worst, 1.16, and 20% of its 
2018 exposure at EUR/USD rates of, at worst, 
1.17. 
 
The Group has set-up exchange rate hedges to 
protect against the fluctuations of the Czech crown 
(koruna) with respect to the Euro in relation with its 
LATECOERE Czech Republic s.r.o. subsidiary and 
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against fluctuations of the Brazilian real with 
respect to the dollar in relation with its LdB 
subsidiary. 
 

Details of these derivative instruments and their 
impact on the financial statements appear in note 9 
to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The effect of the dollar exchange risk hedging 
operations on revenue was -44.3 million in 2015 
compared to +€3.9 million in 2014. 
 
The Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk and 
the sensitivity analysis are detailed in Note 21.3 to 
the consolidated financial statements. The 
characteristics of the financial instruments are 
described in notes 2.17 and 9 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
6.3.2.2.7 Interest Rate Risk 
 
Almost all net debt is based on short-term floating 
rates. The average interest rate borne by the 
Group in 2015 was 4.8%. 
 
The Group's exposure to the interest rate risk and 
the sensitivity analysis are mentioned in Note 21.4 
to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
6.3.2.2.8 Equity share risks 

 

The Group holds essentially LATECOERE shares, 
the carrying value of which is adjusted according to 
the closing market prices. The treasury shares are 
accounted for in deduction of shareholders' equity 
in the consolidated financial statements. The 
amount of treasury shares at December 31, 2015 is 
€120k. 
 
Given the fact that at year end the Company only 
held 29,432 of its own shares, the equity share risk 
is not significant. Furthermore, the Group does not 
hold any other significant listed shares and for this 
reason is not exposed to the risk of the fluctuation 
of share prices. 
 
6.3.2.2.9 Counterparty Risk 

 
The Group is mainly exposed to credit and 
counterparty risk relating to customers and 
derivative financial instruments and short-term 
financial investments.  
 
The risk of default of counterparties relating to 
customers is very limited due to the category of the 
main customers (Tier 1 aircraft manufacturers) of 
the Aerostructure and Interconnection Systems 
divisions. 
 
Counterparties relating to the Engineering and 
Services division are more numerous and may 
present a higher risk. However, this risk is judged 

to be of lesser importance with respect to the 
Group's main counterparties. 
 
At year-end, the Group had identified no significant 
credit risk on these assets due but not depreciated. 
 
The Group implements derivative financial 
instruments with the goal of reducing its exposure 
to foreign currency and interest rate risks. These 
transactions are contracted by private agreement 
with tier 1 banks. 
 
Cash is invested through risk-free monetary 
instruments with tier 1 banking establishments. 
 
6.3.2.2.10 Liquidity risk  

 
The Group manages its cash flow in a centralized 
way. The surpluses or the financing needs of its 
subsidiaries are invested or financed by the parent 
company on market conditions. The Group's cash 
flow department manages the current and 
provisional financing activities of the Group and its 
capacity to face up to its financial commitments. 
 
In April 2015, the Group changed its financial 
partner in connection with the financing of its 
receivables (factoring). The new contract will 
enable the growth of the Group's activity to be 
better accompanied during the next few years 
including the removing of the upper limit on the 
amount of financing of the assigned receivables. 
 
At the closing, the Group had drawn down the 
whole of the resources at its disposal including the 
factoring whose operating principle required the 
mobilization of all receivables attached to 
customers assigned without regard to actual cash 
needs. 
 
Group's exposure to liquidity risk is presented in 
Note 21.2 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
6.3.2.2.11 Continuity of information systems 
 

The Information Systems Department (DSI) 
guarantees the continuity of the array of services 
tied to the Group's Information Systems (SI). The 
DSI has among its missions, the maintenance in 
operational condition and the management of the 
integrity of the Information Systems.  
The maintenance in operational condition is 
ensured by a group organization structured in 
transversal competence centers. The integrity of 
the Information Systems is guaranteed through a 
mastery of computer risks plan which defines the 
priorities and associated actions to reduce the 
exposure to external and internal threats. 
 
An Information System master plan (SDSI) enables 
the alignment of the Information System to the 
strategy of the Group and on operational 
requirements while improving the performances 
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and the security of infrastructures. This multi-year 
plan implements information system solutions to 
meet business requirements outlined in formally 
described processes. These solutions are based 
on a policy of standards and of tested software 
packages in order to ensure their sustainability 
over time while benefiting from the latest technical 
advances or functional improvements. 
It is updated annually and validated by the 
Executive Committee (Comex), as a function of 
changes to the Group's strategy and business 
lines.  
 
A methodology of project management enables the 
human and financial investments in the master plan 
to be monitored and guaranteed. 
 
A project management methodology can control 
and guarantee the human and financial 
investments included in this master plan. 
Two independent and redundant Data Center 
provide service continuity by replicating data with 
each other through a local network also redundant. 
 
A shared backup strategy between business and 
the IT department ensures data recovery in case of 
incident or for every need of business. 
This strategy defines in particular the frequency of 
backups, storage conditions and rules periods of 

conservations physical media. 
 
6.3.2.2.12 Supplier risk 

 
In general, the LATECOERE Group works through 
partnerships with partners and suppliers. Events 
likely to affect these partners may affect the 
Group's business (additional costs, production 
delays, etc.). In order to limit this risk the Group 
takes various actions: 

 monitoring through regular audits (quality and 
logistics), 

 technical and organizational assistance, 

 assistance in the development of the maturity of 
suppliers through internal resources or through 
the SPACE organization of which LATECOERE 
is an executive member, 

 the development of double sources for the most 
critical supplies. 

 legal monitoring of potential claims of sensitive 
suppliers 

 
6.3.2.2.13 Country risk 

 
Due to its presence in more than ten countries, the 
LATECOERE Group may be exposed to political or 
social risks. 
The Group practices an industrial strategy of 
double sourcing schemes, once production rates 
allow it and in connection with its aircraft 
manufacturer customers, in order to better address 
country risks 
 
 
 
 
6.3.2.2.14 Insurance 

 
The subscription of Group insurance contracts 
enables a very wide range of risks to be covered in 
an optimized way, including: 

 damage to property or assets of the Group or for 
property entrusted to it, as well as the operating 
loss that may result from such damage for a 
period of 18 months of business, 

 the risk of the calling into question of the Group's 
liability for claims occurring during the 
performance of services or to guarantee the 
consequences of product defects including for an 
aeronautical or space product, in case of an 
accident, 

 the risk of grounding flights, 
In addition, local insurance programs are 
subscribed in countries where the Group is 
established if it is to cover specific risks or to 
respond to local insurance regulations. 

 

 
Toulouse, April 29, 2016 
 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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6.4 Auditors’ Report concerning the Report of the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board than of the Board of Directors of the Latécoère S.A. 
Company 
 

Latécoère S.A. Company  
 
 
Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2015 

 
 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 

As statutory auditors of the Latécoère S.A. Company and in application of the terms of Article L. 225-235 of the French 
Commercial Code ("Code de commerce"), we present our report on the report of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of your company prepared in accordance with the terms of Article L. 225-68 of the French Commercial Code for the year 
ended December 31, 2015. 
 
It is the Chairman's responsibility to prepare and submit for the approval of the Board of Directors a report explaining the 
internal control and risk management procedures implemented within the company and giving the other information 
required by article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code relating in particular to the system of corporate governance. 
 
We are responsible: 
 
• to inform you of observations that we may have concerning the information contained in the Chairman's report on 

the internal control procedures for the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information, and 
•  
to certify that the report includes the other information required by Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, it 

being specified that it is not our responsibility to verify the fair presentation of this other information. 
 
We have performed our work in accordance with French professional standards. 
 

Information on the internal control procedures for the preparation and processing of accounting and financial 
information 

 
These standards require that we perform the necessary procedures to assess the fairness of the information provided in 
the Chairman's report in respect of the internal control procedures relating to the preparation and processing of the 
accounting and financial information. These procedures consisted mainly in: 
 

 obtaining an understanding of the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and 
processing of the accounting and financial information on which the information presented in the Chairman’s report 
and existing documentation are based; 

 obtaining an understanding of the work involved in the preparation of this information and existing documentation;  

 determining if any significant weaknesses in the internal control procedures relating to the preparation and processing 
of the accounting and financial information that we would have noted in the course of our engagement are properly 
disclosed in the Chairman's report. 

 
On the basis of our work, we have nothing to report on the information in respect of the company's internal control and risk 
management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information contained in 
the report prepared by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board in accordance with Article L.225- 37 of the French 
Commercial Code.  
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Other information 

We certify that the Report of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board includes the other information required by article L. 
225- 37 of the French Commercial Code. 
 
 
 
 
 
In Paris and Toulouse-Labège, April 29, 2016 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Statutory Auditors 
 

Grant Thornton 
French Member of Grant Thornton 

International 

KPMG AUDIT  

A Division of KMPG SA 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Gilles Hengoat 
Partner 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Michel Dedieu 
Partner 
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7       SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
 
7.1 Social Responsibility 
 
 
 

The workforce indicators, distribution by division of 
business and by geographical zone, related to the 
financial consolidation scope of the Group except for 
Latécoère Inc. 
 
The workforce indicators on the breakdown by age and 
by set, hiring under permanent work contracts and as 
part time, dismissals, training indicators, the number of 
work accidents, Frequency rate and seriousness, and 
Absenteeism rate regarding the financial consolidation 
scope of the Group except for G2 Metric (1.88% of 
Group headcount) and Latécoère Inc. (0.10% of Group 
headcount)  
 
For the other qualitative and quantitative information, the 
scope is given on a case-by-case basis. 
 
It should be noted that the training and career and skill 
management indicators are better and better indexed 
and monitored centrally thanks to deployment since 
2014 of the HR information system called 
"PASSENGER". 
 
PASSENGER today counts about 4,300 users, spread 
out in the main countries where the Group is 
established: France, Czech Republic, Brazil, Tunisia, 
Germany, Canada and Spain. 
 
 

7.1.1 An International Group Writing a New 
Page in Its History 

 

Rich in experience as an aircraft manufacturer, the 
Latécoère Group has made itself present today in all 
aeronautical segments by pursuing a strategy of growth 
based on partnership in the areas of Aerostructures, 
onboard wiring and systems.  
 
Today, the Latécoère Group is a major supplier of 
Airbus, Boeing, of the Brazilian -- Embraer, of Dassault 
Aviation, and of the Canadian -- Bombardier.  
 
With the Boost plan launched in 2014, the Group is 
writing a new page in its history.  
 
Its human resources policy fits fully into this new stage 
of history, by breaking itself down into the four major 
principles of action at the service of the businesses' 
operational efficiency: 
 

- Realize targeted recruitments for qualified 
posts in France and internationally  
 

- Develop know-how recognized by customers 
and our partners  
 

- Clearly evaluate performance and potential of 
evolution 
 

- Deploy a well-adapted management of careers 
and mobility 

 
 

7.1.2 Targeted Recruitments for Qualified 
Posts in France and Internationally 
 
   7.1.2.1 Skilled Jobs 

The trades of the Group, whether they are from the 
production, engineering or support functions, are often 
qualified, which represents an asset for the 
employability of employees.  
 
Job opportunities are regular, particularly in the fields of 
Engineering and Services in France and abroad. They 
are offered to external candidates of value, at all levels 
of responsibility and skills in the organization.  
 
To ensure the selection of the best candidates, the 
selection process is becoming more professional each 
year with trained and equipped recruiters, thanks to 
PASSENGER.  
 
Furthermore, greater and greater care for the selection 
and evaluation of external candidates process is being 
taken, with candidates often subject to thorough 
evaluation interviews, or even selection tests.  
 
 
   7.1.2.2  Changes in Group Personnel 
 

In 2015, Group personnel continued to progress through 
recruitments, particularly on the sites in the Czech 
Republic, in Brazil and Mexico. 
 
For the organization of labor, the working hours of 
reference will vary as a function of the various 
subsidiaries and the legislation of the countries in which 
the Group operates. In the event of necessity, teams 
can work in two eight-hour shifts or three eight-hour 
shifts.

 
 
 
 

 
 
 



                                                        
                                 SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 

                               December 31, 2015 

         
 
  

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015  LATECOERE            159       

 

7 

Change in the Number of Employees Registered to the Group (Permanent Work Contracts + Fixed Term Work 
Contracts) 

 
 
Latécoère Group personnel2 expenses were €232.5 million in 2015. In 2014, they were €238.1 million.  
In 2015, a total of 903 employees joined the LATECOERE Group worldwide under permanent work contracts or fixed term 
work contracts, and 176 left it following a dismissal. In 2015, the absenteeism rate3 for the France scope (excluding G2 
Metric) was 4.49%. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
2 The Latécoère Group personnel expenses correspond to (i) Group internal personnel expenses including wages and salaries, social 

charges, employee profit-sharing scheme, pay participation and commitments toward personnel, and (ii) external personnel expenses 
(temporary workers).  

 
3The absenteeism rate is the number of absent work days x 100/theoretical number of work days. The types of absence taken into 

account are unjustified absences, work/travel accident stoppages, related or not to a work stoppage. Absences not taken into account 
are paid vacations (law in force), specific leave (holidays and contractual absences), contract suspensions such as maternity leave, 
sabbatical, etc. 
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Analysis of the Headcount by Division   Analysis of the Headcount by Work Site 

                        
 
 

 

7.1.3 Recognized Expertise and Know-How 
 
Our expertise is widely recognized by our customers 
and partners. Business skills are identified and 
evaluated through common references enabling the 
deployment of transversal training courses. 
 

Some of our employees contribute particularly, through 
their expertise, to the development and influence of the 
firm through the filing of patents. A new policy of 
rewarding inventors has therefore been deployed in 
France in 2015 and will be for the rest of the Group in 
2016. 
 

   7.1.3.1 Occupational and Workstation Training: a 

Major Asset 

 
Training activities first aim to adapt employees to 
changes in their workstation with technical training or in 
the safety and environment fields, for example. 
 
As such, with the opening and the rise in importance of 
our sites in the Czech Republic, Brazil and Mexico, 
Business Skills and Training Centers have multiplied 
internally. 

Thus, Latécoère Do Brasil, LATelec SEA (Tunisia), 
Latécoère France in Toulouse and Gimont have their 
own Training Center: the Prague site opened one in 
2014. 
 

 

 
 
   7.1.3.2 Training Courses at the "Group" Scale 

 

Beyond the acquisition and development in the 
occupation or the workstation, skill and career 
development needs are reflected again this year by the 
provision of real training courses. 
 
The fields of project management and management are 
the most successful examples. 

 
To implement these courses, the three French 
companies of the LATECOERE Group entered into five 
new framework agreements with training organizations 
this year to extend the common training actions 
launched in 2014. 
 
In 2015, the continuation of the standardization of tools 
and methods of project and program management 
within the LATECOERE Group enabled the launch of 
four classes of twelve members each. Thus 48 persons, 
from the French, Tunisian, and German subsidiaries 
benefitted from technical and behavioral contributions in 
these areas. This course is divided into three sessions 
shared out over three months. 
 
A transversal project and program community is now 
active and positioned on a key business, which 
participates in the development of a "Group" culture and 
to the overall performance of the firm. 
 
Also in 2015, the LATECOERE Group launched the 1st 
LATÉCOÈRE LEADERSHIP PROGRAM, a training 
program dedicated to the Group's young talent who may 
in the future gain access to positions of responsibility in 
one of the ten entities around the globe.  
 
This program, which will run for 24 months, will provide 
both theoretical and financial and management 
contributions, but also opportunities to discover the 
Group's subsidiaries and business lines presented by 
the experts. 
 
 
 

7.1.4 Performance Evaluated for Career and 
Mobility Management  
 
   7.1.4.1 Performance at the Core of the System 

 

Our tools and practices continue to be developed to 
make the evaluation of the performance and potential 
for evolution of our employees more efficent, reliable 
and equitable. 
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Thanks to PASSENGER, objective-setting and 
performance evaluation campaigns follow a single 
schedule. 
 
All of the employees are concerned because in 2015 a 
growing number of employees have benefitted from a 
formalized evaluation interview on the France scope, 
with nearly 1,700 interviews registered in this tool. 
 
The Prague site now manages all white collar interviews 
(approximately 200 people) thanks to this system. 
 
 
   7.1.4.2 Career and Mobility Management 

 
In 2015, employees formalize more their wishes for 
geographical and/or functional mobility realized in the 
PASSENGER information system on the occasion of 
their appraisal interviews.  
 
In parallel, the LATECOERE Group seeks to encourage 
inter-professional mobility on the world scope by 
preparing a Group Mobility Charter that was distributed 
during the first semester of 2015.  
 
Since September 2015, over the France scope (except 
for G2 Metric), a quarterly employment mobility 
newsletter ("Flash Info Mobilité") is distributed in order to 
support and communicate about the internal mobility 
system. It is made available on the intranets of the 
various sites and displayed on posters, and is 
distributed with each employee's pay slip. It presents a 
highlighted post in each of the main companies in 
France (Latécoère, LATelec, and Latécoère Services), 
testimonials of successful examples of mobility, recent 
transfer appointments between companies and invites 
employees to regularly consult offers on PASSENGER. 
 
Over the same scope, an "Internal mobility" indicator is 
monitored since September 2015 in the monthly HR 
report. It presents more than 414 posts open to internal 
mobility, including 26 staffed by transfers between 
companies in France, which constitutes a considerable 
advance for employees who until then had been little 
informed about opportunities outside of their company of 
origin. 
 
Moreover, as part of the development of production 
activities of the Latécoère establishment in Gimont, an 
agreement regarding measures supporting professional 
mobility was signed in 2015. 

 
 
7.1.5  The Labor Dialogue 
 
The search for a constructive labor dialogue is a priority 
for each of the Group's companies. The labor relations 
model is based on consultation, with/between the 
personnel representative institutions, with human 
resources management, senior management and 
supervisory staff. 
 
The practice of labor dialogue and the proper 
functioning of the personnel representative institutions 
are factors of balancing and positive evolution of labor 

relationships within the firm, contributing in particular to 
its sustainability and development. 
 
Our firm must now cope with an increasingly complex 
environment and adapt to structural changes in the 
market by trying to find, through the labor dialogue, the 
best balance between the firm's interest and that of the 
employees. 
 
The year 2015 was marked by a rich and innovative 
social dialogue. As such, the Group Committee was 
formed in June 2015 and met in December 2015 on the 
review of the economic, financial and labor situation of 
2014 and 2015, as well as major trends observed for 
2016. This body marks another step of the joint desire 
for constructive and transparent exchanges.  

More broadly, nineteen collective agreements were 
signed in the Group in 2015, mainly as regards 
mandatory annual negotiations, employee profit-sharing 
schemes and work time (in particular, in France, Brazil 
and Mexico). 

Furthermore, the Latécoère Company signed an 
agreement in France in 2015 enabling employees to 
transfer their rest days as a gift to colleagues caring for 
a seriously ill child. 

Finally, for the health and social welfare expense 
system (implemented jointly in 2014 within the three 
French Group companies: Latécoère, LATelec and 
Latécoère Services), found its feet in 2015 enabling 
better coverage of health costs at a lower cost to the 
firm and to employees.  
 
 

7.1.6  Equal Opportunities and Commitments 
to Employeees 
 

7.1.6.1.  Equality of women and men in the 
workplace and principles of non-discrimination 

 
Although the aeronautical sector is historically a man's 
world, the company is progressing in order to improve 
working conditions and promote equal opportunities 
between men and women.  

 
Agreements in the matter of equality of women and men 
in the workplace are in force within LATelec France and 
Latécoère Services France, and they cover four work 
areas: 

 Private life -- work life balance 

 Employment and remuneration  

 Training 

 Promotions and career path 
 

An updating of the agreement in the matter of equality of 
women and men in the workplace for the Latécoère 
France company is foreseen in 2016. 

In order to promote the employment of women, already 
very much present in the wiring business of the Group, 
LATelec Mexico implemented in 2015 a policy of hiring 
single mothers, which offers them working conditions 
that are compatible with their personal and family 
circumstances. 
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Overall for the Group scope in 2015, 33% of the 
workforce is female. To ensure vigilance for non-
discrimination in the LATÉCOÈRE Group, initiatives 
were launched, illustrated by Latécoère Services that 
animates "HR Workshops" for managers, to recall the 
legal rules and principles of non-discrimination in hiring.  

In the Czech Republic a non-discrimination policy was 
implemented in 2015. 

In addition, other actions are underway such as the 
preparation of a Group Ethical Charter recalling the 
principles already in place: the non-use of child labor, 
non-recourse to forced labor, compliance with local 
labor law legislation, health and safety at work, respect 
for private life and non-discrimination. In 2015, it was 
presented to the work councils of the Latécoère, 
LATelec and Latécoère Services companies and will be 
implemented in France as in the rest of the Group in 
2016. 
 

7.1.6.2.  Action in Favor of Person with Disabilities 

 
Steps are being multiplied in the various Group entities 
with respect to the employment of persons with 
disabilities. 

Within the Latécoère Company, a structure grouping 
together disability advisors has been set up: it includes a 
social worker, members of the occupational health and 
human resources departments, and also ensures the 
recruitment of disabled employees. In 2015, this 
enabled the adaptation of workstations for two disabled 
employees. 

In the Czech Republic, close to twenty employees are 
disabled. Two of them were hired in 2015.  

Since 2014 Latécoère Services France has been 
associated with CAP EMPLOI, a job placement body 
dedicated to the professional insertion of persons with 
disabilities, to circulate its external job offers. 

Finally, all the companies in France having use of 
sheltered workshops for various services, it was decided 
at the end of 2015 to capitalize better on, and to 
coordinate the use of these external partners. A work 
group will be formed in the beginning of 2016 with 
human resources and purchasing professionals, in order 
to achieve a listing of common providers. 
 
 
7.1.6.3 Seniors and Youth in Teams 

 
Analysis of the Headcount by Age  

 

Within the Group, the knowledge capital of seniors is 
considered an asset. 

In 2013, the Latécoère Company signed its "generation 
contract" ("contrat de génération"). It has three major 
objectives, the first being the employment of youth, the 
second for the retention of employment or recruitment of 
seniors, and finally, the third in favor of the transmission 
of skills and know-how. 

But it is also thanks to the potential of the youth that the 
firm's performance will meet objectives in the long term.  

That is why the Latécoère Group believes it is 
necessary to help turn these young people into 
responsible women and men, who are well integrated 
into their environment.  

By teaching in schools (INSA, Université Paul Sabatier, 
SUPAERO, ESQESE, IAE…) or participating on their 
boards of directors (ICAM, ESTACA, and the Aircraft 
Producer Association), the Group's employees donate 
their time and expertise to help train the young.  

In 2015 nearly 368 internship opportunities were 
proposed, throughout all of the Group's businesses in 
France and abroad. 

The Czech Republic has hosted 143 students who 
participated in 2015 in trades discovery sessions and an 
information session on the various opportunities to join 
the Latécoère Group. Eighteen apprentices were trained 
over the year and numerous partnerships were 
launched with universities, technical training programs, 
as well local primary and secondary schools under a 
program for the discovery of the aeronautical industry. 
These local initiatives were distinguished by the "CENA" 
Prize awarded by the Franco-Czech Chamber of 
Commerce and presented by its President.  
 
 
   7.1.6.4  Safety is Everyone's Business 

 
Within the Latécoère Company, health and safety at 
work (SSE) policy has been stengthened, structured and 
deployed since 2012.  
 
For this reason training programs have been organized 
since 2013 in order to make employees aware of the 
SSE organization, its challenges, as well as the human 
risks and environmental aspects.  
 
The Latécoère Company is taking several actions. In 
2014, it created the post of Security Expert for its two 
sites in France, in order to go further in its actions for the 
prevention of occupational risks. In 2015, screens were 
installed in the company restaurants enabling an 
improvement in communication about security through 
recurring information flashes also broadcast through the 
intranet. Furthermore, 500 security actions were 
completed in France. 

In addition, in 2015, particular attention was given to 
psychosocial risks in France. Within the Latécoère, 
LATelec and Latécoère Services companies, initiative 
have been launched.  
 
Thus, the Latécoère Company made thirty-nine 
managers and four staff representatives aware of 

20,07%

52,58%

27,35%
Less than 30 yrs old

30-45 yrs old

Over 45 yrs old

without LAT INC. and G2 METRIC
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psychosocial risks through a "Monopoly" game, 
permitting them to discover an employer's obligations 
and managerial "best practices" in the matter. A system 
directly accessible to all employees has also been set 
up with a work psychologist regularly on duty on the site. 
 
Finally, "workplace health & safety" communication 
campaigns were launched in the various entities, with 
support for quitting smoking in Brazil, the training of 
forty-six work emergency rescue workers in Tunisia or 
even a "safety month" in April in the Czech Republic.  
 
In 2015, 103 accidents resulting in work stoppage have 
been recorded in 2015 for the Group. 

 

(*) The incidence rate is the number of work accidents with 
stopping multiplied by 1,000,000 and divided by the number of 
hours worked; the severity rate is the number of compensated 
calendar days multiplied by 1,000 and divided by the number of 
hours worked.  

 
 
   7.1.6.5 Employee Shareholder 

 
Employee shareholder is practiced within the Latécoère 
Group.  

At December 31, 2015, employees represented 1.6% of 
the capital and 2.2% of the voting rights and have three 
seats on the Board of Directors. 

 

7.1.7 LATECOERE Group's Involvement in Civil 
Society 
 
   7.1.7.1  Civic Acts 
 
Whether in France, Tunisia, in the Czech Republic or in 
Brazil, the main countries where it is established, the 
Latécoère Group remains alert to be integrated into its 
environmen. The objective is twofold: to be involved in 
civic life and support associations that advance society 
towards greater solidarity.  

In 2012, by being an initiator of the creation of GITAS 
("Groupement des Industries Tunisiennes 
Aéronautiques et Spatiales") in Tunisia, the Latécoère 
group has contributed to promote exchanges, 
cooperation and synergies among the companies of the 
aeronautical and space sector established in Tunisia. 

Today the employees for the subsidiary Tunisian 
participates actively. 
In 2015, the employees in Brazil once again engaged in 
actions of solidarity for disadvantaged infants.  

In the Czech Republic, a charity initiative was introduced 
allowing employees to invest one day per year in a 
charity action, while keeping their salary: 32 employees 
participated in 2015. 

In 2014, the "Family Caregiver Week" ("Semaine de 
l'Aidant Familial") was held within the Latécoère 
Company. A family caregiver is a non-professional 

person who supports someone who is close to them in 
their daily life activities, irrespective of their age or 
health status. He contributes moral support, monitoring, 
help for domestic activities or administrative and 
financial management. 
 
During one week, conferences, information stands and 
thematic meetings follow in succession around themes 
such as dependence, aging, disability, or childhood ... 
so as to all be supportive one of another. 
 
In order make explicit the social and societal 
commitments that inspire it, the LATÉCOÈRE Group in 
2015 prepared a draft of an Anti-Bribery Charter that will 
ensure strict compliance with all anti-bribery laws 
applicable to its businesses and transactions around the 
globe. This Charter will be deployed within the Group 
starting in 2016. 

 

In a more comprehensive manner, the Latécoère Group 
is committed to doing everything possible to respect 
Human Rights.  

 
   7.1.7.2 Sub-contracting & Suppliers 

 
Suppliers  
 
In December 2010, the Latécoère company signed the 
Charter governing relations between the major 
manufactures and SMEs. Through ten commitments to 
responsible purchasing this charter defines a set of 
principles involved in building a balanced and 
sustainable relationship between major manufacturers 
and SMEs, particularly concerning:  

 Financial equity 

 Collaboration between major manufacturers and 
SMEs  

 Control of dependency rates  

 The role of major manufacturers in their industry  

 Sustainable development impacts and territorial 
responsibility  

 
In addition, there is a manuel of the profession of buyer 
at the Latécoère Company which specifies a number of 
ethical rules designed to fight against bribery. Thus, it is 
prohibited to derive profit or advan personal advantage 
from a purchase of goods or services performed on 
behalf of the company; it is required to reject any act or 
attempt of bribery in the course of the purchasing 
process. 
 
Moreover, the group's legal department's mission is to 
integrate the new social and environmental 
requirements in the general terms and conditions of 
purchase used by the company and its subsidiaries. 
Thus, our subcontractors and suppliers are asked to pay 
special attention to the ethical, health and safety, and 
waste management regulations, and the Regulation on 
Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of 
Chemicals (REACH). 
 
Finally, as a producer of aeronautical parts, Latécoère 
Group's products are made in compliance with 
regulations and the requirements laid down by the 

Frequency rate 13

Severity rate 0,27%

Group
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specifications of the aircraft manufacturers and their use 
does not present any specific health risks.  
 
 
Sub-contracting 
 
The Group makes use of sub-contracting in the following 
forms:  

 collaborative ex situ sub-contracting 
corresponding to activities carried out by major 
partners at the customer's request;  

 specialized ex situ sub-contracting, for 
activities for which the Group does not have 
competences for technical or economic 
reasons;  

 sub-contracting in situ of capacity 
corresponding to the maximum sizing of 
production and development of the Group, 
based on the cyclical aspects of the 
businesses.  

 
The amount of the ex situ sub-contracting for the whole 

of the Group was €205.2 million in 2015.  
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7.2 Environmental Responsibility 

 
 
 
The LATECOERE Group has industrial activities in two 
main businesses, which are Aerostructures and 
Interconnection Systems. These businesses have a low 
to moderate environmental impact and do not present a 
major risk to the environment. However, the 
preservation of the environment dimension is taken into 
account very seriously by the Group and it has 
committed to this in an environmental management 
initiative. The following analysis covers the fifteen most 
significant sites of the LATECOERE Group, either 
because they have an industrial activity, or because 
they only have a service activity but they have a 
permanent workforce equal to or greater than fifty 
people1. Of these fifteen2 sites, four sites have obtained 
the ISO 14001 certification, and five others have begun 
adapting their organizational processes in order to meet 
the requirements of that standard. In parallel, the 
Latécoère Group continues the implementation of 
means of improvement identified during the assessment 
mission carried out in 2011 on the consideration of 
environmental aspects  
 
Thereby LATECOERE group is continuing on a 
permanent basis actions enabling it:  
 to assess its level of compliance, and to take the 

necessary measures to comply with these 
requirements;  

 continuously to improve prevention of the potential 
environmental impacts relating to its activities;  

 to preserve resources and the natural environment, 
in particular by favoring energy savings, and the most 
efficient consumption of chemical products and 
natural resources;  

 to assimilate changes in laws and regulations 
applicable to the activities of the various sites, as 
early as possible.  

 
 
7.2.1 General Environmental Policy 

 

Within the frame of its environmental policy, the 
LATECOERE Group is engaged in an implementation 
process to establish the ISO 14001 standard in most of 
its subsidiaries and sites. This approach includes the 
establishment of an environment function for the various 
operational sites of the Group. Four sites have obtained 
the ISO 14001 cerfication. These are the Gimont 
(certification obtained in 2006), Labège (since 2008), 
Colomiers (since 2010) and Lisposthey (since 2012) 
sites. These sites represent two businesses of the 
Group which are grouped together in the Aerostructure 
and Interconnection Systems divisions. In accordance 
with the Group's general objectives, five other Group 
sites have begun the process of implementing an ISO 
14001 environmental management system. These are 

                                                 
1All of these sites cover 93% of Group headcount.  
2Aerostructures Industry Business: Périole, Gimont, Portet, Jacarei, 
Prague and Hermosillo sites 
  Services Business: Ste. Foy d’Aigrefeuille and Purpan sites 
  Interconnection Systems Business: Labège, Colomiers, Le Cres, 
Tarbes, Liposthey, Hamburg, Charguia, Fouchana and Hermosillo sites 

the Jacarei (Brazil), Prague (Czech Republic), and 
Périole (France) sites, as well as the two Tunisian sites 
(Charguia and Fouchana). For the Jacarei site, 2013 
was devoted to the awareness-raising of the personnel, 
2014 to the implementation of the various procedures 
with the goal of being able to carry out internal audits of 
compliance at year-end and to ensure certification in 
2016. The Prague site is classified IPPC (Integrated 
Pollution Prevention and Control) which positions it at a 
very high level of requirements and environmental 
monitoring by the relevant authority. In relation to the 
ISO 14001, the Prague site completed the adaptation of 
its procedures and the training of internal auditors in 
2013, and certification is planned during 2016. For the 
Tunisian sites of Charguia and Fouchana, compliance in 
relation to requirements for the standard was also 
carried out during 2013. For the Périole site, compliance 
began in 2013 in parallel with the awareness raising of 
the personnel, and will be continued during 2014 and 
2015. Certification is foreseen in 2016, corresponding 
audits will be conducted in February 2016. 
 
The LATECOERE group is determined to continues 
actions enabling it to ensure the continuous 
improvement of its environmental performance. The 
implementation of procedures on the sites allows to 
prevent or reduce potential adverse environmental 
impact and to control emergency situations or real 
accidents. 
 

In order to manage environmental actions locally closer 
to the teams, the LATECOERE Group has created the 
function of environmental manager on its main sites. 
This organization helps structure actions at sites to 
control environmental impacts linked to their operation. 
 
As a result of the 2011 environmental audit, the 
LATECOERE group decided to have a central 
coordinating structure to improve the alignment of 
activities to the environmental strategy of the Group, 
provide regulatory monitoring, and promote the 
exchange of good practices between the various sites. 
 

Five sites have implemented participatory organizations, 
based on information and training to all their employees, 
to ensure environmental management over the long 
term, and ensure a good overall management around 
operating activities. The information and training 
program has enabled all LATECOERE employees to:  

 Know the environmental risks  

 Know the fundamental principles of ISO 14001 

 Know the environmental organization 
implemented in LATECOERE and challenges 
arising from it 

 Know their concrete implications 

 Create a state of mind so that employees take 
ownership of the process and get involved on a 
daily basis.  
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In relation to fire risk, the LATECOERE Group regularly 
conducts an assessment. By this action, the Group 
controls risks related to emergency situations. 
 
Other measures directly related to the environment are 
deployed or being deployed. This is particularly true of 
measures taken in the context of the European 
Regulation REACH on chemical substances and 
preparations. 
 
The Group uses products, items or materials containing 
substances known as being "of very high concern" 
under the REACh Regulation, internally, and through 
qualified suppliers. The elements that the Group delivers 
are destined to be incorporated into aircraft, and most of 
the time its customers impose on it the materials and 
processes that must be used, leaving very small room to 
maneuver for changes. A specific organization has been 
implemented. It has identified the Company's status with 
respect to the REACh Regulation as well as the 
substances used. In particular, Latécoère has 
established a referent who runs the service activities 
impacted through a working group. The actions 
undertaken so far are of course the communication to 
customers about the presence of any substance on the 
candidate list whose content is greater than 0.1% weight 
by weight, but also the searching for substances on the 
candidate list in all new products introduced into 
production sites, in order to work on the substitution of 
risky products. More than 10,000 references of which 
5,200 delivered to Airbus over this period were analyzed 
and the results were communicated through the MDF 
(Material Declaration Form) proposed by the customer. 
So far, for any new major project, these analyses are 
carried out upstream, the taking into consideration of 
substances on the candidate list being done right from 
the design of the article in cases where substitution is 
not possible. In parallel, the analyses are refined at each 
evolution of the candidate list for all articles whose 
delivery is still topical. This organization was checked by 
the Regional Directorate for the Environment, 
Development and Housing ("Direction Régionale de 
l'Environnement, de l'Aménagement et du Logement" or 
"DREAL”) in December 2013 and it confirmed the 
appropriateness of the measures taken. The actions will 
be continued with in particular the communication to our 
customers of the articles concerned and specific 
measures to take when applicable. With monitoring of 
regulatory developments performed by an outside body, 
the LATECOERE Group companies, after having 
identified the presence of these substances in articles 
delivered, set up a traceability of these chemical 
substances, incorporate the constraints to the use of 
certain chemical preparations in their manufacturing 
processes and products, may have to manage 
obsolescence or the banning of a substance, and its 
potential substitution by other authorized substances 
with the consent of their customers, and if necessary 
inform the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA), as well 
as their customers. 
 

 

7.2.2 Sustainable Use of Resources 1 

                                                 
1 The Hermosillo site which began its activities in 2013 on 
leased premises is included in the balance sheet as of 2014.  

 

The materials and processes used by the LATECOERE 
Group are largely defined by the customers and allow 
little additional savings. However, Group initiatives have 
helped to limit the use of resources such as the ordering 
of prefabricated or preformed plates from the suppliers 
of metals, which limited the production of shavings. 
These shavings are resold in order to recover their 
value. For the Aerostructure scope there were thus 
recycled 715 tons of aluminum, 199 tons of steel and 27 
tons of titanium. 
Monitoring of the consumption of raw materials is in the 
process of being made reliable, in order to be able to be 
published in the short term. 
 
Water and energy consumption are monitored through 
annual reports, some of which, depending on the site 
and local regulations, are provided to the competent 
authorities.  
 
Water consumption is overall controlled on all Group 
sites. The trend shows a continuous decrease in 
consumption over the past years. The overall water 
consumption of the group was 51,338 m3 in 2015. The 
supply was not subject to local constraints this year. The 
table below shows the evolution of water consumption 
over the past years for all the sites2. It should be noted 
that the consumption of the Aerostructure division 
represents in 2015 such as previous years nearly 75% 
of the group's total consumption. 
 

 
 
 
In total the group consumed 36.26 million kWh in 2015, 
of which 70% in the form of electricity. This overall 
consumption is down almost 2% between 2013 and 
2015 that should be related to an increase in revenue 
(excluding non-recurring items and non-recurring 
invoicing) of 14% over the same period. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

                                                                             
This site covers the Aerostructure Industry and Interconnection 
Systems businesses. Given the difficulty of obtaining 
consumption by activity, the whole of the consumption of this 
site is integrated with Aerostructure Industry. est intégrée au 
titre de l’Aérostructure Industrie. 
2 Excluding the Purpan site for which 2014 data are not 
available.  

Water 

(Consumption in m3)

Aerostructure 

Industrial

Aerostructure 

Services

Interconnection 

Systems
Total

2013 34 813 843 12 134 47 790 

2014 41 568 621 13 258 55 447 

2015 37 737 980 12 621 51 338 

Energy 

(Consumption in 

million of kWh)

Aerostructure 

Industrial

Aerostructure 

Services

Interconnection 

Systems
Total

2013 18,46 0,525604 4,98 23,96

2014 19,851 0,49 4,03 24,37

2015 20,76 0,50 4,45 25,71

Gaz 

(Consumption in 

million of kWh)

Aerostructure 

Industrial

Aerostructure 

Services

Interconnection 

Systems
Total

2013 12,29 0,18 0,50 12,96

2014 7,37 0,13 0,36 7,86

2015 9,84 0,13 0,57 10,55
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It appears that the Aerostructures business accounts for 
nearly 84% of Group consumption and is thus much 
more energy-intensive than the other businesses.  
 
The optimization of the use of the surface area of sites 
is a subject that is integrated into the Group's strategy 
for rationalizing sites. Generally, sites are densely built, 
in an effort to optimize the space used for production. 
The group is trying to be economical in the use of land, 
and thus limit its impact on the building-up of land. 
Excluding the Gimont site, which constitutes a land 
reserve for the group, on average 55% of land is 
occupied by buildings. The overall space used for all its 
businesses is around 400,000 m2. The only significant 
change in floor space during the year has consisted in 
an extension of approximately 4,700 m2 of the surface of 
the premises in Mexico necessary in order to cope with 
a work increase for the interconnection systems. 
 
7.2.3 Pollution and Waste Management 

 

As for the recycling of waste, all the sites participate in 
the initiative and have implemented a selective sorting 
collection system. However, there is a quantification 
effort to be made on numerous sites. 
 
The European sites, classified either under Classified 
Installations for Environmental Protection ("ICPE") or 
IPPC, have a legal obligation to monitor their emissions 
of VOC (volatile organic chemicals) at the level of the 
production process. Thus, as a function of the findings 
of the different audits and the trends identified, the 
group is looking for the most effective solutions to 
implement in order to reduce emissions. 
The LATECOERE Group has no SEVESO classified 
establishment. However, the sites of Toulouse and 
Gimont are Classified Installations for Environmental 
Protection:  

 Toulouse:  
o Classified Installation for 

Environmental Protection (ICPE) 
subject to authorization for the activity 
of surface treatment. 

o Environmental risks: air emissions, 
ground/subsoil pollution, noise 
pollution 

 Gimont: 
o Classified Installations for 

Environmental Protection (ICPE) 
subject to declaration with control for 
the activity of the paint spraying 

o Environmental risks: air emissions 
 
With respect to noise levels and sound emergences of 
the Périole site, in 2013 and 2014 significant work was 
undertaken in particular to reduce the noise of certain 
equipment. Following the complete mapping of sound 
emissions of the site conducted at the beginning of 2015 
a certain number of actions were agreed and will be 
implemented in 2016. The other sites present no 
particular problems with regard to noise and sound 
emergences.  
 
In 2014, an environmental diagnosis was conducted on 
the Toulouse site. It confirmed an impact in chlorinated 
volatile organic compounds (CVOC) with respect to 

upstream piezometer, limited to the Northwest and West 
borders of the site. In addition levels with respect to the 
old (droguerie) were measured with a different profile of 
the impact with respect to the upstream piezometer. 
However, health risk calculations show that the levels 
are below criteria recommended by the circular of 
February 8, 2007 for indoor and outdoor industrial 
scenarios. Additional soil investigations demonstrated 
that measured concentrations come from upstream and 
are not a result of the site’s activity. 
 
7.2.4 Contribution to the Adaptation to, and the 

Fight against, Global Warming 
 

With regard to the adpatation to climate change, the 
LATECOERE group has given priority over recent years 
to reducing greenhouse gas emissions by adapting its 
manufacturing base.  
 
The main source of greenhouse gas in the 
LATECOERE group is related to its energy 
consumption. Thus, preference was given to reducing 
consumption on the oldest site (the Périole site), which 
showed significant potential for improvement. The 
reduction of energy consumption on this site of about 
14% the last four years has reduced the group's overall 
consumption. The choice of a supply of natural gas for 
the Périole and Prague sites' energy needs also has a 
positive effect with regard to emissions. This 
observation will be verified in the future by establishing a 
correlation between energy consumption and the site's 
production. An energy report was made in 2015 on the 
Ste. Foy d'Aigrefeuille site. This report has highlighted a 
number of actions for a reduction of energy consumption 
and thus greenhouse gas emissions. These actions will 
be conducted during 2016 and 2017. 
 
 
On the other hand, in 2012 the LATECOERE Group 
conducted a review of greenhouse gas emissions for its 
French sites, in compliance with legislation. This review 
focused on emissions for 2011 and concerning scopes 1 
and 2 detailed in Article 75 of Act No. 2010-788 of July 
12, 2010. An update of this review was conducted in 
2015. 
 
The synthetic review of greenhouse gas emissions due 
to gas and electricity consumption on the overall scope 
is presented below: 
 

 
 
On world perimeter, the Group emitted 10,459 tons1 of 
CO2 equivalent in 2014 compared to 9,267 tons emitted 
in 2013. 

                                                 
12013 and 2014 data are accounted for on a world scope for 
scopes 1 and 2 and are not comparable to the previous data 
that were only accounting for on a France scope. In this report, 
in the absence of precision, gas consumption is supposed in 
LHV (lower heating value) which maximizes the value of 
emissions. 

Green house gaz 

emissions (T eq Co2)

Aerostructure 

Industrial

Aerostructure 

Services

Interconnection 

Systems
Total

2013 7 714,5 71,3 1 480,9 9 266,8

2014 7 886,5 55,8 1 099,7 9 042,1

2015 9 165,1 60,5 1 233,0     10 458,6   
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As for the consideration of the impacts of climate 
change, on first approach, the activity of LATECOERE 
on its sites itself does not enable the identification of 
major indications regarding needs for adaptation. In 
particular, the sites are not located in flood zones.  
 
At the level of its business, the group is obviously 
sensitive to the issue since its customers and the 
professional associations to which it belongs have made 
the adaptation to climate change one of the main stakes 
for progress in the years to come. 
 
 
7.2.5 Protection of Biodiversity 
 

None of the group's sites is located in a specifically 
protected natural area, in particular Natura 2000 as 

regards the European sites, or in the immediate vicinity 
of such an area. Thus, priority actions are oriented 
around the operation of sites to continuously decrease 
the industrial impact on the environment and therefore 
also on biodiversity, more broadly.  
 
The impact of the group's activities on biodiversity is 
analyzed on first approach by its industrial emissions 
and land use. The sites which discharge the most 
wastewater signed waste agreements with sewage 
treatment plants for a better processing of their 
wastewater in the treatment before the introduction of 
the treated wastewater into the natural environment. 
 
Thus, strengthened by the analysis made on the risks to 
the environment, the group has not found it necessary to 
establish provisions and guarantees.  
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7.3 Report on the consolidated social, societal and environmental information 
published in the Management Report 

 

Year ended 31 December 2015 

To the Shareholders,  

In our capacity as statutory auditor of the company Latécoère S.A. appointed independent third party, accredited by the 

COFRAC registered under number 3-10499, we hereby present to you our report on the consolidated social, 

environmental and societal information (hereinafter the "CSR Information") for the year ended December 31st, 2015, 

presented in the management report. This report has been prepared in accordance with Article L.225-102-1 of the French 

Commercial Code. 

Company’s responsibility  

The management board is responsible for preparing a company's management report including the CSR Information 

required by article R.225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code in accordance with Guidelines used by the Company 

(hereinafter ‘the Guidelines’), summarized in the management report and available on request from the company's head 

office. 

Independence and quality control 

Our independence is defined by regulatory texts, the French Code of ethics of our profession and the requirements of 

article L.822-11 of the French Commercial Code. In addition, we have implemented a system of quality control including 

documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with the ethical requirements, French professional standards 

and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

Statutory Auditor’s responsibility 

On the basis of our work, our responsibility is to: 

- attest that the required CSR Information is included in the management report or, in the event of non-disclosure of a 

part or all of the CSR Information, that an explanation is provided in accordance with the third paragraph of 

article R.225-105 of the French Commercial Code (Attestation regarding the completeness of CSR Information); 

- express a limited assurance conclusion that the CSR Information taken as a whole is, in all material respects, fairly 

presented in accordance with the Guidelines (Conclusion on the fairness of CSR Information).  

 

Our work involved six persons and was conducted between November 2015 and April 2016, during a three weeks 

intervention period. We were assisted in our work by our CSR experts. 

We performed our work in accordance with the French professional standards and with the order dated 13 May 2013 

defining the conditions under which the independent third party performs its engagement and with ISAE 300010 

concerning our conclusion on the fairness of CSR Information. 

1. Attestation regarding the completeness of CSR Information 

                                                 
9 For which the scope is available on the site www.cofrac.fr  

10 ISAE 3000 – Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial information  
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Nature and scope of our work 

On the basis of interviews with the individuals in charge of the relevant departments, we obtained an understanding of the 

Company’s sustainability strategy regarding human resources and environmental impacts of its activities and its social 

commitments and, where applicable, any actions or programs arising from them. 

We compared the CSR Information presented in the management report with the list provided in article R.225-105-1 of the 

French Commercial Code. 

For any consolidated information that is not disclosed, we verified that explanations were provided in accordance with 

article R.225-105, paragraph 3 of the French Commercial Code; in particular the explanations provided to justify not 

disclosing the consumption of raw materials for fiscal year 2015. 

We verified that the CSR Information covers the scope of consolidation, i.e., the Company, its subsidiaries as defined by 

article L.233-1 and the controlled entities as defined by article L.233-3 of the French Commercial Code within the 

limitations set out in the chapter 7 “Corporate Social and Environmental Responsibility”of the management report. 

 

Conclusion 

Based on the work performed and given the limitations mentioned above, we attest that the required CSR Information has 

been disclosed in the management report.  

2. Conclusion on the fairness of CSR Information 

Nature and scope of our work 

We conducted eight interviews with the persons responsible for preparing the CSR Information in the departments in 

charge of collecting the information and, where appropriate, responsible for internal control and risk management 

procedures, in order to: 

- assess the suitability of the Guidelines in terms of their relevance, completeness, reliability, neutrality and 

comprehensibility, and taking into account industry best practices where appropriate ;  

- verify the implementation of data-collection, compilation, processing and control process to reach completeness and 

consistency of the CSR Information and obtain an understanding of the internal control and risk management 

procedures used to prepare the CSR Information. 

We determined the nature and scope of our tests and procedures based on the nature and importance of the CSR 

Information with respect to the characteristics of the Company, the human resources and environmental challenges of its 

activities, its sustainability strategy and industry best practices. 

Regarding the CSR Information that we considered to be the most important11 : 

                                                 
11 Social Information: 

- Indicators: Total headcount and distribution of employees by age, gender and geographical area, Number of redundancies and 
Number of recruitments, Absenteeism rate, Number of training hours, Number of workplace accidents with lost-time, Frequency 
rate of workplace accidents with lost-time and Severity rate. 

- Qualitative information: Occupational health and safety conditions, Policies implemented regarding training, Measures implemented 
to promote gender equality. 

Environmental Information: 

- Indicators: Water consumption, Electricity consumption, Natural gas consumption, GHG emissions related to electricity and gas 
consumptions. 

- Qualitative information: The organization of the company to integrate environmental issues, Resources allocated to prevention of 
environmental risks and pollution, Consideration of noise. 

Societal Information: 

Qualitative information: Integration of social and environmental issues into the company procurement policy, Importance of 

subcontracting. 
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- at parent entity level, we referred to documentary sources and conducted interviews to corroborate the qualitative 

information (organisation, policies, actions), performed analytical procedures on the quantitative information and 

verified, using sampling techniques, the calculations and the consolidation of the data. We also verified that the 

information was consistent and in agreement with the other information in the management report;  

- at the level of a representative sample of entities12 selected by us on the basis of their activity, their contribution to the 

consolidated indicators, their location and a risk analysis, we conducted interviews to verify that procedures are 

properly applied and to identify potential undisclosed data, and we performed tests of details, using sampling 

techniques, in order to verify the calculations and reconcile the data with the supporting documents. The selected 

sample represents on average 30% of headcount and between 23% and 52% of quantitative environmental data 

disclosed. 

For the remaining consolidated CSR Information, we assessed its consistency based on our understanding of the 

company.  

We also assessed the relevance of explanations provided for any information that was not disclosed, either in whole or in 

part. 

We believe that the sampling methods and sample sizes we have used, based on our professional judgment, are 

sufficient to provide a basis for our limited assurance conclusion; a higher level of assurance would have required us to 

carry out more extensive procedures. Due to the use of sampling techniques and other limitations inherent to information 

and internal control systems, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement in the CSR information cannot be totally 

eliminated.  

Conclusion 

Based on the work performed, no material misstatement has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the CSR 

Information, taken as a whole, is not presented fairly in accordance with the Guidelines. 

 
 

French original signed by: 
 

Paris-La Défense and Labège, April 29th 2016 

KPMG S.A. 

 
   

  

Philippe Arnaud  
Associé  

Département Changement Climatique & 
Développement Durable 

 

Michel Dedieu 
Partner 

 

                                                 
12 Latécoère S.A. (France), Latelec (France), Latécoère Services (France) et Latelec SEA (Tunisia). 
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8       INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY, CAPITAL AND 

SHAREHOLDERS 

 
 
 

8.1 Information about the issuer 

 
Company form 

 
 
The LATECOERE Company was organized as a 
French corporation ("société anonyme") following 
decision of the Inaugural General Meeting of May 31, 
1922. The Company is registered at the Companies' 
Register of Toulouse Register, under the N°.: 
572 050 169. The bylaws, financial statements, reports 
and minutes may be consulted at the registered office 
indicated above The Company is registered under the 
NACE: 3030Z (Article 1 of the bylaws). 
 
The Company's activities are subject to French law. 
 
 
Name (Article 2 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The Company is referred to as LATECOERE. 
 
 
Purpose (Article 3 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The Company has for purpose, both in France and 
abroad: 
 
 The study, design, manufacture, sale, installation, 

lease, maintenance and exploitation and use of all 
mechanical, hydraulic, electric, electromechanical 
and electronic parts and assemblies of parts, or 
equipment, used directly or indirectly in the 
aeronautical or space industry and more generally 
in all industries making reference to means of 
transport or to tests in the aeronautical, terrestrial 
and maritime fields as well as in the industries 
attached to them. 
 

 The study, the taking and the acquisition of all 
patents, licenses, processes and trademarks, their 
exploitation and use, granting, contribution and sale 
to all persons in all countries. 

 
 The participation by all means in all undertakings or 

groupings whether French or foreign, whatever their 
form, which may be related directly or indirectly to 
the corporate purpose or which may facilitate its 
realization. 

 
And more generally, all industrial, commercial or 
financial dealings, whether with respect to movables or 
real estate, which may relate directly or indirectly to the 
corporate purpose or to any similar or related purpose. 
 

 
Registered office (Article 4 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The registered office of the Company is at 135 rue de 
Périole, Toulouse, Haute-Garonne, France. 
 
 
Duration (Article 5 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The Company's duration is for ninety-nine years as from 
May 31, 1922, unless extended or earlier dissolved. 
 
 
Fiscal year (Article 20 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The fiscal year begins on January 1 and ends on 
December 31. 
 
 
Secondary office 

 
 
Zone artisanale La Fourcade, 32200 Gimont, Gers, 
France. 
 
 
Rights and obligations attached to the shares 
(Article 13 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The possession of a share includes, by rights, 
adherence to the bylaws of the Company and to the 
resolutions regularly adopted by all the Annual General 
Meetings. 
 
Shareholders only bear losses up to the limit of their 
contributions.  
Each share gives a right to a proportional share of the 
portion of capital that it represents in the profits and in 
the corporate assets. 
 
If necessary, and subject to imperative regulations, all 
shares shall be grouped, indistinctly of any exemptions 
or tax charges, such as for all taxes for which the 
company is likely to take responsibility, before carrying 
out any redemption during the Company's existence or 
at its winding-up, so that, taking into account their 
respective face values, all the shares then existing 
receive the same net sum, whatever their origin or their 
creation date. 
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Allocation and distribution of profit – surplus upon 
winding up (Article 21 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The difference between the year's income and 
expenses, after deduction of depreciation and 
provisions, constitutes the year's profit or loss. 
 
On the profit reduced, where applicable, by previous 
losses, five percent is deducted to form the legal reserve 
fund. This deduction ceases to be compulsory when the 
reserve reaches one-tenth of the share capital. If and 
when the amount of the fund falls below one-tenth of the 
share capital, whatever the cause, the deduction 
resumes. 
 
Distributable profit comprises the profit for the year, less 
previous losses, as well as the deduction provided 
above, plus the profits carried forward. 
 
This profit is at the disposal of the Annual General 
Meeting, which, on proposal of the Board of Directors 
can, wholly or partly, bring it forward again, allocate it to 
general or special reserve funds, or distribute it to the 
shareholders as dividend. 
 
In addition, an Annual General Meeting may decide to 
distribute sums deducted from the reserves that are at 
its disposal; in this case, the decision expressly 
indicates the reserve items from which the deductions 
are made. However, dividends are deducted in priority 
from the year's distributable profit.  
 
Differences resulting from a revaluation are not 
distributable; they may be fully or partly incorporated 
into the capital. 
 
The Annual General Meeting has the authority to grant 
to each shareholder, for all or part of the dividend 
distributed or of the interim dividend, an option of 
receiving payment of the dividend or interim dividend in 
cash or in shares. 
 
With respect to the surplus upon winding up, the net 
assets, after repayment of the nominal value of shares, 
are distributed equally between all the shares. 
 
 
Shareholder Meetings (Article 18 of the bylaws) 

 
 
Shareholder Meetings are convened and decide in the 
conditions provided for by the French Commercial Code 
("Code de Commerce"). 
 
They are held at the registered office or at any other 
location in France stated in the notice of meeting. 
 
Any shareholder is entitled to attend, upon proof of 
identity and quality, Annual General Meetings and 
participate in deliberations, personally or by proxy, 
provided that the shares in the name of the shareholder 
or the intermediary are registered for his account, at the 
second working day preceding the Meeting at zero hour, 
Paris time, either in the registered securities accounts 
held by the Company, or in the accounts of bearer 
shares held by the authorized intermediary. 

 
Any shareholder who is the owner of a given category of 
shares may take part in the Special General Meetings of 
Shareholders of that category, under the conditions 
referred to above. 
 
Any shareholder may be represented by another 
shareholder, spouse or partner with he entered into a 
civil solidarity pact or by natural or legal person of their 
choice in accordance with laws and regulations. 
 
Shareholders may also vote by mail in accordance with 
laws and regulations. To be considered, any form of 
proxy and voting must be received by the company 
three days before the general meeting. 
 
Are considered present for the calculation of the quorum 
and the majority, the shareholders who take part in the 
General Meeting by videoconference or means of 
telecommunication allowing their identification and the 
nature and the conditions of application of which are 
determined by the regulations in force. 
 
A shareholder who has voted by correspondence or 
distance can choose another mode of participation in 
the general meeting. 
 
Each member of the General Assembly has a number of 
votes proportional to the fraction of share capital 
corresponding to the shares he owns or represents, 
provided that they are not deprived of the right to vote. 

 
However, voting rights double is allotted to all the fully 
paid shares registered as registered securities for at 
least four years in the name of the same shareholder. 
Moreover, in the event of an increase in capital by 
means of an incorporation of reserves, profits or share 
premia, the double voting right is conferred at issuance 
to registered shares allotted without charge to a 
shareholder when his holding of old shares gives him 
this right. 
 
 
Legal form of shares, crossing of thresholds (Article 
9 of the bylaws) 

 
 
The shares are registered or bearer, at the owner's 
choice. They cannot take the bearer form until they have 
been fully paid up. 
 
The Company is authorized to request, at any time, of 
the central depository, the information provided for by 
law relating to the identification of the holders of 
securities conferring, immediately or in the future, the 
right to vote at Shareholder Meetings. 
 
The Company is, moreover, entitled to ask, in the 
conditions established by the French Commercial Code, 
the identity of the owners of securities when it considers 
that certain holders, whose identities have been 
revealed to it, are acting on behalf of third parties who 
own the shares. 
 
The Company may also ask any legal person owner of 
more than 2.5% of the capital or the voting rights, to 
disclose to it the identity of the persons holding, directly 
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or indirectly, over one-third of the share capital of this 
legal person or voting rights exercised at its Annual 
General Meetings. 
 
Any natural or legal person acting alone or together, 
who comes into possession of a number of shares 
representing more than the threshold provided for by the 
regulations in force, must respect the information 
requirements provided for by the latter. 
 
In addition, any natural or legal person acting alone or 
together, who comes to hold or to cease to hold a 
fraction equal to 2% of the share capital or of voting 
rights of the Company, must inform the Company of the 
total number of shares and of voting rights which he 
holds, by registered letter return receipt requested, 
within fifteen (15) days as from the date on which such 
threshold was crossed. That person must, under the 
same conditions, inform the Company of the number of 
shares which he holds that entitle him to future access 
to the capital as well as the number of voting rights 
which are attached to such shares. 
 
This disclosure shall be renewed, under the same 
conditions, in case of crossings (whether upward or 
downward), of each threshold of the share capital or of 
voting rights of the Company containing the fraction of 
1%, beyond the statutory threshold of 5%. 
 
We note that the calculation of the above-mentioned 
fractions of the share capital or of voting rights of the 
Company will be made in accordance with the 
provisions of the French Commercial Code relating to 
the calculation of holding disclosure thresholds. 
 
In the event of non-compliance with the obligation 
mentioned in the preceding paragraph, the shares 
exceeding the non-declared fraction are deprived of 
voting rights at the request, which is recorded in the 
minutes of the Annual General Meeting, of one or 
several shareholders who hold at least 2% of the share 
capital. 
 
 
Board of Directors (Article 14 of the bylaws) 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS (ARTICLE 14.1 OF THE BYLAWS) 
 
The company is managed by a Board of Directors 
composed of three (3) members and at least eighteen 
(18) members, subject to the exceptions provided by 
law, including cases of merger. 

 
Members of the board of directors may be individuals or 
legal entities. When a legal person is nominated or of 
coopted, it must appoint a permanent representative 
who is subject to the same conditions and obligations 
and incurs the same civil and criminal responsibilities as 
if it was a member of the Board of Directors on its own 
behalf, without prejudice to the joint liability of the legal 
entity it represents. When the legal entity dismisses its 
representative, it is required to provide simultaneously 
for a replacement. It is the same in case of death or 
resignation of the permanent representative. 

 

Members of the board are appointed by the ordinary 
general meeting of shareholders at the majority vote of 
shareholders present or represented. 
In case of vacancy by death or resignation of one or 
more office (s) of member (s) of the appointed board (s) 
by the ordinary general meeting of shareholders, the 
Board of Directors may, between two assemblies 
General, undertake temporary appointments. 

 
Temporary appointments made by the Board are subject 
to ratification at the next ordinary general meeting. The 
Board of Directors and appointed to replace another 
shall remain in office for the remaining term of office of 
his predecessor. 

 
When the number of members of the Board appointed 
by the Annual General Meeting falls below the legal 
minimum, the Board must immediately convene the 
ordinary general meeting to complete the number of 
Board of Directors. 

 
The members of the Board are appointed for a term of 
six (6) years, expiring at the end of the meeting of the 
ordinary general meeting of shareholders that approves 
the accounts for the previous financial year and held in 
year in which their mandate expires, subject to the 
provisions related to the age limit. They may be 
reappointed under the same reservations. 
 
No individual over the age of sixty-five (75) years may 
be appointed as member of the Board of Directors its 
appointment has the effect of raising to more than a 
third the number of members of the board that have 
reached this age. When this threshold is exceeded, the 
member of the Board of Directors which is the oldest is 
deemed to resign. 
 
Members of the Board may be dismissed at any time by 
the general meeting as provided by law and regulations. 
 
 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REPRESENTING EMPLOYEES (ARTICLE 14.2 OF 
THE BYLAWS) 
 
When the legal conditions are met, one of the board 
members representing the employee shareholders is 
appointed by the ordinary general meeting in the 
manner prescribed by the regulations, as well as by the 
present statutes. 
 
The term of office is the same as the period referred to 
in Article 14.1 above. However, its term will end 
automatically and the member of the Board representing 
the employee shareholders is deemed to have resigned 
for loss of quality of employee of the company, 
corporation or group of economic interest related to the 
company pursuant to Article L. 225-180 of the 
commercial Code, loss of membership of the 
supervisory board of a mutual fund company investment 
governed by Article L . 214-165 of the monetary and 
financial Code held shares of the company ("CIPF"), or 
loss of quality of CIPF Unitholder. 
 
The candidate(s) for election to the board member 
position of Directors of the Company representing 
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employee shareholders is (are) appointed under the 
following conditions: 
 
- When the voting rights attached to shares held by 

employees is exercised by the members of the 
supervisory board of an FCPE, this board may 
appoint up to two (2) candidates. 

 
In cases of multiple FCPE, the Executive 
Management has the power to group FCPE 
Supervisory Boards holding the assets of 
employee in France, on the one hand, and the 
FCPE Supervisory Boards holding the assets of 
employee abroad, on the other. In this case, each 
grouping of funds can designate up to two (2) 
candidates. 

 
- When the voting right attached to shares held by 

employees, including via an FCPE is exercised 
directly by them, candidates are nominated by a 
vote of employee shareholders in the following 
defined conditions. 

 
Consultation of employees can be achieved 
through technical means to ensure the reliability of 
voting, including electronic voting or voting by 
correspondence. Each employee shareholder has 
a number of votes equal to the number of shares 
held, either directly or indirectly through particular 
units of a mutual fund with individual exercise of 
voting rights. 

 
Only candidates who have collected more than two 
percent (2%) of the votes cast during the 
consultation of the employee shareholders may be 
subject to the vote of the ordinary general meeting 
of shareholders. 

 
- All candidates must present a substitute which will 

replace it in the event of termination of the 
functions of the board of the holder while in office 
with which it was designated in the frame of the 
process described in preceding paragraphs above. 
The substitute is in this case meant to replace the 
holder for the remainder of the current term of the 
office of the holder, under the condition of its 
election by the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders. 

 
Prior to the nomination of candidates for membership of 
the Board representing the employee shareholders, 
executive management adopt a Regulation Nominee 
(the "Règlement") specifying the timing and organization 
of the appointment procedures provided for in 
paragraphs above. 

 
The Regulation Nominee will be brought to the attention 
of the members of the FCPE Supervisory Boards and, if 
applicable to employee shareholders exercising directly 
their voting rights by any means including, without the 
media listed below are considered comprehensive, on 
posters and / or electronic communication, for the 
appointment of one or more candidates. 

 
Each of the procedures referred to above paragraphs 
relating to the appointment of one or more candidates 
will be subject to a report containing the number of votes 

received by each candidate. A list of all validly 
nominated candidates is established. 
 
The list of candidates is mentioned in the notice of the 
shareholders' meeting called to appoint the member of 
the Board representing the employee shareholders. 
 
The member of the Board representing the employee 
shareholders is appointed by the ordinary general 
meeting of shareholders under the conditions of quorum 
and majority applicable to any appointment of a member 
of the board. In case of plurality of persons nominated 
pursuant to paragraphs above, the Executive 
Management presents to the General Meeting 
candidates through separate resolutions, and approves 
as the case can be one of these resolutions. The one 
candidate who receives the largest number of votes of 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting will be 
elected to the Board of Directors of the company 
representing the employee shareholders. 
 
This member of the Board is not taken into account for 
determining the minimum and maximum number of 
members of the Board provided for in Article L. 225-17 
of the Commercial Code. 
 
In the event of termination, while in office, of the 
appointment as member of the Board of Directors 
representing the employee shareholders, the 
appointment of its substitute is subject to the approval of 
the next Ordinary General Meeting. The substitute is 
appointed for the duration of the unexpired term of the 
member being replaced. In case of permanent 
incapacity of the substitute, the nomination of 
candidates to replace the member of the Board 
representing the employee shareholders will be made 
as provided above, at the latest before the meeting of 
the next Ordinary General Meeting or, if it is held less 
than four (4) months after the position becomes vacant, 
before the next ordinary general meeting. The member 
of the Board representing the employee shareholders 
will be appointed for a new period of six (6) years. 
 
Until the date of his appointment, the Board of Directors 
may meet and deliberate validly. 
 
In the event that during the term the report presented 
annually by the Board of Directors at the General 
Meeting pursuant to Article L. 225-102 of the 
Commercial Code establishes that the shares held in 
the context of that article represent a percentage less 
than three percent (3%) of the capital of the company, 
the term of the member of the Board representing the 
employee shareholders will end at the conclusion of the 
ordinary General meeting which presents the report of 
the Board of Directors stating this fact. 
 
 
ORGANIZATION AND FUNCTIONING OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS (ARTICLE 14.3 OF THE BYLAWS) 
 
The Board of Directors elects a chairman among its 
individual members for which it specifies its 
remuneration and the term of office without exceeding 
the duration of its office as member of the board. The 
Chairman is reeligible, subject to the provisions relating 
to the age limit. 
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Whatever the term for which they were conferred, the 
office as chairman of the Board of Directors shall end at 
the latest after the meeting of the ordinary general 
meeting of shareholders that approve the financial 
statements for the year up and held in the year during 
which the President reaches the age of eighty (80) years 
old. 
 
The chairman of the Board of Director shall exercise the 
functions and powers conferred by the law. He chairs 
the meetings of the board, organizes and directs the 
work of the latter, for which it reports to the General 
Assembly. It ensures the proper functioning of the 
Company's bodies and ensures, in particular, that the 
members of the Board are able to fulfill their mission. It 
chairs the meetings of general meetings and prepares 
the reports required by law. 
 
The Board may elect among its individual members, a 
deputy chairman, who is appointed for a term which may 
not exceed its term as a member of the board. The vice 
president is called to substitute the president in case of 
temporary incapacity or death. In case of temporary 
incapacity, this appointment is for the duration of the 
impediment; in case of death, it is valid until the election 
of the new president. 
 
The board may appoint a secretary who may be chosen 
outside its members and, together with the President 
and, if applicable, the Vice President, form the office. 
 
The President, the Secretary and, if applicable, the vice 
president may be revoked at any time by the Board. 
 
 
CONVOCATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
(ARTICLE 14.4 OF THE BYLAWS) 
 
The Board is convened in writing by the Chairman at 
least five (5) business days before the meeting date. In 
an emergency, the call can be made without delay. 
 
The Board also meets at the written invitation of the 
Chief Executive Officer or at least three (3) members of 
the Board based on an agenda and a place determined 
in the notice, at least five (5 ) business days before the 
meeting date. 
 
 
MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (ARTICLE 
14.5 OF THE BYLAWS) 
 
The Board of Directors shall meet as often as required 
in the interests of the Company and at least once every 
quarter. 
 
Meetings of the Board of Directors are held at any place 
specified in the notice. The internal rules of the Board of 
Directors may provide that the Board members 
participate in the meeting by videoconference or 
telecommunication means permitting their identification 
and guaranteeing their effective participation in 
accordance with the regulations, with the exception of 
board meetings called to adopt the annual accounts, the 
consolidated accounts and reporting thereon. The 

internal rules of the Board of Directors specify the 
conditions of application of this meeting mode. 
 
Each member of the Board may be represented by 
another member, these stipulations are applicable to the 
permanent representative of a legal entity member of 
the Board of Directors. The number of mandates that 
can receive a member of the board during the same 
session is limited to one. 
 
The meetings of the Board of Directors are chaired by 
the president which directs the discussions, or, in its 
absence, by the vice-president or, failing that by a board 
member appointed in at the beginning of the meeting at 
the simple majority of members present (or deemed 
such if use of videoconferencing or telecommunications) 
or represented. 
 
The Board of Directors may only validly deliberate if half 
of its members are present (or deemed such if use of 
videoconferencing or telecommunications). 
 
Decisions are taken by majority vote of members 
present (or deemed such if use of videoconferencing or 
telecommunications) or represented. In case of tie vote, 
the chairman is never decisive. 
 
Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Board 
adopts by a majority of 8 / 11th of the members present, 
deemed present or represented, among which must be 
included two (2) independent members other than the 
chairman of the board, following decisions: 
 
- merger or demerger or spin-off or any other 

transaction having similar effect; 
 

- disposal by the company or its subsidiaries of 
significant interests or strategic assets 

 
- acquisition by the company or its subsidiaries, 

participations or assets for a price exceeding fifty 
million (€ 50 million); and 

 
- creation by the company or its subsidiaries, of any 

significant joint venture. 
 
The members of the board of directors and any person 
invited to attend Board meetings are held in the strictest 
confidentiality with regard to deliberations of the Board 
of Directors as well as regarding information having a 
confidential nature or presented as such by the 
chairman. 
 
An attendance register is held and signed by the 
members of the Board of Directors attending the 
meeting of the Board and shall, where applicable, the 
name of the members of the Board attending the 
meeting by videoconference or telecommunications. 
 
After each meeting, a record is prepared which is signed 
by the chairman and at least by one other member of 
the Board of Directors. This record contains, in addition 
to the legal notices required by applicable law, indication 
of the consequences on the deliberations of the Board, 
of any technical incident concerning the 
videoconference or telecommunication. 
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POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS (ARTICLE 14.6) 
 
 
The Board of Directors determines the Company's 
business orientation and ensures their implementation. 
 
Except expressly powers granted to general meetings of 
shareholders powers and within the limits of the 
corporate purpose, it considers all matters concerning 
the smooth running of society and rules by deliberations 
the affairs concerning it. 
 
At any time of the year, the Board performs the checks 
and controls it considers appropriate and may obtain 
any documents it needs to accomplish its mission. 
 
Each year the Board shall adopt the closing of the 
annual accounts and, where applicable, the 
consolidated accounts and draws up the management 
report thereon that it presents to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders. It convenes General Meeting of 
Shareholders. 
 
The Board authorizes the agreements referred to in 
Article 16 below. 
 
The Board may hear the CEO and / or the deputy 
deputy CEOs, who may be called upon to attend 
meetings of the Board if they are not members. 
 
The board may delegate to one or several of its 
members special mandates for one or more specific 
purposes. 
 
The Board of Directors may decide to create within it 
committees to study the issues that it or its Chairman 
submit for opinion to their review, and specify their 
composition, functions and possible compensation. 
These committees work under its responsibility. 
 
The Board of Directors shall establish internal 
regulations specifying, in accordance with the laws and 
regulations and with the Statute, the terms of exercise of 
the powers and functions of the Board, President and 
CEO, sets operating rules of the committees of the 
Board and specifies their respective duties and 
functions. 
 
 
REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS (ARTICLE 14.7 OF THE BYLAWS) 
 
 
The ordinary general meeting of shareholders may allow 
the members of the board of directors, as attendance 
fees, a fixed annual remuneration to be determined and 
which is maintained until decided otherwise. The Board 
of Directors freely distributes among its members the 
overall sum thus allocated. 
 
The Board may also allocate exceptional compensation 
for missions or duties entrusted to its members in cases 
and under the conditions provided by law and 
regulations. 
 

The Board will allocate an annual fee to the chairman of 
which shall be determined upon appointment. 
 
 
Executive Management (Article 15 of the bylaws) 

 
 
MODE OF EXERCISE OF THE EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT (ARTICLE 15.1 OF THE BYLAWS) 
 
 
As required by law, the general direction of the company 
is assumed under its responsibility either by the 
chairman of the board, which in this case, has the title of 
Chief Executive Officer, or by another individual 
appointed by the Board of Directors with the title of 
general manager. 
 
The Board of Directors chooses between the two 
methods of exercising general management to the 
majority of members present or represented. This 
choice is valid until otherwise decided by the Board 
taken in the same conditions. Shareholders and third 
parties are informed of this choice under the conditions 
provided by law and regulations. 

 
When the executive management of the company is 
assumed by the Chairman of the Board, the provisions 
of the statutes and the law relating to the CEO shall 
apply. 
 
 
CHIEF EXECUTIF OFFICER (ARTICLE 15.2 OF THE 
BYLAWS) 
 
 
The board determines the remuneration and duration of 
the CEO’s duties, it may not exceed if applicable the 
duration of his membership of the board. He/her is 
eligible for a reappointment under provisions relating to 
the age limit. 

 
The CEO cannot be over sixty-five (75) years. Upon 
reaching the age of sixty-five (75) years during its office, 
the CEO is deemed to have resigned at the end of the 
first board meeting following the date on which he 
reached the limit of age. 

 
The CEO is revocable at any time by the Board. When 
the CEO does not assume the functions of Chairman of 
the Board, its dismissal may give rise to damages if 
decided without just cause. 
 
The CEO is vested with the powers to act in all 
circumstances on behalf of the company. He exercises 
his powers within the limits of the corporate purpose and 
subject to those that the law and/or the present bylaws 
expressly assign to the General Meeting and/or the 
Board of Directors. 
 
It represents the company in its relations with third 
parties. The company is bound even by acts of the CEO 
that are not within the corporate purpose, unless it 
proves that the third party knew that the act exceeded 
this purpose or that it could not ignore it because of the 
circumstances, being understood that the mere 
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publication of the bylaws is not sufficient to constitute 
such proof. 
 
The CEO shall provide the board with all information 
and documents that it considers useful for the fulfillment 
of its supervisory role. 
It is held in the strictest confidentiality with regard to 
information of a confidential nature. 
 
CEO's powers of limitations will be determined, if 
appropriate, in the rules of the board. 
 
 
DEPUTY CEO(S) (ARTICLE 15.3 OF THE BYLAWS) 
 
 
On proposal of the CEO, the Board of Directors may 
appoint one or more natural persons to assist it with the 
title of Deputy CEO. The number of Deputy CEO cannot 
exceed five (5). 
 
The functions of Deputy CEO can be conferred to an 
individual member of the Board or not, which has not 
attained the age of sixty-five (75) years at the date of the 
appointing or renewal decision of its office. If it exceeds 
this age, it is deemed to have resigned. 
 

The term of office of a Deputy CEO, which is a member 
of the Board of Directors may not exceed the term of 
office of the Board of Directors. 
 
The Deputy CEO may be dismissed at any time by the 
Board of Directors on CEO's proposal. 
 
If the CEO ceases or is no longer able to perform his 
duties, the Deputy CEOs retain, unless otherwise 
determined by the Board of Directors, their functions 
and powers until the appointment of a new CEO. 
 
 
Elements of change in control 
 
 

To the Company's knowledge, no provision of the 
instrument founding the Company, of the bylaws, of a 
charter or regulation could have as its effect the delay, 
deferral, or prevention of a change in control. 
 
 
Information on holdings 

 
 
No significant acquisition of a holding, within the 
meaning of Article L.233-6 of the French Commercial 
Code occurred during 2015. 
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8.2  Information about capital 
 
 
LATECOERE's shares are listed on EURONEXT Paris, of NYSE EURONEXT, compartment "B". ISIN code: 
FR0000032278 

 
 
8.2.1 Share capital at December 31, 2015 (Article 8 of the bylaws) 
 
The authorized capital was HUNDRED EIGHTY SIX MILLION AND SIX HUNDRED NINETY FOUR THOUSAND AND 
THREE HUNDRED THIRTY EUROS (€186,694,330). It is divided into NINETY THREE MILLION AND THREE FORTY 
SEVEN THOUSAND SIXTY-FIVE (93,347,165) shares of common stock with a par value of TWO EUROS (€2) each. 
 
The capital of the company is fully paid-up at December 31, 2015. 
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8.2.2 Unissued authorized capital 
 
The delegations of authority and authorizations granted to the Management Board regarding increases of capital in force 
at December 31, 2015 are the following: 

 

 

 
 
 

M aximum no minal 

ceilings o n capital 

increases

M aximum no minal 

amo unts o f  debt  

instruments 

(in € or in percentage of the 

share capital)

(in €)

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015

26 months 

(28th resolution) 15 September 2017

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015 

26 months 

(29th resolution) 15 September 2017

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015

26 months

(30th resolution) 15 September 2017

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015

26 months 

(31st  resolution) 15 September 2017

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015

26 months 

(32nd resolution) 15 September 2017

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015 

26 months 

(33rd resolution) 15 September 2017

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015 

26 months 

(34th resolution) 15 September 2017

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015

38 months Within the limit of 3.5% of 

the total number of 

shares forming the share 

capital at the date of the 

aw ard decision by the 

Board of directors 

(35th resolution) 15 September 2018 d

Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 15 July 2015

18 months

(36th resolution) 29 December 2016

(6) The limit o f 10% shall apply to  an amount o f the Company’s share capital which shall be adjusted, as appropriate, in order to  take into account the transactions affecting the Company’s share capital occurring subsequently to  

the Extraordinary Shareholders’  M eeting of 15 July 2015 

(1) The nominal amount o f the share capital increase(s) carried out pursuant to  the relevant delegation of authority shall be deducted from the overall ceiling of EUR 60 million set in the 28 th resolution of the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’  M eeting of 15 July 2015.

(2) The nominal amount o f the debt instruments issued pursuant to  the relevant delegation of authority shall be deducted from the overall ceiling of EUR 100 million set in the 28 th resolution of the Extraordinary Shareholders’  

M eeting of 15 July 2015.

(3) The ceiling provided for in respect o f the relevant delegation of authority is (i) mutual with the ceiling of EUR 18 million set in the 29 th reso lution of the Extraordinary Shareholders’  M eeting of 15 July 2015 and shall be deducted 

from such ceiling and (ii) the nominal amount o f the share capital increase(s) carried out pursuant to  the relevant delegation of authority shall be deducted from the overall ceiling of EUR 60 million set in the 28 th resolution of the 

Extraordinary Shareholders’  M eeting of 15 July 2015.

(4) The ceiling provided for in respect o f the relevant delegation of authority is (i) mutual with the ceiling of EUR 30 million set in the 29 th reso lution of the Extraordinary Shareholders’  M eeting of 15 July 2015 and shall be deducted 

from such ceiling and (ii) the nominal amount o f debt instruments shall be deducted from the overall ceiling of EUR 100 million set in the 28 th resolution of the Extraordinary Shareholders’  M eeting of 15 July 2015.

(5) The maximum nominal amount under the relevant delegation of authority is an independent and separate ceiling of the overall ceiling of 60 million set in the 28 th resolution of the Extraordinary Shareholders’  M eeting of 15 July 

2015.

N ature o f  the autho rizat io n D ate o f  the 

autho rizat io n

T erm o f  the 

autho rizat io n and 

expiry date

Use as o f  31 

D ecember2015

Issuance, w ith preferential subscription rights of the 

shareholders, of ordinary shares and/or securities 

giving or potentially giving access to the share capital 

and/or securities giving the right to the allotment of 

debt instruments

60 million 100 million None

None

Issuance, without preferential subscription rights of

the shareholders - through private placements as set forth

in article L.411-2 II of the French Monetary and Financial

Code, of ordinary shares and/or securities giving or

potentially giving access to the share capital and/or securities 

giving the right to the allotment of debt instruments

18 million(3) 30 million(4) None

Issuance, w ithout preferential subscription rights of 

the shareholders  - through public offerings, of ordinary 

shares and/or securities giving or potentially giving access to 

the share capital and/or securities giving the right to the 

allotment of debt instruments

18 million(1) 30 million(2)

Authorization to increase the number of shares

and/or securities giving or potentially giving access to 

the share capital to be issued in the event of a share

capital increase, with or without preferential

subscription rights of the shareholders

15% of the initial 

issuance

N/A None

Issuance, without preferential subscription rights of

the shareholders, of shares and/or securities giving

or potentially giving access to the share capital as

consideration for contributions in kind consisting of

shares and/or securities giving or potentially giving

access to the share capital

Up to a maximum of 10% 

of the share capital(3)

9 million(4) None

Share capital increase through the capitalization of

reserves, earnings or premiums from equity issues,

mergers or acquisitions or any other sum upon

which capitalization would be permitted

40 million(5) N/A None

Issuance, without preferential subscription right of

the shareholders, of shares and/or securities giving

or potentially giving access to the share capital,

reserved for members enrolled in an employer-

sponsored company savings plans

Within the limit of 1.8% of 

the share capital at the 

date of the decision  to 

issue by the Board of 

directors 

N/A None  

Authorization to freely allot existing shares or shares

of the Company to be issued, without preferential

subscription right of the shareholders, in favor of

employees (or certain categories thereof) and/or the

corporate officers (or certain categories thereof) and

of the related companies

N/A Free allocation of a 

maximum of 2,333,680 

shares, corresponding to 

2.5% of the total share 

capital at the date of the 

aw ard decision by the 

Board of directors  

(22 September 2015) 

Authorization to decrease the share capital of the

Company by cancellation of treasury shares

Within the limit of 10% of 

the share capital of the 

Company per 24-month 

period(6)

N/A None 
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8.2.3 Potential share capital 
 

 
At December 2015, if the maximum number of shares were issued concerning the performance share plans dilution would 
be of 0,4%. 

 

 
 
8.2.4 Change in the authorized capital during the past five years 
 

 
 
 
No company controlled by LATECOERE has notified of any holding of the latter's capital. To the issuer's knowledge, no 
shares have been entered in a pledged financial instruments account. 
 

 
8.2.5 Treasury shares 
 
At December 31, 2015, the LATECOERE Company held 29,432 (0.03%) of its own shares. The table below summarizes 
the movements on the treasury shares during 2015. 
 

 
 
 
  

Nominal

Premium and 

increase in 

capital through 

capitalization of 

reserves

Fiscal year 2011

None 17 219 994 8 609 997

Fiscal year 2012

Bonds converted 1 391 992 5 567 968 1 391 992 695 996

Share purchase w arrant issued 35 522 142 088 35 522 17 761

TOTAL 1 427 514 5 710 056 18 647 508 9 323 754

Fiscal year 2013

Bonds converted 4 328 008 17 312 032 4 328 008 2 164 004

Share purchase w arrant issued 41 670 166 680 41 670 20 835

TOTAL 5 797 192 23 188 768 23 017 186 11 508 593

Fiscal year 2014

Share purchase w arrant issued 73 812 295 248 73 812 36 906

TOTAL 5 871 004 23 484 016 23 090 998 11 545 499

Fiscal year 2015

Share purchase w arrant issued 757 988 3 031 952 757 988 378 994

Capital increase 162 845 344 117 480 009 162 845 344 81 422 672

TOTAL 169 474 336 143 995 977 186 694 330 93 347 165

Change in Capital in  €

Capital in €

Cumulative number 

of shares and 

Investment 

certificate

Number of shares

Dec 31, 2014 Acquisitions Disposals Dec 31, 2015
% of 

ownership

LATECOERE Shares 12 421 880 651 863 640 29 432 0,03%

('000 EURO)

Dec 31, 2014
Acquisitions / 

Provisions
Cessions Dec 31, 2015

Average 

purchase 

price

LATECOERE Shares 108              5 589               5 578        120 4,06         
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8.2.6 Information relating to the share buyback program 
 
 
8.2.6.1 Prior program report during 2015 
 
 

As part of a share buyback program, the Company 
proceeded with purchase and sale operations with 
respect to its own shares between the date of opening 
and of closing of the past year, as follows: 
 
Number of shares purchased:  880,651 
Average purchase price:    €6.38 

 
Number of shares sold:  863,640 
Average sale price :     €6.46 

 

Total amount of commission fees :             €0 
 

Number of shares registered at year end :     29 432 
 

Value determined at the purchase price:     187 721 € 
Nominal value:                               58 864 € 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The shares held at this date respond only to an objective of market animation. The shares held by the Company have not 
been the subject of any reallocation for any other objectives since the last authorization granted by the general meeting. 
 
 
8.2.6.2 Description of share buyback program 

 
In accordance with the provisions of Article 241-2 of the AMF's General Regulation as well as the European Regulation n° 
2273/2003 of December 22, 2003, this description has as its aim to describe the objectives and the methods of the 
buyback program for the Company's own shares. This program will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting called to 
rule on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015. 
 
 
Prior program report at February 29, 2016 

 
The declaration of operations realized with respect to its own shares from 3/01/2015 to 2/29/2016 appears as follows: 

 
 

(1) The relevant period begins the day following the date the prior program report was established and ends on the day of publication 

of the program description.  
 
 
8.2.6.3 Breakdown by objectives of the share capital 
held at February 29, 2016 

 
Number of shares held directly and indirectly: 31,439 
representing 0.03% of the company’s capital. 
Number of shares held broken down by objective: 

 Market animation through a liquidity contract: 100% 

 External growth transactions: 0% 

 Hedging of purchase options for shares or other 
system of employee shareholding: 0% 

 Hedging of marketable securities giving right to 
shares: 0% 

 Cancellation: 0% 
 
 

8.2.6.4 Proposed share buyback program 

 

 Approval of program: General Meeting of June 3, 
2016 

 Relevant shares: common stock 

 Maximum percentage of capital for which buyback 
is authorized : 10% of the Company’s capital (or 5% 

if it concerns shares bought in purpose of 
conservation and for later delivery in payment or 
exchange in connection with external growth 
transactions), or as an indication, and without taking 
into account treasury shares, 9,404,368 of the 
Company's shares at March 31, 2016, representing a 
theoretical maximum number of eighteen million eight 
hundred and eight thousand seven hundred and thirty 

Nature of acquisitions
% de capital

Market animation 100%

Employee shareholding plan 0%

Marketable securities giving right to shares 0%

External growth transaction 0%

Number of shares     1 016 368              990 726   

Average exercise price            5,32                   5,34    

Amount     5 408 333           5 290 977   

Position open on 

purchases

Position open on 

sales

Total gross flow (1)

None None

Position open at the beginning of the 

Purchases Sales / transfer
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five euros (€18,808,735), it being noted that this limit 
applies to an amount of the Company's capital which 
will, if applicable, be adjusted to take account of 
transactions affecting the capital which occur after the 
General Meeting. 

 Maximum purchase price: €10 

 Maximum amount of the program: €94,043,676  

 Terms: The acquisition of the Company's shares may 

be realized at any time, excluding periods of public 
offerings of the Company's capital, and by any 
means, on any market, off the market, by private sale, 
including by acquisition of blocks of shares, through 
the use of optional mechanisms or through the use of 
other forward financial instruments traded on a 
regulated stock market or by private sale, potentially 
by any third party acting on behalf of the Company in 
accordance with the provisions of the last paragraph 

of Article L. 225-206 of the French Commercial Code.  

The objectives are as follows: 

 their cancellation, subject to the approval of the 
twentieth resolution submitted to this General 
Meeting; 

 the retention for the remittance of shares of the 
Company for exchange or in payment in external 
growth transactions, in accordance with recognized 
market practices and applicable regulations; 

 their remittance following the exercise of rights 
attached to financial securities giving a right by 

repayment, conversion, exchange, presentation of an 
obligation or any other manner to the allocation of 
shares of the Company; 

 the implementation of (i) share purchase option plans, 
(ii) share bonus issue plans, (iii) employee 
shareholding transactions reserved to members of a 
company employee shareholding plan realized in 
accordance with Articles L. 3331-1 et seq. of the 
French Labor Code ("Code du travail"), by the sale of 
shares previously acquired by the Company in 
connection with this resolution, or in which provision is 
made for a bonus issue of such shares in connection 
with a subscription in securities of the Company 
and/or a substitution of the undervalue and/or (iv) 
allocations of shares benefitting employees and/or 
managing corporate officers of the Company and/or 
companies that are affiliated with it, according to 
applicable legal and regulatory provisions;  

 the animation of the market of shares of the Company 
through a liquidity contract consistent with a charter of 
deontology recognized by the Financial Markets 
Authority ("AMF"). 

 

 Duration of program: 18 months from the General 

Meeting of June 3, 2016. 
 

 

 
 
8.2.7  Dividend distribution policy 
 
The Group wishes, while remaining coherent with market practices, to continue to allow its shareholders to share in its 
results provided that the results of the Group and its financial position allow it. 

 
 
8.3  Information about Shareholders 
 

 
8.3.1 Analysis of the Shareholders and voting rights 
 

 
 
  

shareholders % voting rights %
shareholders 

%
voting rights %

shareholders 

%

voting rights 

%

Market 71,7% 71,4% 92,2% 86,0% 90,8% 83,9%

Apollo 15,1% 14,9% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%

Monarch 11,6% 11,5% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%

Sub-total Apollo and Monarch 26,7% 26,4% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%

Employees* 1,6% 2,2% 7,7% 13,9% 9,1% 16,0%

Own shares 0,0% 0,0% 0,1% 0,1% 0,1% 0,1%

Dec 31, 2015 31-déc.-13Dec 31, 2014
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*Employees: 

(through four company investment funds and a non-
trading company) 
  FCPE “A”:        0,1 % 
  FCPE “B”:                      1,4 % 
  Soc. Civ. de la Roseraie:       0,1 % 
 Total Employees :        1,6 % 
 
 

At December 31, 2015, to the Company's knowledge no 
other shareholder holds, directly or indirectly, either 
alone or in conjunction with others, more than 5% of the 
capital or voting rights. 
 
 
In 2015, the following threshold crossings were 
reported: 

 August 21, 2015, the funds managed or 
advised by affiliates of Apollo Global 
Management Company LLC, upward crossing 
of thresholds of 5% and 10% of capital and 
voting rights, 

 August 21, 2015, the funds managed or 
advised by the company Monarch Master 
Funding Ltd., upward crossing of the 5% 
threshold of capital and voting rights, 

 August 21, 2015, SALVEPAR, downward 
crossing of the 5% capital threshold, 

 August 21, 2015, Davidson Kempner Capital 
Management, upward crossing of the 5% 
threshold of capital and voting rights and 10% 
of capital, 

 August 25, 2015, FCPE "B" crossing below the 
10% threshold of the voting rights and 5% of 
the capital, 

 September 7, 2015, FCPE "B" downward 
crossing of the 5% threshold of the voting 
rights, 

 September 9, 2015, Dimensional Fund 
Advisors, upward crossing of the threshold of 
5% of share capital and voting rights, 

 September 17, 2015, Dimensional Fund 
Advisors, downward crossing of the 5% 
threshold of capital and voting rights, 

 September 17, 2015, Davidson Kempner 
Capital Management, crossing below the 
threshold of 10% of capital and voting rights, 

 17 September 2015 SALVEPAR, upward 
crossing of the 5% threshold of capital and 
voting rights, 

 October 26, the funds managed or advised by 
affiliates of Apollo Global Management LLC, 
upward crossing of the 5% threshold, 10%, 
15%, 20% and 25% of capital and voting rights. 

 
 

 
 
8.3.2  Other information 
 
 
To the best of the Company's knowledge, there exists 
no shareholders' agreement. 
 
There does not exist any statutory restriction of voting 
rights except the deprivation, which may be requested at 
the general meeting by one or more shareholders 
holding at least 2% of share capital, in case of a non-
declaration of a crossing of statutory threshold, in 
accordance with article 9 of the bylaws.. 
 

A right to double voting rights was conferred to certain of 
the Company's shares (Article 18 the bylaws). This 
provision was implemented at the General Meeting of 
July 20, 1988. We remind you that according to law, the 
right to double voting ceases for any share which has 
been converted to bearer status or transferred, except 
any transfer from registered owner to registered owner 
following a succession or a family donation. 
 
With the exception of shares with double voting rights 
accorded to the shares registered as registered 
securities for at least four years in the name of the same 
shareholder, there exists no security having special 
control rights. 
 
The rules applicable to the appointment and to the 
replacement of the Members of the Management Board, 
to their power and the rules relating to the amendment 
of the Company's bylaws are those foreseen by law. 
 

The items relating to payments likely to be due to the 
members of the Executive Management as a result of 
the termination of their employment contract or their 
corporate office, as the case may be, are part of the 
compensation conditions described above. 
 
The voting rights attached to the LATECOERE shares 
held by the employees through F.C.P.E. actions 
LATECOERE are exercised by a representative named 
by the supervisory board of F.C.P.E. for the purpose of 
representing it at the Annual General Meeting. 
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8.4  Stock Market Data 
 
 
Number of shares listed at December 31, 2015 
 

At December 31, 2015, the Company counted 93,347,165 listed shares, representing 94,222,198 voting rights. 
 
Identification sheet and stock marketplace 

 
The LATECOERE Company’s shares are listed on EURONEXT Paris, of NYSE EURONEXT, compartment "B". ISIN 
code: FR0000032278 
 
Share price detail 

 

 
 
Source : SYMEX Economics SA 

 
 
  

Highest 

share price

Lowest 

share price 

(closing)

Average 

price traded

Number of 

shares
December-12 7,86 7,26 7,58 333 738

January-15 11,92 8,58 9,81 1 293 996

February-15 11,72 9,72 10,84 1 080 705

March-15 11,25 10,01 10,48 687 196

April-15 11,69 10,09 10,50 612 008

May-15 10,63 8,30 9,62 1 370 838

June-15 10,74 9,47 9,92 913 000

July-15 10,60 9,38 10,01 878 402

August-15 9,55 3,75 8,38 937 738

September-15 4,19 3,26 3,59 6 459 013

October-15 4,27 3,38 3,87 5 971 633

November-15 4,27 4,02 4,19 4 170 731

December-15 4,24 3,80 4,06 3 291 686

January-16 4,10 3,25 3,69 3 023 992

February-16 3,80 3,06 3,40 2 681 887
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Share price changes 

 
 
 

 
 
 

8.5  Information Policy 

 
 
Financial communication 

 
LATECOERE continues to exert all its efforts on its financial communication policy in order to make it the most 
transparent possible and to respond to the demand of its numerous shareholders, both institutional ones and private 
individuals. With respect to financial analysts, managers of investment funds and other finance professionals, 
LATECOERE's financial communication is based in particular on: 
 a semi-annual presentation of the financial statements, strategy and future prospects, organized within the framework 

of the French Society of Financial Analysts ("SFAF"), 
 frequent meetings with analysts and investors, both in France and abroad, 
 periodic press releases on the Company's results or main events, 
 contacts with actors of the regional, national, specialized or general-interest press, 
 
A website (latecoere.fr) allowing a direct access to all the Company's general or financial information. 
 
 
 
Director of financial communications 

 
Olivier REGNARD 
Chief Financial Officer  

Tél. : +33 (0)5 61 58 77 00 

olivier.regnard@latecoere.fr  
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9       PERSON RESPONSIBLE AND STATUTORY AUDITORS 

 
9.1 Person responsible for the document 
 
 

 
Frédéric Michelland, CEO, appointed on September 22, 2015 for the duration period of its office as Director, that will 
terminate at the end of the shareholders’ meeting deciding on the accounts closed on 31 December 2020. 
 
 

9.2 Statement of the persons responsible for the registration document 
 
 

"Having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, I hereby declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the 
information contained in this Registration Document (Document de référence) accurately reflects the facts and contains 
no omission likely to affect its meaning. 
 
I hereby declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the 
company and of the consolidated entities; and that the management report which appears in the "Document de 
Référence", includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business, the results and financial position 
of the company and of the consolidated entities together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they 
face. 
 
I have obtained a letter from the statutory auditors certifying that they have verified the financial and accounting 
information provided in this document and that they have read the document in entirety. 
 
The financial information presented in the Registration Document has been covered in reports by the Statutory Auditors, 
which contain observations, appearing in chapter 3.7 of such document concerning the recapitalization of the Group and 
its healthier financial position. 
 
The historical financial information presented in the 2014 Registration Document and the 2013 Registration Document 
have been covered in reports of the Statutory Auditors, which contain observations, appearing in chapter 3.7 of the 2014 
Registration Document and in chapter 3.7 of the 2013 Registration Document."  
 
 

 
The CEO 

Frédéric MICHELLAND 
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9.3 Statutory auditors 
 
 
KPMG SA 

Rue Carmin – BP 17610 – 31676 Labège Cedex -- France 
Statutory Auditor 
Represented by Mr. Michel Dedieu 
Appointed on: 6/25/1993, reappointed on: 05/19/2014 
End of their appointment at the end of the Annual General Meeting that will rule on the financial statements for the fiscal 
year 2019. 
 
GRANT THORNTON 

100, rue de Courcelles – 75017 PARIS – France 
Statutory Auditor 
Represented by Mr. Gilles Hengoat 
Appointed on: 6/10/1983, reappointed on : 6/30/2011 
End of their appointment at the end of the Annual General Meeting that will rule on the financial statements for the fiscal 
year 2016. 
 
KPMG Audit ID 

Immeuble le Palatin- 3, cours du Triangle- 92939 Paris La Défense cedex -- France 
Substitute Statutory Auditor 
Appointed on: 5/06/2004, reappointed on: 05/19/2014 
End of their appointment at the end of the Annual General Meeting that will rule on the financial statements for the fiscal 
year 2019. 
 
INSTITUT DE GESTION ET D’EXPERTISE COMPTABLE (IGEC) 

3 rue Léon Jost – 75017 PARIS -- France 
Substitute Statutory Auditor represented by Mr. Vincent PAPAZIAN 
Appointed on: 6/30/2011 
End of their appointment at the end of the Annual General Meeting that will rule on the financial statements for the fiscal 
year 2016. 
 

9.4 Fees paid to the statutory auditors 
 

 

 
 
 

 

('000 EURO)

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Audit :
Statutory audit, certification, review of individual and consolidated financial 

statements

 - Issuer 201 185 42% 45% 153 138 83% 97%

- Subsidiaries 230 201 48% 49% 5 5 2% 3%

Other engagements and services directly related to the statutory audit 

engagement

 - Issuer 31 9 6% 2% 27 0 15% 0%

- Subsidiaries 2 1 0% 0% 0 0 0% 0%

Sub-total 464 395 97% 96% 185 143 100% 100%

Other services, if applicable:

- Legal, tax and labor 15 16 3% 4% 0 0 0% 0%

- Information Technology 0 0 0% 0% 0 0 0% 0%

- Internal Auditing 0 0 0% 0% 0 0 0% 0%

- Other 0 0 0% 0% 0 0 0% 0%

Sub-total 15 16 3% 4% 0 0 0% 0%

TOTAL 479 411 100% 100% 185 143 100% 100%

KPMG

Amount %

GRANT THORNTON

Amount %



 
                                 HISTORICAL INFORMATION 

                               December 31, 2015  

 

  

 

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015  LATECOERE            189       

 

10 

10 HISTORICAL INFORMATION 

 

 
Pursuant to Article 28 of Regulation (EC) N° 809/2004 of the European Commission of April 29, 2004, the following 
information is incorporated by reference in this registration document ("document de référence"): 
 
 the 2014 consolidated financial statements and the 2014 financial statements, as well as the reports of the auditors 

relating to the fiscal year ended on: December 31, 2014 for paragraphs 3 and 4 of 2014 Registration Document 
registered attached to the Financial Markets Authority on April 30, 2015;  

 the key financial information, the Management Report of the Company and of the Group and the whole of the 
financial information related to the year ended on December 31, 2014 appear at paragraphs 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11 of the 
registration document ("document de référence") for the year 2014 filed with the French Financial Markets Authority 
(AMF) on April 30, 2015; 

 the 2013 consolidated financial statements and the 2013 financial statements, as well as the reports of auditors for 
the year ended December 31, 2013, appear in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the registration document ("document de 
référence") for the year 2013 filed with the French Financial Markets Authority (AMF) on April 28, 2014; 

 the key financial information, the Management Report of the Company and of the Group and the whole of the 
financial information related to the year ended on December 31, 2013 appear at paragraphs 2, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the 
registration document ("document de référence") for the year 2013 filed with the French Financial Markets Authority 
(AMF) on April 28, 2014; 
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11 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 
11.1 Documents Accessible to the Public 
 

All legal documents relating to the LATECOERE Company to be made available to shareholders may be consulted at the 

registered office of the Company. Furthermore, the LATECOERE Group makes available to its shareholders on its 

website (www.latecoere.fr) a wide range of documents (financial press releases, financial reports, registration documents, 

presentations to analysts, etc.). 
 
 

11.2 Publication of the Annual Information 
 
 

 
 
 

Date Support Informations

January 12, 2015 Press release Half-yearly report of the liquidity contract at December 31, 2014

Feb. 12, 2015 Press release 2014 annual revenue

April 29, 2015 Press release Suspension of the trading of shares pending agreement on financial reorganization

April 30, 2015 Press release 2014 annual results

April 30, 2015 Press release Signing of financial reorganization agreement

April 30, 2015 Press release 2014 results presentation

April 30, 2015 Web site and Press release Release of the 2014 Registration Document

May 18, 2015 Press release Q1 2015 revenue

May 29, 2015 Press release Financial reorganization of Latécoère Group, conclusion of the conciliation protocole

June 10, 2015 Web site and Press release Availability of documentation in preparation for the Shareholders' Meeting

June 15, 2015 Web site and Press release Availability of the report of the independent expert on the capital increase reserved for the creditors

June 17, 2015 Press release Eligibility of the Latécoère actions for the PEA (Equity Saving Plan) of SME

June 24, 2015 Press release Financial reorganization of Latécoère Group

June 29, 2015 Press release Adoption of resolutions pursuant to Shareholders' Meeting

July 15, 2015 Press release Extraordinary shareholders' meeting

July 23, 2015 Press release H1 2015 revenue

August 20, 2015 Press release Latécoère Group financial reorganization - launch of the capital increases

August 21, 2015 Press release Latécoère Group financial reorganization - realization of the capital increases reserved to the lenders

Sept. 14, 2015 Press release Successful capital increase maintaining the preferential subscription rights of the shareholders

Sept. 25, 2015 Press release H1 2015 result

Sept. 28, 2015 Web site and Press release Release of the 2015 Half Year Financial Report

Oct. 28, 2015 Press release Q4 2015 revenue

Dec. 16, 2015 Press release Appointment of Hubert Dehaese as CEO of Latécoère Services

http://www.latecoere.fr/
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21.1.5 ▪ Information about and terms of any acquisition rights and/or obligations 

over authorized but unissued capital or an undertaking to increase the 

capital

8.2.2

8.2.3     

Unissued authorized capital

Potential shares capital

180

181

2.6.3 Subsequent events 30

21.1.6 ▪ Information about any capital of any member of the Group which is 

under option or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put under 

option

8.2.2

8.2.3     

Unissued authorized capital

Potential shares capital

180

181

21.1.7 ▪ History of share capital 8.2.4 Change in the authorized capital during the past five years 181

21.2 Bylaws 0

▪ Issuer’s corporate purpose 8.1 General information about the Company 172

▪ Provisions of the issuer’s bylaws with respect to administrative, 

management and supervisory bodies

8.1 General information about the Company 172-178

▪ Rights, preferential rights and restrictions attached to shares 8.1 General information about the Company 172

▪ Change in shareholder rights 8.1 General information about the Company 172

▪ Notice of meeting and admission to shareholders’ meetings 8.1 General information about the Company 172

▪ Change in control 8.1 General information about the Company 172

▪ Share ownership threshold 8.1 General information about the Company 172

8.3.1 Analysis of the Shareholders and Voting Rights 183

22 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

1.3 The Group's businesses 12

0

23 THIRD PARTY INFORMATION, STATEMENTS BY EXPERTS AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- n/a -

24 DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

11.1 Documents accesible to the public 190

11.2 Publication of the annual information 190

0

25 INFORMATION ON HOLDINGS 0

2.3 Subsidiaries and other affiliates in 2015 27

3.6 Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements 46

4.4 Note 20 to the statutory financial statements  94

BOARD PRACTICES

Members of the administrative or management bodies’ service contracts 

with the issuer or any of its subsidiaries

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES

2014 Registration Document section

ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT, AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT
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